PAROCHIAL ALTRUISM: PITFALLS AND PROSPECTS

EDITED BY: Hannes Rusch, Robert Böhm and Benedikt Herrmann PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychology and Frontiers in Neuroscience







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2016 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

> All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

> The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-945-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-945-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: **researchtopics@frontiersin.org**

PAROCHIAL ALTRUISM: PITFALLS AND PROSPECTS

Topic Editors:

Hannes Rusch, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Netherlands & Technische Universität München, Germany Robert Böhm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany Benedikt Herrmann, University of Nottingham, UK



Cover image created by Hannes Rusch using wordclouds.com

A number of recent influential publications have promoted the idea that the high levels of altruism and violent intergroup conflicts observed in humans might be the result of a joint evolution of behavioral traits causing cooperativeness among group members ('in-group love') and spite and aggression between members of different groups ('out-group hate'). This hypothesis, dating back to Darwin himself, has been dubbed 'parochial altruism'.

While much empirical evidence has been collected which shows that humans readily condition their social behaviors on their conspecifics' group membership, a number of important questions still remain unanswered. These include: Which selective mechanisms are at work in the suggested co-evolution of in-group love and out-group hate: individual selection, kin selection, sexual selection? When and why does altruism become parochial? When and why can parochialism be altruistic? How does parochial altruism fare in comparison to other explanatory approaches to

the question of why humans are altruistic and why they are collectively aggressive? Did human prehistory really offer the conditions required for parochial altruism to evolve? Is parochial altruism universal across situational contexts and cultures? Which factors can explain individual differences in parochial altruism?

This Research Topic brings together current interdisciplinary works on the topic. Lab and field experiments using different methods critically investigate the antecedents, forms, and consequences of parochial altruism. As such, the Research Topic contributes to close some important research gaps but also provides an overview of the diverse methods for studying parochial altruism across scientific disciplines.

Citation: Rusch, H., Böhm, R., Herrmann, B., eds. (2016). Parochial Altruism: Pitfalls and Prospects. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88919-945-7

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Parochial Altruism: Pitfalls and Prospects Hannes Rusch, Robert Böhm and Benedikt Herrmann

FORMS AND ANTECEDENTS OF PAROCHIAL ALTRUISM

- 08 Do we harm others even if we don't need to?M. Paula Cacault, Lorenz Goette, Rafael Lalive and Mathias Thoenig
- **17** *The development of ingroup favoritism in repeated social dilemmas* Angela R. Dorrough, Andreas Glöckner, Dshamilja M. Hellmann and Irena Ebert
- 29 Negative and positive externalities in intergroup conflict: exposure to the opportunity to help the outgroup reduces the inclination to harm it Ori Weisel
- **37** In intergroup conflict, self-sacrifice is stronger among pro-social individuals, and parochial altruism emerges especially among cognitively taxed individuals Carsten K. W. De Dreu, D. Berno Dussel and Femke S. Ten Velden
- 46 Testosterone is associated with cooperation during intergroup competition by enhancing parochial altruism

Luise Reimers and Esther K. Diekhof

55 Accountability Accentuates Interindividual-Intergroup Discontinuity by Enforcing Parochialism

Tim Wildschut, Femke van Horen and Claire Hart

- 65 Dying the right-way? Interest in and perceived persuasiveness of parochial extremist propaganda increases after mortality salience Lena Frischlich, Diana Rieger, Maia Hein and Gary Bente
- 76 "A letter for Dr. Outgroup": on the effects of an indicator of competence and chances for altruism toward a member of a stigmatized out-group Jens H. Hellmann, Anne Berthold, Jonas H. Rees and Deborah F. Hellmann

CRITICAL VIEWS

- An experiment on individual 'parochial altruism' revealing no connection between individual 'altruism' and individual 'parochialism'
 Philip J. Corr, Shaun P. Hargreaves Heap, Charles R. Seger and KeiTsutsui
- 92 Inter-Group Conflict and Cooperation: Field Experiments Before, During and After Sectarian Riots in Northern Ireland
 Antonio S. Silva and Ruth Mace

FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Economic games and social neuroscience methods can help elucidate the psychology of parochial altruism

Jim A. C. Everett, Nadira S. Faber, Molly J. Crockett and Carsten K. W. De Dreu





Editorial: Parochial Altruism: Pitfalls and Prospects

Hannes Rusch^{1,2*}, Robert Böhm³ and Benedikt Herrmann⁴

¹ Experimental and Applied Psychology, Faculty of Behavioral and Movement Sciences, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Peter Löscher Chair of Business Ethics, TUM School of Management, Technische Universität München, Munich, Germany, ³ Decision Analysis, School of Business and Economics, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany, ⁴ School of Economics, Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK

Keywords: parochial altruism, intergroup conflict, in-group favoritism, intergroup relations, evolution

The Editorial on the Research Topic

Parochial Altruism: Pitfalls and Prospects

A number of recent publications have promoted the idea that the high levels of pro-sociality and violent intergroup conflict observed in humans might result from a joint evolution of behavioral traits causing cooperativeness and altruism among members of the same group ("in-group love") and spite and aggression between different groups ("out-group hate"). This hypothesis, dating back to Darwin (1871), has been dubbed "parochial altruism" (Choi and Bowles, 2007; also see: de Dreu et al., 2014; Rusch, 2014a; Yamagishi and Mifune, 2016).

Research on group conditional pro- and anti-social behaviors has a long tradition in psychology (see e.g., Tajfel, 1982; Yamagishi and Mifune, 2009). By suggesting an evolutionary link between "in-group love" and "out-group hate," though, parochial altruism theory sparked renewed interdisciplinary interest in this topic (e.g., Bernhard et al., 2006; de Dreu et al., 2010; García and van den Bergh, 2011; Abbink et al., 2012; Ockenfels and Werner, 2014).

Darwin's idea that more cooperative groups had better survival chances throughout our species' supposedly very violent (pre)history (Bowles, 2009), and that in-group directed altruism and outgroup directed hostility could have evolved together seems intuitively plausible. In fact, Choi and Bowles (2007) have shown that it is logically consistent, given that a number of assumptions about the frequency, brutality, and strategic structure of ancestral intergroup conflicts hold. Evidence for the correctness of these assumptions is mixed, though (Fry and Söderberg, 2013; Rusch, 2014a; Yamagishi and Mifune, 2016). Therefore, a series of recent papers have argued that these assumptions need to be refined (Rusch, 2013, 2014b; Weisel and Böhm, 2015; Böhm et al., 2016).

The ten original studies included in this Research Topic investigate selected assumptions and predictions of parochial altruism theory in detail. We, the editors, are convinced that their highly instructive findings will help researchers interested in parochial altruism, but also in intergroup psychology more generally, to gain a much more fine-grained understanding of the interplay of altruistic and spiteful motives in human decision making in the context of intergroup relations.

The broad range of disciplines represented by the authors contributing to this Research Topic and the variety of methods used in their studies are representative for the current interdisciplinary interest in parochial altruism. The most important insight that, in our view, can be derived from the works collected here is that human decision making in intergroup contexts is more complex than suggested by current theory. Thus, we hope that future theorizing on parochial altruism will be stimulated by the evidence gathered in this Research Topic (also see Everett et al. for suggestions of future research directions). In the remainder of this editorial, we briefly highlight central findings reported here, which, to us, appear most informative for prospective enhancements of parochial altruism theory.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Lisa M. Renzi, University of Georgia, USA

Reviewed by: Christina Riehl, Princeton University, USA

*Correspondence: Hannes Rusch hannes.rusch@tum.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 03 March 2016 **Accepted:** 17 June 2016 **Published:** 30 June 2016

Citation:

Rusch H, Böhm R and Herrmann B (2016) Editorial: Parochial Altruism: Pitfalls and Prospects. Front. Psychol. 7:1004. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01004 To our knowledge, Cacault et al. provide some of the first evidence of "unprovoked" parochial altruism in a laboratory setting. Using an iterated asymmetric variant of the Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma Maximizing-Difference game (IPD-MD; Halevy et al., 2008), they find that subjects opt to benefit their ingroup at a cost to a defenseless out-group even when they could achieve the same end without harming that out-group (see, e.g., Böhm et al., 2016, for complementary findings).

Also using variants of the IPD-MD, Weisel finds that subjects are largely consistent in their parochially altruistic choices when they decide (a) to harm or (b) not to help an out-group. Interestingly, though, Weisel also finds that subjects are reluctant to harm out-groups whom they have had the possibility to help before. This is, thus, first evidence for order effects in parochially altruistic choice.

De Dreu et al. investigate the interaction of deliberate reasoning and parochial altruism. Extending earlier findings on intuitive cooperativeness in dyadic settings (Rand et al., 2012; Peysakhovich et al., 2014) to the intergroup context, they find evidence of increased parochialism in the IPD-MD when subjects were cognitively taxed. Their seminal findings thus suggest that parochially altruistic choice might operate through intuitive mechanisms.

In a similar vein, Reimers and Diekhof closely investigate potential mechanisms coupling in-group cooperation and defection against out-groups. In their study employing dyadic Prisoner's Dilemma games (PDGs) played by male subjects belonging either to the same or to different natural groups, they find that testosterone levels positively correlate with revealed in-group favoritism.

Dorrough et al. employ repeated dyadic PDGs to study the dynamic development of parochially altruistic choice over time. While not showing an initial difference in cooperation levels between PDGs played with either in- or out-group members, subjects in this study gradually formed more positive expectations about their in-group members' cooperative behavior, eventually leading to pronounced in-group favoritism.

In two field experiments employing the lost-letter paradigm, Hellmann et al. find that reluctance to help members of stigmatized out-groups is conditional on the respective outgroup members' social status and that an in-group member trying to contact an out-group member is more likely to be helped than an out-group member trying to contact another out-group member.

REFERENCES

- Abbink, K., Brandts, J., Herrmann, B., and Orzen, H. (2012). Parochial altruism in intergroup conflicts. *Econ. Lett.* 117, 45–48. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2012. 04.083
- Bernhard, H., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2006). Parochial altruism in humans. *Nature* 442, 912–915. doi: 10.1038/nature04981
- Böhm, R., Rusch, H., and Gürerk, Ö. (2016). What makes people go to war? Defensive intentions motivate retaliatory and preemptive intergroup aggression. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 37, 29–34. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2015.06.005

While the aforementioned studies investigate parochial altruism at the individual level, Wildschut et al. and Frischlich et al. take a closer look at how parochially altruistic norms may be formed and disseminated at the group level. Employing dyadic PDGs, Wildschut et al. find that increased normative group pressure induced by introducing accountability of individual PDG choices amplifies the inter-individual inter-group discontinuity effect (Wildschut et al., 2003). Frischlich et al. study the reaction of subjects to parochially altruistic norms conveyed in extremist propaganda videos and find that subjects submitted to a mortality salience prime report a higher level of interest in such propaganda.

In addition to these findings that shed fresh light on the antecedents of parochially altruistic choice, two contributions present negative results, highlighting the importance of refined theorizing.

In an elaborate field study conducted in Northern Ireland before, during, and after an outbreak of violent intergroup conflict, Silva and Mace find that charitable giving to neutral and out-group but, remarkably, also to in-group institutions was significantly reduced during the time of conflict, questioning simple notions of an unconditional link of conflict levels to increases in "in-group love."

Corr et al. finally, use dyadic Trust Games and PDGs to investigate the association of general pro-sociality and in-group favoritism within individuals. Strikingly, they find that prosociality does not predict in-group favoritism in these games. Furthermore, they even find that these two traits are predicted by separate Big-5 personality dimensions.

In summary, we are positive that the instructive evidence gathered here will inspire refined work on parochial altruism. This Research Topic, we hold, marks a fruitful starting point for exciting progression.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed, have made substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to all contributing authors for choosing this Research Topic as the outlet for their work. Furthermore, we very much appreciate the careful work of all reviewers involved in this project.

- Bowles, S. (2009). Did warfare among ancestral hunter-gatherers affect the evolution of human social behaviors? *Science* 324, 1293–1298. doi: 10.1126/science.1168112
- Choi, J.-K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Darwin, C. (1871). The Descent of Man and Selection in Relation to Sex. London: John Murray.
- de Dreu, C. K. W., Balliet, D., and Halevy, N. (2014). "Parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup conflict," in *Advances in Motivational Science*, Vol. 1, ed A. J. Elliot (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 1–47.

- de Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J. J., Shalvi, S., van Kleef, G. A., Baas, M., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408–1411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- Fry, D. P., and Söderberg, P. (2013). Lethal aggression in mobile forager bands and implications for the origins of war. *Science* 341, 270–273. doi: 10.1126/science.1235675
- García, J., and van den Bergh, J. C. (2011). Evolution of parochial altruism by multilevel selection. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 32, 277–287. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010.07.007
- Halevy, N., Bornstein, G., and Sagiv, L. (2008). "In-group love" and "out-group hate" as motives for individual participation in intergroup conflict: a new game paradigm. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 405–411. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008. 02100.x
- Ockenfels, A., and Werner, P. (2014). Beliefs and ingroup favoritism. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 108, 453-462. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2013.12.003
- Peysakhovich, A., Nowak, M. A., and Rand, D. G. (2014). Humans display a 'cooperative phenotype' that is domain general and temporally stable. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 4939. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5939
- Rand, D. G., Greene, J. D., and Nowak, M. A. (2012). Spontaneous giving and calculated greed. *Nature* 489, 427–430. doi: 10.1038/nature 11467
- Rusch, H. (2013). Asymmetries in altruistic behavior during violent intergroup conflict. *Evol. Psychol.* 11, 973–993. doi: 10.1177/1474704913011 00504
- Rusch, H. (2014a). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 281:20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.20 14.1539

- Rusch, H. (2014b). The two sides of warfare. An extended model of altruistic behavior in ancestral human intergroup conflict. *Hum. Nat.* 25, 359–377. doi: 10.1007/s12110-014-9199-y
- Tajfel, H. (1982). Social psychology of intergroup relations. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 33, 1–39. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.33.020182.000245
- Weisel, O., and Böhm, R. (2015). "Ingroup love" and "outgroup hate" in intergroup conflict between natural groups. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 60, 110–120. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2015.04.008
- Wildschut, T., Pinter, B., Vevea, J. L., Insko, C. A., and Schopler, J. (2003). Beyond the group mind: a quantitative review of the interindividualintergroup discontinuity effect. *Psychol. Bull.* 129, 698–722. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.698
- Yamagishi, T., and Mifune, N. (2009). Social exchange and solidarity: ingroup love or out-group hate? *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 30, 229–237. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2009.02.004
- Yamagishi, T., and Mifune, N. (2016). Parochial altruism. Does it explain modern human group psychology? *Curr. Opin. Psychol.* 7, 39–43. doi: 10.1016/j.copsyc.2015.07.015

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2016 Rusch, Böhm and Herrmann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Do we harm others even if we don't need to?

M. Paula Cacault, Lorenz Goette, Rafael Lalive * and Mathias Thoenig

Department of Economics, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Evolutionary explanations of the co-existence of large-scale cooperation and warfare in human societies rest on the hypothesis of parochial altruism, the view that in-group pro-sociality and out-group anti-sociality have co-evolved. We designed an experiment that allows subjects to freely choose between actions that are purely pro-social, purely anti-social, or a combination of the two. We present behavioral evidence on the existence of *strong aggression*—a pattern of non-strategic behaviors that are welfare-reducing for all individuals (i.e., victims and perpetrators). We also show how strong aggression serves to dynamically stabilize in-group pro-sociality.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Benedikt Herrmann, University of Nottingham, UK

Reviewed by:

Lei Chang, The Hong Kong Institute of Education, China Pat Barclay, University of Guelph, Canada

*Correspondence:

Rafael Lalive, Department of Economics, University of Lausanne, Quartier UNIL-Dorigny, Batiment Internef, CH-1015 Lausanne, Switzerland rlalive@unil.ch

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 18 December 2014 Accepted: 15 May 2015 Published: 02 June 2015

Citation:

Cacault MP, Goette L, Lalive R and Thoenig M (2015) Do we harm others even if we don't need to? Front. Psychol. 6:729. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00729 Keywords: parochial altruism, experimental tests, public-good, in-group favoritism, out-group aggression, strong aggression

1. Introduction

"...Ich bin ein Teil von jener Kraft, die stets das Böse will, und stets das Gute schafft" (*Faust*, 1335–1336). [I am part of that power which eternally wills evil and eternally works good].

Human societies are unique in the animal world. They are characterized by extensive cooperation in large groups of genetically unrelated individuals (Fehr and Fischbacher, 2003; Boyd and Richerson, 2006). But they are also ravaged by intergroup cleavages and conflicts with huge death toll arising due to genocides, ethnic cleansing, terrorism, and wars in modern societies (Doyle and Sambanis, 2006; Blattman and Miguel, 2010). Ethnographic research suggests that warfare was a leading cause of death and presumably an important driver of the evolution of Homo Sapiens in foraging societies (Chagnon, 1988; Keeley, 1996; Bowles, 2006; Gat, 2006). This dual aspect of human social behavior has been an enduring puzzle in evolutionary biology (Darwin, 1871; Hamilton, 1975), in social sciences (Baron, 2001; Posner, 2004; Sambanis et al., 2012) and in humanities as illustrated by our quote from Mephistopheles' famous statement to Faust (von Goethe, 1808). A prominent evolutionary explanation of this joint phenomenon rests on the hypothesis of parochial altruism (Wilson, 1975; Avilés, 2002; Boyd et al., 2003; Franck, 2003; Bowles, 2009). Though a catch-all term, we define parochial altruism as the set of behaviors and heuristics combining strong forms of ingroup pro-sociality and out-group anti-sociality that translate into actions where individuals, at personal cost, help members of their in-group while also hurting others in the out-group. Thus, violence and atrocities are often perpetrated in the name of group interests and history abounds with tales of self-sacrifice in war. For instance, Arnold von Winkelried, a Swiss soldier, is reputed to have helped the Swiss to victory over the army of the Habsburg regime in the battle of Sempach in 1386. He saved the battle by throwing himself into the Austrian attack formation, grabbing as many spears as he could and having them impale him. He fell dead but his action opened a hole in the attack formation and helped his compatriots to rush to victory. Winkelried personifies an extreme combination of in-group cooperation and inter-group hostility.

In this paper, we design incentivized experiments to test the key set of phenotypic predictions at the core of the theory of parochial altruism. We first test for the existence of strong aggression: a pattern of antisocial behaviors which are designed to reduce the welfare of the out-group, do not improve welfare for the in-group compared to other peaceful behaviors, and are not motivated by cross-group strategic concerns (e.g., retaliation or preventive strike). Secondly, we ask whether the presence of aggression increases cooperation with the in-group. Theories of parochial altruism (Choi and Bowles, 2007; Lehmann and Feldman, 2008; Lehmann, 2011) suggest that we should observe the aggressive trait not in isolation but rather systematically associated to its in-group pro-social counterpart. We are able to identify this relationship because our experimental design allows participants to either be cooperative with their in-group, hurt the out-group, or cooperate with their in-group and hurt the out-group at the same time. Thirdly, the parochial theory claims that, in human evolutionary history, the stabilization of in-group pro-sociality has been ensured by the simultaneous emergence of out-group aggression. We study the dynamics of in-group cooperation in a repeated interaction setup and assess whether the mere existence of anti-social actions dynamically stabilizes in-group cooperation, even when repeated-game incentives vanish.

Research on parochial altruism has focused on the theoretical channels through which selective pressures have calibrated human brain and cognition-i.e., genetic evolution in small groups of hunter-gatherers or cultural evolution in large groups with norm enforcement and social punishment (Henrich et al., 2006, 2010; Choi and Bowles, 2007; Lehmann and Feldman, 2008; Bell et al., 2009; Lehmann, 2011; Mathew and Boyd, 2011). However, phenotypic evidence on parochial altruism is scant. Some studies show that anti-social motivations are quite common in many societies and organizations (Abbink et al., 2010; Goette et al., 2012). Several behavioral investigations document the in-group bias of pro-sociality and its moderation by group salience (Goette et al., 2006; Efferson et al., 2008; Yamagishi and Mifune, 2009; Abbink et al., 2010; Alexander and Fotini, 2011). These papers look at how cooperation is affected by in-group vs out-group membership and test for the presence of "in-group love" and "out-group hate" using manipulations of group membership (e.g., minimal groups or private/public knowledge about group membership). Our study complements the literature by providing evidence for strong aggression. Strong aggression differs from out-group hate that is defined as a "reduced level of cooperation with out-group members" (Yamagishi and Mifune, 2009, p. 230). In our design group-salience is not manipulated and out-group hate is muted as subjects are not allowed to cooperate with their out-group in any way.

Existing evidence in the literature is consistent with parochial altruism but it discusses only partial and indirect manifestations of parochialism. The crucial aspect of parochial altruism is the complementarity between in-group pro-sociality and out-group anti-sociality. With this respect, our study differs in important ways from earlier work on aggression in the laboratory. In our design participants can reach any given level of in-group

cooperation without exerting out-group aggressive behaviors¹. The strategic proximate motives to display out-group aggression are thereby muted and aggression is not a necessary precondition for achieving in-group cooperation as in earlier work (Bornstein and Ben-Yossef, 1994; Tan and Bolle, 2007). Moreover, in our design, strong aggression is elicited in an asymmetric way such that there is no overlap between perpetrating groups and victimized groups. This feature is the key difference with the intergroup prisoner's dilemma-maximizing differences game (IPD-MD, Halevy et al. 2008; De Dreu et al. 2010). In particular, an important result by Halevy et al. (2008) is that participants to the IPD-MD do not exhibit strong aggression and exert peaceful cooperation when they are allowed to. We hypothesize that this pattern is due to the symmetric design of the IPD-MD that presumably promotes peaceful behaviors: Expectations of retaliation by the other group could potentially inhibit aggressive behaviors. By contrast, those expectations play no role in our asymmetric version of the IPD-MD and our results clearly show that participants exhibit patterns of strong aggression in this asymmetric setup. Zizzo (2004) discusses an experiment where, by paying a price, subjects could then eliminate (burn) and redistribute money (including their own) and, in about half of the sessions, steal money from others. He finds that about 20% of the subjects "burn" money and stealing also occurs quite frequently. There is a key difference between this experiment and ours: while burning money reduces inequality in Zizzo (2004)'s setting, the corresponding options in our design increased inequality.

2. Materials and Methods

We implement the test for parochial altruism in the context of a linear Public Good laboratory experiment. Participants were recruited from a subject pool composed mainly of undergraduate students at the University of Lausanne (UNIL) and at the Federal Polytechnic School of Lausanne. Invitations were sent to a random subset of the subject pool; we excluded psychology students because they may have been participating in experiments that involve deception. None of the conditions implemented in this experiment involved deception and the experimental procedure was approved by the Ethics' Committee of the Faculty of Business and Economics (HEC) of the UNIL. All experiments were anonymous, computer-mediated (Fischbacher, 2007), with a strict enforcement of non-communication between participants, and the instructions were phrased in a neutral way (with no reference to aggression, competition, victimization, etc. C.f. Section 2 of the Supplementary Material for a translation of the instructions). Upon arrival at the meeting point, participants signed a consent form in line with the aforementioned ethics' committee guidelines.

We organized 8 sessions gathering 18 participants each, who were randomly assigned to a three-person group (their *in-group*). Each group was exposed to one, and only one,

¹This is important because (Brewer, 2001) argues that "the relationship between ingroup identification and out-group hostility is progressive and contingent rather than necessary or inevitable." Indeed, Duckitt and Mphuthing (1998) show that out-group hostility is contingent on historical experience in the South African context.

of the three following conditions (see Table 1): The control condition is a standard linear public good game; aggression is a treatment condition and corresponds to a variant of the public good game where members of this group can perpetrate aggression against a victimized group; victimization is a treatment condition where group members are engaged into a standard linear public good game and simultaneously are victimized by another group. Groups were randomly assigned to the control, aggression or victimization condition and there was no strategic interaction between these groups whatsoever. Group membership was reinforced by a minimal-group manipulation with shirts of different colors, depending on the condition (Control: orange, Aggression: green, Victimization: blue). We neither manipulate the emotional state of individuals, nor do we induce inter-group hostility, nor do we manipulate information on group membership. Our key manipulation concerns the actions individuals can take and the effects of their actions for others.

In the control condition, members of each group received an individual endowment of 30 monetary units (MUs) that they were entitled to keep or to allocate partially/totally to an in-group

TABLE 1 | Summary of the options available to participants in the different conditions.

Condition	Control	Victimization	Aggression				
Available options	Keep	Кеер	Keep				
	Project A	Project A	Project A				
			Project B				
			Project C				
DESCRIPTION OF THE OPTIONS							

DESCRIPTI	ON OF THE OPTIONS
Keep:	1 MU invested in this option yields 1 MU to the individual, i.e., players keep the MUs in their individual account.
Project A:	1 MU invested yields 2 MU that are distributed equally among the three group members. The extra MU comes from the Experimenter.
Project B:	1 MU invested yields 2 MU that are distributed equally among the three group members. The extra MU comes from the Victimized group.

Project C: 1 MU invested yields 0 MU. 1 MU is deducted from the Victimized group.



pool called "Project A." Every MU contributed to this in-group pool is doubled (by the experimenter) and shared equally among the three in-group members. The game was played for six periods with the same group composition. After each period, participants stated their beliefs about the contribution to non-selfish option A of the other individuals in their in-group. Since the group composition was stable, there was the scope for cooperation early in the game due to incentives stemming from finite repetition. In this condition, we expect the standard pattern of initial cooperation to steadily decline over periods as players approach the final period of the public good game (end-game effect).

In the aggression condition, participants could also keep or partially/totally allocate their endowment to Project A, but two additional options were made available to them. The first option is an in-group pool called "Project B" where every MU is doubled and shared equally among the in-group members. In contrast to project A, the extra MU in project B comes from the victimized group reducing its payoff by one MU. The second option is "Project C," where every MU contributed to that option is lost to members of the in-group and it reduces the payoff of the victimized group by one MU. The game was played for six periods. After each period, participants saw the total number of MUs invested in projects A, B, and C and by how much the payoff of the victimized group was reduced as a result of contributions to B and C. Subjects then stated their beliefs about the average contribution to non-selfish options A, B, and C of the other individuals in their in-group. Notice that contributions to projects A and B generate identical payoffs for the in-group. The key difference is that project B entails aggression toward the out-group whereas project A is neutral to the out-group. Contributions to project B and C are consistent with strong aggression, as they reduce out-group welfare, do not improve ingroup welfare compared to project A, and can not be motivated by retaliation.

In the victimization condition, members of the group play the standard public good game. In contrast to the control condition, payoffs received by the victimization participants are reduced in a way defined by decisions of the assigned perpetrating group. Importantly these reductions are independent of decisions of members of the victimized group. Consequently, in-group cooperation does not allow victimized group members to shield against external aggression.

Notice that in all three conditions contributions are affected by the standard social dilemma: not contributing yields the highest individual payoff regardless of what others do.

At the end of each session, participants completed an openanswer survey with questions on why they chose to contribute to the projects available to them. We make use of this information on motivational aspects in order to complement the behavioral evidence on strong aggression.

3. Results

Our first result is that antisocial projects B and C are used throughout the game in the aggression condition (see **Figure 1**). Participants contribute around 9 out of 30 MUs to the purely cooperative project A, around 5 MUs to the anti-social project B,

and about 1 MU to the anti-social project C. Anti-social projects (B and C) make up 30–40% of total non-selfish contributions (projects A, B, and C) and this amount is statistically significant (one-sample mean-comparison test t = 12.87, p < 0.01). Contributions to the purely anti-social project C are positive (one-sample mean-comparison test t = 6.16, p < 0.01), but significantly lower than contributions to project B, which is both anti-social to the out-group and pro-social to the in-group (two-sample mean-comparison test t = 9.11, p < 0.01, c.f. Figure 1). This evidence suggests that purely aggressive behavior is rare, but it becomes much more prevalent if it can be combined with in-group pro-sociality.

Participants who invest into projects B and C display behaviors consistent with strong aggression. However, there are two alternative motivational drivers that we would like to discuss: Firstly, participants could contribute to B rather than A because they are indifferent to the consequences on the victimized group; secondly, participants who contribute to C could have been merely confused and chosen this option by mistake. We investigate this issue by analyzing answers to the survey on why participants in the aggression condition contributed to projects A, B, and C. Table 2 displays the list of motives for each project, by order of frequency (see Section 3 of the Supplementary Material for details about this classification and examples of participants' statements). Results show that participants who contributed to A did so to increase earnings of the group (15 out of 44) or increase earnings of the group without harming the other group (13 out of 44 subjects). This evidence suggests that most subjects in the lab were not indifferent to the payoffs of their own group and that a sizable proportion was also sensitive to the earnings of the victimized group. Similarly, the modal motive for contributing to B was to "harm the other group while



FIGURE 1 | This figure shows the average number of monetary units (MUs) contributed to project A, project B, and project C (mean \pm 1 standard error) among the individuals in the aggression condition (see Table 1 for description of the projects). Contributions to project A are significantly higher than contributions to project B (two-sample mean-comparison test (paired) t = 4.78, p < 0.01) but individuals also contribute to anti-social projects B and C—options that reduce the payoffs to individuals in the victimized group.

benefiting my own group" (12 out of 33) while others wanted "to harm the other group" (5 out of 33). Hence, more than half of all subjects who contributed to project B claimed to do so in order to reduce the payoffs of others. Were participants who chose option C merely confused about this option? Results show that most participants who contributed to C did so "to harm the other group" (11 out of 18). When we study detailed information on who chose C, we find that of the participants who choose C, most chose it two times or more. Most participants who chose option C apparently did not do so by mistake or out of confusion. Clearly, the motivational evidence indicates that a sizable proportion of participants who contribute to projects B and C were fully aware of the negative consequences for the outgroup, and claimed to do so specifically because of those negative consequences. Both their motives and behavior are consistent with "strong aggression."

Notice that contributions to project B might also be higher than contributions to C because B is a more effective aggression technology than C: Reducing the out-group's payoff by one MU costs 1 MU with C but only 1/3 of a MU with B. While we cannot rule out that some subjects chose B simply because it is a better punishment technology, we exploit again the survey

TABLE 2 | Motives to invest in available projects of participants in the agression condition.

Motive	Participant
PROJECT A	
To increase earnings of my group	15
To increase earnings of my group w/o harming other group	13
It is the safest or most profitable project	11
Not invested	4
Unclear motive	3
Others in my group had invested	2
All	48
PROJECT B	
Not invested	15
To harm the other group while benefiting my group	12
It is the safest or most profitable project	6
To harm the other group	5
Unclear motive	5
Indifference with project A	3
Was testing	1
Others in my group had invested	1
All	48
PROJECT C	
Not invested	30
To harm the other group	11
Was testing	3
Unclear motive	2
To harm the other group w/o benefiting my group	1
Others in my group had invested	1
All	48

on motivational aspects to show that this feature of our design is unlikely to drive the main results. As displayed in **Table 2** only a small share of participants (5 out of 33) use B because it can "harm the other group." By contrast a sizable proportion of subjects (12 out of 33) who contributed to B claimed to do so because it entailed a benefit for their "in group" and a cost to the "out-group," consistent with an interpretation of parochial behavior.

The second result is that non-selfish contributions increase if out-group aggression can be exerted. Figure 2 shows that contributions to non-selfish options (i.e., projects A, B, and C) are larger in the aggression condition than in the control condition (t = 1.91, p = 0.065, see Table 3, col. 2). The aggressive options partially crowd out project A. But in net, there is a 21% increase in non-selfish contributions. Importantly, the difference is even more pronounced at later periods of the experiment, as column (4) of Table 3 shows. The period-trend of contributions to non-selfish options is significantly bigger in the aggression condition than in the control condition (t = 2.73, p = 0.01). Repeated interactions create a strategic motive to contribute to the public good in early rounds of the game but this motive is less important in the last periods of the game. Indeed, there is a strong decrease in contributions to the public good in the control condition (see Section 1 and Table S1 in the Supplementary Material for additional support). This breakdown of in-group cooperation in the control condition is a well-known dynamic pattern in repeated public good games (Isaac and Walker, 1988; Ledyard, 1995; Fehr and Fischbacher, 2003). We interpret this dynamic pattern as a support to the evolutionary theories of

TABLE 3 | Aggression and non-selfish behavior.

Dependent variable: contributions to projects A, B, and C OLS estimates							
	(1)	(2)	(3)				
Aggressor	2.906	2.906	-2.004				
	(1.878)	(1.520)*	(2.339)				
Aggressor \times Period			1.403				
			(0.514)**				
Period			-1.885				
			(0.420)***				
Constant	13.295	13.580	18.103				
	(1.378)***	(2.801)***	(3.146)***				
Observations	576	576	576				
R ²	0.017	0.136	0.143				
Session dummies	No	Yes	Yes				
Period dummies	No	Yes	No				

Standard errors clustered by group in parentheses. ***p<0.01, **p<0.05, *p<0.1. Aggressor=1 if participant in Aggression condition, =0 if Control condition.





contributions over the last three out of six periods in **(C)**. Over all periods, the possibility to perpetrate aggression increases non-selfish behavior (t = 1.91, 0.05 , c.f.,**Table 3**col. 2). The possibility to perpetrate aggression does not increase non-selfish behavior in the early periods (<math>t = 0.86, p > 0.10, c.f., Table S1 col. 3), but it does so in the last three periods (t = 2.60, 0.01 , c.f., Table S1 col. 4).

parochial altruism (i.e., co-evolution of in-group cooperation and out-group aggression).

Can unpacking effects due to the larger number of options in the aggression condition explain our results? Participants who play a public goods game with two identical public goods options tend to contribute much more in early rounds, but they learn over time that unpacked options are identical and their contributions converge to the level observed in the standard game in later rounds (Bernasconi et al., 2009). Our results are different. Contributions to projects A, B, and C in the aggression condition are similar to contributions to project A in the control condition in initial rounds. The difference in contributions becomes only salient toward later periods of the game. Thus, the pattern of our empirical findings is not consistent with unpacking effects. What is more, we carefully explained to participants that option A had no implications for other participants whereas option B did, and participants answered a series of control questions that specifically addressed this issue before making decisions (c.f. instructions in Section 2 of the Supplementary Material).

Results are similar when we focus more specifically on ingroup cooperation (i.e., projects A and B only). **Figure 3** shows a positive impact of the possibility to perpetrate aggression on ingroup cooperation, though the effect is not statistically significant over all periods (see **Table 4**, col. 2). The difference in cooperation between aggression and control is, however, magnified in the later periods of the game as the period-trend is significantly higher in the aggression condition than in the control (t = 2.56, p = 0.015, see **Table 4**, col. 3. C.f. Table S2 in the Supplementary Material). This result reflects the fact that in-group cooperation

TABLE 4 | Aggression and cooperative behavior.

Dependent variable: contributions to projects A and B OLS estimates

	(1)	(2)	(3)
Aggressor	1.677	1.677	-3.158
	(1.780)	(1.509)	(2.375)
Aggressor × Period			1.382
			(0.539)**
Period			-1.885
			(0.420)***
Constant	13.295	13.476	17.884
	(1.378)***	(2.806)***	(3.167)***
Observations	576	576	576
R ²	0.006	0.110	0.116
Session dummies	No	Yes	Yes
Period dummies	No	Yes	No

Standard errors clustered by group in parentheses. ***p<0.01, **p<0.05, *p<0.1. Aggressor=1 if participant in Aggression condition, =0 if Control condition.



FIGURE 3 | This figure shows the number of monetary units (MUs) contributed to cooperative projects, i.e., projects that help the in-group (mean \pm 1 standard error). Cooperative contributions are contributions to project A for individuals in the control and victimization conditions, and contributions to projects A and B for individuals in the aggression condition. The figure shows contributions over all six periods in (A), over the first three out of six periods in (B), and contributions over the

last three out of six periods in **(C)**. Over all periods, the possibility to perpetrate aggression does not increase cooperative behavior. However, the possibility to perpetrate aggression does increase cooperative behavior in the last three periods (t = 1.70, 0.05 , Table S2 col. 4). Moreover, in-group cooperation of victimized participants is also larger than cooperation of control participants in the last three periods (<math>t = 2.01, 0.05 , Table S3 col. 5).

Dependent variable: contributions to project A OLS estimates								
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)				
Victim	2.333	2.817	5.178	-1.562				
	(1.781)	(1.712)	(2.142)**	(2.703)				
Victim \times Period				1.113				
				(0.539)**				
Period				-1.885				
				(0.420)***				
Aggression $t-1$			-0.096					
			(0.063)					
$E_t(aggression_t)$			-0.033					
			(0.105)					
Constant	13.295	12.910	12.937	17.459				
	(1.378)***	(3.772)***	(3.556)***	(3.643)***				
Observations	576	480	480	576				
R ²	0.012	0.106	0.119	0.096				
Session dummies	No	Yes	Yes	Yes				
Period dummies	No	Yes	Yes	No				
Sample restriction	No	period> 1	period> 1	No				

Standard errors clustered by group in parentheses. ***p<0.01, **p<0.05, *p<0.1. Victim=1 participant in Victimization condition, =0 if Control condition; Aggression = total contribution of aggressors to projects B and C if participant in Victimization condition, =0 if participant in Control condition.

breaks down in the control condition whereas it remains high in the aggression condition.

Our third result concerns in-group cooperation among victimized groups. Figure 3 also discusses how exposure to aggression affects in-group cooperation among victimized groups. We observe an increase in cooperation among victimized individuals, i.e., members of groups experiencing aggression from others, compared to the control condition. The increase takes place already in the early periods and the period-trend is significantly higher among victims than among control participants (t = 2.06, p = 0.045, see Table 5 col. 4. C.f. Table S3 in the Supplementary Material), suggesting that ingroup cooperation does not decrease over time among victims as it does among individuals in the control condition. Interestingly, cooperation is neither sensitive to the extent of aggression experienced in the previous round nor to the amount of aggression victims expect for the current round (see Table 5 col. 3). This result suggests that the mere threat of aggression triggers a higher level of in-group cooperation among victims.

4. Discussion

This study provides behavioral evidence consistent with the phenotypic predictions of evolutionary theories of parochial altruism.

Firstly, a proportion of participants in our experiment exhibit *strong aggression* in the absence of any strategic motive. Despite the fact that any level of desired in-group cooperation is attainable without perpetrating aggression toward an out-group,

and that aggression does not entail any gains to the individual nor to her in-group over and above what can be attained without aggression, some participants do invest part of their endowment in reducing the payoffs of victimized groups. That is, participants in the aggression condition contribute a statistically significant amount of their endowment to anti-social options (projects B and, to a lesser extent, C) and are aware of the consequences for the other group. Aggression is not observed in isolation but combined with in-group cooperation. Participants readily perpetrate aggression toward a victimized group when this behavior favors the in-group, even if the strategic incentives for cooperation are also weak. Second, evolutionary theories of parochial altruism state that the presence of a type of behavior that combines in-group cooperation with out-group aggression is a sufficient condition for evolutionary stability of in-group altruism (Choi and Bowles, 2007). Consistent with this hypothesis, we find more cooperative behavior that remains stable across periods when participants have the possibility to perpetrate aggression against a victimized group, whereas there is a distinct drop in public-good contributions in the control condition, possibly as repeated-game/reputation mechanisms fade in that condition (Fischbacher and Gachter, 2010). This suggests that the possibility to exert aggression against an out-group is a more powerful mechanism to generate cooperation than the strategic concern to appear pro-social in the standard public goods setting. Third, we also document that the mere threat of aggression triggers a higher level of in-group cooperation among victims.

The asymmetric design of our experiment, in which groups that experience aggression cannot retaliate is key to identify the effects across victims and perpetrators. In particular, our results show that both for victims and perpetrators, exposure to aggression at the group-level increases in-group cooperation and indicate that the mere presence of aggression, much more than its extent, triggers higher cooperation. These results contrast with previous evidence on the deleterious pro-social impact of exposure to aggression when it occurs at the individual level (Alesina and La Ferrara, 2002). This moderating effect of group salience makes clear that the social context in which aggression takes place is a key factor for understanding the differential evolutions of large-scale cooperation observed in various postconflict and war episodes (Bellows and Miguel, 2009; Blattman and Miguel, 2010). For example, micro-level studies interested in the reintegration of child soldiers find contrasted effects of exposure to civil war on political participation and local collective action (Humphreys and Weinstein, 2007; Blattman, 2009; Annan and Blattman, 2010).

Various organizations and institutions try to exploit the behavioral pattern of parochial altruism by creating a strong sense of community (as do various human-resource policies or even military training) and, at the same time, by making salient the looming threat of competition from other organizations. Our results suggest that such policies are doubly effective and that the creation of an outside threat is an effective stabilizer of ingroup cooperation. We believe that this dual phenomenon is at the root of many genocides and large-scale atrocities that are perpetrated in the sake of in-group interests—e.g., the infamous "Radio-Television libre des Mille Collines" that exacerbated the Hutu-Tutsi ethnic divide and allowed Hutus to feel justified in committing murders during the Rwandan genocide.

In our experimental protocol, we neither manipulate the salience of group identity nor the emotional state of the participants. We believe that both would be promising avenues for future research. Indeed we expect that both an increase in group salience or getting subjects into an aggressive emotional state could amplify the complementarity between in-group prosociality and out-group anti-sociality; we present a lower bound to this complementarity.

References

- Abbink, K., Brandts, J., Herrmann, B., and Orzen, H. (2010). Intergroup conflict and intra-group punishment in an experimental contest game. Am. Econ. Rev. 100, 420–447. doi: 10.1257/aer.100.1.420
- Alesina, A., and La Ferrara, E. (2002). Who trusts others? J. Public Econ. 85, 207-234. doi: 10.1016/S0047-2727(01)00084-6
- Alexander, M., and Fotini, C. (2011). Context modularity of human altruism. *Science* 334, 1392–1394. doi: 10.1126/science.1202599
- Annan, J., and Blattman, C. (2010). The consequences of child soldiering. Rev. Econ. Stat. 92, 882–898. doi: 10.1162/REST_a_00036
- Avilés, L. (2002). Solving the freeloaders paradox: genetic associations and frequency-dependent selection in the evolution of cooperation among nonrelatives. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 14268-14273. doi: 10.1073/pnas.212408299
- Baron, J. (2001). Confusion of group-interest and self-interest in parochial cooperation on behalf of a group. J. Confl. Resolut. 45, 283–296. doi: 10.1177/0022002701045003002
- Bell, A. V., Richerson, P. J., and McElreath, R. (2009). Culture rather than genes provides greater scope for the evolution of large-scale human prosociality. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 17671–17674. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903232106
- Bellows, J., and Miguel, E. (2009). War and collective action in sierra leone. J. Public Econ. 93, 1144–1157. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2009.07.012
- Bernasconi, M., Corazzini, L., Kube, S., and Maréchal, M. A. (2009). Two are better than one! individuals' contributions to "unpacked" public goods. *Econ. Lett.* 104, 31–33. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2009.03.015
- Blattman, C., and Miguel, E. (2010). Civil war. J. Econ. Lit. 48, 3–57. doi: 10.1257/jel.48.1.3
- Blattman, C. (2009). From violence to voting: war and political participation in uganda. Am. Polit. Sci. Rev. 103, 231–247. doi: 10.1017/S0003055409090212
- Bornstein, G., and Ben-Yossef, M. (1994). Cooperation in intergroup and singlegroup social dilemmas. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 30, 52–67.
- Bowles, S. (2006). Group competition, reproductive leveling, and the evolution of human altruism. *Science* 314, 1569–1572. doi: 10.1126/science.1134829
- Bowles, S. (2009). Did warfare among ancestral hunter-gatherers affect the evolution of human social behaviors? *Science* 324, 1293–1298. doi: 10.1126/science.1168112
- Boyd, R., and Richerson, P. J. (2006). Roots of Human Sociality Chapter Culture and the Evolution of the Human Social Instincts. Oxford: Berg.
- Boyd, R., Gintis, H., Bowles, S., and Richerson, P. J. (2003). The evolution of altruistic punishment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 100, 3531–3535. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0630443100
- Brewer, M. (2001). Social Identity, Intergroup Conflict, and Conflict Reduction Chapter 2 Ingroup Identification and Intergroup Conflict: When Does In-Group Love Become Out-Group Hate? Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Chagnon, N. A. (1988). Life histories, blood revenge, and warfare in a tribal population. *Science* 239, 985–992.
- Choi, J.-K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 363–340. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Darwin, C. (1871). *The Descent of Man and Selection in Relation to Sex, 2nd Edn.* New York, NY: American Home Library.

Funding

MT acknowledges financial support from the ERC Starting Grant GRIEVANCES-313327.

Supplementary Material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.00729/abstract

- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J. J., Shalvi, S., Van Kleef, G. A., Baas, M., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 408–411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- Doyle, M., and Sambanis, N. (2006). *Making War and Building Peace: United Nations Peace Operations*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Duckitt, J., and Mphuthing, T. (1998). Group identification and intergroup attitudes: a longitudinal analysis in south africa. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 80–85.
- Efferson, C., Lalive, R., and Fehr, E. (2008). The coevolution of cultural groups and ingroup favoritism. *Science* 321, 1844–1849. doi: 10.1126/science.1155805
- Fehr, E., and Fischbacher, U. (2003). The Nature of human altruism. Nature 425, 785–791. doi: 10.1038/nature02043
- Fischbacher, U., and Gachter, S. (2010). Social preferences, beliefs, and the dynamics of free riding in public goods experiments. Am. Econ. Rev. 100, 541–556. doi: 10.1257/aer.100.1.541
- Fischbacher, U. (2007). z-Tree: Zurich toolbox for ready-made economic experiments. *Exp. Econ.* 10, 171–178. doi: 10.1007/s10683-006-9159-4
- Franck, S. (2003). Repression of competition and the evolution of cooperation. *Evolution* 57, 693–705. doi: 10.1111/j.0014-3820.2003.tb00283.x
- Gat, A. (2006). *War in Human Civilization*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. Goette, L., Huffman, D., and Meier, S. (2006). The impact of group membership on
- cooperation and norm enforcement: evidence using random assignment to real social groups. *Am. Econ. Rev.* 96, 212–216. doi: 10.1257/000282806777211658
- Goette, L., Huffman, D., Meier, S., and Sutter, M. (2012). Competition between organizational groups: its impact on altruistic and antisocial motivations. *Manage. Sci.* 58, 948–960. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.1110.1466
- Halevy, N., Bornstein, G., and Sagiv, L. (2008). "in-group love" and "out-group hate" as motives for individual participation in intergroup conflict: a new game paradigm. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 405–411. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02100.x
- Hamilton, W. (1975). Biosocial Anthropology Chapter Innate Social Aptitudes of Man: An Approach from Evolutionary Genetics. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Henrich, J., McElreath, R., Barr, A., Ensminger, J., Barrett, C., Bolyanatz, A., et al. (2006). Costly punishment across human societies. *Science* 312, 1767–1770. doi: 10.1126/science.1127333
- Henrich, J., Ensminger, J., McElreath, R., Barr, A., Barrett, C., Bolyanatz, A., et al. (2010). Markets, religion, community size, and the evolution of fairness and punishment. *Science* 327, 1480. doi: 10.1126/science.1182238
- Humphreys, M., and Weinstein, J. (2007). Demobilization and reintegration. J. Conflict Resolut. 51, 531–567. doi: 10.1177/0022002707302790
- Isaac, R., and Walker, J. (1988). Group size effects in public goods provision: the voluntary contributions mechanism. Q. J. Econ. 103, 179–199.
- Keeley, L. (1996). War Before Civilization. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.

Ledyard, J. (1995). Handbook of Experimental Economics Chapter Public Goods: a Survey of Experimental Research. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.

- Lehmann, L., and Feldman, M. (2008). War and the evolution of belligerence and bravery. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci. 275, 2877–2885. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2008.0842
- Lehmann, L. (2011). The demographic benefits of belligerence and bravery: defeated group repopulation or victorious group size expansion? *PLoS ONE* 6:e21437. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0021437

- Mathew, S., and Boyd, R. (2011). Punishment sustains large-scale cooperation in prestate warfare. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108, 11375-11380. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105604108
- Posner, D. (2004). The political salience of cultural difference: why chewas and tumbukas are allies in zambia and adversaries in malawi. Am. Polit. Sci. Rev. 98, 529–545. doi: 10.1017/S0003055404041334
- Sambanis, N., Schulhofer-Wohl, J., and Shayo, M. (2012). Parochialism as a central challenge in counterinsurgency. *Science* 336, 805–808. doi: 10.1126/science.1222304
- Tan, J. H., and Bolle, F. (2007). Team competition and the public goods game. *Econ. Lett.* 96, 133–139. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2006.12.031
- von Goethe, J. W. (1808). Faust. Der Tragödie Erster Teil, (Berlin).
- Wilson, E. O. (1975). Sociobiology: The New Synthesis. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Yamagishi, T., and Mifune, N. (2009). Social exchange and solidarity: ingroup love or out-group hate? *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 30, 229–237. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2009.02.004

Zizzo, D. J. (2004). "Inequality and procedural fairness in a moneyburning and stealing experiment," in *Inequality, Welfare and Income Distribution: Experimental Approaches (Research on Economic Inequality, Volume 11)*, ed F. Cowell (Elsevier: Emerald Group Publishing Limited), 215–247.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Cacault, Goette, Lalive and Thoenig. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



The development of ingroup favoritism in repeated social dilemmas

Angela R. Dorrough^{1,2*}, Andreas Glöckner^{1,3}, Dshamilja M. Hellmann¹ and Irena Ebert⁴

¹ Department of Psychology, Max Planck Institute for Research on Collective Goods, Bonn, Germany, ² Department of Social Psychology, University of Siegen, Siegen, Germany, ³ Department of Psychology, University of Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany, ⁴ Faculty of Psychology, University of Koblenz-Landau, Landau, Germany

In two comprehensive and fully incentivized studies, we investigate the development of ingroup favoritism as one of two aspects of parochial altruism in repeated social dilemmas. Specifically, we test whether ingroup favoritism is a fixed phenomenon that can be observed from the very beginning and remains stable over time, or whether it develops (increases vs. decreases) during repeated contact. Ingroup favoritism is assessed through cooperation behavior in a repeated continuous prisoner's dilemma where participants sequentially interact with 10 members of the ingroup (own city and university) and subsequently with 10 members of the outgroup (other city and university), or vice versa. In none of the experiments do we observe initial differences in cooperation behavior for interaction partners from the ingroup, as compared to outgroup, and we only observe small differences in expectations regarding the interaction partners' cooperation behavior. After repeated interaction, however, including a change of groups, clear ingroup favoritism can be observed. Instead of being due to gradual and potentially biased updating of expectations, we found that these emerging differences were mainly driven by the change of interaction partners' group membership that occurred after round 10. This indicates that in social dilemma settings ingroup favoritism is to some degree dynamic in that it is enhanced and sometimes only observable if group membership is activated by thinking about both the interaction with the ingroup and the outgroup.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert Böhm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

Reviewed by:

Hannes Koppel, Ruprecht-Karls-Universität Heidelberg, Germany Birte Siem, FernUniversität in Hagen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Angela R. Dorrough, Department Erziehungswissenschaft -Psychologie, Universität Siegen, Adolf-Reichwein-Str. 2, 57068 Siegen, Germany angela.dorrough@uni-siegen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 09 January 2015 Accepted: 02 April 2015 Published: 28 April 2015

Citation:

Dorrough AR, Glöckner A, Hellmann DM and Ebert I (2015) The development of ingroup favoritism in repeated social dilemmas. Front. Psychol. 6:476. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00476 Keywords: ingroup favoritism, intergroup contact, prisoner's dilemma, social identity, social dilemmas

Introduction

Cooperation is an essential prerequisite for human social life, but it often involves social dilemma situations that require individuals to decide whether to maximize selfish or collective interests. A typical social dilemma situation is the following: a team of two people works together on a collectively profitable project where benefits are shared evenly and independently of individual contributions. Although the collective benefit would be highest if both team members contributed as much as possible, the benefit of each individual is even higher if one chooses the non-cooperative option given that the other member cooperates.

Numerous factors have been shown to influence the tendency of individuals to behave cooperatively in social dilemmas or not (for overviews, see Dawes, 1980; Komorita and Parks, 1995; Zelmer, 2003; Van Lange et al., 2013). One important determinant is group affiliation, that is, whether the partner is perceived as a member of the ingroup or the outgroup.

Studies have repeatedly demonstrated ingroup favoritism, that is, the tendency to favor members of one's ingroup over outgroup members both in social dilemma tasks (e.g., Goette et al., 2006; Simpson, 2006; Balliet et al., 2014; De Dreu et al., 2014) and beyond (e.g., for helping behavior in violent situations: Levine et al., 2006; or after natural disasters: Levine and Thompson, 2004; see Hewstone et al., 2002, for an overview).

In the context of social dilemmas, ingroup favoritism is usually found in the form of higher cooperation rates toward ingroup members compared to outgroup members (e.g., Wit and Wilke, 1992; De Cremer and van Vugt, 1999; Goette et al., 2006, 2012) and higher expectations regarding cooperation behavior for the ingroup as compared to the outgroup (e.g., Yamagishi et al., 2008). As applied to the introductory example above, each individual's tendency to contribute to the joint project should be higher if the interaction partner belongs to the same group as compared to a different group (e.g., the same vs. a different university).

Overall, a comprehensive meta-analysis summarizing the results of 212 studies from 77 publications (Balliet et al., 2014) finds a small to medium effect size, indicating that people are more cooperative with ingroup compared to outgroup members (d = 0.32), and a slightly stronger effect on expectations concerning cooperation (d = 0.41). The meta-analysis identified several moderators for ingroup favoritism, such as bilateral knowledge of group membership (i.e., both people know whether they are from the same or different groups) or the frequency of interactions (one shot vs. repeated). Although, most of the studies assessing repeated interactions acknowledge that cooperation in general changes over time (typical declining pattern of cooperation), none of the studies considers changes in ingroup favoritism over repeated contact.

In the current work, we therefore aim to investigate possible dynamics of ingroup favoritism at a cognitive and a behavioral level over repeated interactions.

Dynamic Aspects of Ingroup Favoritism

The theory of parochial altruism explains ingroup favoritism from an evolutionary perspective. It states that increased cooperativeness toward the ingroup (ingroup love) is due to parochial altruistic norms, which have an evolutionary origin. According to the theory, ingroup favoritism represents, together with aggressiveness against the outgroup (outgroup hate), a genetic or cultural trait that has co-evolved in humans (Bernhard et al., 2006; Rusch, 2014). Following this rationale, it could be assumed that ingroup favoritism might prevail from the first of repeated interactions. Several models for behavior in social dilemmas (Van Lange et al., 2013) would predict the same. According to the goal expectation theory proposed by Pruitt and Kimmel (1977), individuals cooperate if they adopt the goal of cooperation and expect their partner to reciprocate. Similarly, Bogaert et al. (2008) proposed in their model that cooperation is driven by an integration of context-specific cooperative goals and context-specific expectations. Joint group membership can function as an important context cue that influences both the likelihood for adopting cooperation goals and the expectations that the interaction partner will reciprocate cooperation. The latter class of models, however, also highlights the fact that repeated experiences can at least change expectations and potentially also the tendency of individuals to take over cooperation goals. Experiences should be updated in a roughly rational manner, in that expectations after some time reflect the average behavior of ingroup and outgroup members in the real world.

As stated in the contact hypothesis (Allport, 1954), repeated interactions with other persons (e.g., members from the outgroup) can reduce prejudice and might therefore also reduce differences between ingroup and outgroup. Indeed, previous research has shown that discrimination against members from the outgroup is reduced after repeated contact (Birtel and Crisp, 2012; see Pettigrew and Tropp, 2006, for a meta-analysis). Not surprisingly, and also in line with a rational updating of expectations, the opposite effect (i.e., increased discrimination) was found in cases where the interaction with the outgroup included negative experiences (Barlow et al., 2012). Following this line of reasoning and in line with the models explained above, both a reduction and an enhancement of ingroup favoritism are conceivable, depending on the actual experiences made with different group members. Expectations and cooperation behavior should be adjusted, in line with actual experienced cooperation and independently of group affiliation. If one experiences higher cooperation from ingroup members than from outgroup members, own expectations and cooperation should be adjusted accordingly and ingroup favoritism should increase (or emerge if it does not exist from the beginning). However, if both the ingroup and the outgroup cooperate to the same degree, ingroup favoritism should disappear, given an unbiased adjustment of expectations and cooperation.

In contrast, one can assume that the adjustment of expectations and cooperation behavior in repeated interactions is not completely rational, depending not only on the degree of experienced cooperativeness. Rather, it is possible that the group affiliation of the interaction partner is a key factor for the assessment of her or his behavior and the adjustment of own expectations and cooperation behavior in subsequent interactions. Categorical thinking about ingroup and outgroup can shape the perception of the behavior of others (Macrae and Bodenhausen, 2000; Mussweiler and Ockenfels, 2013), which results in different attribution patterns in explaining the behavior of the ingroup and the outgroup member. The ultimate attribution error states that negative behavior is attributed dispositionally when it is shown by the outgroup, whereas positive behavior is attributed externally, and vice versa, for the ingroup (Pettigrew, 1979). According to social identity theory, this reflects the need to develop and maintain a positive selfconcept by maximizing the positive distinctiveness of the ingroup in contrast to an outgroup (Tajfel and Turner, 1979; Hewstone et al., 2002). As a consequence, a cognitive mechanism that facilitates the processing of incoming social information in an ingroup favoring light might be activated, causing different generalization patterns for behavior from ingroup as compared to outgroup members (Henderson-King and Nisbett, 1996). If patterns of observations are consistently attributed in a rather "friendly" manner for interactions with the ingroup and in an

"unfriendly" manner for the outgroup, the (objectively) same experiences of behavior should be generalized quite differently. Based on the important work on the ultimate attribution error and differential generalization patterns, people could be expected to show an ingroup-favoring generalization bias in repeated social dilemma interactions, as follows: while positive behavior (cooperation) is more strongly generalized from one to subsequent members of the ingroup, negative behavior is more strongly generalized to outgroup members. In contrast to the prediction of rational updating of expectations, this ingroupfavoring generalization bias would lead to increasing ingroup favoritism.

In two experiments we investigate (i) whether ingroup favoritism is mainly driven by fixed initial differences or dynamics that develop over repeated interactions, and (ii) whether these dynamics reflect rational updating or an ingroupfavoring generalization bias.

Investigating initial differences and potential dynamics of ingroup favoritism is methodologically demanding. To assure high internal and external validity we decided to use a repeated version of a social dilemma game, in which participants interact with different members of both groups (i.e., stranger matching with change of groups after half of the trials). Additionally to avoid effects due to artificial responses, participants interact with real interaction partners and we use real incentives. Also we use relatively salient and to some degree natural groups. Furthermore, to learn more about drivers for possible dynamics, expectations regarding cooperation are repeatedly measured.

Interestingly, although there are many studies published on ingroup favoritism in social dilemmas (Balliet et al., 2014, for an overview), none of them can be directly used to derive clear predictions concerning our research questions. First, none of them fulfills all the above mentioned characteristics to properly investigate dynamics at the same time. Specifically, from the seven studies reporting results from repeated interactions in prisoner's dilemmas, four do involve fake interaction partners, which makes potential conclusions concerning dynamics questionable (Wrightsman et al., 1972; Baxter, 1973; Dion, 1973; Parks et al., 2001). Of the remaining studies two do not involve interactions with members from both groups (Wilson and Kayatani, 1968; Wallace and Rothaus, 1969) and another one does not use real groups but minimal groups instead (Wilson et al., 1965). Second, due to being interested in different topics, most studies do not report analyses concerning the dynamics of ingroup and outgroup cooperation over repeated interactions. An exception is the study by Wallace and Rothaus (1969), which shows relatively stable cooperation over time in the ingroup condition, but a decrease in cooperation in the outgroup condition. However, the study does not report changes in ingroup favoritism (comparison between ingroup and outgroup cooperation) and, as stated before, it does not include alternating interaction partners nor interactions with both groups. Considering these limitations and taking into account that most relevant studies have been published more than 40 years ago our research questions cannot be answered based on published results and neither by re-analyzing existing data. Therefore, we conducted two new studies to directly address them.

Overview of the Experiments

In our experiments, we investigate ingroup favoritism at a cognitive and a behavioral level by measuring (a) whether there are higher expectations regarding cooperation behavior for the ingroup as compared to the outgroup and (b) whether there is higher cooperation toward the ingroup compared to the outgroup. We used repeated interactions in a prisoner's dilemma with a stranger-rematching protocol, in which individuals knew that they would never interact with the same partner twice. Participants sequentially interacted (got into contact) with 10 different members from the ingroup and subsequently with 10 different members from the outgroup, or vice versa, which constituted a group change manipulation (contact with both groups) between the two parts of the experiment. Group salience was induced by a Skype conference of about 2 min at the beginning of the experiment, during which participants could confirm that the outgroup actually existed. Participants sitting together with their ingroup in one experimental laboratory (in separate cubicles) could see the outgroup's laboratory, but could not identify the individual participants. Besides the Skype conference, participants in Experiment 1 knew that they would play the prisoner's dilemma game with different people from their own university and city (ingroup) or another university and city (outgroup). To enforce the salience of the ingroup-outgroup differentiation, and to make sure that our manipulation did not prime the common identity of being a student, we conducted Experiment 2 (which also served as a partial replication of Experiment 1), in which participants were additionally told which university and city their interaction partners came from.

On theoretical ground, we investigate the development of ingroup favoritism and the underlying process driving this development. In order to do so, we test for differential hypotheses concerning generalization patterns that follow from different classes of models and examine whether the dynamic development of ingroup favoritism reflects rational updating or an ingroup-favoring generalization bias.

Experiment 1

Experiment 1 assesses whether ingroup favoritism is a fixed phenomenon that can be observed from the first interaction onwards and that remains stable over time, or whether it is a dynamic construct that develops over time. Besides, Experiment 1 aims to identify drivers for potential dynamics in ingroup favoritism.

Methods

Participants and Design

Seventy-two people (mainly students at the University of Bonn and the University of Erfurt, 44 of whom were female) were recruited via the online recruitment tool *Orsee* (Greiner, 2004) and took part in the experiment. Subjects participated in continuous prisoner's dilemma games (for a detailed description, see below) in groups of two. We manipulated as within-subjects factor whether individuals played with different individuals from their own city and university (ingroup) or with different individuals from another city and university (outgroup). Sessions consisted of 24 individuals, 12 in the experimental laboratory in Bonn and 12 in the experimental laboratory of the University of Erfurt. Assignment to dyads and conditions was anonymous and random. Participants played 10 rounds with different people from one group. After round 10, a group change took place, followed by another 10 rounds with different members of the other group. For both parts, we used a stranger-rematching protocol, so that participants never interacted with the same person twice. The sequence of ingroup and outgroup conditions was counterbalanced (session-wise).¹ The experiment was computerized and run using *Bonn Experimental System* (BoXS, Seithe, 2012). Completing the experiment took participants about 60 min overall. Participants' payments depended on their decisions, and earnings ranged from 8.30 to 23.90 Euros (approx. USD 11.20 to USD 32.30).²

Materials and Procedure

All participants were informed about the structure of the game by detailed instructions which they read before beginning with the experiment. Communication was forbidden throughout the experiment. After reading the instructions, participants answered six control questions to assure they had understood the rules. Answers were checked by the experimenters and questions were answered individually. After participants had read the instructions and answered the control questions, we arranged a live Skype conference with the other lab to assure our participants that they would interact with people from another lab in real time and to make group affiliation salient. As a manipulation check for the effectiveness of our ingroup-outgroup manipulation, before starting with the prisoner's dilemma game, we assessed perceived interpersonal closeness with both groups using a pictorial scale containing seven graphical items for the overlap of self and ingroup as well as self and outgroup (Aron et al., 1992; Schubert and Otten, 2002). The repeated prisoner's dilemma worked as follows: In each round, participants were given a round endowment of 10 Taler (1 Taler = 0.05 Euro). Both players decided simultaneously which amount between 0 and 10 of their round endowment to transfer to their current interaction partner, whereas they kept the rest (10 - transferred amount) in their private account. The money transferred to the interaction partner was multiplied by a factor of 2. If both participants in a dyad transferred their whole endowment of 10 Taler, each player earned 20 Taler in this round. Hence, there was a potential collective gain of 100% that could be realized by transferring Taler to the interaction partner (cooperating). The individual payoff was maximized, however, if a player did free-ride on the cooperation of his or her interaction partner, that is, if the player kept the round endowment and enjoyed the money the other player transferred to her/him. Before participants made their cooperation decisions, they were asked about their expectations regarding their current interaction partner's cooperation by typing any amount between 0 and 10 which they expected to receive from their current partner.³ At the end of each round participants were informed about the amount of money their interaction partner transferred to them and their earning in the current round.

Results

The interpersonal closeness scale reveals that people felt a higher overlap between self and ingroup (M = 4.88, SD = 1.61), as compared to self and outgroup (M = 3.05, SD = 1.49), prior to playing the prisoner's dilemma game [$t_{(58)} = 8.79$, p < 0.001, d = 1.19], indicating that our ingroup–outgroup manipulation was successful and induced a large effect.⁴

First, we examined whether ingroup favoritism prevails overall. We ran two ordinary least square (OLS) regressions over all rounds, which predicted cooperation behavior and expectations by group affiliation of the interaction partner (dummy coded; outgroup = 0 vs. ingroup = 1). For the regressions, we clustered at the individual level (Rogers, 1994) and controlled for counterbalancing condition (ingroup first = 0vs. outgroup first = 1) and experimental lab (Bonn = 0 vs. Erfurt = 1).⁵ We found significantly increased average cooperation for members of the ingroup as compared to members of the outgroup, b = 0.70, $t_{(71)} = 3.07$, p = 0.003, d = 0.21 (Table 1, Model 1). Hence, overall cooperation toward the ingroup is 0.70 (out of 10) Talers higher for interactions with members from the ingroup as compared to interactions with members from the outgroup. A similar effect is observed for average expectations concerning cooperation, which is increased by about the same magnitude for the ingroup as compared to the outgroup, b = $0.74, t_{(71)} = 3.00, p = 0.004, d = 0.24$ (Table 1, Model 2).

In order to examine whether ingroup favoritism is a fixed phenomenon that remains stable or whether it develops dynamically over repeated contact, we calculated a mean bias score (difference between ingroup and outgroup cooperation) for

¹Due to technical problems, we lost one session, which led to an unbalanced number of order conditions (ingroup first vs. outgroup first). In two sessions (N = 48), participants interacted with the ingroup first; in one session (N = 24), participants interacted with the outgroup first.

²For Experiment 1, we also employed personality measures. Results for personality measures of Experiment 1 are not reported here (and were not collected for Experiment 2), but are available upon request. Instructions for both experiments were provided in German. An English translation is provided in the online supplementary materials.

³We assessed expectations prior to cooperation decisions and not the other way around since we were interested in the factors driving ingroup favoritism and therefore wanted to assess our predictor before our criterion. Due to the repeated interaction design, the order of expectation and action assessment is crucial only for the first round since afterwards in any case both kinds of assessments alternate and this was common knowledge already prior to the start of the game. Also, when analyzing the data without the very first round, the conclusion that ingroup favoritism is dynamic did not change.

⁴Participants completed the whole interpersonal closeness measure (perceived overlap between self and ingroup, self and outgroup, and ingroup and outgroup) on three different occasions: Before the experiment started, after the first 10 rounds (before participants received instructions for part 2 where they learned with whom they would interact in the second part of the experiment), and in the end. At all stages and for both studies, participants stated a higher overlap between self and ingroup, as compared to self and outgroup. In both studies, the perceived overlap between ingroup and outgroup diminished from time 1 to time 3. For 13 participants, we have missing values for the overlap between self and outgroup, since some participants forgot to complete the reverse side of the questionnaire.

⁵Due to collinearity, we did not additionally include session dummies (we only had one session where participants interacted with the outgroup first). To test the robustness of our findings we additionally confirmed our analyses by applying fixed-effects panel regressions with ingroup (vs. outgroup) as the within-subjects (fixed-effects) variable when appropriate. This analysis led to the same conclusions.

TABLE 1 | Regression analysis for cooperation and expectations.

	(1) Experiment 1	(2) Experiment 1	(3) Experiment 2	(4) Experiment 2	(5) Overall	(6) Overall
	cooperation	expectation	cooperation	expectation	cooperation	expectation
Interaction partner's group affiliation (0	0.701**	0.740**	1.005***	1.146***	0.875***	0.972***
= outgroup; 1 = ingroup)	(3.07)	(3.00)	(4.93)	(5.58)	(5.75)	(6.14)
Experimental lab (0 = Bonn, 1 =	0.490	0.671	0.278	0.110	0.369	0.351
Erfurt)	(0.93)	(1.59)	(0.57)	(0.30)	(1.03)	(1.27)
Counterbalancing condition (ingroup	1.534*	1.259**	0.749	0.731*	1.044**	0.899**
first = 0 vs. outgroup first = 1)	(2.51)	(2.71)	(1.54)	(2.02)	(2.80)	(3.27)
Constant	2.966***	3.323***	3.119***	3.351***	3.039***	3.342***
	(7.65)	(10.52)	(8.25)	(10.31)	(11.23)	(14.72)
Observations	1440	1440	1920	1920	3360	3360
Subjects/Cluster	72	72	96	96	168	168
Adjusted R ²	0.059	0.061	0.030	0.043	0.039	0.045

t-statistics in parentheses, OLS regression analysis used, standard errors are clustered at the individual level, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, **p < 0.01.

each round and collapsed over all participants, resulting in 20 data points (one for each round). Running a regression predicting this bias score by the variable round, we found that ingroup favoritism significantly increased over time (rounds), b = 0.21, $t_{(18)} = 5.10$, p < 0.001, which is in line with the dynamic perspective. Hence, in each of the 20 rounds, favoring the ingroup over the outgroup increased by 0.21 Talers, which is represented by the red regression line in **Figure 1** (left).

Interestingly, when comparing average contribution rates for the ingroup and the outgroup, participants did not show any ingroup favoritism (and even a tendency in the opposite direction) in the first round, b = -0.85, $t_{(69)} = -1.05$, p = 0.298(**Table 2**, Model 1), but a tendency to do so for the last round, b = 1.38, $t_{(69)} = 1.94$, p = 0.056 (**Table 2**, Model 2).⁶ This results is also illustrated in **Figure 1** (left), in that the bias score for the first round (as well as subsequent rounds up to round 10) is negative, whereas it is positive for the last round.⁷

Furthermore, we aimed to investigate what drives the change in ingroup favoritism over time and led to the development of ingroup favoritism after the first round. Since ingroup favoritism concerning cooperation was not observable in the first round, rational updating cannot account for the observed dynamics. We therefore focus the investigation on the ingroupfavoring generalization bias. According to an ingroup-favoring generalization bias, positive experiences should be more strongly generalized over the ingroup, as compared to the outgroup, and vice versa for negative experiences. Stated differently, receiving more than one expects should lead to a stronger increase in expectations about members from the ingroup as compared to the outgroup in the following round. Conversely, receiving less than one expects should lead to a stronger decrease in expectations for the outgroup, as compared to the ingroup. **Figure 2** (left) presents the observed changes in expectations concerning cooperation as a function of positive or negative experiences in the previous round.

As indicated by the similar slope of the regression lines for ingroup and outgroup, and as further confirmed by a statistical analysis, no differential effects were observed (interaction between experience and ingroup) for positive, b = 0.03, $t_{(70)} = 0.51$, p = 0.610 and negative experiences, b = -0.01, $t_{(68)} = -0.09$, p = 0.93.⁸ Hence, there was no support for an ingroup-favoring generalization bias (**Table 3**, Models 1 and 2).

For exploratory reasons, we further investigate whether changing groups had any effect, which might activate social identity by making group membership more salient. Comparing cooperation rates between round 10 (last round with one group) and 11 (first round with the other group), there is indeed a sharp increase in ingroup favoritism, as indicated by a significant

⁶In the two regression analyses we predict cooperation by group (ingroup vs. outgroup) in round 1 and round 20, respectively, additionally controlling for experimental lab. We do not control for counterbalancing condition since this information is included in the variable group due to considering the first and the last trial only.

⁷ Interestingly and although we do observe ingroup favoritism in both experiments, when analyzing the first 10 rounds of Experiment 1 separately, we find a tendency toward outgroup favoritism, b = -1.20, t(71) = -1.91, p = 0.060. In previous studies occasionally also outgroup favoritism has been found in situations in which the status of the ingroup was low as compared to the outgroup (e.g., Jost and Burgess, 2000). In our study particularly effects of perceived status differences between own and other universities cannot be fully precluded. Furthermore, since in Erfurt mainly first-year students (95%) took part in the experiment, one could assume additional effects of status or it might be the case that they did not yet identify with their fellow students and preferred the outgroup instead. Both explanations remain highly speculative and future research would be necessary to explore this issue further.

⁸We conducted a regression analysis in which the change in expectations (current expectation – expectation in the previous round) was predicted by the previous experience with a member from the current group (received cooperation – expected cooperation), a variable coding our ingroup–outgroup manipulation (both variables centered) and their interaction. We furthermore again included the control variables "lab" and "condition" and clustered at the individual level. Analyses were run separately for positive experiences (i.e., receiving more than expected) and negative experiences (i.e., receiving less than expected). A further full factorial analysis including the three-way interaction of positive and negative experiences led to the same conclusions.



TABLE 2 | Regression analyses for cooperation in the first and the last round.

Cooperation (in Taler)	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)
	Experiment 1	Experiment 1	Experiment 2	Experiment 2	Overall	Overall
	first round	last round	first round	last round	first round	last round
Interaction partner's group affiliation	-0.854	1.375 ⁺	0.687	1.833**	0.0486	1.653***
($0 = $ outgroup; $1 = $ ingroup)	(-1.05)	(1.94)	(0.94)	(2.84)	(0.09)	(3.53)
Experimental lab (0 = Bonn, 1 = Erfurt)	-0.0278	1.361*	0.229	0.417	0.119	0.821 ⁺
	(-0.04)	(2.04)	(0.31)	(0.65)	(0.23)	(1.77)
Constant	6.597***	0.819	5.677***	1.125*	5.996***	1.006**
	(8.60)	(1.55)	(9.01)	(2.02)	(12.42)	(2.62)
Observations	72	72	96	96	168	168
Adjusted R ²	-0.013	0.077	-0.011	0.064	-0.012	0.075

t-statistics in parentheses, OLS regression analysis used $^+\rho$ < 0.10, $^*\rho$ < 0.05, $^{**}p$ < 0.01, $^{***}p$ < 0.001.

interaction between round (round 10 vs. 11) and ingroup⁹, (**Table 4**, Model 1).

When analyzing cooperation in round 10 and 11 separately there was even a slightly lower cooperation rate toward the ingroup as compared to the outgroup in round 10, b = -1.25, $t_{(69)} = -1.41$, p = 0.16 and strong ingroup favoritism was observed in the first interaction with the new group b = 2.35, $t_{(69)} = 3.21$, p = 0.002. This is also illustrated in **Figure 1** by the jump from a negative bias score in round 10 to a positive bias score in round 11. Hence, the significantly increasing bias score over several rounds is not a result of a gradual slope, but rather of an abrupt rise of ingroup favoritism from round 10 to round 11, where the group change and restart took place. Within the two phases of the experiment, the regression lines are rather flat or even decreasing (**Figure 1**, left). Running the same regression as before with the bias score as a criterion and adding a dummy for the experimental phase (before or after group change), the effect of round on ingroup favoritism is no longer significant.

Interestingly, when controlling for expectations, the group change effect is no longer significant either, indicating that changes in expectations mediate the effects of activated social

⁹Both variables centered.



TABLE 3 | Regression analysis for changes in expectations due to positive or negative experience in the previous round.

Change in expectation (current round – previous round)	(1) Experiment 1 positive experiences	(2) Experiment 1 negative experiences	(3) Experiment 2 positive experiences	(4) Experiment 2 negative experiences	(5) Overall positive experiences	(6) Overall negative experiences
Experience (amount received – expectation)	0.122*	0.411***	0.312***	0.417***	0.237***	0.419***
	(2.54)	(6.25)	(7.21)	(6.68)	(6.86)	(9.24)
Interaction partner's group affiliation $(0 = \text{outgroup}; 1 = \text{ingroup})$	0.0661	-0.263	0.324	0.210	0.243	-0.0136
	(0.30)	(-0.73)	(1.11)	(0.63)	(1.20)	(-0.05)
Experience*group affiliation	0.0281	-0.0109	-0.0239	0.0899	-0.0148	0.0433
	(0.51)	(-0.09)	(-0.32)	(0.93)	(-0.28)	(0.56)
Experimental lab (0 = Bonn, 1 = Erfurt)	0.307	0.367	0.00204	-0.232	0.163	0.0508
	(1.51)	(1.48)	(0.01)	(-0.89)	(1.05)	(0.28)
Counterbalancing condition (ingroup first = 0 vs. outgroup first =1)	-0.191 (-0.88)	0.0396 (0.14)	-0.0886 (-0.42)	0.182 (0.72)	-0.172 (-1.12)	0.0619 (0.34)
Constant	0.621**	-0.364	0.0176	-0.415 ⁺	0.273 ⁺	-0.341*
	(3.19)	(-1.64)	(0.08)	(-1.78)	(1.67)	(-2.11)
Observations	524	606	691	751	1215	1357
Subjects/Cluster	71	69	95	95	166	164
Adjusted R ²	0.022	0.170	0.118	0.169	0.076	0.169

t-statistics in parentheses, OLS regression analysis used, standard errors are clustered at the individual level; variables group affiliation and experience centered; positive (negative) experience take into account only cases in which people received more (less) than they expected; $^+p < 0.10$, $^*p < 0.05$, $^{**}p < 0.01$, $^{***}p < 0.001$.

Cooperation (in Taler)	(1) Experiment 1	(2) Experiment 1	(3) Experiment 2	(4) Experiment 2	(5) Overall	(6) Overall
Interaction partner's group affiliation	0.552	0.255	0.354	-0.160	0.493+	-0.0193
(0 = outgroup; 1 = ingroup)	(1.18)	(0.96)	(0.94)	(-0.54)	(1.73)	(-0.09)
Round (round $10 = 0$, round $11 = 1$)	1.573**	0.461+	2.250***	0.898*	1.951***	0.614**
	(3.37)	(1.69)	(6.00)	(2.57)	(6.84)	(2.68)
Group affiliation*round	3.604*	0.342	1.042	0.140	1.924*	0.359
	(2.46)	(0.43)	(0.88)	(0.14)	(2.16)	(0.52)
Experimental lab ($0 = Bonn, 1 = Erfurt$)	0.139	-0.0341	-0.167	0.144	-0.0357	0.114
	(0.22)	(-0.10)	(-0.28)	(0.30)	(-0.08)	(0.36)
Expectations		0.890***		0.609***		0.720***
		(20.47)		(7.40)		(13.42)
Constant	4.675***	0.424	4.271***	1.541**	4.384***	1.107***
	(9.07)	(1.56)	(9.70)	(3.20)	(13.23)	(3.48)
Observations	144	144	192	192	336	336
Cluster/Subjects	72	72	96	96	168	168
Adjusted R ²	0.085	0.702	0.088	0.391	0.084	0.506

t-statistics in parentheses, OLS regression analysis used, standard errors are clustered at the individual level, variables group affiliation and round centered, ^+p < 0.10, *p < 0.05, $^{**}p$ < 0.01, $^{***}p$ < 0.001.

identity due to group change (**Table 4**, Model 2). To further test whether the group change effect could partially be explained by expectations, we conduct a mediation analysis clustering across individuals and using bootstrapping to estimate standard errors (Preacher and Hayes, 2008). This analysis reveals a significant mediation [total indirect effect: b = 3.26, CI₉₅:(0.97; 5.49)].¹⁰

Discussion

In Experiment 1, we find ingroup favoritism to be a dynamic phenomenon that develops over contacts with the ingroup and the outgroup. This dynamic ingroup-favoring effect is not driven by differences in generalizing experiences or gradual changes over rounds. In contrast, we find that differences are mainly driven by one specific event, namely the change of groups that occurred after round 10. This finding can be due to the fact that a group change activates social identity by making the distinction between outgroup and ingroup more salient.

However, before rejecting the ingroup-favoring generalization bias as a potential influence factor, one has to point to several potential limitations of our experiment. First, it has to be acknowledged that the power of the experiment was limited due to the relatively low number of participants. Second, in one of the two labs involved (the lab in the city of Erfurt), mainly 1st year students (95%) took part in the experiment, who might still have had low identification with their university, perceived lower status or other characteristics that were not observable.

With our second experiment, we aimed to overcome these limitations and to test the stability of the findings more generally. To increase the chances of observing rational updating or generalization biases from the beginning, we made social identity more salient from the beginning by revealing to participants that

¹⁰91% of the total effect could be explained by the indirect effect.

they would interact with different people from the University of Bonn or the University of Erfurt. The resulting increase in group distinctiveness can be expected to affect group perceptions (Spears et al., 1985; Acorn et al., 1988; McConnell et al., 1994) and ingroup favoritism should generally increase with salience of the ingroup (see the meta-analysis by Mullen et al., 1992).

Experiment 2

Methods

Ninety-six people (mainly students from the University of Bonn and the University of Erfurt, 65 of whom were female) were recruited in the same way as in Experiment 1. Participants' payments depended on their decisions, and earnings ranged from 6.70 to 21.70 Euros (approx. USD 9.00 to USD 29.30). We applied the same procedure as in Experiment 1, with the exception that this time we explicitly named the city of the interaction partner in the instructions so that all participants were aware of whether they were interacting with students from the University of Bonn or Erfurt. Everything else remained the same.

Results and Discussion

Again, the group manipulation proved to be successful in that people indicated a higher interpersonal closeness between self and ingroup (M = 5.25, SD = 1.63), as compared to self and outgroup (M = 3.46, SD = 1.73), prior to playing the prisoner's dilemma game, $t_{(95)} = 9.75$, p < 0.001, d = 1.06.

Using the same analyses as in Experiment 1, we again find that cooperation is higher for the ingroup as compared to the outgroup, b = 1.01, $t_{(95)} = 4.93$, p < 0.001, d = 0.28 and the same holds for expectations, b = 1.15, $t_{(95)} = 5.58$, p < 0.001,

d = 0.36 (Table 1, Models 3 and 4). Similar to Experiment 1, the bias score indicating average ingroup favoritism in the respective round increases over the course of time, b = 0.11, $t_{(18)} = 3.90$, p = 0.001, again speaking for the ingroup favoritism to be dynamic. Hence, in each of the 20 rounds, favoring the ingroup over the outgroup increases by 0.11 Taler. Furthermore, we replicate the effect that there is no significant difference in cooperation in the first round, b = 0.69, $t_{(93)} = 0.94$, p = 0.347 (Table 2, Model 3), but it appears in the last round, b = 1.83, $t_{(93)} = 2.84$, p = 0.005 (Table 2, Model 4).

We again do not find support for the ingroup-favoring generalization bias (Table 3, Models 3 and 4). Generalization of positive and negative experiences does not differ between ingroup and outgroup (Figure 2, right), with both respective interactions being reversed in direction and not significant. The strong effect of the change in groups after round 10, observed in Experiment 1, is not fully replicated, but a tendency in the same direction is observed, b = 1.04, $t_{(95)} = 0.88$, p = 0.383 (**Table 4**, Model 3; see also Figure 1, right). We have no conclusive explanation for why the magnitude of the effect is reduced but perhaps the stronger and more salient group manipulation that was applied already in the beginning of Experiment 2 might have contributed to it in that it reduced potential later contrast effects between ingroup and outgroup. As before, none of the comparisons between round 1 and 10 as well as between round 11 and 20 reveals significant changes. When running a regression predicting the bias score by round and adding a dummy for the experimental phase (before or after group change), the dynamic in ingroup favoritism is no longer significant, which is in line with the results of Experiment 1.

Experiment 2 was designed to readdress the development of ingroup favoritism with a more salient initial group manipulation at the beginning. We were thus able to replicate the result of a developing ingroup-favoring effect over repeated interactions in a prisoner's dilemma game. Again there was no support for the second hypothesis concerning systematic biases in generalization of experiences.

Overall Analysis

Given the similarity between Experiments 1 and 2, we conduct an overall analysis to generate best estimates concerning the dynamic effects.¹¹ The detailed development of cooperation and expectations is shown in **Figure 3**.

Generally, there is clear evidence for a dynamic development of ingroup favoritism in cooperation since we find that ingroup favoritism (as indicated by the round-specific bias score) significantly increases over time, b = 0.15, $t_{(18)} = 5.46$, p < 0.001. There is no indication for a generalization bias in updating of expectations neither for positive, nor for negative experiences, although there is a strong effect of experience on

updating in general (Table 3, Models 5 and 6). In the overall analysis, the effect of the change in groups between round 10 and 11 seems to be the main force driving differences between ingroup and outgroup (Table 4, Model 5). When controlling for expectations, the group change effect is no longer significant, again indicating that the effects of group change on ingroup favoring are mediated by expectations (Table 4, Model 6), which is further confirmed by a mediation analysis using bootstrapping to estimate cluster corrected standard errors (clustering at the level of individuals), b = 1.56, CI₉₅:(0.46; 2.64). In contrast, ingroup favoritism does not change over repeated interactions with several members from the ingroup or the outgroup, as indicated by the fact that there are no systematic differences between rounds 1 and 10, b = -0.52, $t_{(167)} = -0.82$, p =0.415, as well as rounds 11 and 20, b = 0.20, $t_{(167)} = 0.34$, p = 0.736. Overall, this result indicates that the dynamics we have observed are mainly due to changing groups, which makes the comparison between groups more salient. Gradual effects of biased generalization in repeated interactions are not observed and findings after the first interaction with a member from the respective group are more in line with rational models of belief updating that do not assume differential effects between ingroups and outgroups. A detailed development of cooperation by experimental session is shown in Figure 4. Interestingly, the comparison between sessions also reveals that effect of group change is larger when switching from outgroup to ingroup than vice versa.

Expectations (**Figure 3**, right) show a similar general pattern, although there is a tendency toward expecting more cooperation from the ingroup already in the first round, b = 0.81, $t_{(167)} = 1.71$, p = 0.089, which diminishes and even reverses in subsequent interactions with members from the same group up to round 10, b = -1.18, $t_{(167)} = -1.82$, p = 0.071. No systematic differences can be observed between rounds 11 and 20, b = -0.74, $t_{(167)} = -1.12$, p = 0.226.

General Discussion

A recent meta-analysis (Balliet et al., 2014) showed that, aggregated over the large set of available studies, individuals tend to cooperate more with members of their ingroup as compared to members of an outgroup. Overall, this effect of ingroup favoritism is small to medium in size and a similar difference prevails concerning expectations. The meta-analysis identified several moderators for ingroup favoritism. Of particular interest for our study was the finding that cooperation between the ingroup and the outgroup is stronger in repeated interactions with changing interaction partners from the same group (i.e., the ingroup or the outgroup), as compared to one-shot interactions. We expected that differences are due to dynamic developments over repeated interactions. To test this assumption, we assessed ingroup favoritism through cooperation behavior in a repeated continuous prisoner's dilemma where participants sequentially interacted with 10 members of the ingroup (own city and university) and subsequently with 10 different members of the outgroup (other city and university) or vice versa. Aggregated over all trials, we replicated ingroup favoritism in cooperation

¹¹Due to the imbalance of order conditions (ingroup vs. outgroup first) between Experiments 1 and 2, random assignment to experimental conditions is no longer given when pooling data over both experiments. Therefore we cannot rule out potential confounds concerning our results. However, when including a dummy for experiment (1 vs. 2) in the regression models (predicting generalization bias, group change, and expectations) to control for potential differences between studies, we observe the same pattern of results.





and expectation and found effects that are comparable in size to the results from the meta-analysis. More importantly, we observed a development of ingroup favoritism over time, in that the intergroup bias—the systematic tendency to evaluate the own group more positively or behave more positively toward the ingroup—in cooperation changed in favor of the ingroup over repeated contact with both groups. However, rational updating of expectations based on real differences in experienced cooperation

with the ingroup as compared to the outgroup did not seem to be the crucial driver for the observed dynamics. We also did not find support for an ingroup-favoring generalization bias suggesting that people generalize differently (and in an ingroup-favoring way) over past experiences with ingroup or outgroup members. Although individuals updated their expectations concerning the behavior of members from the ingroup and the outgroup with repeated interactions, this updating process did not differ between groups and is hence unbiased with regard to the difference between ingroup and outgroup. Rather, we see that ingroup favoritism only occurred from the moment people effectively got into contact with the second of both groups, that is, after the group change in round 11. As illustrated in Figure 3, a systematic difference in restart effects can be observed. While restart effects in general are typical for behavior in repeated social dilemmas after a restart of the game (Cookson, 2000; Fischbacher et al., 2001), in our experiments the effect was particularly pronounced when playing with the outgroup first before interacting with the ingroup. The cooperation pattern during the first 10 rounds shows the typical declining pattern for social dilemma games. One could assume that, when contrasting both groups, people start more optimistically when first playing with an outgroup member followed by interactions with ingroup members ("my group will be much nicer than the other group") as compared to the other way around ("the other group cannot be much better than my group"). When comparing our findings to the results from previous studies, it is worth noting that the metaanalysis (Balliet et al., 2014) indicates consistent ingroup favoring for one-shot interactions, while over two studies we consistently do not find ingroup favoring in the first round of a repeated interaction. Hence, the anticipation of subsequent interactions even with other persons seems to influence behavior.

Interestingly, expectations mediate the occurrence of ingroup favoritism after group change. The development of ingroup favoritism between round 10 and 11 (group change) is conveyed by increasing expectations when the interaction partner is from the ingroup compared to the outgroup. When controlling for expectations, the effect of group change on ingroup favoritism disappears.

Given that our result concerning the factors driving dynamics in ingroup favoritism leads to different results than a priori

References

- Acorn, D. A., Hamilton, D. L., and Sherman, S. J. (1988). Generalization of biased perceptions of groups based on illusory correlations. *Soc. Cogn.* 6, 345–372. doi: 10.1521/soco.1988.6.4.345
- Allport, G. (1954). The Nature of Prejudice. Cambridge, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Aron, A., Aron, E. N., and Smollan, D. (1992). Inclusion of other in the self scale and the structure of interpersonal closeness. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 63, 596–612. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.63.4.596
- Balliet, D., Wu, J., and De Dreu, C. K. W. (2014). Ingroup favoritism in cooperation: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 140, 1556–1581. doi: 10.1037/a0037737
- Barlow, F. K., Paolini, S., Pedersen, A., Hornsey, M. J., Radke, H. R., Harwood, J., et al. (2012). The contact caveat: negative contact predicts increased prejudice more than positive contact predicts reduced prejudice. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 38, 1629–1643. doi: 10.1177/0146167212457953

expected, and since Experiment 2 replicated the jump after group change only as a tendency, more studies are needed to validate our findings and conclusions further. We think that the research paradigm developed for this study is useful for this purpose, since it allows us to conduct investigations in a highly controlled setting. Although we did not find evidence supporting the ingroup-favoring generalization bias in our experiments, we would not exclude the possibility that such patterns might occur in other settings with more homogeneous groups or less anonymous intergroup contact. Additionally, strictly speaking we only have 3 (Experiment 1) and 4 (Experiment 2) independent observations, since all participants in one session were connected. Further studies with more observations would be recommended. However, there are natural limitations for running more subjects since the organization of such experiments in two labs that require full participation is rather cumbersome.

The present studies assess the development of ingroup favoritism, which is one aspect of parochial altruism. Parochial altruism explains intergroup conflict through two phenomena that have been closely linked in human evolution: the readiness to benefit the ingroup (ingroup love) and to harm the outgroup (outgroup hate). The prisoner's dilemma used in the current investigation allows one to study ingroup love elaborately. At the same time, the prisoner's dilemma does not allow one to assess people's motivation to harm the outgroup. Future studies should rely on extended paradigms that allow one to measure both components of parochial altruism separately (De Dreu, 2010) and to identify potential dynamics in both aspects.

Acknowledgments

We thank Jeronim Morina for the programming and our research students in Bonn and Erfurt for their assistance in conducting the experiments.

Supplementary Material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.00476/abstract

Baxter, G. W. Jr. (1973). Prejudiced liberals? Race and information effects in twoperson game. J. Confl. Resolut. 17, 131–161. doi: 10.1177/002200277301700107

- Bernhard, H., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2006). Parochial altruism in humans. *Nature* 442, 912–915. doi: 10.1038/nature04981
- Birtel, M. D., and Crisp, R. J. (2012). "Treating" prejudice: an exposure-therapy approach to reducing negative reactions toward stigmatized groups. *Psychol. Sci.* 23, 1379–1386. doi: 10.1177/0956797612443838
- Bogaert, S., Boone, C., and Declerck, C. (2008). Social value orientation and cooperation in social dilemmas: a review and conceptual model. Br. J. Soc. Psychol. 47, 453–480. doi: 10.1348/014466607X244970
- Cookson, R. (2000). Framing effects in public goods experiments. *Exp. Econ.* 3, 55–79. doi: 10.1007/BF01669207
- Dawes, R. M. (1980). Social dilemmas. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 31, 169–193. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.31.020180.001125
- De Cremer, D., and van Vugt, M. (1999). Social identification effects in social dilemmas: a transformation of motives. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 29, 871–893.

- De Dreu, C. K. W. (2010). Social value orientation moderates ingroup love but not outgroup hate in competitive intergroup conflict. *Group Process. Intergr. Relat.* 13, 701–713. doi: 10.1177/1368430210377332
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Balliet, D., and Halevy, L. (2014). Chapter one parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup conflict. Adv. Motiv. Sci. 1, 1–47. doi: 10.1016/bs.adms.2014. 08.001
- Dion, K. L. (1973). Cohesiveness as a determinant of ingroup-outgroup bias. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 28, 163–171. doi: 10.1037/h0035725
- Fischbacher, U., Gächter, S., and Fehr, E. (2001). Are people conditionally cooperative? Evidence from a public goods experiment. *Econ. Lett.* 71, 397–404. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1765(01)00394-9
- Goette, L., Huffman, D., and Meier, S. (2006). The impact of group membership on cooperation and norm enforcement: evidence using random assignment to real social groups. *Am. Econ. Rev.* 96, 212–216. doi: 10.1257/000282806777 211658
- Goette, L., Huffman, D., Meier, S., and Sutter, M. (2012). Competition between organizational groups: its impact on altruistic and antisocial motives. *Manag. Sci.* 58, 948–960. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.1110.1466
- Greiner, B. (2004). An Online Recruitment System for Economic Experiments, Vol. 63, (Forschung und wissenschaftliches Rechnen GWDG Bericht), 79–93. Available online at: http://mpra.ub.uni-muenchen.de/13513/
- Henderson-King, E. I., and Nisbett, R. E. (1996). Anti-black prejudice as a function of exposure to the negative behavior of a single black person. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 71, 654–664. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.71.4.654
- Hewstone, M., Rubin, M., and Willis, H. (2002). Intergroup bias. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 53, 575–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135109
- Jost, J. T., and Burgess, D. (2000). Attitudinal ambivalence and the conflict between group and system justification motives in low status groups. *Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 26, 293–305. doi: 10.1177/0146167200265003
- Komorita, S. S., and Parks, C. D. (1995). Interpersonal relations: mixed-motive interaction. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 46, 183–207. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.46. 020195.001151
- Levine, M., Cassidy, C., Brazier, G., and Reicher, S. (2006). Self categorization and bystander non-intervention: two experimental studies. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 32, 1452–1463. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2002.tb01446.x
- Levine, M., and Thompson, K. (2004). Identity, place, and bystander intervention: social categories and helping after natural disasters. J. Soc. Psychol. 144, 229–245. doi: 10.3200/SOCP.144.3.229-245
- Macrae, C. N., and Bodenhausen, G. V. (2000). Social cognition: thinking categorically about others. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 51, 93–120. doi: 10.1146/ annurev.psych.51.1.93
- McConnell, R. A., Sherman, S. J., and Hamilton, D. L. (1994). Illusory correlation in the perception of groups: an extension of the distinctivenessbased account. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 67, 414–429. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.67. 3.414
- Mullen, B., Brown, R., and Smith, C. (1992). Ingroup bias as a function of salience, relevance, and status: an integration. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 22, 103–122. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420220202
- Mussweiler, T., and Ockenfels, A. (2013). Similarity increases altruistic punishment in humans. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 19318–19323. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1215443110
- Parks, C. D., Sanna, L. J., and Berel, S. R. (2001). Actions of similar others as inducements to cooperate in social dilemmas. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 27, 345–354. doi: 10.1177/0146167201273008
- Pettigrew, T. F. (1979). The ultimate attribution error: extending allport's cognitive analysis of prejudice. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 5, 461–476. doi: 10.1177/014616727900500407
- Pettigrew, T. F., and Tropp, L. R. (2006). A meta-analytic test of intergroup contact theory. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 90, 751–783. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.90. 5.751

- Preacher, K. J., and Hayes, A. F. (2008). Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav. Res. Methods* 40, 879–891. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Pruitt, D. G., and Kimmel, M. J. (1977). Twenty years of experimental gaming: critique, synthesis, and suggestions for the future. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 28, 363–392. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.28.020177.002051
- Rogers, W. (1994). Regression standard errors in clustered samples. *Stata Tech. Bull.* 3, 19–23.
- Rusch, H. (2014). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. Biol. Sci. B* 281:20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1539
- Schubert, T. W., and Otten, S. (2002). Overlap of self, ingroup, and outgroup: pictoral measures of self-categorization. Self Identity 1, 353–376. doi: 10.1080/152988602760328012
- Seithe, M. (2012). "Introducing the Bonn Experiment System (BoXS)," in The Open Access Publication Server of the ZBW – Leibniz Information Centre for Economics. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10419/74638
- Simpson, B. (2006). Social identity and cooperation in social dilemmas. *Ration. Soc.* 18, 443–470. doi: 10.1177/1043463106066381
- Spears, R., Van der Pligt, J., and Eiser, J. R. (1985). Illusory correlation in the perception of group attitudes. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 48, 863–875. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.48.4.863
- Tajfel, H., and Turner, J. C. (1979). "An integrative theory of intergroup conflict," in *The Social Psychology of Intergroup Relations*, eds W. G. Austin and S. Worchel (Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole), 33–47.
- Van Lange, P. A. M., Joireman, J., Parks, C. D., and Van Dijk, E. (2013). The psychology of social dilemmas: a review. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 120, 125–141. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2012.11.003
- Wallace, D., and Rothaus, P. (1969). Communication, group loyalty, and trust in the PD game. J. Confl. Resolut. 13, 370–380. doi: 10.1177/002200276901300305
- Wilson, W., Chun, N., and Kayatani, M. (1965). Projection, attraction, and strategy choices in intergroup competition. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 2, 432–435. doi: 10.1037/h0022287
- Wilson, W., and Kayatani, M. (1968). Intergroup attitudes and strategies in games between opponents of the same or of a different race. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 9, 24–30. doi: 10.1037/h0025720
- Wit, A. P., and Wilke, H. A. M. (1992). The effect of social categorization on cooperation in three types of social dilemmas. J. Econ. Psychol. 13, 135–151. doi: 10.1016/0167-4870(92)90056-D
- Wrightsman, L. S., Davis, D. W., Lucker, W. G., Bruininks, R. H., Evans, J. R., Wilde, R. E., et al. (1972). "Effect of other person's strategy and race upon cooperative behavior in a prisoner's dilemma," in *Cooperation and Competition: Readings on Mixed Motive Games*, eds L. S. Wrightsman, J. O'Connor, and N. J. Baker (Belmont, CA: Brooks/Cole), 110–125.
- Yamagishi, T., Mifune, N., Liu, J. H., and Pauling, J. (2008). Exchanges of groupbased favours: ingroup bias in the prisoner's dilemma game with minimal groups in Japan and New Zealand. Asian J. Soc. Psychol. 11, 196–207. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-839X.2008.00258.x
- Zelmer, J. (2003). Linear public goods games: a meta-analysis. *Exp. Econ.* 6, 299–310. doi: 10.1023/A:1026277420119

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Dorrough, Glöckner, Hellmann and Ebert. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Negative and positive externalities in intergroup conflict: exposure to the opportunity to help the outgroup reduces the inclination to harm it

Ori Weisel*

Centre for Decision Research and Experimental Economics, University of Nottingham, Nottingham, UK

Outgroup hate, in the context of intergroup conflict, can be expressed by harming the outgroup, but also by denying it help. Previous work established that this distinction-whether the externality on the outgroup is negative or positive-has an important effect on the likelihood of outgroup hate emerging as a motivation for individual participation in intergroup conflict. The current work uses a within-subject design to examine the behavior of the same individuals in intergroup conflict with negative and positive externalities on the outgroup. Each participant made two choices, one for each type of externality, and the order was counter balanced. The main results are that (1) behavior is fairly consistent across negative and positive externalities, i.e., the tendency to display outgroup hate by harming the outgroup is correlated with the tendency to display outgroup hate by avoiding to help the outgroup; (2) People are reluctant to harm the outgroup after being exposed to the opportunity to help it; (3) Groupness - the degree to which people care about their group and its well-being - is related to outgroup hate only when participants encounter the opportunity to harm the outgroup first (before they encounter the opportunity to help it). In this setting the relationship between groupness and outgroup hate spilled over to the subsequent interaction, where it was possible to help the outgroup. When the opportunity to help the outgroup was encountered first, groupness was not related to outgroup hate.

Hannes Rusch, University of Cologne, Germany

Edited by:

OPEN ACCESS

Reviewed by:

Daniel Balliet, VU University, Netherlands Özgür Gürerk, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

> *Correspondence: Ori Weisel ori.weisel@nottingham.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 June 2015 Accepted: 02 October 2015 Published: 31 October 2015

Citation:

Weisel O (2015) Negative and positive externalities in intergroup conflict: exposure to the opportunity to help the outgroup reduces the inclination to harm it. Front. Psychol. 6:1594. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01594 Keywords: parochialism, intergroup conflict, ingroup love, outgroup hate, team games

1. INTRODUCTION

In the context of intergroup conflict, parochial altruism—the willingness to incur a personal cost in order to favor one's ingroup over the outgroup—can be motivated by "ingroup love" (a cooperative preference for helping the ingroup) and/or by "outgroup hate" (an aggressive/competitive preference for harming the outgroup, or increasing the gap between the groups; Rusch, 2014). In many intergroup conflicts the two are not distinguishable, as individual participation in the conflict simultaneously increases the ingroup's welfare and decreases the outgroup's welfare, such that participation can be motivated by ingroup love, by outgroup hate, or by a combination of both (Allport, 1954; Bornstein and Ben-Yossef, 1994; Brewer, 1999).

Outgroup hate is often thought of as a desire to actively harm the outgroup, e.g., by taking part in hate crimes or property destruction targeted against the outgroup. In such cases, outgroup hate is expressed by imposing negative externalities on members of the outgroup. Outgroup hate can also manifest itself, however, as discriminatory helping behavior. In the latter case, outgroup hate is expressed by avoiding to help, or, in other words, avoiding to impose positive externalities, on members of the outgroup. In a recent paper, Weisel and Böhm (2015) show that the relative roles of ingroup love and outgroup hate as motivations for individual participation in intergroup conflict crucially depend on whether outgroup hate can be expressed by imposing negative externalities, or by avoiding to impose positive externalities, on the outgroup.

Outgroup hate emerges as an important motivation for individual participation in intergroup conflict when it can be displayed by help-avoidance (avoiding to impose a positive externality), especially when the degree of enmity between the groups is high (Weisel and Böhm, 2015). When outgroup hate necessarily entails harming the outgroup (i.e., imposing a negative externality), it plays a lesser role, and ingroup love seems to be the main motivation at play (Halevy et al., 2008, 2012; De Dreu, 2010; De Dreu et al., 2010). The above result-that outgroup hate plays a major role when it can be expressed by help-avoidance-is in line with previous work that finds that many instances of discrimination are driven by ingroup favoritism (the selective preferential treatment of ingroup members; sometimes used synonymously to ingroup love), and not necessarily by outgroup hostility (outright outgroup derogation; sometimes used synonymously to (outgroup hate; Mummendey et al., 1992, 2000; Banaji and Greenwald, 2013; Greenwald and Pettigrew, 2014).

Weisel and Böhm (2015) had participants make decisions in the context of three experimentally induced intergroup conflicts, namely the Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma (IPD; Bornstein and Ben-Yossef, 1994), the Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma-Maximizing Difference game (IPD-MD; Halevy et al., 2008), and a positive variant of the IPD-MD (introduced by Weisel and Böhm), in a between-subjects design. The present study employs a within-subjects design and focuses on the IPD-MD and the positive variant of the IPD-MD. In the IPD-MD game participants face a choice between selfish behavior, helping their ingroup (at a personal cost), or helping their ingroup and harming the outgroup (at the same personal cost; see Table 1). In the positive variant of the IPD-MD the choice is between selfish behavior, helping the ingroup (at a personal cost), or helping the ingroup and *helping* the outgroup as well (at the same cost; see Table 1).

The logic underlying the analysis in Weisel and Böhm (2015) is that the IPD-MD and the positive variant of the IPD-MD are useful tools for investigating ingroup love and outgroup hate because the decisions made in the context of these games make the two key motivations—ingroup love and outgroup hate—distinguishable from each other. As stated above, helping the ingroup in the IPD-MD can be achieved either with or without harming the outgroup. As a result, choosing to help the ingroup while harming the outgroup was interpreted by Weisel and Böhm (2015) as a display of outgroup hate, and choosing to help the ingroup without harming the outgroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingroup without harming the outgroup was interpreted by the ingreted by the

Group size = 3		Effect on							
			Ingroup		Outgroup				
Game	Account	Self	2	3	1	2	3		
IPD-MD	Private	+2	0	0	0	0	0		
	Within-group	+1	+1	+1	0	0	0		
	Between-group	+1	+1	+1	-1	-1	-1		
Positive variant of the IPD-MD	Private	+2	0	0	0	0	0		
	Within-group	+1	+1	+1	0	0	0		
	Between-group	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1	+1		

Group size = 6

Group size = 6		Effect on											
		Ingroup					Outgroup						
Game	Account	Self	2	3	4	5	6	1	2	3	4	5	6
IPD-MD	Private	+2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Within-group	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Between-group	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5
Positive variant of the IPD-MD	Private	+2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Within-group	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Between-group	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5	+0.5

The table illustrates the effect of each token allocated to the private, within-group, or between-group accounts on the payoff of the individual making the allocation (referred to as ingroup member "self"), the payoff of each of the two other ingroup members, and the payoff of the three outgroup members. Each individual had 10 tokens to allocate. The final payoff of each person was determined by the combined effect of the allocations of all ingroup and outgroup members.

as a display of ingroup love (an interpretation shared by, e.g., Halevy et al., 2008, 2012; De Dreu et al., 2010). In a similar vein, helping the ingroup in the positive variant of the IPD-MD can be achieved either with or without helping the outgroup. Crucially to the analysis in Weisel and Böhm, choosing to help the ingroup without helping the outgroup was interpreted as a display of outgroup hate, and choosing to help the ingroup and helping the outgroup as well was interpreted as a display of ingroup love¹.

An initial goal of the present study is to examine whether choices in the IPD-MD and in the positive variant of the IPD-MD indeed have comparable motivational underpinnings. Weisel and Böhm interpret (1) harming the outgroup in the IPD-MD, and avoiding to help the outgroup in the positive variant of the IPD-MD, as manifestations of outgroup hate; and (2) avoiding to harm the outgroup in the IPD-MD, and helping the ingroup and the outgroup in the positive variant of the IPD-MD, as manifestations of ingroup love. To the degree that these interpretations are reasonable, people who choose to help the ingroup and harm the outgroup in the IPD-MD should also show a preference for helping the ingroup and avoiding to help the outgroup in the positive variant, as both of these actions are, supposedly, displays of outgroup hate; and people who choose to help the ingroup without harming the outgroup in the IPD-MD should also show a preference for helping the ingroup and the outgroup in the positive variant, as both actions are, supposedly, related to ingroup love.

An additional question that the current study addresses is that of order effects. Does the order in which people encounter situations in which they can display outgroup hate by imposing negative externalities on the outgroup, and situations in which they can display outgroup hate by avoiding to impose positive externalities on the outgroup, affect behavior? Past work suggests, albeit indirectly, that exposure to the possibility of harming the outgroup might lead to more negative attitudes toward it (i.e., more outgroup hate) in future interactions, and that the possibility to help the outgroup might lead to more positive attitudes toward it in the future. This prediction is derived from work showing that perceptions of the outgroup (in particular dehumanization and rehumanization) are affected by awareness of harm or help that members of the ingroup imposed on the outgroup in the past (Castano and Giner-Sorolla, 2006; Čehajić et al., 2009; Saguy et al., 2015). The present design allows to examine whether exposure to the opportunity to harm or to help the outgroup, and the understanding that other ingroup member have the same opportunity, has a similar effect on future behavior. The results can have implications on the way repeated interactions between groups are structured, as well as methodological implications for research using the IPD-MD and related paradigms.

Finally, the study addresses the relation between peoples' sense of groupness—defined as the degree to which they care about their group and its well-being—and their willingness to display outgroup hate by imposing negative externalities, and/or

by avoiding to impose positive externalities, on the outgroup. As groupness is measured by items that concern the ingroup only (see Section 2.3.1), a straight forward prediction is that it is related to the overall willingness to contribute to the ingroup, regardless of the effect on the outgroup. The respective relations between groupness and ingroup love and outgroup hate are less obvious to predict. Would groupness be related to ingroup love, to outgroup hate, or to both? Results from studies investigating the hormone oxytocin, known for increasing peoples' affinity to their group (i.e., their groupness), suggest that it is associated mainly with ingroup love, as opposed to outgroup hate (De Dreu et al., 2010; De Dreu, 2012).

The groupness measure that is introduced here can be seen as a type of social value orientation (SVO) measure that is targeted at one's ingroup. Typically, SVO is conceptualized as concerning an unidentified other, not necessarily a member of the in-group (see Section 2.3.3). The groupness measure used here (Section 2.3.1) explicitly focuses on the well-being of the ingroup. Despite this difference, it would hardly be surprising if the two measures turn out to be very related to each other; indeed, recent work suggests that pro-social tendencies are often ingroup-bounded (De Dreu et al., 2014, 2015). Although both groupness and SVO are measured in the current experiment, the main interest here is the possible relation of groupness—a concern for the wellbeing of one's ingroup—to displays of outgroup hate vis-à-vis an outgroup.

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1. Participants

One hundred forty-four undergraduate students (74 females, $M_{age} = 25$) at the Hebrew University of Jerusalem participated in the experiment, which was approved by the psychology department's ethics committee. Participants were recruited by campus advertisements promising monetary rewards for participation in a decision-making task.

2.2. Experimental Procedure

Sessions were held with cohorts of twelve participants. Upon arrival each participant was seated in a separate cubicle, and given printed instructions and decision forms (see Supplementary Material).

2.3. Design

The independent variables were the game (IPD-MD vs. positive variant of the IPD-MD; within-subjects) and the size of the interacting groups (three vs. six; between-subjects). The order of the two games was counter-balanced across sessions. The two orders of the game and the two group sizes were perfectly balanced, resulting in 36 participants in each cell. The group size did not affect the results in any meaningful way, so this variable was dropped from the analysis, and the observations were pooled, resulting in 72 participants in each order of the games.

The twelve participants in each session were randomly divided into groups of size three or six. Each group was matched with another group. Groups were named, and graphically represented

¹Helping the ingroup and the outgroup might be considered as a display of *outgroup love*. Recall, however, that the two main motivations under consideration are ingroup love and outgroup hate.

on the instructions, as the *circles* group, the *triangles* group, the *diamonds* group, and the *squares* groups (when the group size equalled six, there were only two groups: circles and triangles). Participants were informed that they will be required to make decisions in two *world states*, color coded as the yellow and green world states; that at the end of the experiment one of the two world states will be chosen by a public coin toss; and that decisions made in the chosen state will determine the payoffs of all participants. No feedback was given between decisions in the two world states. To increase the saliency of the distinction between the two world states were printed on yellow paper, as were the corresponding decision forms. Likewise, the instructions that explained the green world state, and the corresponding decision forms, were printed on green paper.

In both the green and the yellow world states each participant was endowed with ten tokens, and had to allocate them between a private account, a within-group account, and a between-group account. Participants decided on one allocation of tokens in each world state. In the green state they played the IPD-MD game, and in the yellow state the positive variant of the IPD-MD game. The payoffs associated with each account in each of these games, and for each of the two group sizes, are displayed in **Table 1** (see Supplementary Material for the instructions participants received, and for formal payoff functions).

It is apparent from Table 1 (see also the payoff functions in the Supplementary Material) that in both the IPD-MD and the positive variant, regardless of group size, payoff maximizing players should invest all of their tokens in the private account, which generates a profit of 2 New Israeli Shekels (NIS) for the decision maker. Investing in the other accounts generates only 1 (group size = 3) or 0.5 (group size = 6) NIS. This is the case regardless of the actions of the other ingroup and/or outgroup members. Since no feedback was provided between the two games, they can be thought of as two separate one-shot games, and the Nash equilibrium is to invest all of the tokens in the private account in both the IPD-MD and the positive variant.

In the IPD-MD negative payoffs are possible. The worst-case scenario for a given individual is to allocate all of her tokens to the within- or between-group account, which generates a profit of either 10 NIS (group size = 3) or 5 NIS (group size = 6) for herself, while her group members keep all of their tokens in their private account, which does not affect the individual's payoff, and all outgroup members allocate all of their tokens to the between-group account, which leads to a loss of 30 NIS for the individual. In this case the individual's payoff is -20 or -25 NIS (depending on the group size). To avoid negative payoffs, an initial amount of 40 NIS was added to each participant's total payoff in the IPD-MD, ensuring a minimum payoff of 20 or 15 NIS. In the positive variant of the IPD-MD an initial amount of 10 NIS was added to each participant, such that the minimum payoff is 20 or 15 NIS as well.

A post experimental questionnaire tapped participants' sense of "groupness," i.e., the degree to which they cared for and identified with their group; their social value orientation; as well as beliefs about the allocations of ingroup and outgroup members (the latter are not reported in the current work).

2.3.1. Groupness

The following four items, rated on a 1 ("do not agree at all") to 7 ("totally agree") scale, captured participants' sense of groupness:

- 1. It is important to me to contribute to the group.
- 2. I am committed to contribute to the group.
- 3. It is important to me to act in favor of the group.
- 4. I want the group to do well.

2.3.2. Beliefs

Participants were asked to best estimate the average number of tokens that the other members in their group and in the other group chose to keep and to invest in each account in both the green (IPD-MD) and yellow (positive variant) world states.

2.3.3. Social Value Orientation

Participants' social value orientation (SVO)-the way they balance between their own and others' welfare-was assessed with the social value orientation decomposed game measure (Van Lange, 1999). The measure is based on nine items. In each item participants choose one of three allocations of resources between themselves and an anonymous other person. One of the three allocations indicates a pro-social preference to maximize the joint outcome of self and other, another indicates an individualistic preference to maximize the outcome of self, and the third indicates a competitive preference to maximize the gap between self and other. An example is the choice between 500 points to self and 100 to other (the competitive option), 500 points to self and 500 points to other (the pro-social option), or 550 points to self and 350 to other (the individualistic option). Participants who make at least six choices that are consistent with one of the three types are classified as that type (e.g., a participant who makes six (or more) pro-social choices is classified as prosocial).

3. RESULTS

3.1. Consistency between IPD-MD and the Positive Variant of the IPD-MD

Are the motivations associated with contribution to the withingroup and between-group accounts in the IPD-MD—ingroup love and outgroup hate, respectively—indeed a mirror image of the motivations in the positive variant of the IPD-MD? In other words, are people who contribute to the within-group (betweengroup) account in the IPD-MD more likely to contribute to the between-group (within-group) account in the positive variant? According to Weisel and Böhm (2015), this should indeed be the case.

Table 2 presents correlations between the number of tokens each participant allocated to the within- and between-group accounts in the IPD-MD and the positive variant of the IPD-MD. Regardless of which game was played first, the correlation between allocations to the within-group account in the IPD-MD and the between-group account in the positive variant (r = 0.64, r = 0.45) was medium-high and significantly different from zero. The same holds true for the correlation between

TABLE 2 | Correlations between contribution decisions in the first and second games.

				2nd game					
			IP	D-MD	Positive variant of the IPD-MD				
			Within-group	Between-group	Within-group	Between-group			
1st game	IPD-MD	Within-group	-	_	-0.15	0.64***			
		Between-group	—	—	0.48***	-0.11			
	Positive variant of the IPD-MD	Within-group	-0.10	0.72***	-	-			
		Between-group	0.45***	-0.01	_	_			

***p < 0.001.



FIGURE 1 Allocations to ingroup love and outgroup hate in the IPD-MD and Positive IPD-MD. (B,C) Are restricted to either pro-social or individualistic participants, respectively. Each pair of bars refers to conditions where the respective game was played first (left) or second (right). Ingroup love stands for the within-group account in the IPD-MD and for the between-group account in the positive variant of the IPD-MD; outgroup hate stands for the between-group account in the IPD-MD, and for the within-group account in the positive variant. *p < 0.05; Wilcoxon Rank Sum test. (A) All participants (n = 144). (B) Pro-Social (n = 79). (C) Individualistic (n = 55).

the between-group account in the IPD-MD and the withingroup account in the positive variant (r = 0.48, r = 0.72). In contrast, correlations between the within-group accounts (r = -0.15, r = -0.10), and between the between-group accounts (r = -0.11, r = -0.01), are low and not significantly different from zero. This pattern of results confirms that the motivations underlying contribution to the within-group and between-group accounts in the IPD-MD (ingroup love and outgroup hate, respectively) are indeed a mirror image of the motivations in the positive variant of the IPD-MD, as argued in Weisel and Böhm (2015).

3.2. Order Effects

Does behavior in a given game depend on whether it is played first or second? **Figure 1A** shows the average contributions toward ingroup love and outgroup hate, for each game and for each position the game was played (first or second). As can be seen in the figure, the order makes a difference only for the IPD-MD, but not for the positive variant of the IPD-MD. In the IPD-MD there was more outgroup hate, and less ingroup love, when it was played first, as compared to when it was played second (i.e., after the positive variant; Wilcoxon Rank Sum test: ingroup love, p = 0.029; outgroup hate, p = 0.002). In the positive variant of the IPD-MD allocations to both ingroup love and outgroup hate remained similar, regardless of whether it was played first or after the IPD-MD (in group love, p = 0.135; outgroup hate, p = 0.996).

A plausible way to interpret this finding is that the positive variant of the IPD-MD has a spillover effect on behavior in the IPD-MD, but not vice-versa. After having the option to help the outgroup in the positive variant of the IPD-MD, very few group members find it appropriate to harm the outgroup in a subsequent IPD-MD. The opposite is not true: having the option to harm the outgroup in the IPD-MD does not affect behavior in the positive variant that follows.

3.3. Social Value Orientation

Of the 144 participants that took part in the study, 79 (55%) were classified as pro-social, 55 (38%) as individualistic, 1 (1%) as competitive, and 9 (6%) were unclassified (see **Table 3**). **Figures 1B,C** show the average contributions toward ingroup love and outgroup hate for pro-social and individualistic participants, respectively. The figures show that the order effects reported in the previous section are driven by pro-social participants, while behavior of individualistic participants did not follow the same pattern.

Previous work links pro-sociality to increased discriminatory behavior (in favor of the ingroup) in intergroup setting (Aaldering et al., 2013). In the present study, discriminatory behavior is manifested in the clearest way by contributions to the

TABLE 3 Distribution of participants accross SVO and groupness lev	els.
--	------

SVO	High	Low	=Median	Total
Pro social	49	29	1	79
Individualistic	16	35	4	55
Competitive	0	1	0	1
Unclassified	3	5	1	9
Total	68	70	6	144

SVO was determined according to the SVO decomposed game measure. The High and Low groupness levels were determined according to a median split of the groupness scores.

within-group account in the positive variant of the IPD-MD (i.e., outgroup hate). These choices are clearly discriminatory, since the same outcome for the ingroup can be achieved by investing in the non-discriminatory between-group account, which benefits the outgroup as well². Pro-socials indeed invested more than individualistic participants in the discriminatory within-group account in the positive variant (Pro-social: n = 79, M = 1.11, SD = 1.47; Individualistic: n = 55, M = 0.71, SD = 1.30; Wilcoxon Rank Sum test: p = 0.054).

Social value orientation was highly related to the groupness measure. Pro-socials were clearly higher on groupness (M = 4.78, SD = 1.38) than individualistic participants [$M = 3.49, SD = 1.61; t_{(132)} = 4.96, p < 0.001$]. Despite this strong relation between SVO and groupness, the groupness score of a considerable number of participants is not in line with their SVO type. The groupness score of thirty-seven percent of the pro-social participants was below the median, and the groupness score of 29% of the individualistic participants was above the median (see **Table 3**), suggesting that while SVO and groupness are strongly related, they do not fully overlap.

3.4. Effect of Groupness

The effect of groupness on contribution decisions was tested by means of generalized linear mixed effect models, using the lme4 package (Bates et al., 2012) in the R environment (R Core Team, 2012). Since each participant made two decisions, the specific participant was modeled as a random effect (Pinheiro and Bates, 2000). The explanatory variables were groupness, the game [dummy variable; IPD-MD (baseline) or positive variant of the IPD-MD], the position of the game [dummy variable; first (baseline) or second], and the two- and three-way interactions between these variables. The dependant variables were (in separate models) the number of tokens invested in the private account, the number of tokens invested toward ingroup love (within-group account in IPD-MD, between-group account in positive variant), and the number of tokens invested toward outgroup hate (between-group account in IPD-MD, withingroup account in positive variant).

Table 4 presents the results of three regression models,

 predicting the number of tokens invested in the private account,

invested toward ingroup love, and invested toward outgroup hate, as a function of the participants reported level of groupness, the game, and the position of the game (first or second). To facilitate interpretation, the table reports the intercept and slope for the groupness variable for each combination of game and position, rather than the effect of each variable relative to a baseline. Accordingly, the significance indicators in **Table 4** refer to comparisons of the intercepts and slopes to zero, rather than to an (arbitrary) baseline (see Supplementary Material for another presentation of these results).

In both the IPD-MD and the positive variant of the IPD-MD, regardless of the order in which the games were played, groupness was negatively related to the number of tokens invested in the private account (i.e., groupness had a positive effect on overall contributions). When the IPD-MD was played first, groupness was positively related to both ingroup love and outgroup hate. In contrast, when the positive variant of the IPD-MD was played first, groupness was related—in both the initial positive variant and the subsequent IPD-MD—*only* to ingroup love, and not to outgroup hate.

4. DISCUSSION

Previous research already established that when outgroup hate can be expressed by avoiding to help the outgroup and its members, discrimination is more likely to occur (Mummendey et al., 1992, 2000; Banaji and Greenwald, 2013; Greenwald and Pettigrew, 2014), and outgroup hate plays a more central role in the unfolding of intergroup conflict (Weisel and Böhm, 2015). The current works sheds further light on the interplay between ingroup love and outgroup hate by examining behavior of the same participants when outgroup hate can be displayed by harming the outgroup (IPD-MD) and by avoiding to help it (positive variant of the IPD-MD).

The analysis and interpretation in Weisel and Böhm (2015) assumed that the motivations in the IPD-MD and the positive variant of the IPD-MD are comparable, in the sense that contribution to the within-group account in each is motivationally similar to contribution to the between-group account in the other (and vice-versa). The results from the current study confirm this assumption (see Section 3.1).

More interesting, perhaps, are the different behavioral patterns between the IPD-MD and the positive variant of the IPD-MD. Behavior in the positive variant was rather stable; it did not depend on whether decisions were made before or after taking part in the IPD-MD. Behavior in the IPD-MD, however, was sensitive to the order. Interestingly, when the IPD-MD was played after a preceding positive variant, there was a very low level of outgroup hate (see Section 3.2). A possible explanation for this result is that the first situation (game) that people encounter establishes a set of available actions. In the positive variant of the IPD-MD this set of actions includes helping the ingroup only, or helping both the ingroup and outgroup, with outgroup hate being associated with the former. This association between outgroup hate and helping just the ingroup carries on to the subsequent IPD-MD, where

 $^{^2{\}rm In}$ the IPD-MD both the within-group account and the between-group account are discriminatory (albeit not to the same degree).

Game	Position	Private account		Ingroup	love	Outgroup hate	
		Intercept	Slope	Intercept	Slope	Intercept	Slope
IPD-MD	Fisrt	11.21***	-1.19***	-0.83	0.76***	-0.38	0.43**
Positive variant of the IPD-MD	Second	10.51***	-1.11***	-0.53	0.87***	0.02	0.24†
Positive variant of the IPD-MD	First	11.04***	-1.30***	-1.29	1.13***	0.25	0.17
IPD-MD	Second	11.35***	-1.17***	-1.50 [†]	1.09***	0.14	0.08

TABLE 4 | Generalized linear mixed effects model.

The number of tokens invested the private account, ingroup love, and outgroup hate (in separate models), as a function of groupness, the game (dummy variable with two levels: IPD-MD or the positive variant), whether the game was played first or second (dummy variable with two levels), and the interactions between these three variables. The intercept and slope of groupness for each level of the dummy variables are compared to zero.

 $^{\dagger}\rho < 0.1, ^{**}\rho < 0.01, ^{***}\rho < 0.001.$

helping just the ingroup is also an available action, such that even people with an initial inclination for outgroup hate opt for it.

This line of reasoning also accounts for the lack of a similar spillover effect when the IPD-MD was played first. In this case outgroup hate is initially associated with helping the ingroup and at the same time harming the outgroup. This combination, however, is not available in the subsequent positive variant, forcing participants to make a "fresh" choice. The result is that the level of outgroup hate is not affected by the preceding IPD-MD.

The order effect discussed above is not limited to displays of outgroup hate, but extends to the way peoples' sense of groupness relates to outgroup hate. When the IPD-MD was played first, i.e., when the first set of available actions participants were exposed to involved the possibility to harm the outgroup, groupness was related to ingroup love as well as to outgroup hate in both the initial IPD-MD and the subsequent positive variant of the IPD-MD (see Section 3.4). Strikingly, when the positive variant was played first, groupness was still related to ingroup love, but—in both the initial positive variant *and* the subsequent IPD-MD—*not* to outgroup hate. The negative effects of groupness can be avoided, it seems, if "positive" encounters take place first.

A straight forward implication of these results is that it is important that initial encounters between members of potentially conflicting groups take place in a positive context (e.g., student exchanges), where group members can have the option to help members of the other group, even if the future holds inevitable encounters in a negative context. In a similar vein, before deciding whether or not to join the army, perhaps it is better that young adults make a conscious decision about whether or not to volunteer for the red-cross, or for a similar organization that provides indiscriminate help. This can reduce conflict in subsequent encounters, even those where it is possible to harm the outgroup, and help harness group members' sense of groupness to constructive causes.

The reasoning above resonates well with research showing that awareness of harm imposed on an outgroup by members of the ingroup can increase the dehumanization of outgroup members (Castano and Giner-Sorolla, 2006; Čehajić et al., 2009), and that awareness of intergroup help can help rehumanize the outgroup (Saguy et al., 2015). The current results suggest that rather than awareness of actual intergroup harm or help that occurred in the past, negative and positive impressions of the outgroup, accompanied by the relevant motivational forces (outgroup hate/ingroup love), can arise by being in a situation where there is an opportunity to harm or to help the outgroup, even in the absence of information about the actual harming/helping behavior of other ingroup members.

Given the relatively low levels of outgroup hate they observed in the IPD-MD game, Halevy et al. (2008) assert that "intergroup conflicts can be resolved by channelling group members' altruism toward internal group causes" (p. 410). The current results suggest that if initial encounters between groups involve the opportunity to help the outgroup, or, possibly, if the encounters are framed such that the choice is between helping the outgroup or not, intergroup conflict can be reduced even further. Intergroup conflicts that involve the opportunity to harm or to help the outgroup not only evoke different motivations (e.g., Weisel and Böhm, 2015), but affect each other in different ways when they take place in succession.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Israel Science Foundation (grant 1392/08) and by the European Research Council (grant ERC-AdG 295707 COOPERATION).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank Matan Zilkha, Hen Pundak, Atar Shiloh, and Reut Zeiri for help in administering the experimental sessions, and Marcus Giamattei for helpful comments.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.01594
REFERENCES

- Aaldering, H., Greer, L. L., Van Kleef, G. A., and De Dreu, C. K. (2013). Interest (mis) alignments in representative negotiations: do pro-social agents fuel or reduce inter-group conflict? Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 120, 240–250. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2012.06.001
- Allport, G. W. (1954). The Nature of Prejudice. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- Banaji, M. R., and Greenwald, A. G. (2013). Blindspot: Hidden Biases of Good People. New York, NY: Delacorte Press.
- Bates, D., Maechler, M., and Bolker, B. (2012). *lme4: Linear Mixed-effects Models Using S4 Classes.* R Package Version 0.999999-0.
- Bornstein, G., and Ben-Yossef, M. (1994). Cooperation in intergroup and single-group social dilemmas. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 30, 52–67. doi: 10.1006/jesp.1994.1003
- Brewer, M. B. (1999). The psychology of prejudice: ingroup love and outgroup hate? J. Soc. Issues 55, 429–444. doi: 10.1111/0022-4537.00126
- Castano, E., and Giner-Sorolla, R. (2006). Not quite human: infrahumanization in response to collective responsibility for intergroup killing. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 90:804. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.90.5.804
- Čehajić, S., Brown, R., and González, R. (2009). What do i care? perceived ingroup responsibility and dehumanization as predictors of empathy felt for the victim group. *Group Process. Intergroup Relat.* 12, 715–729. doi: 10.1177/1368430209347727
- De Dreu, C. K., Balliet, D., and Halevy, N. (2014). Chapter one-parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup conflict. *Adv. Motiv. Sci.* 1, 1–47. doi: 10.1016/bs.adms.2014.08.001
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Dussel, D. B., and Ten Velden, F. S. (2015). In intergroup conflict, self-sacrifice is stronger among pro-social individuals, and parochial altruism emerges especially among cognitively taxed individuals. *Front. Psychol.* 6:572. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00572
- De Dreu, C. K. W. (2010). Social value orientation moderates ingroup love but not outgroup hate in competitive intergroup conflict. *Group Process. Intergroup Relat.* 13, 701–713. doi: 10.1177/1368430210377332
- De Dreu, C. K. W. (2012). Oxytocin modulates cooperation within and competition between groups: an integrative review and research agenda. *Horm. Behav.* 61, 419–428. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2011.12.009
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J. J., Shalvi, S., Van Kleef, G. A., Baas, M., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408–1411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- Greenwald, A. G., and Pettigrew, T. F. (2014). With malice toward none and charity for some: ingroup favoritism enables discrimination. *Am. Psychol.* 69, 669–684. doi: 10.1037/a0036056

- Halevy, N., Bornstein, G., and Sagiv, L. (2008). "In-group love" and "out-group hate" as motives for individual participation in intergroup conflict: a new game paradigm. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 405–411. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008. 02100.x
- Halevy, N., Weisel, O., and Bornstein, G. (2012). "In-group love" and "out-group hate" in repeated interaction between groups. *J. Behav. Decis. Mak.* 25, 188–195. doi: 10.1002/bdm.726
- Mummendey, A., Otten, S., Berger, U., and Kessler, T. (2000). Positivenegative asymmetry in social discrimination: valence of evaluation and salience of categorization. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 26, 1258–1270. doi: 10.1177/0146167200262007
- Mummendey, A., Simon, B., Dietze, C., Grünert, M., Haeger, G., Kessler, S., et al. (1992). Categorization is not enough: intergroup discrimination in negative outcome allocation. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 28, 125–144. doi: 10.1016/0022-1031(92)90035-I
- Pinheiro, J. C., and Bates, D. M. (2000). *Mixed-effects Models in S and S-PLUS*. New York, NY: Springer Verlag.
- R Core Team. (2012). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing.
- Rusch, H. (2014). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 281:20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.20 14.1539
- Saguy, T., Szekeres, H., Nouri, R., Goldenberg, A., Doron, G., Dovidio, J. F., et al. (2015). Awareness of intergroup help can rehumanize the out-group. Soc. Psychol. Pers. Sci. 6, 551–558. doi: 10.1177/1948550615574748
- Van Lange, P. A. (1999). The pursuit of joint outcomes and equality in outcomes: an integrative model of social value orientation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 77:337. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.77.2.337
- Weisel, O., and Böhm, R. (2015). "Ingroup love" and "outgroup hate" in intergroup conflict between natural groups. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 60, 110–120. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2015.04.008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Weisel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



In intergroup conflict, self-sacrifice is stronger among pro-social individuals, and parochial altruism emerges especially among cognitively taxed individuals

Carsten K. W. De Dreu^{1,2*}, D. Berno Dussel¹ and Femke S. Ten Velden¹

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Center for Experimental Economics and Political Decision Making, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert Böhm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

Reviewed by:

David Gertler Rand, Yale University, USA Stefan Pfattheicher, University of Ulm, Germany

*Correspondence:

Carsten K. W. De Dreu, Department of Psychology, University of Amsterdam, Weesperplein 4, 1018XA Amsterdam, Netherlands c.k.w.dedreu@uva.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 27 January 2015 Accepted: 20 April 2015 Published: 06 May 2015

Citation:

De Dreu CKW, Dussel DB and Ten Velden FS (2015) In intergroup conflict, self-sacrifice is stronger among pro-social individuals, and parochial altruism emerges especially among cognitively taxed individuals. Front. Psychol. 6:572. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00572

Parochial altruism is decomposed in a tendency to benefit the in-group along with a tendency to ignore, derogate, and harm rivaling out-groups. Building off recent work suggesting that decisions to cooperate can be relatively fast and intuitive, we examine parochial altruism in intergroup conflict when cognitive deliberation is rendered difficult or not. Predictions were tested in an experiment using an incentivized Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma-Maximizing Differences Game with 95 subjects classified as either pro-social or pro-self being randomly allocated to high vs. low impulse-control conditions. Results showed, first of all, that self-sacrificial decisions to contribute were made faster than decisions not to contribute, and that faster decision time associated with more positive expectations of in-group members. Second, we observed that lowering impulse control with a difficult rather than easy Stroop Task increased the amount contributed to a pool that benefited in-group members while harming out-group members; thus reducing deliberation increased parochial altruism. Finally, results replicated earlier work showing that especially pro-social (vs. pro-self) individuals contributed more to the in-group and did not lower their contributions to the between-group pool that benefitted their ingroup and, simultaneously, hurt the out-group. This pattern emerged independent of their impulse control. Thus, (in-group bounded) cooperation is more prominent among individuals with strong rather than weak other-regarding preferences. Moreover, the intuitive tendency to cooperate may have evolved in the context of intergroup conflict and therefore is sharp-edged-in-group bounded and including willingness to aggress out-groups.

Keywords: intergroup conflict, competition, parochial altruism, dual systems, ego depletion

Introduction

Humans owe much of their evolutionary success to their strong capacity to create and maintain cohesive groups within which they engage in complex forms of cooperative exchange, negotiate, and trade, innovate, and disseminate knowledge, insights, values, and preferences (Darwin, 1871; Bowles and Gintis, 2004, 2011; Henrich and Henrich, 2007; Wilson, 2012; De Dreu et al., 2014a).

In fact, being included in strong, well-functioning, and innovative groups provides fitness functionality to its individual members because they are more likely to survive, prosper, and reproduce than individuals living in groups where most members lack such cooperative inclinations: "...groups with a greater number of courageous, sympathetic, and faithful members, who were always ready to warn each other of danger, to aid and defend each other ...would spread and be victorious over other tribes" (Darwin, 1871, p. 156).

Because of the group's functionality to individual fitness, humans may have evolved a "group psychology" that includes a propensity to (i) identify with groups and its members, (ii) empathize with the needs and interests of fellow group members, (iii) self-sacrifice, trust, and cooperate with other group members, and (iv) loyally commit and contribute to the functioning of one's group (De Dreu et al., 2014a; De Dreu and Kret, 2015). Furthermore, because groups exist next to other groups with whom they cooperate, compare, and compete, group efficiency often is relative - groups that generate greater surplus than other groups become relatively strong and prosperous, achieve a relatively favorable social status position, and may be better able to exert power and influence over other groups and their members (De Dreu et al., 2014a). Accordingly, the evolved group psychology must be, at least to some extent, relative and comparative vis-à-vis other groups. Throughout evolution humans may have become prepared to self-sacrifice in order to cooperate with others, but especially with those they rely upon, are interdependent with, and expect interactions with in the future, that is, with those others that are perceived to be part of one's group (Balliet et al., 2014). Some even proposed that such ingroup bounded cooperation may have co-evolved with tendencies to aggress against rivaling out-groups (LeVine and Campbell, 1972; Campbell, 1975; Bernhard et al., 2006; Bowles, 2009; De Dreu et al., 2014a). After all, when group efficiency is relative, promoting in-group efficiency, or undermining out-group efficiency are two means toward the same end (De Dreu et al., 2014a).

The possibility that self-sacrificial in-group cooperation and out-group aggression co-evolved (henceforth parochial altruism; Bowles, 2009) fits extant work showing that intergroup competition motivates individuals to make costly contributions to their in-group (e.g., Manson and Wrangham, 1991; Erev et al., 1993; Bornstein and Ben-Yossef, 1994; Bornstein et al., 2002; Bornstein, 2003; Bornstein and Gilula, 2003; Wildschut et al., 2003; Reeve and Holldobler, 2007; Abbink et al., 2012; Bohm and Rockenbach, 2013). It also is key in evolutionary models such as group selection and gene-culture co-evolution theory that argue that parochial altruism evolved because of impactful hostile intergroup encounters throughout human evolutionary history (Boyd and Richerson, 1982; Alexander, 1990; Choi and Bowles, 2007; Efferson et al., 2008; Bowles, 2009).

If such evolutionary perspectives on parochial altruism hold, individual propensity for parochial altruism may be sustained by evolutionary ancient neural circuitries involved in affective responding and intuitive decision making. Indeed, there is some work showing that cooperation and trust rests, in part, on sub-cortical neural circuitries recruited for affective and intuitive rather than deliberative, controlled decision making (Rilling and Sanfey, 2011). For example, parochial altruism is modulated by hypothalamic oxytocin that acts on the amygdalahippocampal circuitries more than on prefrontal brain areas involved in impulse-control and deliberation (De Dreu et al., 2010, 2012, 2014b; Baumgartner et al., 2014; Carter, 2014; De Dreu and Kret, 2015; Ma et al., 2015). Neuro-imaging studies of individual tendencies to discriminate between in-group and out-group confirm that both categorization of self and others into in- and out-groups as well discriminatory preferences for the in-group over the out-group are fast and modulated by sub-cortical brain structures disconnected from executive control and cognitive monitoring (Hein et al., 2010; Baumgartner et al., 2014; Cikarna and Van Bavel, 2014; Kret et al., 2015). In addition to this, there is some evidence to suggest that cooperation in general, and parochial altruism in particular, may be fast and intuitive, rather than deliberated. From studies on public goods provision we know that cooperative individuals decided more quickly than those who withheld cooperation, and that individuals in which an intuitive mindset was primed cooperated more than those in which a deliberation mindset was activated (Rand et al., 2012). Moreover, demotivating and/or disabling deliberation by having participants perform a cognitively taxing Stroop task prior to decision making, amplified both spiteful rejection of other's unfairness and benign reciprocation of trust (Halali et al., 2013).

Our first goal here was to examine the possibility that, consistent with the above works, self-sacrifice is fast and intuitive, rather than deliberated and calculative. Prior to decision making, participants performed a difficult and cognitively taxing (vs. easy) Stroop Task (Stroop, 1935). There is good evidence that performing a cognitively taxing task prior to decision making reduces the ability and/or motivation to exert cognitive control (Muraven et al., 2006; Baumeister and Vohs, 2007; Inzlicht and Schmeichel, 2012). Both possibilities suggest that following a cognitively taxing task, decision making becomes more impulsive, and intuitive (Hagger et al., 2010). Accordingly, we expected (i) more parochial altruism when decision making is intuitive, and (ii) faster decisions to be associated with more self-sacrifice.

We pursued two additional goals. First, the work on parochial altruism allows for the possibility that individuals self-sacrifice to serve the in-group (Brewer, 1999; Halevy et al., 2008), or to hurt the out-group (Brewer, 1999), or to simultaneously serve the in-group and hurt the out-group. Specifically, earlier work using experimental games, such as the intergroup prisoner's dilemma (Bornstein, 2003), showed that intergroup competition motivates individuals to extend cooperation toward their in-group, yet such cooperation not only benefitted their ingroup but also, at the same time, hurt the out-group (Halevy et al., 2008). Halevy et al. (2008) designed a Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma-Maximizing Differences (IPD-MD) game to examine whether such simultaneously benefitting the in-group and hurting the out-group, in fact, primarily reflects a desire to serve the in-group, and their results indeed supported such a proposition-in intergroup settings, individuals contributed

more to a within-group pool that benefitted their in-group, than to a between-group pool that benefitted their in-group and simultaneously hurt their out-group. This result fits the outcomes of a recent meta-analysis (Balliet et al., 2014), along with a growing body of primary studies (Halevy et al., 2008, 2010, 2012; De Dreu, 2010; De Dreu et al., 2010; Buttelmann and Böhm, 2014) that in intergroup settings individuals are motivated more by a desire to benefit the in-group than by a desire to hurt the out-group.

Using the experimental set-up designed by Halevy et al. (2008), we explored whether cognitive taxation increases contributions to the within-group pool, or whether it increases parochial altruism (the between-group pool). Second, we examined whether parochial altruism is stronger among individuals who value fairness and cooperation (henceforth "pro-socials," Van Lange, 1999), compared to those who value personal outcomes, and relative gain (henceforth "pro-selfs"). While evolutionary perspectives on parochial altruism are silent about the possibility that individual differences in value orientation impacts parochial altruism, several studies indicate that in intergroup competition, pro-social individuals display stronger parochial altruism, and a desire to benefit the in-group in particular, than pro-selfs (De Dreu, 2010; De Dreu et al., 2010; Abbink et al., 2012; Aaldering et al., 2013). We expected to replicate this finding, and explored whether cognitive taxation interacts with social value orientation in driving parochial altruism.

Materials and Methods

Participants, Ethics, and Experimental Design

Participants were recruited through the web-portal of the Psychology Research Institute of the University of Amsterdam. Based on our earlier work (De Dreu, 2010; De Dreu et al., 2010) we set a required sample size of 100, and recruited a total N = 111 (35 males and 76 females; $M_{age} = 21.44$, SD = 2.66) to participate in a study on human decision making. Participants received a \notin 7 show-up fee, and the possibility to earn extra money through decision making (actual extra earnings were M = €5.75, range \notin 0- \notin 15). The study was approved by the Psychology Ethics Committee (file number 2012-WOP-2501), and participants provided written informed consent prior to the study. They were paid and debriefed upon completion of the study.

The design involved a 2 (Cognitive Taxation: Yes/No) \times 2 (Social Value Orientation: Pro-social/Pro-self) between-subjects design. Participants were randomly assigned to the first factor; social value orientation was a *post hoc* blocking factor. Dependent variables were the time taken to decide (log-transformed), self-sacrifice (money contributed) as well as its decomposition in within-group and between-group contribution (the latter counting as parochial altruism). A post-experimental questionnaire assessed expectations that in-group members contributed to the within-group pool and the adequacy of the cognitive taxation manipulation.

Procedure and Measures

Experimental sessions involved groups of six individual participants. Upon arrival in the laboratory, participants were seated in individual cubicles that prevented them from seeing or hearing others. The experimenter unlocked the computer, and left. From that point onward, the experiment was computer-guided. **Figure 1** gives a schematic representation of the experimental tasks and time-lines. As can be seen, participants first completed a measure to assess their social value orientation, then performed a series of filler tests that contained no experimental manipulations, received instructions for the IPD–MD and performed a more or less cognitively taxing Stroop task to manipulate cognitive taxation. Then they made decisions in the IPD–MD, responded to a short questionnaire, and were debriefed and dismissed.

To assess social value orientation, we used a standard decomposed triple dominance measure that is widely used and wellvalidated (Van Lange and Kuhlman, 1994; De Dreu and Van Lange, 1995; Van Lange, 1999; Aaldering et al., 2013; also see Murphy and Ackermann, 2014). In each of nine decomposed games, subjects could choose from three different distributions of points to themselves and another person that they did not know and would not meet. An example is the decision between Option 1 [560 to You; 300 to Other], Option 2 [500 to You; 100 to Other], and Option 3 [500 to You; 500 to Other]). Option 1 reflects individualism because one's own outcomes (560) exceed those in Option 2 (500) or Option 3 (500). Option 2 reflects competition, because it provides a greater advantage over the other's outcomes (500 - 100 = 400) than Option 1 (560 - 300 = 260) or Option 3 (500 - 500 = 0), and Option 3 reflects a pro-social orientation because it provides a larger joint outcome (500 + 500 = 1000) than either Option 1 (560 + 300 = 860) or Option 2 (500 + 100 = 600). To be classified as pro-social (pro-self) participants had to choose consistently in at least six of the nine games. Ninety-five subjects were classified as pro-social (N = 45) or pro-self (N = 50; 45)were individualistic, and five were consistently competitive). The remaining subjects were unclassifiable and dropped from the analyses.

Following the decomposed game measure, subjects continued with a series of unrelated filler-tasks (surveys about attitudes regarding various health issues) to create a gap between the measurement of social values and the IPD-MD (Halevy et al., 2008) we used to study parochial altruism. After 25 min, the computer ended the filler-tasks and introduced the IPD-MD (Halevy et al., 2008, 2010, 2012; De Dreu, 2010). Subjects were told that they would make decisions involving the participant's own group (denoted as "Team C2"), and another three-person group (denoted as "Team H5"; labeling was counterbalanced but never had effects and is further ignored). Participants were informed that groups were composed on the basis of the order in which they had signed up for the experiment, and that most, but not necessarily all, group members were currently present in the laboratory. They were also told that they would not know who was in their group or who was in the other group (Halevy et al., 2008; De Dreu, 2010).



Following assessment of (1) social value orientation using nine decomposed games, subjects (2) completed irrelevant filler-tasks, were (3) organized in two three-person groups and explained the IPD-MD, before they (4)

performed either a high or low taxing Stroop Interference Task to tax cognitive resources or not, and then (5) made five IPD-MD decisions, (6) indicated their in-group expectations, and finished with cognitive-taxation measures. Coloring is for illustrative purposes only.

Hereafter, computer instructions stated that for group decision making, each individual group member would receive an endowment of €10, which was in addition to individuals' participation fee. Next, we explained that each Euro kept was worth €1 for the individual; each Euro that was contributed to the within-group pool added €0.50 to each in-group member including the contributor; each Euro that was contributed to the between-group pool added €0.50 to each in-group member including the contributor and, in addition, also subtracted €0.50 from each out-group member. The amount contributed to the within-group pool reflects "in-group cooperation," the amount contributed to the between-group pool reflects parochial altruism (or "out-group hate" per Halevy et al., 2008). The instructions were in neutral language and there was no mention of the words cooperation or competition. Participants were assured that their decisions would remain completely confidential, and solved a quiz that tested their understanding of the rules of the game [i.e., we provided a series of possible group-level investments (e.g., you keep three, invest five in the within-group pool, and invest two in the between-group pool; all other members of your Team, and those of the other Team keep their endowments and make no investment: how much do you receive? How

much does another member of your Team receive?)]. Analyses of their responses showed that all subjects understood the game.

Following the IPD-MD instructions, participants were given a short task intended to lower cognitive control and increase intuitive decision making. The task was modeled after the Stroop Interference Task (SIT; Stroop, 1935; Hagger et al., 2010; Halali et al., 2013, 2014). Subjects were shown a color word on their screen (e.g., "blue") that was written in a particular color (e.g., blue) and had to indicate as fast and accurately as possible what the color of the word was. In the high taxing condition, we provided thirty-six inconsistent stimuli (i.e., color words written in a different color, e.g., "blue" written in red). Studies have shown that responding to inconsistent stimuli is cognitive taxing and reduces the ability and motivation to engage executive and impulse-control (Stroop, 1935; Hagger et al., 2010). Two subjects in this condition indicated they were color-blind and dropped from the analyses (as they were also unclassifiable regarding their social value orientation, this did not further reduce our final sample size). In the low-taxing condition, we provided 36 consistent stimuli (i.e., color words written in the same color, e.g., "blue" written in blue).

Immediately following the low or high taxing SIT, participants were asked to indicate how much of their €10 they contributed to the within-group pool, how much they contributed to the between-group pool, and how much they kept for themselves. Participants were asked to make their allocation decision five times and told that one of these decisions would be randomly drawn for payout. Participants knew that no feedback about others' choices would be given. Investment decisions were averaged across the five rounds ($\alpha = 0.93$) for within-group investments; $\alpha = 0.94$ for between-group investments; $r_{\text{within-between}} = -0.396$, p = 0.001). In addition to recording investments, we measured time in seconds taken to decide how much participants kept to themselves (i.e., the reverse of self-sacrifice; $\alpha = 0.88$). Decision time was log-transformed to meet the requirements for parametric testing (analyses using the observed data permitted the same conclusions).

Following IPD-MD investments we measured in-group expectations by asking subjects to indicate the extent to which they expected fellow in-group members to contribute to the within-group pool (1 = not at all; 7 = very much). To verify the effectiveness of the cognitive-taxation manipulation, participants were given an (unknowingly) unsolvable anagram which they were asked to solve. Time was unlimited and at subjects' discretion, and we assessed how much time they persisted on this task. Then participants indicated how alert and concentrated they felt (both 1 = not at all, to 5 = very much; r = 0.421, p < 0.01). This completed the experiment.

Results

Manipulation Checks

Participants given the high taxing SIT gave up earlier on trying to solve an (unknowingly) unsolvable anagram [$M_{\text{SIThightaxing}} = 46.94$ s vs. $M_{\text{SITlowtaxing}} = 72.60$ s, F(1,91) = 11.19, p = 0.001]. They also felt less alert and concentrated [combined $M_{\text{SIThightaxing}} = 2.47$ vs. $M_{\text{SITlowtaxing}} = 2.95$, F(1,91) = 5.483, p = 0.021]. From these results, we conclude that those given the high taxing SIT had lowered cognitive control than those given the low taxing SIT.

Decision Making

Consistent with the possibility that self-sacrifice is intuitive, self-reported alertness and concentration was positively correlated with the amount participants kept for themselves, r(95) = 0.231, p = 0.024. Furthermore, **Figure 2A** shows that the time it took subjects to decide how much to keep to themselves positively predicted how much they kept to themselves, r(95) = 0.272, p = 0.008. Decision time was negatively related to within-group contributions, r(95) = -0.220, p = 0.033, and unrelated to parochial altruism, r(95) = -0.067, p = 0.51. Finally, **Figure 2B** shows that time to ponder how much to keep was negatively related to in-group expectations, r(95) = -0.185, p = 0.078 (marginal). These results are consistent with the idea that selfish behavior is deliberated whereas self-sacrifice and assessments of in-group members' cooperation are relatively fast and intuitive.

Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma-Maximizing Differences Game investments were averaged and analyzed in a 2 (Yes/No cognitive taxing SIT) \times 2 (pro-social/pro-self) \times 3 (pool: self/within-group/between-group) mixed-model ANOVA with pool within-subjects. A strong main effect for Pool showed, first of all, that self-sacrifice manifested in within-group contributions more than in between-group contributions, M = 4.304vs. M = 2.11, F(1,91) = 25.77, p = 0.0001. This effect was qualified by an interaction between cognitive taxation and pool, F(2,90) = 4.59, p = 0.013. Figure 3A shows that parochial altruism was stronger among high taxed (vs. low taxed) individuals, F(1,91) = 7.08, p = 0.009. Interestingly, compared to low taxed individuals, those in the high taxing condition allocated about equally to the within-group pool, F(1,91) = 1.01, p = 0.32, and more to the between-group pool, F(1,91) = 4.81, p = 0.031. Together these results suggest that lowered cognitive control following taxation increases contributions to the between-group pool, and this fits the idea that parochial altruism is more intuitive than deliberated.

Cognitive taxation did not interact with social value orientation in influencing contributions, Fs < 1.9. However, consistent with earlier work, we observed a pool × social value orientation interaction, F(2,90) = 3.573, p = 0.032: pro-socials kept less to themselves, F(1,91) = 4.20, p = 0.043, contributed more to the within-group pool, F(1,91) = 7.29, p = 0.008, and equally to the between-group pool as pro-selves, F(1,91) = 1.19, p = 0.278(**Figure 3B**). Both pro-selves and pro-socials contributed more than nothing to the between-group pool, t(44) = 6.315, p = 0.001, and t(49) = 6.833, p = 0.001. Together these results show that whereas pro-selves are non-cooperative toward their in-group, pro-socials benefit their in-group. Both pro-socials and proselves maintain a certain level of parochial altruism regardless of whether or not they are cognitively taxed.

The above analyses leave open the possibility that some participants invested exclusively in the within-group pool (and could thus be described as in-group bounded cooperators as well as universal cooperators), whereas others invested exclusively in the between-group pool (and thus are strict parochial altruists). To investigate this possibility, we classified subjects into distinct types: those who kept their entire endowment (selfish types), those who contributed exclusively to the within-group pool (ingroup cooperators), those who contributed to both the withinand between-group pool (ambivalent parochial altruists), and those who contributed exclusively to the between-group pool (strict parochial altruists). Table 1 shows the breakdown of types by cognitive taxation, with the 4 \times 2 interaction being, $\chi^2(3,$ N = 95 = 7.115, p = 0.068. As can be seen, very few participants never (across five investment decisions) contributed anything (selfish types) and very few contributed exclusively to the between-group pool (strict parochial altruists). Across the five investment decisions, most participants did invest (>0) in either the within-group pool (in-group cooperators) or in both the within-group and the between-group pool (ambivalent parochial altruists). As can be seen also, especially ambivalent parochial altruists emerge under cognitive taxation. This resonates with the above analysis showing that cognitive taxation boosts parochial altruism. It suggests that such a boost is not a reflection of a







(A) Time (log-transformed seconds) taken to decide how much to keep positively relates to contribution to self. (B) Time (log-transformed seconds) taken to decide how much to keep negatively relates to in-group expectations.



FIGURE 3 | Averaged Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma–Maximizing Differences Game (IPD–MD) contributions to self, within-group pool, and between-group pool (parochial altruism; range 0–10; means displayed ± 1 SE). (A) Compared to individuals in the low taxing condition

(V = 40), individuals in the high ranking conductor (V = 49) sensatince, and display parochial altruism. **(B)** Compared to pro-selves (N = 50), pro-social individuals (N = 45) self-sacrifice, contribute more to the within-group pool, and display similar levels of parochial altruism.

TABLE 1 | Contributor types broken down by cognitive taxation.

		c	Contributor type	
Cognitive taxation	Selfish	In-group cooperator	Ambivalent parochial altruists	Strict parochial altruists
Yes (N = 49) No (N = 46)	1 (2%) 3 (7%)	12 (24%) 16 (35%)	35 (71%) 22 (48%)	1 (2%) 5 (10%)

Entries are observed number of subjects (row-based percentages in brackets). Selfish types keep their endowment; In-group cooperators contributed (>0) exclusively to the within-group pool; ambivalent aarochial altruists contributed (>0) to both the within- and between-group pool; strict parochial altruists exclusively contributed (>0) to the between-group pool.

shift toward strict parochial altruism, but instead a muddying of cooperation with the in-group and aggression toward the rival out-group.

We also examined the break-down of types by social value orientation, which was not significant, $\chi^2(3, N = 95) = 4.848$, p = 0.183. Among pro-social (pro-self) individuals, 27% (32%) were in-group cooperators, and 56% (64%) were ambivalent parochial altruists. This suggests that the above findings for

social value orientation reflect the strength of motivation—the extent to which people decide to contribute—rather than its strict directionality.

In-Group Expectations

Expectations of in-group members contributions to the withingroup pool was positively related to self-sacrifice, r(95) = 0.445, p = 0.001, especially to contributions to the within-group pool, r(95) = 0.469, p = 0.001, and not to contributions to the between-group pool, r(95) = -0.043, p = 0.677). A 2(Yes/No cognitively taxing SIT) × 2(pro-social/pro-self) between-subjects ANOVA on in-group expectations showed less positive expectations among individuals in the high cognitive taxing condition (M = 4.809) compared to those in the low cognitive taxing condition (M = 4.267), F(1,91) = 4.32, p = 0.040. Prosocial individuals also displayed (somewhat) more positive expectations (M = 4.753) than pro-selves (M = 4.211), F(1,91) = 2.86, p = 0.094. The cognitive taxation \times social value interaction was not significant, F(1,91) = 0.73, p = 0.395. In short, cognitively taxed individuals, and to a lesser extent those with a pro-social value orientation, had more positive expectations of their in-group members.

Discussion and Conclusion

Human cooperation and self-sacrifice may emerge partly because it provides survival benefits in intergroup competition and, therefore, often is in-group bounded and parochial (Bornstein, 2003; De Dreu et al., 2014a). Heretofore unanswered was whether such self-sacrifice in intergroup competition was a deliberated, calculated response to pressing conflicts between personal and group interests or, instead, a relatively automatic and intuitive decision. Present findings align with the latter possibility-whereas selfishness appeared to be the slower and thus more deliberated response, self-sacrifice appeared to be fast and thus more intuitive. Indeed, selfsacrificial contributions were released when individual's cognitive control was taxed. This resonates with recent work in neurobiology and cognitive psychology (Kosfeld et al., 2005; De Dreu et al., 2010, 2012; Rand et al., 2012; Van Honk et al., 2012) and supports the conjecture that cooperation is oftentimes intuitive, in-group-bounded, and potentially sharpedged.

Current findings inform neo-classical rational choice theories that view humans to be motivated to maximize personal, short-term gain. Our results, and those of others (Rand et al., 2012; Halali et al., 2013, 2014), support the idea that human cooperation is intuitive rather than calculated. Furthermore, the conjecture that cooperation is primarily geared at benefiting one's in-group while simultaneously hurting the out-group fits evidence that brain circuitries involved in empathy and other-concern operate much stronger when targets are classified as in-group rather than out-group (Harris and Fiske, 2006; Hein et al., 2010; Cikara et al., 2011; Baumgartner et al., 2012).

We studied intuitive cooperation in the presence of an out-group that was enabled to hurt the in-group. Collective action oftentimes takes place in absence of rivaling outgroups, in which case in-group boundedness and universalism as foci of self-sacrifice cannot be separated (Wit and Kerr, 2002; De Dreu and Balliet, 2015). Perhaps, the default, intuitive response in social dilemmas is to cooperate, with such cooperation becoming parochial when out-group competition is present. Perhaps, however, the default, intuitive response is to serve one's in-group, which translates into universalism when no other option to serve one's in-group is available (Burton-Chellew and West, 2012; also see De Dreu and Balliet, 2015). We call for new research mapping situations ranging from inter-group competition being fully absent to being strongly present, to further understand when and why human cooperation evolved into an automated, intuitive response that is released rather than blocked by impeded impulse-control.

The impulse to benefit one's in-group was triggered here by a simple task known to undermine executive functioning (Stroop, 1935). We note that because of time constraints, multiple tasks awaiting attention, ambient noise, and social pressures, the human capacity to deliberate and to think deeply before acting is constantly challenged (Kruglanski et al., 2006; De Dreu et al., 2008). However, it is important to note that questions have been raised about depletion as a manipulation of intuitive vs. deliberativeness. For example, looking at altruism in the Dictator Game, depletion typically reduces altruism (Balliet and Joireman, 2010; Xu et al., 2012; Halali et al., 2013), whereas cognitive load (which is a direct manipulation of cognitive resources) typically increases altruism (Roch et al., 2000; Cornelissen et al., 2011; Schulz et al., 2014). A recent study by Rand et al. (2014) relates to the current findings, in that they also examined how decision making constraints-time pressure during decision making in their case, compared to cognitive taxation prior decision making in the current study-influenced cooperation in intergroup settings. Experiment 1 involved a two-person prisoner's dilemmas between a participant and an antagonist said to either prefer the same presidential candidate (e.g., Obama), or the opposing candidate (e.g., Romney). Results showed that time pressure facilitated cooperation, and that people cooperated more with someone that preferred the same presidential candidate, rather than the opposing candidate; no interaction among time pressure and antagonist's political preference was observed. Our finding that cognitive taxation increases contributions not only fits this, but also clarifies that increased cooperation with someone sharing the same political preference is motivated by a desire to benefit the in-group more than a desire to hurt the out-group (also see Balliet et al., 2014). This convergence notwithstanding, new research using a different manipulation is required to conclusively settle whether time constraints and cognitive taxation impact cooperation because of their shared impact on intuitive versus more deliberated decision making. Such new research should include sophisticated measures also of depletion and impulse-control, akin to the measures used here that showed that the cognitive taxing manipulation not only affected self-sacrifice and parochial altruism, but also decision time, postdecision making task-persistence, and self-reported fatigue and alertness.

Current findings suggest that cognitively challenging contexts lower self-control and facilitate rather than impede cooperation and collective action. Such cognitively challenging settings can also trigger negative behaviors toward rival outgroups. Displays of parochial altruism not only increase ingroup status relative to the out-group but also negative emotions and aggressive responses among maltreated out-group members (Dovidio and Gaertner, 2010; De Dreu et al., 2014b). Ironically, then, whereas humans may have the evolved intuition to cooperate, it is unlikely such intuition brings world peace closer.

Author Contributions

BD, FTV, and CKWDD conceived of the study; BD and FTV conducted the study; BD and CKWDD analyzed the data; and CKWDD wrote the paper.

Acknowledgment

Financial support was provided by NWO-432-08-002 to CKWDD.

References

- Aaldering, H., Greer, L. L., Van Kleef, G. A., and De Dreu, C. K. W. (2013). Interest (mis)alignments in representative negotiations: do pro-social agents fuel or reduce inter-group conflict? Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 120, 240–250. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2012.06.001
- Abbink, K., Brandts, J., Hermann, B., and Orzen, H. (2012). Parochial altruism in inter-group conflicts. *Econ. Lett.* 117, 45–48. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2012. 04.083
- Alexander, R. D. (1990). The evolution of social behavior. Ann. Rev. Ecol. 5, 32–56. doi: 10.1146/annurev.es.05.110174.001545
- Balliet, D., and Joireman, J. (2010). Ego depletion reduces proselfs' concern with the well-being of others. *Group Process. Intergroup Relat.* 13, 227–239. doi: 10.1177/1368430209353634
- Balliet, D., Wu, Y., and De Dreu, C. K. W. (2014). In-group favoritism and cooperation: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 140, 1556–1581. doi: 10.1037/a0037737
- Baumeister, R. F., and Vohs, K. D. (2007). Self-regulation, ego depletion, and motivation. Soc. Pers. Psychol. Compass 1, 1–14. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00001.x
- Baumgartner, T., Gotte, L., Gugler, R., and Fehr, E. (2012). The mentalizing network orchestrates the impact of parochial altruism on social norm enforcement. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 33, 1452–1469. doi: 10.1002/hbm.21298
- Baumgartner, T., Schiller, B., Rieskamp, J., Gianott, L. R., and Knoch, D. (2014). Diminishing parochialism in intergroup conflict by disrupting the right temporo-parietal junction. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 9, 653–660. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst023
- Bernhard, H., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2006). Parochial altruism in humans. Nature 442, 912–915. doi: 10.1038/nature04981
- Bohm, R., and Rockenbach, B. (2013). The inter-group comparison intragroup cooperation hypothesis: comparisons between groups increase efficiency in public goods provision. *PLoS ONE* 8:e56152. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056152
- Bornstein, G. (2003). Intergroup conflict: individual, group, and collective interests. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 7, 129–145. doi: 10.1207/S15327957PSPR0702_129-145
- Bornstein, G., and Ben-Yossef, M. (1994). Cooperation in intergroup and single-group social dilemmas. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 30, 52–67. doi: 10.1006/jesp.1994.1003
- Bornstein, G., and Gilula, Z. (2003). Between-group communication and conflict resolution in assurance and chicken games. J. Confl. Resolut. 47, 326–339. doi: 10.1177/0022002703252367
- Bornstein, G., Gneezy, U., and Nagel, R. (2002). The effect of intergroup competition on group coordination: an experimental study. *Games Econ. Behav.* 41, 1–25. doi: 10.1016/S0899-8256(02)00012-X
- Bowles, S. (2009). Did warfare amongst ancestral hunter and gatherers affect the evolution of social behaviors? *Science* 324, 1293–1298. doi: 10.1126/science.1168112
- Bowles, S., and Gintis, H. (2004). Persistent parochialism: trust and exclusion in ethnic networks. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 55, 1–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2003.06.005
- Bowles, S., and Gintis, H. (2011). A Cooperative Species: Human Reciprocity and its Evolution. Princeton: Princeton University Press. doi: 10.1515/9781400838837
- Boyd, R., and Richerson, P. J. (1982). Cultural transmission and the evolution of cooperation. *Hum. Ecol.* 10, 325. doi: 10.1007/BF01531189
- Brewer, M. B. (1999). The psychology of prejudice: ingroup love or outgroup hate? *J. Soc. Issues* 55, 429–444. doi: 10.1111/0022-4537.00126
- Burton-Chellew, M. N., and West, S. A. (2012). Pseudocompetition among groups increases human cooperation in a publics-good game. *Anim. Behav.* 84, 947– 952. doi: 10.1016/j.anbehav.2012.07.019
- Buttelmann, D., and Böhm, R. (2014). The ontogeny of the motivation that underlies in-group bias. *Psychol. Sci.* 25, 921–927. doi: 10.1177/09567976135 16802
- Campbell, D. T. (1975). On the conflicts between biological and social evolution and between psychology and moral tradition. *Am. Psychol.* 30, 1103–1126. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.30.12.1103
- Carter, C. S. (2014). Oxytocin pathways and the evolution of human behavior. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 65, 17–39. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115110

- Choi, J. K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and was. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Cikara, M., Bruneau, E. G., and Saxe, R. R. (2011). Us and them. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 20, 149–153. doi: 10.1177/0963721411408713
- Cikarna, M., and Van Bavel, J. J. (2014). The neuroscience of intergroup relations: an integrative review. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 9, 245–274. doi: 10.1177/1745691614527464
- Cornelissen, G., Dewitte, S., and Warlop, L. (2011). Are social value orientations expressed automatically? Decision making in the dictator game. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 37, 1080–1090. doi: 10.1177/0146167211405996
- Darwin, C. (1871). The Descent of Man, and Selection in Relation to Sex. London: John Murray. doi: 10.1037/12293-000
- De Dreu, C. K. W. (2010). Social value orientation moderates in-group love but not out-group hate in competitive intergroup conflict. *Group Proc. Intergroup Relat.* 13, 701–713. doi: 10.1177/1368430210377332
- De Dreu, C. K. W., and Balliet, D. P. (2015). Intergroup competition may not be needed for shaping group cooperation and cultural group selection. *Brain Behav. Sci.*
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Balliet, D., and Halevy, N. (2014a). "Parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup competition and conflict," in *Advances in Motivational Science*, Vol. 1, ed. A. J. Elliot (New York: Elsevier), 1–47.
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Scholte, H. S., Van Winden, F. A. A. M., and Ridderinkhof, K. R. (2014b). Oxytocin tempers calculated greed but not impulsive defense in predator-prey contests. *Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci.* doi: 10.1093/scan/nsu109 [Epub ahead of print].
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J. J., Shalvi, S., Van Kleef, G. A., Baas, M., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408–1411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- De Dreu, C. K. W., and Kret, M. E. (2015). Oxytocin conditions intergroup relations through upregulated in-group empathy, cooperation, conformity, and defense. *Biol. Psychiatry* doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015. 03.020
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Nijstad, B. A., and Van Knippenberg, D. (2008). Motivated information processing in group judgment and decision making. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 12, 22–49. doi: 10.1177/1088868307304092
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Shalvi, S., Greer, L. L., Van Kleef, G. A., and Handgraaf, M. J. J. (2012). Oxytocin motivates non-cooperation in intergroup conflict to protect vulnerable in-group members. *PLoS ONE* 7:e46751. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046751
- De Dreu, C. K. W., and Van Lange, P. A. M. (1995). Impact of social value orientation on negotiator cognition and behavior. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 21, 1178–1188. doi: 10.1177/01461672952111006
- Dovidio, J. F., and Gaertner, S. L. (2010). "Intergroup bias," in *Handbook Social Psychology*, eds S. T. Fiske, D. Gilbert, and H. Lindsay (New York: Wiley), 1084–1123.
- Efferson, C., Lalive, R., and Fehr, E. (2008). The coevolution of cultural groups and in-group favoritism. *Science* 321, 1844–1849. doi: 10.1126/science. 1155805
- Erev, I., Bornstein, G., and Galili, R. (1993). Constructive intergroup competition as a solution to the free rider problem: a field experiment. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 29, 463–478. doi: 10.1006/jesp.1993.1021
- Hagger, M. S., Wood, C., Stiff, C., and Chatzisarantis, N. L. D. (2010). Ego depletion and the strength model of self-control: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 136, 495–525. doi: 10.1037/a0019486
- Halali, E., Bereby-Meyer, Y., and Meiran, N. (2014). Between self-interest and reciprocity: the social bright side of self-control failure. J. Exp. Psychol. Gen. 143, 745–754. doi: 10.1037/a0033824
- Halali, E., Bereby-Meyer, Y., and Ockenfels, A. (2013). Is it all about the self? The effects of self-control depletion on ultimatum game proposers. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 7:240. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2013.00240
- Halevy, N., Bornstein, G., and Sagiv, L. (2008). "In-group love" and "out-group hate" as motives for individual participation in intergroup conflict. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 405–411. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02100.x
- Halevy, N., Chou, E. Y., Cohen, T. R., and Bornstein, G. (2010). Relative deprivation and intergroup competition. *Group Process. Intergroup Relat.* 13, 685–700. doi: 10.1177/1368430210371639

- Halevy, N., Weisel, O., and Bornstein, G. (2012). "In group love" and "out group hate" in repeated interaction between groups. J. Behav. Decis. Mak. 25, 188–195. doi: 10.1002/bdm.726
- Harris, L. T., and Fiske, S. T. (2006). Dehumanizing the lowest of the low: neuro-imaging responses to extreme outgroups. *Psychol. Sci.* 17, 847–853. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2006.01793.x
- Hein, G., Silani, G., Preuschoff, K., Batson, C. D., and Singer, T. (2010). Neural responses to ingroup and outgroup members' suffering predict individual differences in costly helping. *Neuron* 68, 149–160. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2010.09.003
- Henrich, N., and Henrich, J. (2007). Why Humans Cooperate: A Cultural and Evolutionary Explanation. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Inzlicht, M., and Schmeichel, B. J. (2012). What is ego depletion? Toward a mechanistic revision of the resource model of self-control. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 7, 450–463. doi: 10.1177/1745691612454134
- Kosfeld, M., Heinrichs, M., Zak, P. J., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2005). Oxytocin increases trust in humans. *Nature* 435, 673–676. doi: 10.1038/ nature03701
- Kret, M. E., Fischer, A. H., and De Dreu, C. K. W. (2015). Pupil-mimicry correlates with trust in in-group partners with dilating pupils. *Psychol. Sci.* 15, 30–50.
- Kruglanski, A. W., Pierro, A., Mannetti, L., and De Grada, E. (2006). Groups as epistemic providers: need for closure and the unfolding of group centrism. *Psychol. Rev.* 113, 84–100. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.113.1.84
- LeVine, R. A., and Campbell, D. T. (1972). Ethnocentrism: Theories of Conflict, Ethnic Attitudes, and Group Behavior. New York: Wiley.
- Ma, Y., Liu, Y., and Rand, D. G., Heatherton, T. F., and Han, S. (2015). Opposing oxytocin effects on intergroup cooperative behavior in intuitive and reflective minds. *Neuropsychophamarcology* doi: 10.1038/npp.2015.87 [Epub ahead of print].
- Manson, J. H., and Wrangham, R. W. (1991). Intergroup aggression in chimpanzees and humans. Curr. Anthropol. 32, 369–390. doi: 10.1086/203974
- Muraven, M., Shmueli, D., and Burkley, E. (2006). Conserving self-control strength. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 91, 524–537. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.91.3.524
- Murphy, R. O., and Ackermann, K. A. (2014). Social value orientation: theoretical and measurement issues in the study of social preferences. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 18, 13–41. doi: 10.1177/1088868313501745
- Rand, D. G., Greene, J. D., and Nowak, M. A. (2012). Spontaneous giving and calculated greed. *Nature* 489, 427–430. doi: 10.1038/nature11467
- Rand, D. G., Newman, G. E., and Wurzbacher, O. (2014). Social context and the dynamics of cooperative choice. J. Behav. Decis. Mak. 28, 159–166. doi: 10.1002/bdm.1837
- Reeve, H. K., and Holldobler, B. (2007). The emergence of a superorganisam through intergroup competition. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 9736–9740. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703466104

- Rilling, J. K., and Sanfey, A. G. (2011). The neuroscience of social decision making. Ann. Rev. Psychol. 62, 23–48. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.121208. 131647
- Roch, S. G., Lane, J. A. S., Samuelson, C. D., Allison, S. T., and Dent, J. L. (2000). Cognitive load and the equality heuristic: a two-stage model of resource overconsumption in small groups. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 83, 185–212. doi: 10.1006/obhd.2000.2915
- Schulz, J. F., Fischbacher, U., Thöni, C., and Utikal, V. (2014). Affect and fairness: dictator games under cognitive load. J. Econ. Psychol. 41, 77–87. doi: 10.1016/j.joep.2012.08.007
- Stroop, J. R. (1935). Studies of interference in serial verbal reactions. J. Exp. Psychol. 18, 643–661. doi: 10.1037/h0054651
- Van Honk, J., Montoya, E. R., Bos, P. A., Van Vugt, M., and Terburg, D. (2012). New evidence on testosterone and cooperation. *Nature* 485, E4–E6. doi: 10.1038/nature11136
- Van Lange, P. A. M. (1999). The pursuit of joint outcomes and equality in outcomes: an integrative model of social value orientations. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 77, 337–349. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.77.2.337
- Van Lange, P. A. M., and Kuhlman, D. M. (1994). Social value orientations and impressions of partner's honesty and intelligence: a test of the might versus morality effect. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 67, 126–141. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.67.1.126
- Wildschut, T., Pinter, B., Vevea, J. L., Insko, C. A., and Schopler, J. (2003). Beyond the group mind: a quantitative review of the interindividual-intergroup discontinuity effect. *Psychol. Bull.* 129, 698–722. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.698
- Wilson, D. S. (2012). The Social Conquest of Earth. New Jersey, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Wit, A. P., and Kerr, N. (2002). Me Versus Just Us Versus Us All categorization and cooperation in nested social dilemmas. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 83, 616–637. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.83.3.616
- Xu, H., Bègue, L., and Bushman, B. J. (2012). Too fatigued to care: ego depletion, guilt, and prosocial behavior. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 48, 1183–1186. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2012.03.007

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 De Dreu, Dussel and Ten Velden. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Testosterone is associated with cooperation during intergroup competition by enhancing parochial altruism

Luise Reimers* and Esther K. Diekhof

Neuroendocrinology Unit, Biocenter Grindel and Zoological Museum, Institute for Human Biology, University of Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hannes Rusch, University of Cologne, Germany

Reviewed by:

Salomon Israel, Duke University, USA Matthias Greiff, Justus Liebig University Giessen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Luise Reimers, Biocenter Grindel and Zoological Museum, Institute for Human Biology, University of Hamburg, Martin-Luther-King Platz 3, D-20146 Hamburg, Germany luise.reimers@uni-hamburg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 11 March 2015 **Accepted:** 08 May 2015 **Published:** 12 June 2015

Citation:

Reimers L and Diekhof EK (2015) Testosterone is associated with cooperation during intergroup competition by enhancing parochial altruism. Front. Neurosci. 9:183. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00183 The steroid hormone testosterone is widely associated with negative behavioral effects, such as aggression or dominance. However, recent studies applying economic exchange tasks revealed conflicting results. While some point to a prosocial effect of testosterone by increasing altruistic behavior, others report that testosterone promotes antisocial tendencies. Taking into account additional factors such as parochial altruism (i.e., ingroup favoritism and outgroup hostility) might help to explain this contradiction. First evidence for a link between testosterone and parochial altruism comes from recently reported data of male soccer fans playing the ultimatum game. In this study high levels of endogenous testosterone predicted increased altruistic punishment during outgroup interactions and at the same time heightened ingroup generosity. Here, we report findings of another experimental task, the prisoner's dilemma, applied in the same context to examine the role of testosterone on parochial tendencies in terms of cooperation. In this task, 50 male soccer fans were asked to decide whether or not they wanted to cooperate with partners marked as either fans of the subject's own favorite team (ingroup) or fans of other teams (outgroups). Our results show that high testosterone levels were associated with increased ingroup cooperation during intergroup competition. In addition, subjects displaying a high degree of parochialism during intergroup competition had significantly higher levels of testosterone than subjects who did not differentiate much between the different groups. In sum, the present data demonstrate that the behavioral effects of testosterone are not limited to aggressive and selfish tendencies but may imply prosocial aspects depending on the context. By this means, our results support the previously reported findings on testosterone-dependent intergroup bias and indicate that this social hormone might be an important factor driving parochial altruism.

Keywords: testosterone, intergroup conflict, prisoner's dilemma, altruistic behavior, competition

Introduction

The steroid hormone testosterone is known to play an important role in modulating human behavior, especially during social interaction. During the past, testosterone has been widely associated with aggressive and dominant behavior, a view that is mainly based on animal studies or correlational evidence in humans linking endogenous testosterone levels to self-reports or

personality scales on aggressive and antisocial behavior (Mazur and Booth, 1998; Archer, 2006). More recently, researchers have begun to further investigate the effects of testosterone on human behavior in social contexts by applying economic decisions paradigms adapted from game theory such as the ultimatum game or the prisoner's dilemma. These paradigms allow for a direct measure of aggressive or selfish behavior under laboratory conditions, which can then be linked to habitual testosterone levels. To date, studies from this context revealed inconsistent results with some suggesting that testosterone promotes prosocial behavior such as increased altruistic punishment (i.e., bearing personal costs for sanctioning selfish behavior and violations of social norms) or fairness (Burnham, 2007; Eisenegger et al., 2010; Mehta and Beer, 2010), whilst others report a positive association between testosterone and antisocial tendencies, for instance in the form of decreased generosity (Zak et al., 2009). In addition to these conflicting results, other researchers did not find any behavioral effects of testosterone during social exchange tasks (Zethraeus et al., 2009) or observed both, antiand prosocial influences, in decision contexts with or without the possibility of financial betrayal, respectively (Boksem et al., 2013). Important to note are the methodological differences between the above mentioned studies. While some examined the effects of endogenous testosterone levels (Burnham, 2007; Mehta and Beer, 2010) others administered testosterone (Zak et al., 2009; Zethraeus et al., 2009; Eisenegger et al., 2010; Boksem et al., 2013). Additionally, some studies investigated effects in both sexes (Mehta and Beer, 2010), whereas others only tested men (Zak et al., 2009) or females (Eisenegger et al., 2010; Boksem et al., 2013). One study even tested postmenopausal women (Zethraeus et al., 2009).

Another possible explanation for these controversial findings might be that the assumption of a direct link between testosterone and aggressive or prosocial behavior is oversimplifying a rather complex relationship. Taking into account additional factors might help to gain a better understanding of the mechanism by which testosterone shapes human behavior. For instance, group membership and social closeness have been shown to influence altruistic punishment in that ingroup members are protected more often than outgroup members even if this implies personal costs (e.g., Bernhard et al., 2006; Baumgartner et al., 2012; Goette et al., 2012). Preferential treatment of ingroup members and increased hostility toward the outgroup, even at one's own cost, are common human behaviors and have been referred to as parochial altruism (Choi and Bowles, 2007; Bowles, 2009; García and van den Bergh, 2011). A second important aspect is intergroup competition. Several studies have shown that the context of an intergroup competition alters altruistic behavior compared to an individual setting. Rebers and Koopmans (2012) assigned subjects to groups and conducted a version of the n-person prisoner's dilemma that included an option to punish defectors of the own group. They observed more altruistic punishment when the different groups were competing with each other than during a context with no intergroup competition. Other studies examined the effect of intergroup competition using real social groups. For instance, Van Vugt et al. (2007) found that male university

students cooperated more with their own group (i.e., fellow students) during an intergroup competition against students from other universities than in an individual setting without group competition. Another study investigated the tendency for cooperation between members of different Swiss Army Platoons (Goette et al., 2012). Results showed that ingroup favoritism and outgroup hostility increased in a group competition between the different Platoons compared to a neutral context, during which subjects also faced counterparts from the different Platoons but played individually for their own payoff. There are also findings from other contexts, such as cognitive tasks, indicating an effect of group competition on the link between testosterone and task performance (Mehta et al., 2009), which suggest that testosterone effects may depend on the type of social challenge (i.e., individual vs. intergroup competition). In addition, there exists a large body of literature on the influence of testosterone levels on behavior during competition. It has been shown repeatedly that testosterone levels rise after winning a competition and that high testosterone levels are associated with competitive drive and the willingness to engage in competitions (for review please see Mazur and Booth, 1998; Archer, 2006; Carré and Olmstead, 2015).

But what leads to assume that parochial altruism and intergroup competition might explain the contradicting results considering the behavioral effects of testosterone during social interaction? According to a recently proposed theory, the "male warrior hypothesis," men are more prone to form coalitions, engage in intergroup conflicts and they display increased altruistic tendencies in the presence of an intergroup competition (Van Vugt et al., 2007; McDonald et al., 2012). Since testosterone is the predominant hormone in men, it might be involved in the modulation of these parochial patterns, thereby also accounting for individual behavioral differences. Based on this assumption, testosterone might enhance different types of behavior depending on the situation (individual vs. competition context) and interaction (own group vs. other group) rather than being restricted to promote either aggressive or altruistic behavior.

Initial evidence for a testosterone-driven modulation of parochial altruism comes from recently published data of male soccer fans playing a single-shot version of the ultimatum game (UG) (Diekhof et al., 2014). In the UG two players interact: the proposer has to offer a share of an initially endowed sum of money or points to the responder. The responder can then decide whether or not to accept this offer (which can vary in terms of fairness). In case of rejection, both players receive nothing. In this study subjects played in the role of the responder and interacted once with different proposers, who were either marked as fans of the subject's own favorite team (i.e., ingroup) or as fans of other teams of different rivalry (i.e., outgroups). The group identities and the offers of the proposers were predetermined by the experimental protocol, but subjects were led to believe that they faced real decisions of former participants. In addition, the UG was played in two different contexts: a neutral session and a competition between the groups composed of fans of the same team. Furthermore, subjects were also asked to switch to the role of the proposer and offer a share of 10 points to an ingroup member and members of the three outgroups. Regarding the proposals there was no differentiation between a neutral or competitive context and subjects only made one offer to each group. Findings indicate that bargaining behavior is highly influenced by social distance as well as the context. Furthermore, endogenous testosterone was associated with a pronounced degree of parochialism. In the competition context individuals with higher testosterone levels rejected offers by fans of rivaling soccer teams more often. At the same time, high testosterone levels predicted higher and thus more generous offers to ingroup members.

However, norm-compliant proposals in the UG may not capture true altruistic behavior entirely free from selfish motives since the probability of rejection and thus financial loss decreases with higher offers. Therefore, here we report results of a second game paradigm that was conducted in this study cohort. Subjects also performed a version of the prisoner's dilemma (PD), during which they had to decide whether or not they wanted to cooperate with another soccer fan. In the PD two players are asked simultaneously if they want to cooperate with each other or not. If only one player chooses to cooperate, the other one receives maximum payoff, which makes defection (i.e., no cooperation) the preferable strategy from an economic perspective. Nonetheless, it has been repeatedly observed that humans display a tendency toward cooperation (Camerer, 2003; Fehr and Fischbacher, 2003). Here, the PD was applied to test whether endogenous testosterone levels are also linked to prosocial behavior in terms of cooperation, which would confirm the previously observed positive effect on altruistic punishment in the UG. Similarly to the proposer role in the UG, the PD implies a trade-off between personal payoff and expectations on the behavior of the opponent, which will affect the final outcome. However, making an offer in the UG presumably requires even more complex considerations since the expectations on the reactions of the responders might also vary with the different options for proposals that can range between one and five points. In contrast to that, the PD only leaves two options, cooperation or defection, which simplifies the process of weighing up selfish motives against predicted reactions of the opponent. Consequently, the decision to cooperate in the PD might be less ambiguous in terms of a financial trade-off than offering a high share in the UG. Hence, the PD was additionally performed to obtain more evidence complementing the positive association between testosterone and prosocial behavior toward ingroup members in the UG (Diekhof et al., 2014). In accordance with the procedure described in Diekhof et al. (2014) this task was played in two contexts: the neutral setting and the group competition.

We hypothesized that cooperation rates would decrease with increasing social distance to the opponent and that this group-dependent behavior would further escalate in the competition context. Individuals with high testosterone were predicted to show increased ingroup cooperation in combination with decreased outgroup cooperation (i.e., parochial altruism), especially during the intergroup competition.

Materials and Methods

Participants

50 healthy male soccer fans (mean age \pm SD: 24.6 \pm 3.5) participated in this study, which was approved by the ethics committee of the Medical Council of Hamburg (Aerztekammer Hamburg). Participants were recruited among students of the University of Hamburg via online advertisement and flyers. They were told that they could win up to 15 Euros depending on their outcome during the PD and the UG (results from the latter are reported in Diekhof et al., 2014). All subjects were healthy and reported neither use of medication nor alcohol or drug abuse. Prior to testing, subjects were asked about their general interest in soccer via questionnaire to ensure a strong feeling of group affiliation. This questionnaire included a rating of the question "How much are you interested in soccer?" on a 5-point-Likertscale as well as questions considering stadium attendance or fan merchandise. Subjects also had to rate all teams of the German Premier League (Bundesliga) as well as one local soccer team of the second division according to their own preferences on a 5-point-Likert-scale ranging from 1 ("my favorite team") to 5 ("my least favorite team"). This rating was then used to assign individualized "fan identities" to the presented opponents in the PD, so that subjects encountered either fans of their own favorite team or fans of other teams of varying rivalry. Inclusion criteria for this study implied that one soccer team was rated as the favorite team (score of 1), another team as the least favorite (score of 5), and that subjects also considered at least one team as "neutral" (score of 3). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants before the experiment.

Experimental Design

Participants performed a version of the PD with 40 singleshot interactions. A repeated version was used to create a more realistic social setting (e.g., Axelrod and Hamilton, 1981) implying several encounters with the same team. They were told that during the experiment they would interact with other soccer fans, who were tested earlier, and be presented with their former decisions. In fact, the decisions and fan identities of the opposing players were predetermined to test subjects' behavior in four different conditions: interactions with (a) fans of the subject's own favorite soccer team (ingroup), (b) fans of the most disliked soccer team (antagonistic outgroup), (c) fans of a soccer team that was rated as neutral by the subject (neutral outgroup), and (d) fans of an unknown cricket team (unknown outgroup). Hence, the teams in the first three different conditions were selected individually according to the participant's prior preference rating. At the beginning of each round in the game both players were endowed with 20 points. If the two players decided to cooperate, both received 40 points. In case of defection (no cooperation) at both sides, the two players both kept their initial 20 points. Maximum payoff, however, could be won if one player decided to keep his points whilst the other cooperated. In this case the defector received 60 points and the other player got nothing. Participants were told that their achieved sum of points over all interactions would later be converted to real money, but the exact conversion factor for points to

Euros was not given in order to prevent the decision making progress being disturbed by concurrent computing. Each of the four conditions was represented by ten trials, of which three involved defection by the other player. Trials were presented in pseudorandomized order and counterbalanced for condition transitions. Each trial began with a start frame indicating a new interaction. After this, participants were shown a male silhouette with small team logos and the written team name beneath it representing the second player. The first name as well as the last name's initial of the in actual fact fictive second player were also presented to increase authenticity of the game and emphasize the social nature of the task (for a similar approach see Sanfey et al., 2003). Next, participants were asked whether or not they would like to cooperate with this person and to indicate their decision via right or left button press. After this, feedback on the second player's decision and the outcome was given (Figure 1). The PD was played in two different contexts: during the first session, participants were told to maximize their own outcome (neutral context). In the second session, however, they were instructed that they could win extra points if their own team, which included all fans of the same soccer team, would finally outperform the other teams (competition context). Consequently, in this session participants have to reduce selfish impulses in interactions with ingroup members (i.e., choosing to cooperate instead of defecting) to ensure maximum payoff. Again, we refrained from informing the subjects about the exact amount of extra points to be won during the competition. This was done for similar reasons as with the conversion factor. In fact, the extra reward of the PD competition context constituted 20% of the total points that could be won during the whole experiment. Notably, subjects neither asked for the extra sum of points nor the conversion to money. Written instructions were given before both sessions (see Supplementary Material) and a short training version was conducted before the start of the real session. In both sessions participants also completed a version of the UG (for results see Diekhof et al., 2014). The order of the two games was counterbalanced across participants, but the neutral sessions were always completed first.

Saliva Samples and Assays

Participants provided five saliva samples over a period of 2h in the morning of the test day to determine salivary concentrations of free testosterone. Sampling began at home directly after waking up and continued with an interval of 30 min to ensure a representative sample controlling for highly variable concentrations due to fluctuating secretion patterns. During collection subjects were instructed to refrain from eating, smoking, chewing gum, and drinking anything besides water. Tooth brushing was allowed after the first sample, but not immediately before collecting the second. Samples were collected in 2 ml polypropylene Eppendorf tubes and frozen at -20°C until further analysis. Before assaying, all samples were thawed and mixed by vortex and centrifuged at RCF $604 \times g$ for 5 min (i.e., 3000 rpm in a common Eppendorf Minispin centrifuge) to separate saliva from mucins and other residuals. Aliquots were prepared by mixing equal volumes of each of the five samples. Samples that were not clear and colorless were left out to exclude blood contaminated saliva. Therefore, some aliquots contained saliva of less than five samples. Salivary concentration of free testosterone was assessed using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) kit by Demeditec Diagnostics with a sensitivity of 2.2 pg/ml (denoted intra-assay coefficients of variation: 6.58% at 90.8 pg/ml, interassay variation: 7.4% at 74.3 pg/ml). All samples were assayed twice and two control samples (low and high) were also added. Two assay kits were used since the sample size extended assay space.

Statistical Analyses

All statistical analyses were performed with SPSS 19. First, mean cooperation rates for each participant in each condition were determined. One subject had to be excluded from further analyses due to a technical error, which prevented the completion of the second experimental session. Repeated-measures ANOVA was used to test for an effect or interaction of the factors "team" and "context" on the cooperation rates. Wilcoxon-rank tests were conducted as post hoc comparisons. To identify possible associations between testosterone and cooperation



rates Spearman rank correlations were used. Furthermore, testosterone levels were compared between subjects displaying a high or low parochial pattern with independent t-Tests. For this purpose, the ingroup bias for each subject was determined by calculating the difference between the cooperation rates with the ingroup and the antagonistic outgroup during the competition. Accordingly, a high value of ingroup bias indicated more cooperation with the ingroup relative to the antagonistic outgroup, whereas a low value represented the opposite. Median-split was then used to divide the sample in two groups: subjects with an ingroup bias above the median of 90% (i.e., the "parochialists," n = 23; all subjects in this group had an ingroup bias of 100%) and subjects below the median (i.e., the "individualists," n = 20; ingroup bias [mean \pm sem]: 43.00 \pm 7.54%). Significances are reported two-tailed if not otherwise indicated and one-tailed in case of directed a priori hypotheses.

Results

First, we investigated the effect of group membership and context on cooperative behavior. A 4 (team: ingroup, neutral outgroup, unknown outgroup, antagonistic outgroup) \times 2 (context: neutral session, competition) repeated-measures ANOVA revealed highly significant effects for context $[F_{(1, 48)} = 12.69, p = 0.001,$ $\eta_p^2 = 0.21$] and team $[F_{(3, 144)} = 85.22, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 =$ 0.64] as well as an interaction between the factors team and context $[F_{(3, 144)} = 23.40, p < 0.001, \eta_p^2 = 0.33]$. Post-hoc Wilcoxon signed-rank tests showed that cooperation rates were lower in the competitive context than during the neutral session (Z = -3.58, p < 0.001, n = 49; cooperation rate [mean \pm sem]: neutral session = $34.76 \pm 3.19\%$, competition = $25.52 \pm$ 2.10%). Further, cooperation rates increased with increasing social distance resulting in significant differences between the cooperation with the different teams except for the comparison between the neutral and the unknown team, which only reached statistical trend level (Z = -5.85, p = 0.97, n = 49). The "team" × "context" interaction was mainly accounted for by significant higher cooperation rates with ingroup members during the competition than during the neutral session (Z = -3.03, p = 0.002, n = 49 and significantly lower cooperation rates with neutral, unknown, and antagonistic outgroup during the competition than during the neutral session (neutral outgroup: Z = -4.33, p < 0.001; unknown outgroup: Z = -4.69, p < 0.0010.001; antagonistic outgroup: Z = -3.50, p < 0.001; n = 49). Figure 2 shows mean cooperation rates with all teams in both sessions. In addition, Table 1 lists all mean cooperation rates as well as the behavioral change in cooperation rates during the competition as compared to the neutral context (Δ context = cooperation rate competition—cooperation rate neutral session).

Considering a possible effect of testosterone on this parochial pattern, a trend for a positive correlation between testosterone and the cooperation rates with the ingroup during the competition was found (Rho = 0.218, p = 0.051, one-sided). This relationship was even more pronounced regarding the effect of context as described by the change in cooperation from the competition to the neutral session [i.e., Δ context (ingroup): Rho = 0.259, p = 0.036, one-sided]. Correlations are



depicted in Figure 3. In contrast to that, there were no equivalent correlations with ingroup cooperation during the neutral session (Rho = -0.139, p = 0.342) or with the overall ingroup cooperation rate across both sessions (Rho = -0.013, p = 0.931). To further investigate the effect of testosterone on parochial altruism, we compared the testosterone levels between subjects showing an increased ingroup bias during the competition and subjects that did not differentiate so much between the different teams (i.e., the "parochialists" as compared to the "individualists"). Testosterone levels of the parochialists were significantly higher than those of individualists $[t_{(41)} = -2.30,$ p = 0.027, d = 0.72; testosterone concentrations [mean \pm sem] parochialists: 135.10 ± 8.66 pg/ml, individualists: $109.18 \pm$ 6.88 pg/ml]. Figure 4 shows mean testosterone concentrations of both groups. Please also refer to Table 1 to find mean cooperation rates of parochialists and individualists in comparison with those of the whole sample. Interestingly, by following their strategy of increased outgroup hostility and ingroup favoritism parochialists still achieved fewer total payoffs in the competition than individualists $[t_{(41)} = 5.18, p < 0.001, d = 1.62;$ total points [mean \pm sem] parochialists: 1647.83 \pm 19.83 points, individualists: 1797.00 \pm 20.79 points]. This was also reflected by higher overall cooperation rates of parochialists during the competition compared to the individualists (U = 56.50, p <0.001; overall cooperation rate [mean \pm sem] parochialists: 37.77 ± 3.12 %, individualists: 20.41 ± 3.10 %).

Discussion

The aim of the present study was to resolve the contradiction regarding the behavioral effects of testosterone (prosocial vs. antisocial) by considering two additional factors, namely group

TABLE 1 | Cooperation rates in the prisoner's dilemma.

Team			Mean cooperation rate	[%] ± SEM
	Sample	Neutral session	Competition	Contextual difference of cooperation rates (Acontext: competitive—neutral session)
Ingroup	All:	58.16 ± 5.46	76.55 ± 4.84	18.39±5.49
	Parochialists:	66.96 ± 8.35	100.00 ± 0.00	33.04 ± 8.35
	Individualists:	46.00 ± 8.22	45.55 ± 7.65	-0.45 ± 7.12
Neutral outgroup	All:	39.86 ± 5.02	15.31 ± 4.34	-24.55 ± 5.09
	Parochialists:	$54.78 \pm 8,24$	25.65 ± 8.52	-29.13 ± 9.62
	Individualists:	22.65 ± 5.86	6.00 ± 2.34	-16.65 ± 5.27
Unknown outgroup	All:	30.61 ± 4.33	9.18±2.99	-21.43 ± 3.58
	Parochialists:	32.17 ± 6.69	10.00 ± 4.87	-22.17 ± 5.90
	Individualists:	25.00 ± 6.18	6.00 ± 3.03	-19.00 ± 5.47
Antagonistic outgroup	All:	10.41 ± 2.54	1.04 ± 0.53	-9.37 ± 2.65
	Parochialists:	12.61 ± 4.76	0.00 ± 0.00	-12.61 ± 4.76
	Individualists:	9.50 ± 2.85	2.55 ± 1.25	-6.90 ± 3.35

Means and standard errors (SEM) for the different experimental conditions (team and context) for all participants (n = 49) and for individuals displaying a high ingroup bias during the competition ("parochialists," n = 23) or a low ingroup bias ("individualists," n = 20).



membership and intergroup competition. To test this, male soccer fans played the PD twice, in a neutral and in a group competition context, against counterparts marked as soccer fans of other teams of varying rivalry to the subject's own favorite team. Three major findings emerged: firstly, our results demonstrate the parochial nature of human cooperation with increasing social distance and enmity to the opposing player resulting in decreased cooperation rates. This parochial pattern was observed in both contexts, but was even more prominent during the intergroup competition. The presence of external threat by the competing teams seemed to have intensified parochial tendencies.



Secondly, the present findings suggest testosterone to promote prosocial behavioral tendencies during ingroup interactions since high levels of testosterone were associated with increased cooperation rates with ingroup members during the competitive relative to the neutral context. The fact that an association between testosterone and altruistic behavior could only be found in interactions with the ingroup, suggests a modulating role of testosterone in parochial altruism, which might facilitate group coherence. This thought was supported by the observation that individuals with increased ingroup bias during the competition had significantly higher testosterone levels than individuals who did not differentiate so much between the different groups.

Finally, the observed associations between testosterone and parochial altruism were limited to the group competition or the behavioral adaptation represented by the change in cooperation rates from the competitive as compared to the neutral context. Thus, competition might be a contextual aspect that plays an important role in explaining the effects of testosterone on parochial altruism.

Taken together, the data from the PD complement the previously reported results regarding altruistic punishment in the UG (Diekhof et al., 2014), during which participants displayed the same parochial pattern in their rejection rates (i.e., increasing rejection rates with increasing social distance). Hence, cooperative behavior seems to be affected by parochial tendencies in a similar manner as altruistic punishment. This corresponds to findings from other studies investigating the impact of group membership in social exchange tasks that investigated other types of group membership such as different linguistic language groups of New Guinea (Bernhard et al., 2006) or members of different platoons of the Swiss Army (Goette et al., 2012). Also, the further escalation of ingroup favoritism and outgroup hostility during the competition conforms well to the results of the UG that showed pronounced parochial altruism in a context of intergroup conflict (Diekhof et al., 2014). Important to note, less cooperation with the three outgroups consequently led to higher payoff in the competition than in the neutral context. Nonetheless, the argument that this was due to economically rational behavior rather than parochial altruism is doubtful. First, defection was mainly restricted to outgroups whereas during ingroup interactions altruistic choices for cooperation were observed. Secondly, in the UG outgroup offers were rejected more often during the competition even though in this game this unfavorable treatment involved personal costs (Diekhof et al., 2014). In addition, our results are in line with the observations by Goette et al. (2012), who applied a PD and found that in the context of an intergroup competition between the different Army platoons ingroup cooperation as well as defection in outgroup interactions strongly increased. Hence, the present data fit well into the theoretical framework proposing that intergroup competition may have been the driving force for the co-evolution of parochialism and altruism (Choi and Bowles, 2007). Potentially impeding the interpretation of the present results might be the fact that subjects did not know the exact conversion factor according to which their achieved points were translated into Euros. However, previous studies on decision making during interactions with in- and outsiders have applied all sorts of financial incentives in game theoretic tasks, but nonetheless have all observed prosocial behavior in favor of the own group, which corresponds to our results (e.g., points representing real money in the study by Goette et al., 2012 or even hypothetical endowments as in Campanhã et al., 2011). Further, the sum of the extra group reward was not explicitly mentioned to the subjects, which would allow for an alternative explanation of increased ingroup cooperation during the competition: for all the subjects knew, the extra reward could have as well outweighed the personal loss caused by ingroup cooperation. Nevertheless, when interpreting the subjects' motives to cooperate with ingroup members during the competition it has to be taken into account that only two out of the 50 subjects played completely selfish in the neutral context. This observation is relevant as it suggests that subjects discriminated between the different groups even in the absence of an extra group reward. A possible explanation for this might be that strong emotions of enmity and affiliation between soccer fans dampen the impulse to play economically in the first place (i.e., neutral context). Therefore, it seems plausible that increased ingroup cooperation during the competition indicates parochial altruism rather than a financial strategy.

Considering possible effects of endogenous testosterone, a positive correlation with the change of ingroup cooperation rates from the competitive as compared to the neutral setting emerged. This matches the previous findings from the UG, during which higher salivary testosterone levels were predictive of higher offers to ingroup members (Diekhof et al., 2014). In addition to that, in the UG high testosterone individuals displayed increased outgroup hostility in the form of higher rejection rates toward outgroup proposals during the competitive relative to the neutral context. The PD, however, revealed no specific link between testosterone and outgroup hostility. A possible reason for the absence of an outgroup-directed association between testosterone and aggressive behavior might lie in the specific demands of the PD. While the decision to reject an offer in the UG might in fact indicate an individual's willingness to harm the other player, the decision for no cooperation in the PD might as well result from the intention to protect oneself from exploitation rather than representing an aggressive act against the other player (Rusch, 2014). Thus the PD might not capture outgroup hostility as good as the UG, which could explain the lack of an association between testosterone and outgroup-directed aggression in the present data. In sum, the present results disprove the notion that testosterone is promoting solely antisocial behavior since high levels were associated with increased cooperative behavior in the form of stronger ingroup favoritism. This supports findings from other recent studies reporting prosocial effects of testosterone (Burnham, 2007; Eisenegger et al., 2010; Mehta and Beer, 2010) and points to a more complex role of testosterone in the modulation of human social behavior.

Most importantly, salivary testosterone levels predicted parochial tendencies during the group competition. Testosterone concentrations were higher in subjects displaying a strong ingroup bias than in subjects who treated the teams more equally. Besides the stronger discrimination between the different groups, parochial subjects also won fewer points in the competition than the individualists. This might suggest that besides enhancing ingroup bias, testosterone also facilitates withstanding the impulse to maximize personal payoff for in order to ensure group success. To add further support to this claim we looked again into the data obtained during the UG (Diekhof et al., 2014) and compared behavior in this game between the parochialists and the individualists (as defined here in the present analyses). Matching the findings from the PD, in the UG parochialists showed higher rejection rates in response to unfair offers by antagonistic outgroup members than individualists thereby

refraining from the offered points (U = 155, p = 0.013; rejection rates [mean \pm sem] parochialists: 98.26 \pm 1.20 %, individualists: 84.00 \pm 6.26 %). The observed association between testosterone and parochial altruism in the PD fits well with our previously proposed hypothesis of testosterone as a driving force of intergroup bias. It also conforms well with the "male warrior hypothesis," which states that specifically males should be more likely to form coalitions and direct aggression toward outgroups during group competitions (Van Vugt et al., 2007; Van Vugt and Park, 2009; McDonald et al., 2012). Since testosterone is the most important sex hormone in males and its role in social behavior has been well described (e.g., Eisenegger et al., 2011), it is reasonable to assume a link between prevalent testosterone levels and parochial altruism in males. The present findings support this assumption by offering evidence for a testosteronemodulated intergroup bias in a group competition context.

Further important to note is that here we report individual differences concerning parochial altruism that were associated with endogenous testosterone levels. However, we cannot exclude possible interferences by other factors, which were not considered in this study. For instance, genetic polymorphisms in the androgen receptor gene might mediate individual behavioral differences that are associated with testosterone. Other open questions that require further research concern influences and interactions by other steroid hormones, such as estrogens, and, especially in this context, if there are comparable effects in females. Against this background, future studies should repeat a similar paradigm and include additional factors to substantiate the observed link between testosterone and parochial altruism.

Conclusion

This study provides further evidence to the view that testosterone does not only promote antisocial behavioral tendencies, but also facilitates altruism. This was shown here to be specifically the case during an intergroup competition in human males. In this context, testosterone was predictive of parochial altruism (i.e., the favorable treatment of ingroup members, whereas aggression is directed toward the outgroup) and thus was associated with both aggressive and cooperative behavior depending on group membership and competition. The present results are therefore in line with previously stated theories on male coalition building (i.e., "male warrior hypothesis"; Van Vugt et al., 2007) and evolutionary theories on the development of altruism and parochialism (Choi and Bowles, 2007). As a novel finding, they propose testosterone to play a key role in these social mechanisms.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank M. Langbehn for programming the test protocol and analysis batches, Marianne Schwarz and Hanna Ehrenteich for their contribution in the data acquisition and Angelika Kroll for the analysis of hormonal parameters.

Supplementary Material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fnins. 2015.00183/abstract

References

- Archer, J. (2006). Testosterone and human aggression: an evaluation of the challenge hypothesis. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 30, 319–345. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2004.12.007
- Axelrod, R., and Hamilton, W. D. (1981). The evolution of cooperation. *Science* 211, 1390–1396. doi: 10.1126/science.7466396
- Baumgartner, T., Götte, L., Gügler, R., and Fehr, E. (2012). The mentalizing network orchestrates the impact of parochial altruism on social norm enforcement. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 33, 1452–1469. doi: 10.1002/hbm. 21298
- Bernhard, H., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2006). Parochial altruism in humans. Nature 442, 912–915. doi: 10.1038/nature04981
- Boksem, M. A. S., Mehta, P. H., Van den Bergh, B., van Son, V., Trautmann, S. T., Roelofs, K., et al. (2013). Testosterone Inhibits Trust but Promotes Reciprocity. *Psychol. Sci.* doi: 10.1177/0956797613495063
- Bowles, S. (2009). Did warfare among ancestral hunter-gatherers affect the evolution of human social behaviors? *Science* 324, 1293–1298. doi: 10.1126/science.1168112
- Burnham, T. C. (2007). High-testosterone men reject low ultimatum game offers. Proc. Biol. Sci. 274, 2327–2330. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2007.0546
- Camerer, C. F. (2003). Behavioral Game Theory: Experiments in Strategic Interaction. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Campanhã, C., Minati, L., Fregni, F., and Boggio, P. S. (2011). Responding to unfair offers made by a friend: neuroelectrical activity changes in the anterior medial prefrontal cortex. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* 31, 15569–15574. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1253-11.2011

- Carré, J. M., and Olmstead, N. A. (2015). Social neuroendocrinology of human aggression: examining the role of competition-induced testosterone dynamics. *Neuroscience* 286, 171–186. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2014.11.029
- Choi, J.-K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Diekhof, E. K., Wittmer, S., and Reimers, L. (2014). Does competition really bring out the worst? Testosterone, social distance and inter-male competition shape parochial altruism in human males. *PLoS ONE* 9:e98977. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098977
- Eisenegger, C., Haushofer, J., and Fehr, E. (2011). The role of testosterone in social interaction. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 15, 263–271. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.04.008
- Eisenegger, C., Naef, M., Snozzi, R., Heinrichs, M., and Fehr, E. (2010). Prejudice and truth about the effect of testosterone on human bargaining behaviour. *Nature* 463, 356–359. doi: 10.1038/nature08711
- Fehr, E., and Fischbacher, U. (2003). The nature of human altruism. Nature 425, 785–791. doi: 10.1038/nature02043
- García, J., and van den Bergh, J. C. J. M. (2011). Evolution of parochial altruism by multilevel selection. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 32, 277–287. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010.07.007
- Goette, L., Huffman, D., Meier, S., and Sutter, M. (2012). Competition between organizational groups: its impact on altruistic and antisocial motivations. *Manag. Sci.* 58, 948–960. doi: 10.1287/mnsc.1110.1466
- Mazur, A., and Booth, A. (1998). Testosterone and dominance in men. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 21, 353–363; discussion 363–397.
- McDonald, M. M., Navarrete, C. D., and Van Vugt, M. (2012). Evolution and the psychology of intergroup conflict: the male warrior hypothesis. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 367, 670–679. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2011.0301

- Mehta, P. H., and Beer, J. (2010). Neural mechanisms of the testosteroneaggression relation: the role of orbitofrontal cortex. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 22, 2357–2368. doi: 10.1162/jocn.2009.21389
- Mehta, P. H., Wuehrmann, E. V., and Josephs, R. A. (2009). When are low testosterone levels advantageous? The moderating role of individual versus intergroup competition. *Horm. Behav.* 56, 158–162. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2009.04.001
- Rebers, S., and Koopmans, R. (2012). Altruistic punishment and between-group competition: evidence from n-person prisoner's dilemmas. *Hum. Nat.* 23, 173–190. doi: 10.1007/s12110-012-9136-x
- Rusch, H. (2014). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 281:20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb. 2014.1539
- Sanfey, A. G., Rilling, J. K., Aronson, J. A., Nystrom, L. E., and Cohen, J. D. (2003). The neural basis of economic decision-making in the Ultimatum Game. *Science* 300, 1755–1758. doi: 10.1126/science. 1082976
- Van Vugt, M., De Cremer, D., and Janssen, D. P. (2007). Gender differences in cooperation and competition: the male-warrior hypothesis. *Psychol. Sci.* 18, 19–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2007.01842.x

- Van Vugt, M., and Park, J. H. (2009). Guns, germs, and sex: how evolution shaped our intergroup psychology. Soc. Personal. Psychol. Compass 3, 927–938. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2009.00221.x
- Zak, P. J., Kurzban, R., Ahmadi, S., Swerdloff, R. S., Park, J., Efremidze, L., et al. (2009). Testosterone administration decreases generosity in the ultimatum game. *PLoS ONE* 4, e8330. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008330
- Zethraeus, N., Kocoska-Maras, L., Ellingsen, T., Schoultz, B., von Hirschberg, A. L., and Johannesson, M. (2009). A randomized trial of the effect of estrogen and testosterone on economic behavior. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 6535–6538. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812757106

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Reimers and Diekhof. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Accountability Accentuates Interindividual-Intergroup Discontinuity by Enforcing Parochialism

Tim Wildschut^{1*}, Femke van Horen² and Claire Hart¹

¹ Centre for Research on Self and Identity, School of Psychology, University of Southampton, Southampton, UK, ² Department of Marketing, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Interindividual-intergroup discontinuity is the tendency for relations between groups to be more competitive than relations between individuals. We examined whether the discontinuity effect arises in part because group members experience normative pressure to favor the ingroup (parochialism). Building on the notion that accountability enhances normative pressure, we hypothesized that the discontinuity effect would be larger when accountability is present (compared to absent). A prisoner's dilemma game experiment supported this prediction. Specifically, intergroup (compared to interindividual) interaction activated an injunctive ingroup-favoring norm, and accountability enhanced the influence of this norm on competitive behavior.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert Böhm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

Reviewed by:

Siegfried Dewitte, Katholieke Universiteit Leuven, Belgium David D. Loschelder, Saarland University, Germany

> *Correspondence: Tim Wildschut timw@soton.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 June 2015 Accepted: 06 November 2015 Published: 25 November 2015

Citation:

Wildschut T, van Horen F and Hart C (2015) Accountability Accentuates Interindividual-Intergroup Discontinuity by Enforcing Parochialism. Front. Psychol. 6:1789. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01789 Keywords: discontinuity effect, accountability, parochialism, prisoner's dilemma, intergroup relations

INTRODUCTION

Interindividual-intergroup discontinuity refers to the tendency for relations between groups to be more competitive or less cooperative than relations between individuals (Insko et al., 2001, 2005, 2013). Most research comparing interindividual and intergroup interactions has done so in the context of experiments with mixed-motive matrix games, like the prisoner's dilemma game (PDG). The PDG involves the interaction between two players who can each select a cooperative or competitive choice.¹ Each player's outcomes are determined by the combination of both players' choices. Each player can maximize his/her outcomes by selecting the competitive choice, regardless of the choice selected by the other player. Yet, paradoxically, when both select the competitive choice, they achieve lower outcomes than they could have achieved by mutual cooperation. Most PDG experiments contrasting interindividual and intergroup interactions have supported the discontinuity effect: interacting groups are more competitive than are interacting individuals (Wildschut et al., 2003). Although the discontinuity effect has been studied predominantly in a PDG context involving participants from individualistic cultures (e.g., US, The Netherlands; Wildschut et al., 2001), it has also been documented in non-laboratory contexts (Pemberton et al., 1996), among participants from a collectivistic culture (Japan; Takemura and Yuki, 2007), in a distributive (i.e., zero-sum) multi-issue negotiation task (Loschelder and Trötschel, 2010), and in a context where the PDG matrix was substituted by a functionally equivalent set of rules governing the exchange of folded origami products (Schopler et al., 2001).

¹In this article, we refer to the two PDG choices as cooperative choice and competitive choice, respectively. Elsewhere, the competitive choice is also referred to as the non-cooperative choice or defection. The latter labels have the advantage of not suggesting relativistic motivation or a concern with winning. However, we used the "competitive choice" label for ease of exposition and to maintain consistency with previous work on the discontinuity effect (e.g., Insko et al., 2013). By adopting this terminology, we do not mean to suggest that the competitive choice necessarily reflects concern with winning.

THE ROLE OF PAROCHIALISM IN INTERINDIVIDUAL-INTERGROUP

The discontinuity effect is a highly robust and multicausal phenomenon (Wildschut et al., 2007). The ingroup-favoringnorm explanation proposes that the discontinuity effect arises in part because interindividual and intergroup interactions are governed by different norms or moral codes (Cohen et al., 2006; Wildschut and Insko, 2006). On the one hand, norms for interindividual interactions emphasize fairness (Thibaut and Walker, 1975) and reciprocity (Gouldner, 1960)—a set of rules referred to as individual morality (Cohen et al., 2010). On the other hand, norms for intergroup interactions impel group members to support the ingroup at the expense of outsiders a set of rules referred to as group morality or parochialism (Schwartz-Shea and Simmons, 1991; Baron, 2001; Wildschut and Insko, 2007).

Historical Background

The concept of parochialism dates back millennia. In Plato's (1891, p. 7) *The Republic*, Polemarchus defends the maxim of classical Greek morality that "justice is the art which gives good to friends and evil to enemies." Machiavelli (1515/1952) addressed a similar message to aspiring leaders:

And yet he must not mind incurring the scandal of those vices, without which it would be difficult to save the state, for if one considers well, it will be found that some things which seem virtues would, if followed, lead to one's ruin, and some others which appear vices result in one's greater security and well-being (p. 93).

Hobbes (1660/1983) captured the essence of this idea in a few simple words. "Force and fraud" he wrote, "are in war the two cardinal virtues." More recently, the theologian Niebuhr (1941) expressed a related viewpoint when he wrote:

The group is more arrogant, hypocritical, self-centered and more ruthless in the pursuit of its ends than the individual. An inevitable moral tension between individual and group morality is therefore created.... This tension is naturally most apparent in the conscience of the responsible statesmen, who are bound to feel the disparity between the canons of ordinary morality and the accepted habits of collective and political behavior (p. 222).

Early social psychological perspectives on group behavior also showed a keen awareness of group morality or parochialism. For example, Le Bon (1895/1896) wrote:

Taking the word "morality" to mean constant respect for certain social conventions, and the permanent repression of selfish impulses, it is quite evident that crowds are too impulsive and too mobile to be moral. If, however, we include in the term morality the transitory display of certain qualities such as self-abnegation, self-sacrifice, disinterestedness, devotion, and the need of equity, we may say, on the contrary, that crowds may at times exhibit a very lofty morality (p. 43). In a similar vein, McDougall (1920) observed:

The group spirit secures that the egoistic and the altruistic tendencies of each man's nature, instead of being in perpetual conflict, as they must be in its absence, shall harmoniously co-operate and re-enforce one another throughout a large part of the total field of human activity (p. 79).

Although influential in the very early days of social psychology, Le Bon's (1895/1896) and McDougall's (1920) ideas fell by the wayside after the centerpiece of their analysis the group mind concept—was criticized by Allport (1924). As illustrated by this Research Topic, however, parochialism has recently attracted revived interest from across the social sciences (Wildschut et al., 2002; Choi and Bowles, 2007; De Dreu et al., 2014; Rusch, 2014). In the present research, we focus specifically on the contrast between norms governing interindividual interactions and the dictates of parochialism. According to the ingroup-favoring-norm explanation of the discontinuity effect, this contrast can shed light on the enduring question of why relations between groups are more competitive, hostile, and intractable than are relations between individuals.

Empirical Evidence

Initial tests of the ingroup-favoring-norm explanation were guided by the notion that accountability enforces norms (Semin and Manstead, 1983; Tetlock, 1992; Sedikides et al., 2002). Broadly speaking, accountability is "the condition of being answerable for conducting oneself in a manner that is consistent with relevant prescriptions for how things should be" (Schlenker and Weingold, 1989, p. 24). A corollary of the norm-enforcement role of accountability is that ingroup-favoring norms should be more influential when group members are accountable rather than unaccountable to the ingroup. Only when group members are accountable can their actions influence how the ingroup evaluates them (Deutsch and Gerard, 1955). An experiment by Wildschut et al. (2002) supported this line of reasoning. Participants were placed in separate rooms and informed that they were part of a group that would interact with another group located in an adjoining laboratory. They then made individual PDG decisions under one of two conditions. In the public condition, participants were told that, upon completion of the experiment, they would meet the members of their ingroup to discuss their decisions. In the private condition, they were told that they would be dismissed separately from the laboratory. Consistent with the ingroup-favoring-norm explanation, publiccondition participants (i.e., those accountable to the ingroup) made more competitive choices than did private-condition participants (i.e., those unaccountable to the ingroup). Pinter et al. (2007) conceptually replicated this finding by demonstrating that group leaders who were accountable to the ingroup made more competitive PDG choices than did unaccountable group leaders or individuals. Beyond the PDG context, Adams's (1976) boundary role theory has stimulated research aimed at understanding how representatives react to constituent pressures in the context of intergroup bargaining. Consistent with the idea that representatives often assume that constituents expect

them to be competitive toward other groups, research indicates that accountable (compared to unaccountable) representatives make fewer concessions, use more contentious tactics, and are less likely to reach agreements (Pruitt and Carnevale, 1993; Druckman, 1994).

There is, then, compelling evidence that, when group members are accountable to the ingroup, normative pressure to support the ingroup can manifest as intergroup competition. Yet, existing research is limited because it examined the effect of accountability on competitiveness in the context of intergroup interactions only. The untested assumption is that, because interindividual interactions are governed by norms of fairness and reciprocity, accountability should not increase (and might even reduce) competition between individuals, and thus accentuate the discontinuity effect. Accordingly, support for the ingroup-favoring-norm explanation is incomplete. The primary objective of the present research was to remedy this by testing the effect of accountability on competitiveness in the context of intergroup *and* interindividual interactions.

ACCOUNTABILITY IN INTERINDIVIDUAL CONTEXT

The effects of accountability on judgment and decision-making in interindividual contexts have been equivocal (Lerner and Tetlock, 1999). One strand of evidence supports the assumption that interindividual interactions are governed by norms of fairness and reciprocity, and, accordingly, that accountability reduces competitive behavior (Reis and Gruzen, 1976; Prentice-Dunn and Rogers, 1982). For instance, De Cremer et al. (2001) demonstrated that, in a social dilemma task, individuals who anticipated meeting their interaction partners were less competitive than those who did not anticipate such a meeting, suggesting that accountability (induced via anticipated future interaction) increased the salience of fairness norms.

Another strand of evidence suggest, however, that accountability may increase, rather than reduce, interindividual competition. Miller (1999; Miller and Ratner, 1996) proposed that, in individualistic cultures, self-interest is considered normative and rational. This norm of self-interest is both descriptive (i.e., relating to which behaviors are typically enacted) and injunctive (i.e., relating to which behaviors are typically approved or disapproved; Cialdini et al., 1990). It is descriptive in the sense that individuals believe that others' behavior is guided by self-interest (Miller and Ratner, 1996, 1998) and it is injunctive in the sense that individuals believe others do not approve behavior that is divorced from self-interest (Ratner and Miller, 2001). Thus, accountability could enforce the norm of self-interest and attendant competition, at least in individualistic, Western cultures.

THE PRESENT RESEARCH

The ingroup-favoring-norm explanation proposes that, whereas intergroup interactions are guided by norms impelling group

members to favor the ingroup, interindividual interactions activate norms emphasizing fairness and reciprocity. Because accountability enforces norms (Tetlock, 1992), it should increase intergroup competition and reduce interindividual competition. This, in turn, entails a larger discontinuity effect in the presence (vs. absence) of accountability (Hypothesis 1). Specifically, an intergroup (compared to interindividual) context should render salient the ingroup-favoring norm, and accountability will enhance the influence of this norm on competition (Hypothesis 2). We did, however, also consider the alternative possibility that accountability enforces the norm of selfinterest (rather than fairness and reciprocity) in interindividual contexts, in which case it could increase (rather than reduce) interindividual competition.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Design

Two hundred thirty-six female University of Southampton undergraduates took part in this experiment for partial course credit or payment (£4.00). All participants earned an additional £1.00 during the experiment. The experiment was reviewed and approved by the University of Southampton Psychology Ethics Committee. All participants provided written informed consent.

The design comprised two manipulated independent variables: interaction type (individuals vs. groups) and accountability (public vs. private responding). The interaction type variable entailed a contrast between interactions involving two isolated individuals with interactions involving two group members who belonged to two separate three-person groups. We manipulated accountability by informing participants in the public condition that, upon completion of the experiment, they would meet the two other participants seated on their side of the laboratory (henceforth, same-side others) to discuss each other's decisions (accountability present). In the private condition, we told participants that they would be dismissed separately and that their decisions would remain anonymous (accountability absent). In the intergroup condition, we informed participants that the same-side others were part of their three-person group. In the interindividual condition, we described the same-side others as participants completing the same experiment.

Procedure

We ran the experimental sessions in a laboratory containing six cubicles, with three cubicles located on opposite sides of the room. In the interindividual condition, these cubicles were numbered 1 through 6. In the intergroup condition, the three cubicles on one side of the room were labeled A1 through A3 and the cubicles on the other side were labeled B1 through B3. Each cubicle contained a desktop computer, a set of headphones, and a web camera. Each participant was seated in a separate cubicle. In the intergroup condition, we assigned participants to groups (A or B) and informed them that the other members of their group would be seated on the same side of the laboratory, whereas the members of the other group would be seated on the other side of the laboratory. We omitted these instructions in the interindividual condition.

Next, we explained the PDG matrix to participants. In the interindividual condition, we informed participants that they would interact with the person seated in the cubicle opposite theirs and be allowed to keep the money they earned during the experiment. We informed participants in the intergroup condition that they would interact with the member of the other group seated in the cubicle opposite theirs and that, upon completion of the experiment, the three members of their ingroup would share equally the money they had earned. In the public condition, we informed participants that, upon completion of the experiment, they would meet the same-side others to talk about the decisions that they had made. (In fact, this meeting did not occur and we dismissed participants separately.) We informed participants in the private condition that they would be dismissed separately and that their decisions would remain anonymous. Subsequently, participants completed a brief check of their understanding of the PDG and, if necessary, had their answers corrected by the experimenter.

At this point, we told participants that they would interact with the person in the opposite cubicle for one trial. This trial proceeded as follows: participants had one minute to think about the situation privately. After this 1-minute period, participants opened an audio-visual connection with the person in the opposite cubicle. Participants then had one minute to discuss the situation with the person in the opposite cubicle, whom they could hear through their headphones and see on their monitor. Following this communication period, participants had one minute to make their final decision and record it in writing. After participants recorded their decisions, the experimenter collected the decisions and distributed a post-experimental questionnaire with supplemental dependent variables. Finally, we paid all participants a standard amount of £1.00 regardless of their decisions. Debriefing followed.

Dependent Variables Manipulation Checks

To assess the effectiveness of the accountability manipulation, we asked participants: "Did you expect that the other persons seated in the cubicles on your side of the room would find out what decision you made?" (0 = no, 1 = yes). Perceived accountability should be higher with public (compared to private) responding. As a check on the interaction-type manipulation, we administered the following item: "Did you expect that every person seated in the cubicles on your side of the room would take home the same amount of money at the end of the study?" (0 = no, 1 = yes). Perceived outcome interdependence should be higher in the intergroup (compared to interindividual) condition.

Competitive Choice and Choice Reasons

The focal dependent variable was PDG choice behavior (0 = cooperative, 1 = competitive). Because each of the two PDG choices can be selected for a number of different reasons (e.g., the cooperative choice may reflect a concern for maximizing joint outcomes or a concern for achieving equal outcomes), we also assessed participants' choice reasons. Participants rated 20

items, each designed to measure one of the following reasons: Max Own (e.g., "to earn as much as possible"; "to maximize my earnings"); Max Rel (e.g., "to earn more than the other person"; "to maximize the difference between the two persons in my favor"); Fear (e.g., "did not trust the other person"; "to defend myself against the other person"); Min Dif (e.g., "to minimize the difference between both persons"; "to earn an equal amount"); and Max Joint (e.g., "to earn as much as possible together"; "to maximize the joint outcomes of both persons"). Participants rated these choice reasons on 7-point scale (1 = not at all important, 7 = very important). The reliabilities for these five 4-item scales ranged from 0.72 to 0.94. We averaged the four items in each scale to create composite measures.

Perceived Strength of Competitive Norms

We assessed both the descriptive and injunctive aspect of perceived competitive norms. To assess the strength of the descriptive competitive norm (i.e., relating to which behaviors are typically enacted), participants estimated the number of same-side others (excluding themselves) who selected the competitive choice (range = 0-2). To assess the strength of the injunctive competitive norm (i.e., relating to which behaviors are typically approved or disapproved), participants indicated which choice they believed the same-side others wanted them to make (i.e., the choice they would approve; 0 = cooperative, 1 = competitive).

Analysis Strategy

The experiment involved interaction between two participants, arranged in pairs. Because participants within each pair influenced each other's responses, they cannot be treated as independent observations. Accordingly, the unit of analysis was the pair of interacting participants and we analyzed the average response across participants within pairs. PDG choice behavior was coded: 0 = cooperative, 1 = competitive. When averaged across participants within pairs, this variable could assume the values 0 (both participants cooperate), 0.5 (one cooperates and one competes), and 1 (both compete). We followed the same procedure for the manipulation checks (0 = no, 1 = yes) and for participants' estimate of the choice same-side others wanted them to make (injunctive norm). This rendered these variables amenable to analysis of variance (ANOVA).²

RESULTS

Manipulation Checks

We present relevant means and standard deviations in **Table 1**. As intended, an Accountability (public vs. private) × Interaction

²To demonstrate that the results for the dichotomous variables (i.e., manipulation checks, competition, and injunctive norm) are not purely an artifact of our preferred ANOVA strategy, we conducted alternative analyses, using SAS PROC GLIMMIX. In these logistic analyses, the individual participants (rather than interacting pairs) were treated as units of analysis. To control for the dependence between participants within each pair, we included pairs as a random variable in a multilevel model. We specified that the dependent variables have a binary distribution. The pattern of significant (and non-significant) results was identical, with one minor exception: the Accountability × Interaction Type interaction on competition was significant in the ANOVA (see below) and marginal in the multilevel logistic analysis, $\chi^2(1) = 2.97$, p = 0.085.

TABLE 1 | Means and standard deviations (in parentheses) for manipulation checks, competitive choice, choice reasons, and perceived competitive norms as a function of accountability (public vs. private responding) and interaction type (individuals vs. groups).

	Put	olic	Priva	ite
	Individuals	Groups	Individuals	Groups
Manipulation checks (0–1)			
Accountability check	0.74 (0.36)	0.86 (0.26)	0.19 (0.32)	0.17 (0.30)
Interaction-type check	0.35 (0.42)	0.89 (0.21)	0.32 (0.42)	0.83 (0.30)
Competitive choice (0–1)	0.14 (0.29)	0.50 (0.50)	0.17 (0.34)	0.26 (0.39)
Choice reasons (1–7)				
Max Own	3.93 (0.95)	4.35 (0.92)	4.01 (0.86)	4.09 (0.88)
Max Rel	2.33 (0.88)	3.05 (1.34)	2.41 (0.86)	2.80 (0.99)
Fear	2.44 (0.94)	2.73 (0.99)	2.46 (1.07)	2.92 (1.30)
Min Dif	5.92 (0.94)	5.30 (1.12)	5.63 (1.24)	5.42 (1.02)
Max Joint	6.07 (1.01)	5.33 (1.16)	5.89 (1.08)	5.38 (1.28)
Perceived competitive	norm			
Descriptive norm (0–2)	0.81 (0.49)	1.18 (0.48)	0.75 (0.47)	1.14 (0.64)
Injunctive norm (0–1)	0.14 (0.29)	0.55 (0.40)	0.22 (0.35)	0.50 (0.42)

Type (individuals vs. groups) ANOVA on the accountability manipulation check revealed a significant main effect of accountability only, F(1,133) = 136.57, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.50$. Participants experienced stronger accountability with public (compared to private) responding. Neither the interaction-type main effect $[F(1,133) = 0.86, p = 0.357, \eta_p^2 = 0.003]$ nor the Accountability × Interaction Type interaction [F(1,133) = 1.85,p = 0.177, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$] was significant. As a check on the interaction-type manipulation, we assessed perceived outcome interdependence. As intended, an ANOVA revealed a significant interaction-type main effect, F(1,133) = 78.22, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.37$. Participants perceived more outcome interdependence in the intergroup (compared to interindividual) condition. Neither the accountability main effect [F(1,133) = 0.63, $p = 0.430, \eta_p^2 = 0.003$] nor the Accountability × Interaction Type interaction $[F(1,133) = 0.09, p = 0.761, \eta_p^2 = 0.0004]$ was significant. In all, the accountability and interaction-type manipulations were effective.

Competitive Choice

An Accountability (public vs. private) × Interaction Type (individuals vs. groups) ANOVA on competitive choice revealed a significant main effect of interaction type, F(1,133) = 11.83, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.08$. Interactions between members of different groups were more competitive than interactions between individuals (i.e., a discontinuity effect). The accountability main effect was not significant, F(1,133) = 2.59, p = 0.110, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$. The numerical pattern was for participants to be more competitive in the public (compared to private) condition. Importantly, we obtained a significant Accountability × Interaction Type interaction, F(1,133) = 4.28, p = 0.041, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$. Tests of simple effects indicated that group

members were significantly more competitive than individuals in the public condition, F(1,133) = 14.64, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.10$, but not in the private condition, F(1,133) = 0.97, p = 0.325, $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$. As hypothesized, the discontinuity effect was stronger with public than with private responding. Looked at in a different way, accountability significantly increased competition in the intergroup condition, F(1,133) = 6.72, p = 0.011, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$, but not in the interindividual condition, F(1,133) = 0.11, p = 0.745, $\eta_p^2 = 0.001$.

Choice Reasons

A series of ANOVAs on the five choice reasons resulted in significant main effects of interaction type on Max Rel, F(1,133) = 9.82, p = 0.002, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$, Fear, F(1,133) = 4.13, p = 0.044, $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$, Max Joint, F(1,133) = 10.37, p = 0.002, $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$, and Min Dif, F(1,133) = 4.87, p = 0.029, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$. The interaction type effect on Max Own was not significant, F(1,133) = 2.58, p = 0.111, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$. We present relevant means and standard deviations in **Table 1**. Group members (compared to individuals) were more concerned with maximizing relative outcomes and feared their opponents more. Individuals (compared to group members) were more concerned with maximizing joint outcomes and minimizing the difference in outcomes between sides. There were no other significant effects.

Perceived Norms

An ANOVA on the estimated number of competitive choices by same-side others (descriptive norm) revealed a significant main effect of interaction type only, F(1,132) = 17.91, p < 0.001, η_p^2 = 0.12. Participants in the intergroup (compared to interindividual) condition estimated that a greater number of same-side others would select the competitive choice (the descriptive competitive norm; Table 1). An ANOVA on the choice participants thought same-side others wanted them to make (injunctive norm) also revealed a significant main effect of interaction type only, F(1,133) = 29.47, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.18$. Those in the intergroup (compared to interindividual) condition estimated that a greater number of same-side others wanted them to select the competitive choice (the injunctive competitive norm; Table 1). Intergroup (compared to interindividual) interactions rendered salient descriptive and injunctive competitive norms.

Conditional Process Analyses

Group members (compared to individuals) scored higher on Max Rel and Fear, and lower on Min Dif and Max Joint. Furthermore, the (descriptive and injunctive) competitive norm was stronger in the groups (compared to individuals) condition. Could any of these potential mediating mechanisms shed light on why the discontinuity effect was stronger with public (compared to private) responding? To address this question, we tested a conditional process model that Edwards and Lambert (2007) referred to as "direct effect and second stage moderation model" (see also, Baron and Kenny, 1986, p. 1179). In this model, the moderator (accountability) affects the magnitude of the mediators' (choice reasons, perceived competitive norm) partial



association with the outcome (competition) and this is found in conjunction with a main effect of the independent variable (interaction type) on the mediators (**Figure 1**). This model is appropriate because interaction type influenced the potential mediators, irrespective of accountability. Yet, interaction type influenced competition only in the public condition. We therefore tested the mediated effects of interaction type on competition, conditional upon accountability.

We first examined whether the moderator (accountability) affected the magnitude of the mediators' (choice reasons, descriptive and injunctive competitive norms) associations with the outcome (competition) by testing, for each mediator, the Accountability × Mediator interaction. We present relevant results in Table 2. These analyses revealed a significant Accountability × Injunctive Norm interaction effect only (Table 2, A \times C). Strong (compared to weak) injunctive competitive norms predicted increased competition in the public condition, B = 0.53, SE = 0.13, F(1,131) = 16.60, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.10$. In the private condition, the association between strength of the injunctive competitive norm and competition was not significant, B = 0.19, SE = 0.11, F(1,131) = 2.73, $p = 0.101, \eta_p^2 = 0.02$. Furthermore, the previously significant Accountability \times Interaction Type interaction on competition (Table 2, $A \times B$) became non-significant when we controlled for the Accountability × Injunctive Norm interaction. This indicates that the Accountability × Interaction Type interaction was "funneled through" the Accountability × Injunctive Norm interaction (Baron and Kenny, 1986, p. 1179). Accountability did not significantly moderate the association of any other mediator with competition (Table 2, $A \times C$ row).

As a final step, we used the PROCESS macro to test the conditional process model depicted in **Figure 1**, with the injunctive competitive norm as mediator (model 15; 10,000 resamples; Hayes, 2013). PROCESS calculates bootstrap confidence intervals (CIs) for the indirect effect (denoted as *ab*) of interaction type on competition via a mediator (here, injunctive competitive norm), conditional upon accountability. In the public condition, this indirect effect was positive and significant (i.e., the 95% CI did not include 0), *ab* = 0.18, *SE* = 0.06, 95% CI = 0.08/0.32. In the private condition, this indirect effect was non-significant, *ab* = 0.06, *SE* = 0.04, 95% CI = -0.004/0.17. In all, the discontinuity effect was mediated by an injunctive competitive norm when accountability was present (public condition) but not when it was absent (private condition). That is, the intergroup (compared to interindividual) context strengthened the injunctive competitive norm, and accountability enforced this norm.³

DISCUSSION

According to the ingroup-favoring-norm explanation, the discontinuity effect arises in part because interindividual and intergroup interactions are governed by different norms or moral codes (Wildschut and Insko, 2006, 2007). Whereas interindividual interactions activate norms emphasizing fairness and reciprocity, intergroup interactions are guided by norms dictating ingroup-favoritism or parochialism. Because accountability enforces norms (Tetlock, 1992), the ingroupfavoring-norm explanation entails a larger discontinuity effect when accountability is present compared to when it is absent (Hypothesis 1). Results supported this first hypothesis. To be precise, when participants were accountable to others seated on their side of the laboratory (same-side others), intergroup interactions were significantly more competitive than interindividual interactions (the discontinuity effect). In the absence of such accountability, the discontinuity effect was not significant. This latter finding suggests that being part of a three-person group that shares earnings (i.e., outcome interdependence) per se may not be sufficient to induce the discontinuity effect. Although outcome interdependence renders salient the injunctive ingroup-favoring norm, accountability is required to enforce this norm.

Examining our findings from a different angle, we found that accountability increased intergroup competition, replicating prior research in PDG (Wildschut et al., 2002; Pinter et al., 2007) and bargaining (Pruitt and Carnevale, 1993) contexts. Matters were more complex in the interindividual context. Based on the notion that interindividual interactions are guided by norms of fairness and reciprocity (Cohen et al., 2010), we predicted that accountability would reduce interindividual competition. However, we also considered the alternative possibility that accountability could enforce a norm of self-interest (Ratner and Miller, 2001), thereby increasing competition. Results revealed that accountability neither decreased nor increased interindividual competition and, thus, neither prediction received support. This null finding could indicate that both predictions are correct and cancel-out each other. That is, in interindividual contexts, accountability may enforce norms

³We also conducted a parallel mediation analysis, in which we included simultaneously all six mediators for which the interaction type main effect was significant (i.e., descriptive and injunctive competitive norm, Max Rel, Fear, Min Dif, and Max Joint). In this analysis, the Accountability × Injunctive Norm interaction remained significant, F(1,120) = 4.19, p = 0.043. Accountability did not significantly moderate the partial association of any other mediator with competition (ps > 0.076). In the parallel mediation analysis, the indirect effect of interaction type on competition via the injunctive competitive norm became marginal in the public condition (ab = 0.08, SE = 0.05, 90% CI = 0.01/0.19) and remained non-significant in the private condition (ab = -0.03, SE = 0.04, 90% CI = -0.09/0.03). We suspect that the slightly weaker evidence for the injunctive norm in these parallel mediation analyses is due to the inclusion of multiple correlated mediators and resultant multicollinearity.

TABLE 2 | Conditional process analyses: testing the effect of accountability on the magnitude of the mediators' association with competition (Effect A \times C).

							Mediator					
	Ма	x Rel	F	ear	Mi	n Dif	Мах	Joint		criptive itive norm	-	nctive tive norm
	F	p	F	p	F	Р	F	p	F	p	F	p
Accountability (A)	4.90	0.029	3.87	0.051	4.87	0.029	5.95	0.016	2.30	0.132	3.33	0.070
nteraction type (B)	2.36	0.127	7.94	0.006	6.22	0.014	2.42	0.122	4.11	0.045	1.79	0.183
Α×Β	3.18	0.077	5.40	0.022	2.38	0.126	3.04	0.084	4.12	0.045	0.62	0.434
Mediator (C)	29.75	< 0.001	21.48	< 0.001	56.00	< 0.001	106.07	< 0.001	13.28	< 0.001	17.25	< 0.001
Α×C	0.01	0.903	0.08	0.773	0.67	0.416	2.13	0.146	0.00	0.972	3.92	0.049

The dependent variable in each analysis is competitive choice. Denominator degrees of freedom equal 131. For analyses involving the descriptive competitive norm, denominator degrees of freedom equal 130 due to one missing value.

of fairness and equality, as well as the opposing norm of selfinterest. This is what McDougall (1920, p. 79) may have had in mind when he wrote that, in the absence of a "group spirit," the "egoistic and the altruistic tendencies of each man's nature [are in] in perpetual conflict." Future research could examine how different individuals weigh these contrasting tendencies. Perhaps the norm of self-interest is more salient to high-narcissists, who value agency over communion, whereas norms of fairness and reciprocity are more salient to low-narcissists, who value communion over agency (Horton and Sedikides, 2009; Hart et al., 2011). If so, accountability should increase interindividual competition among high-narcissists but reduce it among low-narcissists.

Another possible explanation for the absence of a significant accountability effect in the interindividual context is that the accountability manipulation was less impactful there. The manipulation check data indicate that, regardless of interaction type, participants in the public (compared to private) condition expected their decisions to be identified by own-side others. However, we cannot rule out the possibility that the accountability manipulation had less impact on the subjective sense of accountability to own-side others in the interindividual (compared to intergroup) context. This is an important issue to consider in future research.

The conditional process analyses shed additional light on the role of accountability in interindividual and intergroup contexts. We hypothesized that an intergroup (compared to interindividual) context would render salient the ingroupfavoring norm, and that accountability would enhance the impact of this norm on competitive behavior (Hypothesis 2). Supporting this second hypothesis, participants in the intergroup (compared to interindividual) condition estimated that a greater number of same-side others would select the competitive choice (the descriptive competitive norm) and wanted them to select the competitive choice (the injunctive competitive norm). In addition, accountability strengthened the positive association between the injunctive (but not descriptive) competitive norm and competitive behavior. As a result, the discontinuity effect was mediated by an injunctive competitive norm when accountability was present but not when it was absent. The finding that accountability enforced injunctive norms only is consistent with

the idea that (a) injunctive (but not descriptive) norms relate to how behaviors are typically approved or disapproved (Cialdini et al., 1990) and (b) only when group members are accountable can their actions influence how they are evaluated by the ingroup (Deutsch and Gerard, 1955).

The conditional process analyses yielded no evidence that accountability bolstered the link between choice reasons and actual choice. Group members reported more concern with maximizing relative outcomes and fear than did individuals. Concern for maximizing relative outcomes and fear, in turn, predicted increased competition irrespective of accountability. Individuals reported more concern with maximizing joint outcomes and minimizing differences than did group members. In turn, concern for maximizing joint outcomes and minimizing differences predicted reduced competition irrespective of accountability (Table 2). Note that, even in the public condition, participants' stated choice reasons remained private. We think it is plausible that accountability would strengthen the association between publicly stated choice reasons and behavior because (a) actors whose publicly stated reasons are inconsistent with their behavior (e.g., stating that one wishes to maximize joint outcomes but selecting a competitive choice) would be seen as hypocritical (Barden et al., 2005; Alicke et al., 2013) and (b) such consistency (vs. inconsistency) can only be assessed when accountability is present (i.e., in the public condition). This is another avenue for future research.

Broader Implications

Although these findings provide evidence for the postulated ingroup-favoring norm, one could argue that when a person influences the welfare of other group members and is accountable to them, it is simply rational to take their interests into account to gain their approval and avoid sanctions. Relevant to this point, Thibaut and Kelley (1959) proposed that norms arise from rationality. They illustrated this idea with an example of a husband and wife who like to go out together on weekends. Unfortunately, the wife prefers to go dancing, whereas the husband prefers to go to the movies. Thibaut and Kelley (1959) suggested that the couple can resolve this conflict of interest and maximize joint outcomes over time by alternating between jointly going to the movies on 1 weekend and jointly going dancing on the next weekend. What is a rational solution at first may then become normative over time, and hence, rationality and norms may become confounded. Thibaut and Kelley's (1959) general argument is compatible with Bentham's (1789/1879) and Mill's (1863) concept of utilitarianism—that norms arise from what is the greatest good for the greatest number.

The concept of an ingroup-favoring norm may also shed light on the question of how individual preferences are combined to reach group decisions. Using a social decision scheme approach, Morgan and Tindale (2002) examined social influence processes within three-person groups by asking group members to make individual PDG choices before engaging in a discussion to reach consensus regarding a group decision. They found that when the individual preferences indicated unanimity among the three group members, the final group decision almost always corresponded to these individual preferences. When the group members' individual decisions were not unanimous, however, an interesting asymmetry occurred. Whereas a competitive group decision was reached in 91% of cases when all but one group member had initially indicated a competitive preference, a cooperative group choice was only reached in 48% of cases when all but one group member had initially indicated a cooperative preference. That is, whereas majorities favoring competition were rarely persuaded to change their view, majorities favoring cooperation were persuaded to change their view in most cases. Morgan and Tindale (2002, p. 49) interpreted these asymmetric social influence patterns in terms of shared task representations or "any task/situation relevant concept, norm, perspective, processing goal, or strategy that is shared by most or all of the group members." They proposed that when arguments are stated that are consistent with a shared task representation, even majority members can be influenced to change their initial position. We think that the ingroup-favoring norm is central to group members' shared task representation when there is a conflict of interest with an out-group.

Limitations and Future Directions

Before generalizing from these findings, it is important to keep in mind that the sample consisted exclusively of Western, female undergraduates. The question whether culture has a bearing on the role of accountability in interindividual and intergroup contexts presents a fruitful direction for future research. A primary dimension on which cultures and their members can be differentiated is individualismcollectivism (Hofstede, 1980). In individualistic cultures (such as the UK, where we conducted the present experiment), the independent, agentic self predominates. In collectivist cultures, the interdependent, communal self predominates (Triandis,

REFERENCES

- Adams, J. S. (1976). "The structure and dynamics of behaviour in organization boundary roles," in *Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, ed. M. D. Dunnette (Chicago, IL: Rand McNally), 1175–1199.
- Alicke, M., Gordon, E., and Rose, D. (2013). Hypocrisy: what counts? *Philos. Psychol.* 26, 673–701. doi: 10.1080/09515089.2012.677397

Allport, F. (1924). Social Psychology. Boston, MA: Houghton Mifflin.

1989). Gelfand and Realo (1999) showed that, in the context of intergroup bargaining, accountability increased competition between group representatives with low levels of collectivism (as in the present experiment with UK participants) but increased cooperation between those with high levels of collectivism. Their findings suggest that the catalytic effect of accountability on interindividual-intergroup discontinuity may be stronger in individualistic than collectivistic cultures.

Nonetheless, there are important differences between the PDG and the tasks employed by Gelfand and Realo (1999). They investigated a combination of distributive (i.e., zero-sum) and integrative bargaining scenarios. Schopler et al. (2001) proposed that, in zero-sum situations, there is no one choice that benefits both players. Because this is true for interactions between groups and interactions between individuals, there is no reason to expect a discontinuity effect in a distributive bargaining context. They further noted that, when an integrative solution is available, mutual cooperation benefits both players more than mutual competition. Because this is true for relations between groups and relations between individuals, there is no reason to expect a discontinuity effect in an integrative bargaining context either. Consistent with these arguments, Schopler et al. (2001) demonstrated that the discontinuity effect arises when, as in the PDG, mutual cooperation benefits both players whereas competition benefits one player over the other (also see Wildschut et al., 2003). Whether Gelfand and Realo's (1999) evidence for the moderating role of individualism-collectivism generalizes to a PDG context is an important question for future research.

Finally, we recruited exclusively female participants because (a) we decided to limit our experiment to same-gender interactions (to eliminate gender composition of experimental sessions as a source of random error) and (b) females vastly outnumber males in our participant pool (\sim 8:1). To the best of our knowledge, there is no systematic evidence to suggest that gender moderates the effect of accountability in either interindividual or intergroup contexts. Nonetheless, future research on this topic would do well to study both males and females.

Coda

The present findings add to our understanding of why intergroup relations are often more antagonistic and violent than are interindividual relations: accountability enforces parochialism in intergroup contexts. We hope that these and other advances will provide a basis for effective interventions aimed at promoting intergroup cooperation and harmony.

- Barden, J., Rucker, D., and Petty, R. E. (2005). "Saying one thing and doing another": examining the impact of event order on hypocrisy judgments of others. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 31, 1463–1474. doi: 10.1177/0146167205276430
- Baron, J. (2001). Confusion of group-interest and self-interest in parochial cooperation on behalf of (a)group. J. Conflict Resolut. 45, 283–296. doi: 10.1177/0022002701045003002
- Baron, R. M., and Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator-mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: conceptual, strategic, and statistical

considerations. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 51, 1173-1182. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.51.6.1173

- Bentham, J. (1789/1879). An Introduction to the Principles of Morals and Legislation. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Choi, J.-K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Cialdini, R. B., Reno, R. R., and Kallgren, C. A. (1990). A focus theory of normative conduct: recycling the concept of norms to reduce littering in public places. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 58, 1015–1026. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.58. 6.1015
- Cohen, T. R., Montoya, R. M., and Insko, C. A. (2006). Group morality and intergroup relations: Cross-cultural and experimental evidence. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 32, 1559–1572. doi: 10.1177/0146167206291673
- Cohen, T. R., Wildschut, T., and Insko, C. A. (2010). How communication increases interpersonal cooperation in mixed-motive situations. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 46, 39–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2009.09.009
- De Cremer, D., Snyder, M., and Dewitte, S. (2001). "The less I trust, the less I contribute (or not)?": the effects of trust, accountability, and selfmonitoring in social dilemmas. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 31, 321–333. doi: 10.1002/ ejsp.34
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Balliet, D., and Halevy, N. (2014). Parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup conflict. *Adv. Motiv. Sci.* 1, 1–47. doi: 10.1016/bs.adms.2014.08.001
- Deutsch, M., and Gerard, H. B. (1955). A study of normative and informational social influences upon individual judgment. J. Abnorm. Soc. Psychol. 51, 629– 636. doi: 10.1037/h0046408
- Druckman, D. (1994). Nationalism, patriotism, and group loyalty: a social psychological perspective. *Mershon Int. Stud. Rev.* 38, 43–68. doi: 10.2307/222610
- Edwards, J. R., and Lambert, L. S. (2007). Methods for integrating moderation and mediation: a general analytical framework using moderated path analysis. *Psychol. Methods* 12, 1–22. doi: 10.1037/1082-989X.12.1.1
- Gelfand, M. J., and Realo, A. (1999). Individualism-collectivism and accountability in intergroup negotiations. J. Appl. Psychol. 84, 721–736. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.84.5.721
- Gouldner, A. W. (1960). The norm of reciprocity. Am. Sociol. Rev. 25, 161–178. doi: 10.2307/2092623
- Hart, C. M., Sedikides, C., Wildschut, T., Arndt, J., Routledge, C., and Vingerhoets, A. J. J. M. (2011). Nostalgic recollections of high and low narcissists. J. Res. Pers. 45, 238–242. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2011.01.002
- Hayes, A. F. (2013). Introduction to Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Analysis. A Regression-based Approach. New York, NY: Guilford.
- Hobbes, T. (1660/1983). Leviathan. London: J. M. Dent & Sons.
- Hofstede, G. (1980). Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work Related Values. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Horton, R. S., and Sedikides, C. (2009). Narcissistic responding to ego threat: when the status of the evaluator matters. *J. Pers.* 77, 1493–1525. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.2009.00590.x
- Insko, C. A., Kirchner, J. L., Pinter, B., Efaw, J., and Wildschut, T. (2005). Interindividual-intergroup discontinuity as a function of trust and categorization: the paradox of expected cooperation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 88, 365–385. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.88.2.365
- Insko, C. A., Schopler, J., Gaertner, L., Wildschut, T., Kozar, R., Pinter, B., et al. (2001). Interindividual-intergroup discontinuity reduction through the anticipation of future interaction. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 80, 95–111. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.80.1.95
- Insko, C. A., Wildschut, T., and Cohen, T. R. (2013). Interindividual-intergroup discontinuity in the prisoner's dilemma game: how common fate, proximity, and similarity affect intergroup competition. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 120, 168–180. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2012.07.004
- Le Bon, G. (1895/1896). The Crowd. London: Unwin.
- Lerner, J. S., and Tetlock, P. E. (1999). Accounting for the effects of accountability. *Psychol. Bull.* 125, 255–275. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.125.2.255
- Loschelder, D. D., and Trötschel, R. (2010). Overcoming the competitiveness of an intergroup context: third-party intervention in intergroup negotiations. *Group Processes Intergroup Relat.* 13, 795–815. doi: 10.1177/1368430210374482
- Machiavelli, N. (1515/1952). *The prince (L. Ricci & E. R. P. Vincent, Trans.*). New York: The New American Library.

McDougall. (1920). The Group Mind. London: Cambridge University Press.

- Mill, J. S. (1863). Utilitarianism. London: Parker, Son, & Bourn.
 Miller, D. T. (1999). The norm of self-interest. Am. Psychol. 54, 1053–1060. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.54.12.1053
- Miller, D. T., and Ratner, R. K. (1996). "The power of the myth of self-interest," in *Current Societal Issues in Justice*, eds L. Montada and M. J. Lerner (New York, NY: Plenum Press), 25–48.
- Miller, D. T., and Ratner, R. K. (1998). The disparity between the actual and the assumed power of self-interest. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 74, 53–62. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.74.1.53
- Morgan, P. M., and Tindale, R. S. (2002). Group vs individual performance in mixed-motive situations: exploring an inconsistency. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process. 87, 44–65. doi: 10.1006/obhd.2001.2952

Niebuhr, R. (1941). The Nature and Destiny of Man, Vol. 1. London: Nisbet & Co.

- Pemberton, M. B., Insko, C. A., and Schopler, J. (1996). Memory for and experience of differential competitive behavior of individuals, and groups. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 71, 953–966. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.71.5.953
- Pinter, B., Insko, C. A., Wildschut, T., Kirchner, J. L., Montoya, R. M., and Wolf, S. T. (2007). Reduction of interindividual-intergroup: the role of leader accountability and proneness to guilt. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 93, 250–265. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.93.2.250
- Plato. (1891). "Republic," in *The Dialogues of Plato*, Vol. 3, ed. and trans. B. Jowett (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 1–338.
- Prentice-Dunn, S., and Rogers, R. W. (1982). Effects of public and private selfawareness deindividuation and aggression. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 43, 503–513. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.43.3.503
- Pruitt, D. G., and Carnevale, P. J. (1993). Negotiation in Social Conflict. Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Ratner, R. K., and Miller, D. T. (2001). The norm of self-interest and its effect on social action. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 81, 5–16. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514. 81.1.5
- Reis, H. T., and Gruzen, J. (1976). On mediating equity, equality, and self-interest: the role of self-presentation in social exchange. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 12, 487–503. doi: 10.1016/0022-1031(76)90079-2
- Rusch, H. (2014). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. R. Soc. B* 281:20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1539
- Schlenker, B. R., and Weingold, M. F. (1989). "Self-identification and accountability," in *Impression Management in the Organization*, eds R. A. Giacalone and P. Rosenfeld (Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum), 21–44.
- Schopler, J., Insko, C. A., Wieselquist, J., Pemberton, M. B., Witcher, B., Kozar, R., et al. (2001). When groups are more competitive than individuals: the domain of the discontinuity effect. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 80, 632–644. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.80.4.632
- Schwartz-Shea, P., and Simmons, R. T. (1991). Egoism, parochialism, and universalism. *Rational. Soc.* 3, 106–132. doi: 10.1177/10434631910030 01007
- Sedikides, C., Herbst, K. C., Hardin, D. P., and Dardis, G. J. (2002). Accountability as adeterrent to self-enhancement: the search for mechanisms. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 83, 592–605. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.83.3.592
- Semin, G. R., and Manstead, A. S. R. (1983). The Accountability of Conduct: A Social Psychological Analysis. London: Academic Press.
- Takemura, K., and Yuki, M. (2007). Are Japanese groups more competitive than Japanese individuals? A cross-cultural validation of the interindividualintergroup discontinuity effect. *Int. J. Psychol.* 42, 27–35. doi: 10.1080/00207590500411534
- Tetlock, P. E. (1992). "The impact of accountability on judgment and choice: toward a social contingency model," in Advances in Experimental Social Psychology, Vol. 25, ed. M. P. Zanna (New York: Academic Press), 331–376.
- Thibaut, J., and Kelley, H. H. (1959). *The Social Psychology of Groups*. New York: Wiley.
- Thibaut, J. W., and Walker, L. (1975). *Procedural Justice: A Psychological Analysis*. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Triandis, H. C. (1989). The self and social behaviour in differing cultural contexts. *Psychol. Rev.* 96, 506–520. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.96.3.506
- Wildschut, T., and Insko, C. A. (2006). "A paradox of individual and group morality: social psychology as empirical philosophy," in *Bridging Social*

Psychology: The Benefits of Transdiciplinary Approaches, ed. P. A. M. van Lange (Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum), 377–384.

- Wildschut, T., and Insko, C. A. (2007). Explanations of interindividual-intergroup discontinuity: a review of the evidence. *Eur. Rev. Soc. Psychol.* 18, 175–211. doi: 10.1080/10463280701676543
- Wildschut, T., Insko, C. A., and Gaertner, L. (2002). Intragroup social influence and intergroup competition. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 82, 975–992. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.82.6.975
- Wildschut, T., Insko, C. A., and Pinter, B. (2007). Interindividual-intergroup discontinuity as a joint function of acting as a group and interacting with a group. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 37, 390–199. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.374
- Wildschut, T., Lodewijkx, H. F. M., and Insko, C. A. (2001). Toward a reconciliation of diverging perspectives on interindividual-intergroup discontinuity: the role of procedural interdependence. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 37, 273–285. doi: 10.1006/jesp.2000.1452
- Wildschut, T., Pinter, B., Vevea, J. L., Insko, C. A., and Schopler, J. (2003). Beyond the group mind: a quantitative review of the interindividualintergroup discontinuity effect. *Psychol. Bull.* 129, 698–722. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.129.5.698

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Wildschut, van Horen and Hart. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Dying the right-way? Interest in and perceived persuasiveness of parochial extremist propaganda increases after mortality salience

Lena Frischlich¹*, Diana Rieger^{1,2}, Maia Hein³ and Gary Bente^{1,4}

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ² University of Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany, ³ Academia for Applied Psychology and Psychotherapy, Cologne, Germany, ⁴ Michigan State University, East Lansing, MI, USA

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert Böhm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

Reviewed by:

Simon Schindler, University of Kassel, Germany Benjamin P. Lange, University of Wuerzburg, Germany

*Correspondence:

Lena Frischlich, Department of Psychology, University of Cologne, Richard-Strauss-Straße 2, 50931 Cologne, Germany Iena.frischlich@uni-koeln.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 16 May 2015 **Accepted:** 03 August 2015 **Published:** 14 August 2015

Citation:

Frischlich L, Rieger D, Hein M and Bente G (2015) Dying the right-way? Interest in and perceived persuasiveness of parochial extremist propaganda increases after mortality salience. Front. Psychol. 6:1222. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01222 Research on parochial altruism demonstrated that hostility toward out-groups (parochialism) represents the dark side of the willingness to benefit one's in-group even at own costs (altruism). Parochial aggression thereby emerged mainly under conditions of threat. Extremist propaganda videos, for instance by right-wing extremists, try to capitalize on parochial altruistic mechanism by telling recipients sharing their national identity that this nation is under threat wherefore they for have to join the extremist's cause to prevent the extinction of their nation. Most of the time, propaganda videos are rated as uninteresting and non-persuasive by the target audience. Yet, evolutionary media psychology posits that the interest in and effectiveness of media increases when evolutionarily relevant problems are addressed. Consequently, interest in parochial altruistic right-wing extremist messages should increase under conditions of threat. The current study tested this assumption by randomly assigning German non-Muslims (N = 109) to either an existential threat (here: mortality salience) or a control condition and asking them to evaluate extremist propaganda that addressed them as either ingroup members (right-wing extremists) or as out-group members (Islamic extremists). In support of the hypotheses, subjects under conditions of threat reported a higher interest in the right-wing extremist propaganda and perceived it as more persuasive. We discuss the results concerning the implications for evolutionary media psychology and the transmission of parochial altruism in propaganda videos.

Keywords: Parochial altruism, mortality salience, right-wing extremism, propaganda, persuasion

Introduction

Extremist propaganda videos have become a frequent part of the contemporary online landscape. In Germany in particular, right-wing extremists such as the "Oldschool Society" and Islamic extremists such as the "Islamic State" use YouTube videos to target recipients who share their nationality or religion in order to gain new followers (Bayrisches Staatsministerium des Inneren für Bau und Verkehr, 2014). Via these videos, the propagandists try to convince the recipients that their nation (respectively, religion) is menaced by extinction (Godall, 2010; Halverson et al., 2011; Kruglanski et al., 2013) due to the "the system" or "the West" and that they have to join the propagandist's fight and be willing to risk life and limb to preserve their group.

The so propagated behaviors of supporting one's in-group members, even at the cost of one's own resources (altruism), and of aggressively fighting out-groups (parochialism) has gained substantial attention in recent years from evolutionary psychological research under the concept of parochial altruism (Choi and Bowles, 2007; Bowles, 2008). Evidence gathered in different research areas has demonstrated that parochial aggression toward out-groups and altruistic cooperation with in-group members are deeply interwoven (Bornstein and Erev, 1994; Rusch, 2014), whereby "people go to war" (Böhm et al., 2015) to defend their fellows. It is on this defense of those sharing one's national or religious identity against the "wicked enemy" that extremist propagators capitalize (Lasswell, 1927). Yet their open call for parochial aggression stands in sharp contrast to contemporary egalitarian norms (Pettigrew, 1995). And, of course, neither the majority of Germans nor the majority of Muslims shares the extremist propagators' attitudes (Decker et al., 2012; Frindte et al., 2012). Prior research demonstrated propaganda to be evaluated very negatively and recipients to deny the effects of propaganda (Arendt, 2015). Moreover, in contrast to the propagators' aims, propaganda was evaluated even more negatively when it was directed to the recipients' national or religious in-group (versus to another audience; Rieger et al., 2013). Nevertheless, single videos can raise interest and become viral (Glaser, 2013), and propaganda has been discussed as persuading individuals from radical ideologies (Dilanian and Bennett, 2013). Although interest in propaganda does not necessarily lead to radicalization, it is a necessary precondition for further exposure to such messages (McCauley and Moskalenko, 2008; Wilner and Dubouloz, 2009) and an initial step in a potential persuasion processes (Lewis, 1903).

In the current paper, we examined the effects of extremist propaganda from an evolutionary media psychological perspective. We built upon the assumption that media allows the recipient to simulate experiences relevant to his or her level of evolutionary fitness (Tooby and Cosmides, 2001) without "risking life and limb in the real world" (Schwab and Schwender, 2010, p. 31). Media features are recognizable as "design features of an evolved system whose biological function is learning" (Vorderer, 2006, p. 14). Following Schwab (2010) media pique interest when evolutionary problems, such as the threat by predators (Tooby and Cosmides, 2001) or hostile intergroup conflicts are displayed. Thus, the conditions under which parochial altruism increases-namely, the perception of threat and vulnerability (De Dreu et al., 2010; Rusch, 2014; Böhm et al., 2015)-most plausibly also increase the interest in parochial propaganda. Note that we do not suggest that recipients are "entertained" by propaganda such as by entertaining media (Ohler and Nieding, 2006). Instead, we assume that "media events are produced by people for people, they are geared to human needs" (Schwab and Schwender, 2010, p. 21). A larger effectiveness of propaganda thus should be mirrored in a higher perceived persuasiveness of these videos.

Parochial Altruism and the Role of Threat

From a Darwinian perspective human social behavior has developed throughout phylogenies via the adaptation to natural

conditions and in order to increase the individual's fitness and maximize its reproductive success (West et al., 2011). Acts of altruism (Hamilton, 1964a,b; Zahavi, 1995) and parochial aggression toward out-groups (Choi and Bowles, 2007) are both puzzling, as they can impair individuals' fitness by reducing resources and hampering lucrative trading. Theories that take only an individual-level perspective on altruistic (or aggressive) behavior such as *kin selection* (Hamilton, 1964b; Riolo et al., 2001) or *reciprocal altruism* (Trivers, 1971; Axelrod and Hamilton, 1981) have failed to explain altruism to non-kin, such as the behavior called for by extremist propaganda, when reciprocation is unlikely.

Recent theories on parochial altruism are more promising for explaining, for instance, self-sacrifices in the name of one's religion (Ginges and Atran, 2009; Ginges et al., 2009) or nation (De Dreu et al., 2014). In contrast to prior theories, the concept of parochial altruism considers both the intragroup and the intergroup level of behavior (Arrow, 2007). Humans are social animals, and group membership increases their odds for survival throughout phylogenies far beyond what would have been possible for a single individual (De Dreu et al., 2014). Thus, humans' self-interest evolved mitigated by their group membership (Brewer and Carporael, 2006). On the intragroup level, altruistic individuals have a lower direct fitness (because altruism is costly). On the intergroup level, however, altruistic individuals increase the fitness of the group by investing more in that group and therewith increase the individuals' indirect fitness (Arrow, 2007). Choi and Bowles (2007) provided evidence for this assumption by simulating groups of agents (tolerant versus parochial, altruistic versus selfish) that interacted with each other over thousands of generations under conditions likely to represent human interactions in early times of humankind. Violent conflicts in this simulation were likely when parochialists formed the majority of at least one group in that interaction. Furthermore, only parochial altruists ("warriors") actively engaged in intergroup fighting (non-altruists would not be willing to do the fighting themselves, and tolerant others would prefer to peacefully interact with the out-group). The results demonstrated that groups with more parochial altruists not only engaged in more conflicts but also tended to win these wars. The societies that emerged within this simulation were stable when parochial altruists or selfish but tolerant trades formed the majority.

Of note, the willingness to parochially aggress out-groups has been observed mainly under conditions of conflict (Bornstein et al., 2002; Halevy et al., 2008; Abbink et al., 2012) when subjects perceived themselves as vulnerable (Böhm et al., 2015), wanted to protect their in-group members (Rusch, 2014), or wanted to sanction someone who had threatened their fellows before (Bernhard et al., 2006). For instance, De Dreu et al. (2010) found subjects to preemptively strike against out-group members in an intergroup prisoner dilemma only when they feared that their in-group would lose resources due to future outgroup actions. This is highly compatible with social psychological research demonstrating how threat motivates intergroup biases (Hewstone et al., 2002).

Beyond threats to concrete in-group members, symbolic threats (Stephan et al., 2000; Hewstone et al., 2002; Hogg et al., 2010) can also foster parochial altruism. In particular, research inspired by terror management theory (Greenberg et al., 1986) repeatedly demonstrated existential threats resulting from reminders of one's own mortality (mortality salience, MS) to increase the acceptance of parochially altruistic in-group members (for a review, see Pyszczynski et al., 2008). For instance, Greenberg et al. (2001) demonstrated that, in the absence of MS, white Americans evaluated a white American who claimed to be "proud of being white" as more racist than someone who claimed to be "proud of being black." This effect disappeared under conditions of MS. Similarly, Pyszczynski et al. (2006) found US participants to be more accepting of violent military attacks on Muslim out-group members, and Iranian students to offer a more favorable evaluation of someone expressing parochial altruistic anti-US and pro-martyrdom attitudes under conditions of MS.

With its parochially altruistic content, extremist propaganda most plausibly reaches its targeted audience only after a perceived threat has made these recipients vulnerable to the parochially aggressive narrative. We tested this assumption by conceptually replicating the study by Rieger et al. (2013) on the evaluation of right-wing extremist and Islamic extremist propaganda videos. More precisely, we compared the effects of MS versus a control topic on the evaluation of these propaganda videos in a German student sample. Rieger et al. (2013) found German students to report less interest in and persuasiveness of right-wing extremist as compared to Islamic extremist propaganda, but we predicted that, under conditions of threat, German students would report increased interest (H1) in the right-wing extremist propaganda and perceive the videos as more persuasive (H2). Moreover, increased interest should be positively associated with an increased persuasiveness ascribed to these videos (H3).

Beyond our central questions, our study also had a pair of secondary objectives. First, we expected the effects of MS to represent a general response to parochial altruistic propaganda addressing them as in-group members via their nationality. Consequently, we expected the effects to explain additional variance beyond political or ideological attitudes (e.g., authoritarianism) that have been reported previously to predict interest in extreme ideologies (Altemeyer and Hunsberger, 1992; Fuchs, 2003; Sibley and Duckitt, 2008; Rieger et al., 2013). Second, we wanted to check for gender differences. Prior research often relied on male samples for studying parochial altruism (De Dreu, 2012) or the effects of extremist propaganda (Rieger et al., 2013). Studies including both genders report mixed results. Some studies find stronger parochial aggression among males (Yuki and Yokota, 2009) and parochial aggression to be positively associated with levels of testosterone (Reimers and Diekhof, 2015). Other studies report no gender differences in the acceptance of parochial altruism (Ginges et al., 2009). Finally, Rieger et al. (2013) identified three more factors on which the evaluation of extremist propaganda varied: shame and aversion after the reception and the one-sidedness ascribed to the propaganda videos. They report German students to respond with increased levels of shame to right-wing extremist videos and

to evaluate these videos as more one-sided than Islamic extremist videos (aversion ratings did not differ). We wanted to explore whether MS would attenuate these findings.

Materials and Methods

We examined our predictions by presenting German students under conditions of MS (versus a control topic) with parochially altruistic extremist propaganda, addressing them as in-group members (through right-wing extremist videos targeting "the Germans") or as out-group members (through Islamic extremist videos targeting "the Muslims"). The last factor served as a within-subjects factor.

Sample

G*Power calculated that a sample of N = 92 would be necessary to prove the smallest effect size observed by Rieger et al. (2013) for interest in right-wing extremist propaganda (r = 0.19). A total of 114 subjects finished our study (drop out n = 33). To hold the group association between sender and recipient constant, we recruited only subjects who were born in Germany and did not self-identify as Muslims. Five participants did not fulfill these sampling criteria and were excluded from the analyses. The remaining N = 109 (all German non-Muslims, 18 male) were on average 25.17 years old (SD = 6.34). The majority of them (94.4%) were students, while the remaining participants were already in the workforce. Gender, current profession (both $\chi^2 > 1$), and age (F < 1) did not vary depending on condition. The majority of our participants self-classified as Christians (74%) or atheists (23%); three subjects reported "another" religion. Religion was equally distributed among conditions, $\chi_{\text{exact}}^2(3) = 3.50, p > 0.20$. On an 11-point scale (0 = "totally" unimportant," 10 = "totally important") subjects rated their religion as rather unimportant for them (M = 3.08, SD = 2.81). Only two of the participants rated religion as "totally important" to them. Relevance of religion did not vary between conditions, F < 1. On a 10-point scale (1 = "left-wing," 10 = "right-wing"), subjects were rather left-wing oriented (M = 4.20, SD = 1.38). None of the participants was extremely right-wing oriented (Range 1-8). Political attitudes did not vary between conditions, F < 1.

Procedure and Materials

Subjects were invited via German university mailing lists to participate in an online experiment about "political videos on YouTube." We rewarded them with the opportunity to participate in a lottery for two Amazon.de vouchers, each worth 30ε . At the beginning of the questionnaire, subjects confirmed that they were over 18 years old and that they had read, understood, and accepted the ethical consent form. Afterward, they answered a set of demographic (age, nationality, religious identity, political attitude) and attitudinal questionnaires. To confirm that the effects we found were not solely attributable to interpersonal differences associated with hostile intergroup attitudes, subjects filled out a measure of *authoritarianism* (Petzel et al., 1997); *violence acceptance* (Wagner et al., 2002); *anomia*, their feeling of value lost (Fuchs, 2003); and *self-esteem* (Rosenberg, 1965). Subsequently, subjects were randomly assigned to either the MS or a control condition.

Salience Manipulation

Participants in the MS condition (n = 57) answered the standard two open-ended questions used in terror management research: (1) "Please briefly describe the emotions that the thought of your own death arouses in you." (2) "Please describe, as specifically as you can, what you think will happen to you as you physically die and once you are physically dead" (Rosenblatt et al., 1989). Participants in the control condition (n = 41) were given the same instructions, but the references to death were replaced with references to "failing an exam" (Monin, 2009).

Delay

Mortality salience affects intergroup attitudes only distally to death reminders, when the death-related thoughts are no longer in focal attention (Pyszczynski et al., 1999). Hence, to enable their distal defense subjects worked on a set of 35 raven matrices (Raven, 1998) before the next part of the experiment started.

Video Exposure

After the last matrix, participants watched two blocks of extremist videos in randomized order. Each block comprised three videos, either from right-wing extremists (total duration 07:58 min.) or from Islamic extremists (total duration 07:36 min.). We held the formats of the videos constant between the ideologies. We selected the videos from the database by Rieger et al. (2013). The videos in this database did not show explicit depictions of physical violence (such as beheadings) and were approved by the ethics committee of the German Federal Crime Police Office prior to data collection in their studies. Subjects in our study saw one *talking head lifestyle activist* video, one *movie clip* video, and one *extreme clip* video (see Supplementary Table S1, for a summary of their content).

Dependent Measures

Participants rated each video on the five scales that Rieger et al. (2013) introduced. The scales measured the participants' *interest* (e.g., "The video was interesting") in the videos, the videos' *perceived persuasiveness* (e.g., "After the video, I can understand the perspective of its producers better"), and the level of *shame* ("During the reception I felt shame") triggered by the video. Furthermore, we also measured subjects' level of *aversion* during the reception (e.g., "During the reception I felt disgust") and the *one-sidedness* ascribed to the video (e.g., "The video was sensational"), to ensure conditions similar to those in the studies by Rieger et al. (2013). Each of the 14 total items was evaluated on a four-point scale (1 = "totally not," 4 = "totally").

Check for Suspicion

Finally, subjects were checked for suspicion and watched a video debriefing (05:06 min) by the first author, supplemented by a written debriefing and the author's contact details.

Results

Data Aggregation

To ensure that participants had watched the videos, we subtracted the actual length of the video from the time subjects spent on the corresponding page. Subjects who did not watch the whole video received a negative difference; subjects who proceeded with the video after its end received a positive value (due to the response latency between the end of the video and the key pressure). To control for outliers, these scores were then z-standardized. Subjects with a negative value or with z > 3 were treated as missing values for the respective video evaluation. Following the procedure by Rieger et al. (2013), we then computed mean scores for each of the dependent variables per ideology, resulting in one value per scale for both the right-wing extremist and the Islamic extremist videos. For the perceived persuasiveness ratings, the internal consistency for the aggregated right-wing extremist as well as the Islamic extremist videos was slightly questionable, both $\alpha = 0.65$. All other scales $\alpha > 0.70.$

Preliminary Analyses

We first examined the association of the included variables with each other via Pearson correlations. Political attitude, anomia, and violence acceptance were not significantly associated with the dependent variables, all r < 0.20, hence these variables were excluded from the analyses thereafter (Field, 2013). Preliminary analyses of variance (ANOVAs) using the participants' characteristics as dependent variables revealed that subjects in the MS as compared to the control condition reported lower levels of self-esteem, F(1,107) = 8.24, p < 0.05, r = 0.27. Consequently, the assumptions of analysis of covariance were not met (Field, 2013). Subjects did not differ regarding their level of authoritarianism, F < 0.1.

Based on these findings, we analyzed the video evaluation via separate hierarchical regression analyses (see Weise et al., 2008 for a similar approach). Block 1 contained all variables measuring interindividual differences (*z*-standardized) following the recommendation that predictors based on prior research should be entered first to partialize their effects out before the predictive value of the experimental manipulation is assessed (Field, 2013). Condition (dummy coded, 0 = control, 1 = MS) was entered in Block 2. To assess potential moderations, the two-way interactions between condition, authoritarianism, and self-esteem were entered in Block 3. Parameter estimates were based on 1000 bootstrap samples. The results for the simplest model including only condition as a predictor are provided in the Supplementary Table S2.

Hypotheses Testing

Regarding interest in the right-wing extremist videos, interindividual differences (Block 1) and their interactions with the condition (Block 3) failed to explain variance. As predicted in H1, condition (Block 2) significantly predicted interest, $F_{\text{change}}(1,96) = 4.27$, p < 0.05. Subjects under conditions of MS reported more interest in the right-wing extremist propaganda than did subjects in the control condition. None of

the models explained the interest in the Islamic extremist videos, all $p \ge 0.20$.

Hypothesis 2 predicted that subjects under conditions of MS would perceive the in-group propaganda as being more persuasive. Block 1 (containing the interindividual differences) reached significance, $F_{change}(4,94) = 3.17$, p < 0.05. Higher levels of authoritarianism predicted higher perceived persuasiveness of the right-wing extremist videos. What is more relevant, Block 2 also reached significance, $F_{change}(1,93) = 6.92$, p = 0.01. Subjects in the MS condition perceived the extremist in-group messages to be more persuasive than did control subjects. The effect of authoritarianism remained stable. Block 3 failed to explain further variance (see **Table 1**). None of the models explained the perceived persuasiveness of the Islamic extremist videos, all $p \ge 0.20$.

In line with the expectation formulated in H3, correlational analyses showed that interest and perceived persuasiveness for the right-wing extremist videos were strongly associated in the MS condition = 0.67, p < 0.001, and had a lower but still significant association in the control condition, r = 0.30, p < 0.05.

Additional Analyses

Following the procedure by Rieger et al. (2013), our study also included measures of shame, aversion, and one-sidedness. MS had no effects, however, on either reported aversion or onesidedness ascribed to the videos. Regarding shame after the rightwing extremist videos, only Block 2 (condition) reached marginal significance, $R_{change}^2 = 0.04$, $F_{change}(1,93) = 3.70$, p < 0.06. Subjects in the MS condition reported more shame after the right-wing extremist messages than did subjects in the control condition (b = 0.22, SE = 0.10, $\beta = 0.20$, CI [-0.33, 0.05]; see Supplementary Table S3). All other models failed to reach significance, all p > 0.20. Shame reported after the Islamic extremist videos, in contrast, was significantly predicted by Block 1, $R^2 = 0.13$, $F_{\text{change}}(4,93) = 3.39$, p = 0.01. Higher self-esteem predicted lower levels of shame (b = -0.30, SE = 0.08, $\beta = -0.36$, CI [-0.45, -0.13]). All other models failed to reach significance, all $p \ge 0.20$. Pearson correlations showed that shame had a moderate association with interest, r = 0.33, p < 0.05, and perceived persuasiveness, r = 0.43, p < 0.001, in the MS condition but not in the control condition (all p > 0.10).

The results so far suggest that interest and shame might increase the perceived persuasiveness of the videos. We explored this idea via a mediation analysis using the PROCESS macro by Hayes (2012). We entered condition as a predictor variable (0 = control, 1 = MS), interest and shame as mediators, and authoritarianism as covariate (*z*-standardized). The results showed that the effect of MS on the perceived persuasiveness of the right-wing propaganda was significantly mediated by interest, ab = 0.08, SE = 0.06, CI [0.002, 0.21], but also by shame, ab = 0.04, SE = 0.03, CI [0.005, 0.12]. The contrast between these two failed to reach significance, C₁ = 0.03, SE = 0.07, CI [-0.07, 0.18]. Meanwhile, the total effect of MS on perceived persuasiveness was significant; the direct effect when both mediators were included was only marginally significant (see **Figure 1**).

Discussion

Right-wing extremists and Islamic extremists propagate parochial altruism to recipients sharing their national or religious identity via Internet videos. Evolutionary media psychology posits that the response to media content works on evolutionary mechanics, whereby media content displaying evolutionary relevant problems (such as parochial altruism in hostile intergroup interactions) creates larger interest (Tooby and Cosmides, 2001; Schwab and Schwender, 2010). Drawing upon research finding that threats increase parochial altruistic behavior in humans, we predicted that existential threats-namely, reminders of one's mortality-would increase the interest in and the perceived persuasiveness of extremist propaganda. Overall, the results confirmed our expectations. German students reported an increased interest in right-wing extremist videos under conditions of MS (Hypothesis 1) and ascribed these videos a larger persuasiveness (Hypothesis 2). Interest and perceived persuasiveness were positively associated (Hypothesis 3). Moreover, additional mediation analyses demonstrated that interest partially mediated the association between MS and perceived persuasiveness. The effects of MS emerged after interpersonal differences in factors such as authoritarianism, self-esteem, or gender were partialized out, underlining the assumption that the response to parochial altruistic in-group members represents a general mechanism. Overall, our findings confirm prior research on parochial aggression (De Dreu et al., 2010; Rusch, 2013; Böhm et al., 2015) and the acceptance of parochially aggressive in-group members (Pyszczynski et al., 2006; Kugler and Cooper, 2010) after MS, and extended these findings to the area of media psychology. Further, MS did not affect the response toward the Islamic extremist videos underlining the crucial role of being addressed as in-group member (and not, for instance, the interest in extremist messages per se (Hogg, 2014).

Beyond our predictions, we also found MS to increase participants' levels of shame after exposure to propaganda videos addressing the recipient as an in-group member. Shame further partially mediated the effects of MS on the perceived persuasiveness of the videos. Albeit prior evidence on the relationship between shame and hostile intergroup attitudes is somewhat mixed (Brown et al., 2008; Piff et al., 2012), our results confirm studies showing that shame can motivate parochial aggression (Tangney et al., 1992; Lickel et al., 2005). Nevertheless, the bootstrapped confidence intervals encompassed zero, so our findings should be interpreted cautiously and future studies exploring the role of shame in more detail are necessary.

Overall, our results are meaningful on both a theoretical and an applied level. On a theoretical level, they transfer the perspective of parochial altruism to media psychology. In so doing, they extend earlier theories by showing that not only entertainment (Ohler and Nieding, 2006; Schwab, 2007) but also the response to hostile media evolved from evolutionary adaptive processes. In light of our results, propaganda might be the medium that makes "people go to war" (Böhm et al., 2015). Moreover, our results fit current communication research demonstrating that media satisfy basic human needs (Bartsch

			Block 1					Block 2					Block 3		
	q	E	Ч	SE	B	q	E	Ч	SE	8	q	F	Ч	SE	æ
Constant	1.68	1.43	1.98	0.14		1.53	1.28	1.82	0.14		1.53	1.26	1.82	0.14	
Age	0.00	-0.11	0.13	0.06	0.00	0.00	-0.12	0.12	0.06	0.00	-0.01	-0.13	0.12	0.06	-0.01
Gender	0.02	-0.31	0:30	0.16	0.01	0.02	-0.29	0:30	0.15	0.01	0.01	-0.29	0:30	0.16	0.01
Authoritarianism	0.15	-0.08	0.35	0.11	0.15	0.16	-0.08	0.36	0.11	0.16	0.13	-0.23	0.54	0.19	0.12
Self-Esteem	-0.04	-0.20	0.15	0.09	-0.05	0.00	-0.15	0.18	0.09	0.00	0.07	-0.22	0.32	0.13	0.08
MS versus Control						0.25	0.004	0.46	0.12	0.21*	0.26	-0.02	0.47	0.12	0.22*
$MS \times Authoritarianism$											0.05	-0.47	0.52	0.24	0.04
$MS \times Self-Esteem$											-0.10	-0.40	0:30	0.18	-0.09
			$R^{2} = 0.02$				Rct	$R_{\text{change}}^2 = 0.04^*$	24 *			E E	$R_{\text{change}}^2 = 0.00$	00.0	
Constant	1.46	1.30	1.615	0.08		1.33	1.15	1.49	0.09		1.34	1.16	1.52	0.09	
Age	-0.02	-0.13	0.075	0.05	-0.04	-0.02	-0.13	0.07	0.05	-0.05	-0.02	-0.14	0.07	0.05	-0.05
Gender	0.09	-0.10	0.281	0.10	0.07	0.09	-0.08	0.28	0.09	0.07	0.09	-0.08	0:30	0.10	0.07
Authoritarianism	0.24	0.06	0.410	0.09	0.31**	0.25	0.07	0.41	0.08	0.32**	0.20	-0.06	0.44	0.13	0.26
Self-Esteem	-0.07	-0.21	0.066	0.07	-0.11	-0.03	-0.16	0.09	0.06	-0.05	-0.06	-0.34	0.16	0.13	-0.09
MS versus Control						0.23	0.07	0.38	0.08	0.26**	0.22	0.05	0.38	0.08	0.25**
$MS \times Authoritarianism$											0.07	-0.27	0.42	0.17	0.07
$MS \times Self-Esteem$											0.05	-0.22	0.37	0.15	0.06
			R2 - 0 12*					2 0.06*	***				R 2 000		



and Schneider, 2014; Roth et al., 2014). Our study suggests that incorporating evolved needs into such theory building might enhance our understanding of media consumption and effects.

Moreover, our findings add to the growing evidence that media serve an anxiety-buffering function (Rieger et al., 2015). Notably, even under conditions of threat, subjects did not react enthusiastically to the propaganda messages; the effects remained small. Yet our finding matches prior studies showing that individuals (in experimental research) overall are not very hostile toward out-group members at all; instead, parochial aggression manifested, for instance, in the refusal to help outgroup members (Weisel and Böhm, 2015). Luckily, the exclusive reliance on parochial altruistic behaviors is relatively seldom (De Dreu et al., 2015).

Nevertheless, not all individuals have to serve as "warriors" in intergroup conflicts; accepting them as the dominant group also allows them to foster violent intergroup encounters (Choi and Bowles, 2007). From a media psychological perspective, allowing extremists to voice their opinion might, via spiral process, create the illusion that they already form the majority and therefore reduce anti-extremist voices (Glynn et al., 1997).

On an applied level, the wide distribution of extremist propaganda makes our effects although they are small interesting

for practitioners. For instance, our effects were irrespective of gender, suggesting that the current susceptibility of young women listening to the propaganda of Islamic extremists reported by mass media (Wahba and Simon, 2014) might also work on evolved mechanics. Research focusing on gender differences in the context of parochial altruism and extremism could provide meaningful insights here.

addition, understanding the parochial altruistic In mechanisms of propaganda effects could help to attenuate the influence of such videos. For instance, the salience of a certain social category (such as resulting by being addressed as "German" in a right-wing extremist video) is a fluent process and depends on the (potential) cooperation between in-group members. Albeit, we observed MS to increases the interest in extremist messages even among recipients with moderate political attitudes, as long as the videos capitalized on the shared social category, such categorizations are not stable. Kurzban et al. (2001) found that even dominant cues such as ethnicity (Cosmides et al., 2003; Xiaojing et al., 2009) are attenuated by making other group memberships salient. Consequently, distributing so-called counter-narratives (Ashour, 2010) capitalizing on *shared* group identities (e.g., being human) could enhance altruism toward others beyond one's national group (Pyszczynski et al., 2008).
Further, in the control group no interest in the parochial in-group propaganda was observed suggesting that removing threat could foster peace (Böhm et al., 2015). But also under conditions of threat, research demonstrating the effects of MS to be sensitive to salient norms (Jonas et al., 2008; Schindler et al., 2013), suggest that making norms of tolerance salient, for instance via counter-narrative media, could reduce the interest in parochial propaganda (Pyszczynski et al., 2008).

Limitations

Some limitations of the current study have to be noted. First, we used a typical student sample. Rieger et al. (2013) found opposed reactions by students and apprentices, therefore a replication of our study in a non-academic sample would be desirable. Prior research identified students as particularly nonsusceptible to in-group extremist propaganda; thus, the effects of MS we observed in this sample are particularly meaningful. Accordingly, replicating our study in a Muslim sample who are addressed as "in-group members" in Islamic-extremist videos would extend the generalizability of our findings. Noteworthy, parochial altruism as an evolutionary adaptive response should not depend on the cultural background of the recipients per se. Accordingly, MS has already been demonstrated to increase the acceptance of parochial aggressive in-group members among Iranian students (Pyszczynski et al., 2006). Further, we did not measure participants' subjective identification with nationality. Research has found that people highly committed to their group are more likely to accept parochial altruism (here: religious martydom; Ginges et al., 2010), so including such measures in future studies seems desirable. Nonetheless, parochial altruism has been observed in both minimal and real groups, suggesting that subjective identification is not enough to explain the response to parochially altruistic in-group members.

Regarding our design, it has to be pointed out that subjects participated in an anonymous online questionnaire. Although this format is highly compatible with real-life exposure to extremist Internet propaganda, we cannot dismiss the possibility that subjects might display different reactions offline. For instance, social identity de-individuation theory (Postmes et al., 1998) found subjects in anonymous online interactions to be even more prone to behaving according to situationally salient group memberships. Consequently, the evaluation of in- but also outgroup extremist propaganda might vary depending on whether a person watches such material alone online or together with others.

Concerning our materials, it has to be pointed out that we did not find effects of MS on the response to outgroup propaganda. At first sight, this contradicts studies showing harsher punishment of out-group terrorists under conditions of MS (Kugler and Cooper, 2010) or harsher punishments of out-group than of in-group perpetrators due to parochial altruistic motivations (Bernhard et al., 2006). However, we focused on positive responses to parochial aggressive propaganda and did not analyze the response to media narratives displaying the *punishment* of out-groups. Our findings imply that such narratives (e.g., killing outgroup terrorists in Homeland) would also raise interest and be perceived as more persuasive (see Slater and Rouner, 2002, for the concept of narrative persuasion) due to parochially altruistic motivations. Furthermore, it should be noted that extremist propaganda itself can be regarded as threatening, and studies have shown that terrorism itself can induce death anxieties and trigger MS effects (Fischer et al., 2007; Das et al., 2009). Consequently, our participants might have perceived the Islamic extremist videos as more threatening than the right-wing extremist videos. Yet Rieger et al. (2013) found no significant differences in physiological arousal during the reception of the Islamic versus right-wing extremist videos, making this explanation implausible. Further, our selection differentiated between extremist videos offering the recipient to join their cause versus not. MS has been found to increase affiliation (Wisman and Koole, 2003). Consequently, examining the role of affiliation motives in this context in future studies is necessary to compare the turning toward different groups after MS.

As regards to our dependent variables, we focused on the interest in and the perceived persuasiveness of the videos. Although we based our dependent variables on prior research, these variables have to be interpreted cautiously. Interest is only an initial step in a potential process that might increase parochial attitudes and should not be interpreted as a direct measure of parochial altruism. Interest reflects the motivation to get more information about a certain topic (Schwab and Schwender, 2010) and could also reflect an increased desire to restore a sense of control in face of a threat induction (Fritsche et al., 2008; Jonas et al., 2014). However, if the desire to know more about a potential threat instead of the interest in parochial altruistic content would underlie our pattern, we would also find larger interest in the Islamic extremist videos, as Islamic extremism is perceived as particularly threatening (Frindte and Haußecker, 2010).

In that line it has to be noted that the reliability of our perceived persuasiveness measure aggregated for the video blocks was slightly below $\alpha > 0.70$. Although previous research obtained higher reliability scores for this scales (Rieger et al., 2013), and the reliability was good, $\alpha > 80$, when all items per video instead of the aggregated scales per Block were considered, future studies should include additional measures of persuasiveness. Overall, future research is necessary to bridge our findings on the perceived persuasiveness of extremist propaganda with research on liking of parochial altruist persons (Greenberg et al., 2001; Pyszczynski et al., 2006). Our scale measured increased sympathy with the propagators, hence, our findings should also be reflected in greater liking of extremist propagators (Decety and Chaminade, 2003). Relatedly, we did not measure attitudes toward the propagated message directly. Yet, Igartua et al. (2003) found that convincingness of a persuasive video was associated with agreement to these videos' messages and we have initial evidence from an unpublished Bachelor thesis that our perceived persuasiveness scale is associated with the agreement to rightwing statements. Kasztelan (unpublished bachelor thesis) found that the perceived persuasiveness of right-wing videos correlated

at r > 0.56, p > 0.001 with the agreement to statements in a propaganda video such as "our folk impoverishes everyday more and more meanwhile others live in clover" or "Only a folk without identity becomes an easy victim of the capital." Finally, studying to what extent MS affects hormones that control parochial altruism such as oxytocin (De Dreu et al., 2010, 2011) or testosterone (Reimers and Diekhof, 2015) would provide meaningful insights into the biological mechanisms underlying our observations.

Conclusion

Overall, our study provides initial evidence that the interest in and perceived persuasiveness of extremist propaganda works

References

- Abbink, K., Brandts, J., Herrmann, B., and Orzen, H. (2012). Parochial altruism in inter-group conflicts. *Econ. Lett.* 117, 45–48. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2012.04.083
- Altemeyer, B., and Hunsberger, B. (1992). Authoritarianism, religious fundamentalism, quest, and prejudice. *Int. J. Psychol. Relig.* 2, 113–133. doi: 10.1207/s15327582ijpr0202-5
- Arendt, F. (2015). Effects of right-wing populist political advertising. J. Med. Psychol. 1-30. doi: 10.1027/1864-1105/a000139
- Arrow, H. (2007). The sharp end of altruism. Science 318, 581–582. doi: 10.1126/science.1150316
- Ashour, O. (2010). Online de-radicalization? Countering violent extremist narratives: message, messenger and media strategy. *Perspect. Terror.* 4, 15–19.
- Axelrod, R., and Hamilton, W. D. (1981). The evolution of cooperation. *Nature* 211, 1390–1396. doi: 10.2436/20.1501.02.87
- Bartsch, A., and Schneider, F. (2014). Entertainment and politics revisited: how non-escapist forms of entertainment can stimulate political interest and information seeking. *J. Commun.* 3, 369–396. doi: 10.1111/jcom.12095
- Bayrisches Staatsministerium des Inneren für Bau und Verkehr. (2014). Verfassungsschutzbericht 2014 [Report on the Protection of the Constitution 2014]. München: Bayrisches Staatsministerium des Inneren für Bau und Verkehr.
- Bernhard, H., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2006). Parochial altruism in humans. Nature 442, 912–915. doi: 10.1038/nature04981
- Böhm, R., Rusch, H., and Gürek, Ö. (2015). What makes people go to war? Defensive intentions motivate retaliatory and preemptive intergroup aggression. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2015.06.005
- Bornstein, G., and Erev, I. (1994). The enhancing effect of intergroup competition on group performance. Int. J. Confl. Manag. 5, 271–183. doi: 10.1108/eb022747
- Bornstein, G., Gneezy, U., and Nagel, R. (2002). The effect of intergroup competition on group coordination: an experimental study. *Games Econ. Behav.* 41, 1–25. doi: 10.1016/S0899-8256(02)00012-X
- Bowles, S. (2008). Conflict: altruism'S midwife. *Nature* 456, 326–327. doi: 10.1038/456326a
- Brewer, M. B., and Carporael, L. R. (2006). An evolutionary perspective on social identity: revisiting groups, in *Evolution and Social Psychology*, ed. M. Schaller, J. A. Simpson, and D. T. Kendrick (Philadelphia: Psycology Press), 143–161.
- Brown, R., González, R., Zagefka, H., Manzi, J., and Cehajic, S. (2008). Nuestra culpa: collective guilt and shame as predictors of reparation for historical wrongdoing. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 94, 75–90. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.94.1.75
- Choi, J.-K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Nature* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Cosmides, L., Tooby, J., and Kurzban, R. (2003). Perceptions of race. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 7, 173–179. doi: 10.1016/S1364-66130300057-53
- Das, E., Bushman, B. J., Bezemer, M. D., Kerkhof, P., and Vermeulen, I. E. (2009). How terrorism news reports increase prejudice against outgroups: a terror management account. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 45, 453–459. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2008.12.001

according to a parochially altruistic mechanics. Existential threats affected the response to extremist propaganda capitalizing on the recipient's national identity but left the response to comparable videos addressing them as out-group members unaffected. Our study thus provided evidence for meaningful insights resulting from an evolutionary perspective on media psychology and propaganda research. We hope that future studies will address the questions that can be drawn from our results.

Supplementary Material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.01222

- Decety, J., and Chaminade, T. (2003). Neural correlates of feeling sympathy. *Neuropsychologia* 41, 127–138. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(02)00143-4
- Decker, O., Kiess, J., and Brähler, E. (2012). *Die Mitte Im Umbruch [The Middle in Turmoil]*, ed. R. Melzer (Bonn: Friedrich-Ebert Stiftung).
- De Dreu, C. K. W. (2012). Oxytocin modulates cooperation within and competition between groups: an integrative review and research agenda. *Horm. Behav.* 61, 419–428. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2011.12.009
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Balliet, D., and Halevy, N. (2014). Parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup conflict. Adv. Motivat. Sci. 1, 1–47. doi: 10.1016/bs.adms.2014.08.001
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Dussel, D. B., and Velden, F. S. T. (2015). In intergroup conflict, self-sacrifice is stronger among pro-social individuals, and parochial altruism emerges especially among cognitively taxed individuals. *Front. Psychol.* 6:572. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00572
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J. J., Shalvi, S., Van Kleef, G., Baas, M., Ten Velden, F. S., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408– 1411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Van Kleef, G. A., Shalvi, S., and Handgraaf, M. J. J. (2011). Oxytocin promotes human ethnocentrism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 1262–1266. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1015316108
- Dilanian, K., and Bennett, B. (2013). *Experts See Home-Grown Terror in Boston Case*. Available at: http://articles.latimes.com [accessed April 19, 2013].
- Field, A. (2013). *Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics*, 4th Edn. London: Sage Publications, Ltd.
- Fischer, P., Greitemeyer, T., Kastenmüller, A., Frey, D., and Oßwald, S. (2007). Terror salience and punishment: does terror salience induce threat to social order? *J. Exp. Soc Psychol.* 43, 964–971. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2006. 10.004
- Frindte, W., Boehnke, K., Kreikenbronn, H., and Wagner, W. (2012). Lebenswelten Junger Muslime in Deutschland [Lifeworlds of Young Muslims in Germany]. Berlin: Bundesministerium des Inneren.
- Frindte, W., and Haußecker, N. (2010). Inszenierter Terrorismus [Staged Terrorism]. Wiesbaden: Verlag f
 ür Sozialwissenschaften Springer Fachmedien. doi: 10.1007/978-3-531-92579-0
- Fritsche, I., Jonas, E., and Fankhänel, T. (2008). The role of control motivation in mortality salience effects on ingroup support and defense. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 95, 524–541. doi: 10.1037/a0012666
- Fuchs, M. (2003). Rechtsextremismus von Jugendlichen: Zur Erklärungskraft Verschiedener Theoretischer Konzepte [Right-Wing Extremism of Young Adults: Explanative Power of Different Theoretical Concepts]. Kölner Z. Soz. Sozialpsychol. 55, 654–678. doi: 10.1007/s11577-003-0116-3
- Ginges, J., and Atran, S. (2009). What motivates participation in violent political action: selective incentives or parochial altruism? Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 1167, 115–123. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04543.x
- Ginges, J., Hansen, I., and Norenzayan, A. (2009). Religion and support for suicide attacks. *Psychol. Sci.* 20, 224–230. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009. 02270.x

Ginges, J., Hansen, I., and Norenzayan, A. (2010). Religious belief, coalitional commitment, and support for suicide attacks. *Evol. Psychol.* 8, 346–349. doi: 10.1177/147470491000800303

Glaser, S. (2013). Rechtsextremismus Online. Mainz: Jugendschutz.net.

- Glynn, C. J., Hayes, A. F., and Shanahan, J. (1997). perceived support for one's opinions and willingness to speak out: a meta-analysis of survey studies on the spiral of silence. *Public Opin. Q.* 61, 452–463. doi: 10.1086/297808
- Godall, H. L. (2010). How Progressive Academics Can Challenge Extremists and Promote Social Justice. Walnut Creek, CA: Left Coast Press.
- Greenberg, J., Pyszczynski, T., and Solomon, S. (1986). "The causes and consequences of a need for self-esteem: a terror management theory," in *Public Self and Private Self*, ed. R. F. Baumeister (New York, NY: Springer-Verlag), 189–212.
- Greenberg, J., Schimel, J., Martens, A., and Solomon, S. (2001). Sympathy for the devil: evidence that reminding whites of their mortality promotes more favorable reactions to white racists. *Motivat. Emot.* 25, 113–133. doi: 10.1023/A:1010613909207
- Halevy, N., Bornstein, G., and Sagiv, L. (2008). In-group love' and 'out-group hate' as motives for individual participation in intergroup conflict: a new game paradigm. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 405–411. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02100.x
- Halverson, J. R., Corman, S. R., and Godall, H. L. (2011). *Master Narratives of Islamist Extremism*. London: Palgrave Macmillan Publishing.
- Hamilton, W. D. (1964a). The genetical evolution of social behaviour. II. J. Theor. Biol. 7, 17–52. doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(64)90039-90036
- Hamilton, W. D. (1964b). The genetical evolution of social behaviour I. J. Theor. Biol. 7, 1–16. doi: 10.1016/0022-5193(64)90038-4
- Hayes, A. F. (2012). Process: A Versatile Computational Tool for Observed Variable Mediation, Mod Eration, and Conditional Process Modeling. Available at: http:// www.afhayes.com
- Hewstone, M., Rubin, M., and Willis, H. (2002). Bias. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 53, 575–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135109
- Hogg, M. A. (2014). From uncertainty to extremism: social categorization and identity processes. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 23, 338–342. doi: 10.1177/0963721414540168
- Hogg, M. A., Adelman, J. R., and Blagg, R. D. (2010). In the face of uncertainty: an uncertainty-identity theory account of religiousness. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 14, 72–83. doi: 10.1177/1088868309349692
- Igartua, J. J., Cheng, L., and Lopes, O. (2003). To think or not to think: two pathways towards persuasion by short films on AIDS prevention. J. Health Commun. 8, 513–528. doi: 10.1080/716100420
- Jonas, E., Martens, A., Kayser, D. N., Fritsche, I., Sullivan, D., and Greenberg, J. (2008). Focus theory of normative conduct and terror-management theory: the interactive impact of mortality salience and norm salience on social judgment. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 95, 1239–1251. doi: 10.1037/a0013593
- Jonas, E., Mcgregor, I., Klackl, J., Agroskin, D., Fritsche, I., Holbrook, C., et al. (2014). "Threat and defense: from anxiety to approach," in *Advances in Experimental Social Psychology*, 49th Edn, eds J. M. Olson and M. P. Zanna (Burlington: Elsevier Inc.), 219–286. doi: 10.1016/b978-0-12-800052-6. 00004-4
- Kruglanski, A. W., Bélanger, J. J., Gelfand, M., Gunaratna, R., Hettiarachchi, M., Reinares, F., et al. (2013). Terrorism-a (self) love story: redirecting the significance quest can end violence. *Am. Psychol.* 68, 559–575. doi: 10.1037/a0032615
- Kugler, M. B., and Cooper, J. (2010). Still an american? mortality salience and treatment of suspected terrorists. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 40, 3130–3147. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.2010.00694.x
- Kurzban, R., Tooby, J., and Cosmides, L. (2001). Can race be erased? Coalitional computation and social categorization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 15387– 15392. doi: 10.1073/pnas.251541498
- Lasswell, H. D. (1927). Propaganda Techniques in the World War. London: Paul Kegan.
- Lewis, E. St. (1903). Catch-line and argument. Book Keeper 15:124ff.
- Lickel, B., Schmader, T., Curtis, M., Scarnier, M., and Ames, D. R. (2005). Vicarious shame and guilt. *Group Process. Intergr. Relat.* 8, 145–157. doi: 10.1177/1368430205051064
- McCauley, C., and Moskalenko, S. (2008). Mechanisms of political radicalization: pathways toward terrorism. *Terror. Polit. Violence* 20, 415–433. doi: 10.1080/09546550802073367

- Monin, M. M. (2009). Mortality Salience and Smokers Reactions to Anti-Smoking Messages. Pittsburgh: Duquesne University.
- Ohler, P., and Nieding, G. (2006). "An evolutionary perspective on entertainment," in *Psychology of Entertainment*, eds B. M. Jenkins and P. Vorderer (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates), 432–434.
- Pettigrew, T. F. (1995). Subtle and blatant prejudice in western Europe. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 25, 57–75. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420250106
- Petzel, T., Wagner, U., Nicolai, K., and Van Dick, R. (1997). Ein Kurzes Instrument Zur Messung Der Autoritarismus-Neigung [A Short Instrument for Measuring Authoritarianism]. Gruppendynamik 28, 251–258.
- Piff, P. K., Martinez, A. G., and Keltner, D. (2012). Me against we: in-group transgression, collective shame, and in-group-directed hostility. *Cogn. Emot.* 26, 634–649. doi: 10.1080/02699931.2011.595394
- Postmes, T., Spears, R., and Lea, M. (1998). Breaching or building social boundaries: side effects of computer-mediated communication. *Commun. Res.* 25, 689–715. doi: 10.1177/009365098025006006
- Pyszczynski, T., Abdollahi, A., Solomon, S., Greenberg, J., Cohen, F., and Weise, D. (2006). Mortality salience, martyrdom, and military might: the great satan versus the axis of evil. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 32, 525–537. doi: 10.1177/0146167205282157
- Pyszczynski, T., Greenberg, J., and Solomon, S. (1999). A dual-process model of defense against conscious and unconscious death-related thoughts: an extension of terror management theory. *Psychol. Rev.* 106, 835–845. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.106.4.835
- Pyszczynski, T., Rothschild, Z., and Abdollahi, A. (2008). Terrorism, violence, and hope for peace: a terror management perspective. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 17, 318–322. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8721.2008.00598.x
- Raven, J. C. (1998). Raven's Progressive Matrices: SPM Plus Test Booklet, eds S. Bulheller and H. O. H\u00e4cker (Oxford: Psychology Press).
- Reimers, L., and Diekhof, E. K. (2015). Testosterone is associated with cooperation during intergroup competition by enhancing parochial altruism. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:183. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00183
- Rieger, D., Frischlich, L., and Bente, G. (2013). In Cooperation with the Terrorism/Extremism Research Unit (FTE) of the German Federal Criminal Police Office (Bundeskriminalamt). Propaganda 2.0: Psychological Effects of Right-Wing and Islamic Extremist Internet Videos. Cologne: Wolters Kluwer Deutschland GmbH.
- Rieger, D., Frischlich, L., Högden, F., Schramm, K., Kauf, R., and Tappe, E. (2015). Appreciation in the face of death: meaningful films buffer against death-related anxiety. *J. Commun.* 65, 351–372. doi: 10.1111/jcom. 12152
- Riolo, R. L., Cohen, M. D., and Axelrod, R. (2001). Evolution of cooperation without reciprocity. *Nature* 414, 441–443. doi: 10.1038/35106555
- Rosenberg, M. (1965). *Society and the Adolescent Self-Image*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Rosenblatt, A., Greenberg, J., Solomon, S., Pyszczynski, T., and Lyon, D. (1989). Evidence for terror management theory: i. the effects of mortality salience on reactions to those who violate or uphold cultural values. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 57, 681–690. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.57.4.681
- Roth, F., Weinmann, C., Schneider, F., Hopp, F., and Vorderer, P. (2014). Seriously entertained: antecedents and consequences of hedonic and eudaimonic entertainment experiences with political talk shows on TV. *Mass Commun. Soc.* 17, 379–399. doi: 10.1080/15205436.2014.891135
- Rusch, H. (2013). Asymmetries in altruistic behavior during violent intergroup conflict. *Evol. Psychol.* 11, 973–993. doi: 10.1177/147470491301 100504
- Rusch, H. (2014). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. R. Soc.* 281:20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014. 1539
- Schindler, S., Reinhard, M. A., and Stahlberg, D. (2013). Tit for tat in the face of death: the effect of mortality salience on reciprocal behavior. *J. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 49, 87–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2012.06.002
- Schwab, F. (2007). Evolutionäres Denken: Missverständnisse, Trugschlüsse Und Richtigstellungen [Evolutionairy Thinking: Missunderstandings, False Conclusions, and Corrections]. Z. Medienpsychol. 19, 140–144. doi: 10.1026/1617-6383.19.4.140

- Schwab, F. (2010). Medien, Emotionen Und Unterhaltung [Media, Emotions and Entertainment]. Diskurs 51, 14–17.
- Schwab, F., and Schwender, C. (2010). "The descents of emotions in media. darwinian perspectives," in *The Routledge Handbook of Emotions and Mass Media*, eds K. Döveling, C. von Scheve, and E. A. Konijn (London: Routledge).
- Sibley, C. G., and Duckitt, J. (2008). Personality and prejudice: a metaanalysis and theoretical review. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 12, 248–279. doi: 10.1177/1088868308319226
- Slater, M. D., and Rouner, D. (2002). Entertainment-education and elaboration likelihood: understanding the processing of narrative persuasion. *Commun. Theory* 12, 173–191. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-2885.2002.tb00265.x
- Stephan, W. G., Diaz-Loving, R., and Duran, A. (2000). Integrated threat theory and intercultural attitudes: Mexico and the United States. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 31, 240–249. doi: 10.1177/0022022100031002006
- Tangney, J. P., Wagner, P., Fletcher, C., and Gramzow, R. (1992). Shamed into anger? The relation of shame and guilt to anger and self-reported aggression. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 62, 669–675. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.62.4.669
- Tooby, J., and Cosmides, L. (2001). Does beauty build adapted minds? Toward an evolutionary theory of aesthetics, fiction, and the arts. *Substance* 30, 6–27. doi: 10.1353/sub.2001.0017
- Trivers, R. L. (1971). The Evolution of Reciprocal Altruism. Q. Rev. Biol. 46, 83–57. doi: 10.1086/406755
- Vorderer, P. (2006). "Psychology of entertainment," in *Psychology of Entertainment*, eds J. Bryant and P. Vorderer (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates).
- Wagner, U., Christ, O., and Kühnel, S. M. (2002). "Diskriminierendes verhalten: es beginnt mit abwertungen," in *Deutsche Zustände*, ed. W. Heitemeyer (Frankfurt: Suhrkamp).
- Wahba, A., and Simon, J. (2014). Und Packt Die Babyflaschen Ein [and Bring Baby Bottles]. Die Zeit 41, 61.
- Weise, D. R., Pyszczynski, T., Cox, C. R., Arndt, J., Greenberg, J., Solomon, S., et al. (2008). Interpersonal politics: the role of terror management and attachment processes in shaping political preferences: research article. *Psychol. Sci.* 19, 448–455. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9280.2008.02108.x

- Weisel, O., and Böhm, R. (2015). Ingroup love' and 'outgroup hate' in intergroup conflict between natural groups. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 60, 110–120. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2015.04.008
- West, S. A., El Mouden, C., and Gardner, A. (2011). Sixteen common misconceptions about the evolution of cooperation in humans. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 32, 231–262. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010. 08.001
- Wilner, A., and Dubouloz, C.-J. (2009). Homegrown terrorism and transformative learning: an interdisciplinary approach to understanding radicalization. *Paper* presented at the Canadian Political Science Association Conference, Vol. 22, (Ottawa: University of Ottawa), 33–51.
- Wisman, A., and Koole, S. L. (2003). Hiding in the crowd: can mortality salience promote affiliation with others who oppose one's worldviews? J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 84, 511–526. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.84.3.511
- Xiaojing, X., Xiangyu, Z., Xiaoying, W., and Han, S. (2009). Do you feel my pain? Racial group membership modulates empathic neural responses. *J. Neurosci.* 29, 8525–8529. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2418-09.2009
- Yuki, M., and Yokota, K. (2009). The primal warrior: outgroup threat priming enhances intergroup discrimination in men but not women. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 45, 271–274. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2008.08.018
- Zahavi, A. (1995). Altruism as a handicap—the limitations of kin selection and reciprocity. *J. Avian Biol.* 26, 1–3. doi: 10.2307/3677205

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Frischlich, Rieger, Hein and Bente. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





"A letter for Dr. Outgroup": on the effects of an indicator of competence and chances for altruism toward a member of a stigmatized out-group

Jens H. Hellmann¹*, Anne Berthold², Jonas H. Rees³ and Deborah F. Hellmann⁴

¹ Center of Teaching in Higher Education, University of Münster, Münster, Germany, ² Department of Psychology, University of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland, ³ Department of Social Psychology and Center for Interdisciplinary Research, University of Bielefeld, Bielefeld, Germany, ⁴ Criminological Research Institute of Lower Saxony, Hannover, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert Böhm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

Reviewed by:

Michele Denise Birtel, University of Surrey, UK Niklas K. Steffens, University of Queensland, Australia

*Correspondence:

Jens H. Hellmann, Center of Teaching in Higher Education, University of Münster, Fliednerstraße 21, D-48149 Münster, Germany jens.hellmann@uni-muenster.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 May 2015 Accepted: 07 September 2015 Published: 25 September 2015

Citation:

Hellmann JH, Berthold A, Rees JH and Hellmann DF (2015) "A letter for Dr. Outgroup": on the effects of an indicator of competence and chances for altruism toward a member of a stigmatized out-group. Front. Psychol. 6:1422. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01422

The lost letter technique is an unobtrusive method to investigate attitudes in a particular population. Ostensibly lost letters from senders who apparently belong to different groups or addressed to recipients from apparently different groups are dispersed in public places, and return rates represent a measure of altruistic or discriminatory behavior toward one group or another. In two field experiments using the lost letter technique, we investigated the influence of group membership and the presence or absence of a doctorate degree as an indicator of competence on the likelihood of receiving helping behavior. Experiment 1 showed that a generic member of a lowstatus ethnic out-group (Turks living in Germany) was the target of discrimination, while a generic member of a non-stigmatized out-group (French in Germany) was not. Moreover, when the name of the member from the stigmatized out-group was (vs. was not) preceded by a doctorate degree, more of the allegedly lost letters were returned. There were no such differential effects for recipients who were members of the ingroup (Germans) or the non-stigmatized out-group (French). Experiment 2 showed that a recipient from the stigmatized out-group (Turk) with a doctorate degree received more letters when the sender was German versus Turkish (i.e., from the recipient's own group). Overall, the sender's ethnic group membership was an important factor for the likelihood of receiving an ostensibly lost letter, in that fewer letters arrived from a sender with a Turkish (vs. German) name. We conclude that the likelihood of altruistic behavior toward out-group members can increase when in-group members intend to communicate with competent out-group members. Therefore, under certain conditions, the presentation of a highly competent member of an otherwise stigmatized out-group may serve as a discrimination buffer.

Keywords: altruism, prosocial behavior, discrimination buffer, competence, lost-letter technique

Introduction

The investigation and analysis of conflicts between groups has been among the core interests of many, if not all, social sciences since their inception. This is particularly true for social psychology where studies on the dynamics of prejudice and intergroup conflict have arguably been the discipline's single most defining research topic over many decades (e.g., Allport, 1954; Sherif et al., 1961). A host of classic studies document reliably that individuals tend to treat members of their in-group more favorably than out-group members (Taifel et al., 1971; Mullen et al., 1992), and various theories build on this ingroup preference to explain intergroup conflict from different perspectives such as the Social Identity Theory (SIT; Tajfel and Turner, 1979) or the Realistic Intergroup Conflict perspective (RIC; e.g., Sherif et al., 1961). This in-group favoritism or ingroup bias has been found in many different domains such as the assignment of more positive traits to an in-group (vs. out-group) member (Cadinu and Rothbart, 1996). Particularly in the domain of helping behavior, the group membership of a person has been identified as a crucial determinant of the likelihood of providing and receiving help: Belonging to a common group increases help for individuals (see Flippen et al., 1996; Levine et al., 2005).

More recently, research has set out to study how such differential treatment of in-group and out-group members may have evolved in humans in the first place (Choi and Bowles, 2007; for reviews see De Dreu et al., 2014; Rusch, 2014). Drawing on Darwin's basic notion that behaviors benefiting the in-group and harming the out-group should have co-evolved, studies on such parochial altruism have used different paradigms and approaches. Prominent studies have used complex mathematical models to gauge the evolutionary advantage of different patterns of behaviors such as mutually beneficial, selfish, spiteful, or altruistic behaviors, where parochial altruism can be defined as a combination of altruism directed at the in-group and spite directed at the out-group (see Rusch, 2014). Following this logic, for example, García and van den Bergh (2011, p. 277) simulated different strategies in a prisoner's dilemma situation, defining parochial altruism as instances of altruism "limited to donors and recipients belonging to the same group." These authors found that such parochial altruism will generally be favored by selection. Given this apparent evolutionary advantage through parochial altruism, however, incidents of out-group directed altruism need to be explored further. One way of circumventing the universality of parochial altruism in humans may be to provide counterstereotypical information about an out-group member, which can be an indicator of competence for a member of an out-group that is otherwise stigmatized as incompetent (e.g., Sinclair and Kunda, 1999).

We suggest that research on altruism may benefit from methods developed in other research areas, such as classic research on prejudice (cf. Everett et al., 2015). Mathematical modeling, idealized game theoretical situations, or even paradigms exploring the effects of neuropeptides and hormones on parochial altruism (e.g., De Dreu et al., 2010; Reimers and Diekhof, 2015) allow researchers to study the phenomenon under thoroughly controlled laboratory conditions. The present studies used an established field-setting to study altruism under less controlled but highly realistic conditions.

Field studies are particularly helpful if researchers aim to investigate helping behavior toward different groups in an unobtrusive way. Additionally, they do not exclusively rely on student samples, but more ecologically valid samples drawn from the general population. Therefore, field studies are an important instrument to explore moderators of intergroup-discrimination effects under real-world conditions. The two field experiments reported in this article were conducted in order to contribute to previous research on altruism and intergroup behavior. In a nutshell, we tested if helping behavior differs depending on the perceived competence of in-group versus out-group members using the *lost-letter technique* (Milgram et al., 1965).

In-group favoritism as one of two aspects of parochial altruism (also see Dorrough et al., 2015), when, for example, expressed through helping behavior preferably dedicated to an in-group over an out-group member, should be stronger when the outgroup is stigmatized in some way than when the reference is a non-stigmatized out-group (for an overview see Penner et al., 2005). Although some conceptualizations of such differential intergroup discrimination appear to be widely accepted (e.g., Fiske et al., 2002; also see Hofstede and Bond, 1984), empirical demonstrations of differential levels of altruism toward members of out-groups with versus without the stigma of incompetence are extremely rare (for an overview regarding stigma and prejudice, see Phelan et al., 2008).

Helping Behavior and Out-Group Member Characteristics

Groups and stereotypes can be classified by means of the Behaviors from Intergroup Affect and Stereotypes-map (BIAS, Cuddy et al., 2007). According to this approach, groups are treated differently depending on how they are perceived on the two dimensions of competence and warmth. For example, members of a less competent group are likely discriminated through *harmful* behaviors, while members of competent groups are deserving of *facilitating* behaviors. Thus, altruistic behavior such as posting a lost letter should be more probable when it is addressed toward a member of the presumably competent ingroup compared to the likelihood of altruistic behavior toward a member of an out-group stigmatized as less competent. However, such differences should be less likely when comparing the ingroup and a non-stigmatized out-group.

One goal of the present research was to demonstrate that out-groups are not uniformly targets of discrimination, but intergroup discrimination regarding helping behavior may vary as a function of out-group stigma. In Germany, Turks represent the largest ethnic minority out-group (see Klink and Wagner, 1999), and are generally regarded as less competent than members of the German in-group (Asbrock, 2010). In other words, the most salient stigma of Turks in Germany is their ascribed lack of competence. To cautiously foreshadow a result from our own pilot study (see below), other ethnic out-groups such as the French do not suffer from this stigma of relatively inferior competence compared to the German ingroup. Accordingly, we expected differences in helping behavior between in-group and out-group to depend on the quality of stigmatization of the out-group.

While a host of research has addressed discriminatory behavior resulting from differential stereotyping; only few field studies have explored potential ways of buffering such discrimination. In a field experiment, Kaas and Manger (2012) identified one possibility of tackling intergroup discrimination on the job market: These researchers sent out application letters to German companies from applicants with a German vs. Turkishsounding name. The typical intergroup discrimination effect, that is, more frequent interview invitations for the in-group member (also see Bertrand and Mullainathan, 2004), disappeared once the out-group member's application included a reference letter from a former employer. Such letters of recommendation are likely the most frequently used source of finding out about a job candidate's competence (Kaslow et al., 2007). Thus, there is some evidence that, under certain conditions, indicators of competence can moderate the intergroup discrimination effect. Another possibility to subtly implement an indicator of competence is to simply add a doctorate degree to an individual's name (cf. Gregory, 1995; Sinclair and Kunda, 1999).

The present research also aimed at examining whether such an indicator of the group members' competence (i.e., a doctorate degree) represents one condition, under which the discrimination effect can be attenuated or even be discontinued. In line with our above reasoning, we expected altruistic behavior in terms of posting a lost letter addressed to an ostensibly competent member of an otherwise stigmatized out-group but not to a generic member of the stigmatized out-group. In this context, the term *generic* refers to a member of the respective group who does not hold a doctorate degree.

The Lost-Letter Technique

In the lost-letter paradigm (Milgram et al., 1965), letters are dispersed in specific areas. These letters appear to be lost by their sender. Because these fully stamped letters are basically identical and only variations in the name of the recipient or of the sender or both hints at their particular group memberships, actual intergroup discrimination can then be operationalized as the relative number of letters that are returned for each recipient or sender. When the name of the recipient on an apparently lost letter indicates a different cultural background than the sender's name, the finder of such a letter can actively promote or impede a basic form of intergroup communication.

The Present Research

We focused on three hypotheses: (1) We expected that a generic member of a stigmatized out-group would receive help less frequently compared to a generic in-group member. More precisely, the stigmatized out-group member should receive fewer letters than a member of the in-group. (2) An indicator of the recipient's competence can serve as a buffer against such differences in altruistic behavior, because it may work against the stigma of the out-group. Thus, a member of a stigmatized out-group who is perceived as competent should receive more letters than a generic member of the stigmatized out-group. (3) The

recipient's competence serves as a discrimination buffer only when the *sender* is a member of the in-group. More precisely, we predicted that fewer letters would arrive for the out-group member with doctorate degree when the sender apparently belongs to the out-group (vs. in-group). We designed Experiment 1 to test Hypotheses 1 and 2, Experiment 2 was conducted to address Hypothesis 3.

The experiments were carried out in accordance with the recommendations and the approval of the Ethics Committee of the Department of Psychology and Sport and Exercise Sciences at the University of Münster, Germany.

Additionally, in a pilot study, we asked participants to indicate socially shared consensual stereotypes about the German ingroup and about Turks as well as the French as out-groups. For this pilot study, we expected to find differential ratings, especially on the dimension of competence, toward the different out-group nationalities mentioned above.

Pilot Study

In addition to previous research (Asbrock, 2010), this pilot study sought to obtain ratings of consensually shared stereotypes toward a stigmatized out-group, namely Turks, in relation to a culturally more proximate out-group, namely the French, and the German in-group.

Method

Participants and Procedure

Respondents were N = 72 undergraduate students (56 female, 11 male, 5 did not report their gender) at the University of Münster, Germany, with a mean age of 20.68 years (SD = 3.56). Seven participants did not indicate their age. All participants were tested during a break within two parts of an introductory lecture on statistics. Participation took about 5 min, was completely voluntary, and was not compensated.

Participants received a single sheet of paper that constituted the questionnaire, on which they were asked to provide evaluations of different groups based on what they believed most people in Germany thought about the respective group. The instructions stressed that the study was not about the participants' individual evaluation of the presented groups (see Asbrock, 2010).

Measures

Participants were asked to indicate to what extent *most people in Germany* ascribe the subsequent adjectives to the respective group. For the dimension of competence, these items were competent, competitive, and independent, for warmth, these items were likeable, warm, and good-natured. All items were assessed on a scale from 1 (*not at all*) to 5 (*completely*) and were presented in an order alternating between competence and warmth. The presented groups were Germans, Turks, and the French.

The internal consistencies of the dimensions per group were as follows: Warmth Germans, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.80$, warmth Turks, $\alpha = 0.85$, warmth French, $\alpha = 0.84$, competence Germans,

 $\alpha = 0.67$, competence Turks, $\alpha = 0.58$, competence French, $\alpha = 0.74$. For each of the two dimensions, competence and warmth, the corresponding three items were averaged per group so that higher values indicate higher ascriptions on the respective dimension for the respective group.

Results

Means and standard deviations for the three groups' scores on the two dimensions are presented in **Table 1**, which also includes comparisons between the warmth and competence ratings within each of the three groups, Germans, Turks, and the French.

Competence

Overall, the three groups differed significantly from each other regarding ascribed competence, F(2,142) = 131.49, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.65$. Bonferroni-adjusted pairwise comparisons revealed that the competence ascribed to Germans was estimated as being higher than the competence ascribed to Turks, t(70) = 15.02, p < 0.001, d = 1.77, and to the French, t(70) = 10.00, p < 0.001, d = 1.19. Additionally, the competence ascribed to Turks, t(70) = 6.66, p < 0.001, d = 0.79.

Warmth

Overall, the three groups differed significantly from each other in terms of ascribed warmth, F(2,142) = 11.60, p < 0.001, $\eta_p^2 = 0.14$. Bonferroni-adjusted pairwise comparisons revealed that the warmth ascribed to Germans did not significantly differ from the warmth ascribed to Turks, t(70) = -1.78, p = 0.24, d = -0.21. The French received ratings on the dimension of warmth that were higher than those for Germans, t(70) = 4.94, p < 0.001, d = 0.60, and for Turks, t(70) = 2.83, p = 0.02, d = 0.33.

Discussion

This pilot study sought to replicate crucial aspects of previous research by Asbrock (2010) by assessing consensually shared cultural stereotypes toward the German in-group and the Turks as a stigmatized out-group. Furthermore, it was designed to extend previous research by adding a non-stigmatized out-group nationality to the list, namely the French.

Regarding warmth, the French are regarded as warmer than Germans and Turks. On this dimension, the present data did not reveal a bias in favor of the in-group nationality, which appears

TABLE 1 | Pilot study: standard deviations and means of ratings of warmth and competence regarding three groups.

C	Commetence		_	4	
Group	Competence M (SD)	Warmth M (SD)	L	p	d
Germans	4.07 (0.54)	2.72 (0.60)	18.42	<0.001	2.18
Turks	2.54 (0.61)	2.92 (0.76)	-4.36	< 0.001	-0.52
French	3.13 (0.68)	3.28 (0.89)	-1.11	0.27	-0.13

Means and standard deviations are based on three items per dimension that were assessed using 5-point Likert-type scales. Statistical values in this table refer to tests of differences between the dimensions of competence and warmth within the respective groups. to be consistent with previous findings (Cuddy et al., 2009). Still, regarding the dimension of competence, Germans are seen as the relatively most competent group. Even more importantly, the Turkish out-group was clearly perceived as less competent than both the German in-group and the French out-group.

Experiment 1

Design and Procedure

Experiment 1 consisted of a 3 (recipient's group: German vs. Turkish vs. French) \times 2 (indicator of high competence: doctorate degree present vs. not present) design. In total, we dispersed N = 180 letters, n = 30 letters per condition, in Bremen, Germany. Consistent with the established procedure for lost-letter-studies (Milgram et al., 1965), all letters were fully stamped and included hand-written addresses for the recipient and the sender and a note on the back of each letter "found next to your car" written in German ("neben Ihrem Auto gefunden") by a research assistant with a different pen to ensure the dispersed letters would be perceived as genuinely lost. Each letter was attached behind a car's windshield. Previous studies with various locations of dispersion have shown that this procedure resulted in especially high return rates as compared to, for example, placing letters on the pavement (Milgram et al., 1965). The letters were shuffled in advance to secure random attachment per area and street. Great care was taken to make sure that no other letter was visible from the position around any car, to which another letter was attached.

The names of the ostensible recipients were Nils Schönfeld (German), Antoine Dupont (French), and Ali Yildirim (Turkish). The sender's name on all letters was Jens Hellmann (German). Each letter contained an invitation to a birthday party, which was included in case any finder opened the letter. The content of the note could not be seen through the envelope. The sender's address was a local address in Bremen, Germany, where the letters were distributed. The dependent variable was the number of letters per condition that arrived at the recipients' address where a letter box displayed the names of all three recipients.

Results and Discussion

We performed χ^2 -tests for differential return rates of the letters. Statistical tests reported for the resulting 2 × 2 contingency tables are one-tailed (see Preacher, 2001).

The return rates for in-group members (the German recipient) and members of the non-stigmatized out-group (the French recipient) were each independent of presence of doctorate degree (see **Table 2**). Importantly, however, for the stigmatized out-group (the Turkish recipient), significantly more letters arrived when a doctorate degree preceded his name (Dr. Ali Yildirim) than if no such academic title was present (Ali Yildirim), $\chi^2(1, N = 60) = 3.35, p = 0.03, \varphi = 0.24$. For the Turkish recipient without doctorate degree (Ali Yildirim), marginally fewer letters were returned than for the in-group recipient, regardless of presence of a doctorate degree of the in-group

TABLE 2 | Experiment 1: return rates of letters as function of the recipient's group membership and presence of a doctorate degree.

	Recipient's group membership			
	In-group (German)	Stigmatized out-group (Turk)	Non-Stigmatized out-group (French)	
Doctorate degree present	25 (83%)	26 (87%)	24 (80%)	
Doctorate degree not present	25 (83%)	20 (67%)	24 (80%)	

Absolute number of returned letters and respective percentages in parentheses per condition. Percentages are rounded. Dispersed letters per cell were n = 30. The sender was consistently a member of the German in-group.

recipient (Nils Schönfeld or Dr. Nils Schönfeld, respectively), each $\chi^2(1, N = 60) = 2.22$, p = 0.07, $\varphi = 0.19$. This finding conceptually replicates previous field demonstrations of discrimination against stigmatized out-group members (e.g., Klink and Wagner, 1999) and is in line with previous research on parochial altruism (e.g., Choi and Bowles, 2007) in showing that altruistic helping behavior is more readily displayed for (generic) in-group members. For the French recipient (Antoine Dupont or Dr. Antoine Dupont, respectively), there were no differences in return rates, indicating that there was no general tendency to discriminate against a member of an out-group that is not generally stigmatized and no differential return rates dependent on the presence of a doctorate degree for this group.

To sum up, the results of Experiment 1 show that whether the German or the French recipient held a doctorate degree did not make any difference with regard to the respective return rates. When the member of the stigmatized Turkish outgroup held a doctorate degree, he received significantly more letters than when the address on the letter did not include the doctorate.

However, from the results found in Experiment 1, it was not entirely clear for whom finders of a letter provided help by posting it: in fact, one could argue that finders of a letter who also posted it might have intended to help the sender, who apparently lost the letter, rather than the recipient who might even be unaware of the letter's existence. In this case, it would be possible that finders simply did not want to help a sender from the German in-group, who had apparently lost a letter intended for a generic member of the stigmatized Turkish out-group. Still, when an in-group member lost a letter addressed to a person holding a doctorate degree, finders may have been motivated to post it to help his or her fellow in-group member communicating with a doctor. We explored this latter notion, which is also in line with predictions derived from views of parochial altruism, in Experiment 2.

We kept the presence of the doctorate degree for the recipient constant in Experiment 2 and designed it to investigate more closely the question of whom finders actually direct their help to, the sender or the recipient of a lost letter.

Experiment 2

Design and Procedure

In Experiment 2, we investigated whether the increase in helping behavior toward the competent member of the stigmatized out-group was due to the in-group membership of the sender who always belonged to the German in-group in Experiment 1. We addressed letters to a doctor whose name was either indicative of an in-group recipient (German) or of a recipient belonging to the stigmatized out-group (Turkish). We also varied the name of the *sender* that signaled his group membership (in-group vs. out-group). There were no recipients without doctorate degree in Experiment 2.

In total, N = 100 stamped letters were dispersed, n = 25 letters per condition in a 2 (sender's group: in-group vs. out-group) \times 2 (recipient's group: in-group vs. out-group) field study. As per Experiment 1, each letter was attached behind a car's windshield. All letters included hand-written addresses of recipient and sender. The sender's address was a local one in Bielefeld, Germany, where the letters were distributed. The names of the recipients were Markus Schäfer (German) and Ali Yildirim (Turkish). The senders were named Fatih Celic (Turkish) or Frank Meier (German). We included a short note in each envelope that was an invitation to a party in case any finder opened the letter. The content of the invitation could not be read through the envelope.

Results and Discussion

As in Experiment 1, statistical tests based on the resulting 2 × 2 contingency tables are one-tailed. As **Table 3** indicates, fewer letters arrived when the sender was from the stigmatized Turkish out-group rather than from the German in-group, $\chi^2(1, N = 100) = 4.11$, p = 0.02, $\varphi = 0.20$. Importantly, for the Turkish recipient, significantly less letters were returned when the sender had a Turkish name than when the sender had a German name, $\chi^2(1, N = 50) = 2.92$, p = 0.04, $\varphi = 0.24$. When the recipient of the letter belonged to the German in-group, this difference was not statistically significant, $\chi^2(1, N = 50) = 1.33$, p = 0.12. The overall return rate for the German recipient did not significantly differ from that for the Turkish recipient, $\chi^2(1, N = 100) = 0.16$, p = 0.34. This finding is in line with

TABLE 3 | Experiment 2: return rates of letters as function of the recipient's and the sender's group membership as written on the lost letters.

	Recipient's group membership		
	In-group (German)	Stigmatized out-group (Turk)	
In-group sender (German)	17 (68%)	17 (68%)	
Stigmatized out-group sender (Turk)	13 (52%)	11 (44%)	

Absolute number of returned letters and respective percentages in parentheses per condition. Dispersed letters per cell were n = 25. The recipient's name was consistently preceded by a doctorate.

Experiment 1, in which we also did not find any difference in return rates when each of the German and Turkish recipients held a doctorate degree.

The motivation to facilitate the correspondence between a letter's sender and a competent member of the stigmatized out-group, or to even make such a communication possible, apparently depends upon the sender's group membership. That an in-group member seeks to interact with a highly competent member of the stigmatized out-group seems to be a key factor in this attenuation of intergroup discrimination.

General Discussion

Together with the pilot study, the results from our two field experiments substantiate claims from previous studies, and importantly, also yield novel insights for research on in-group favoritism as one of two aspects of parochial altruism on various levels (also see Dorrough et al., 2015). Firstly, discrimination in favor of one's in-group over different out-groups apparently depends on the evaluation of these out-groups (cf. Cuddy et al., 2009). In the present research, differences in helping behavior (i.e., posting a letter) directed at in-group and outgroup members were only observed when a stigmatized (vs. non-stigmatized) out-group was compared with the in-group. Secondly, the results show that the perceived competence of the respective member of the stigmatized out-group was a moderator of this in-group favoritism; When a member of a stigmatized out-group was perceived as competent (i.e., holding a doctorate degree), he received a number of letters that did not deviate from the amount the in-group member received. Thus, we assumed that an indicator of competence can serve as buffer against discrimination of a stigmatized out-group member under certain conditions (Experiment 1). Thirdly, while our first experiment could not clearly differentiate whether in-group love exclusively accounted for the discrimination effect against the generic member of the stigmatized out-group, Experiment 2 revealed the contribution of out-group spite. Return rates were particularly low when a member of the stigmatized out-group had ostensibly lost a letter that was addressed to a recipient of the same stigmatized out-group, even though the recipient was highly competent. Thus, it was not only the recipient of the letter per se that received help when he was a highly competent individual. Importantly, help in form of posting that letter was granted only when the sender who intended to communicate with an out-group doctor belonged to the ingroup. This notion is in line with theoretical conceptions of parochial altruism (De Dreu et al., 2014; Rusch, 2014) because it might well be of evolutionary advantage to help in-group members when they intend to interact with highly competent out-group members.

As demonstrated in our pilot study, Germans apparently regard the French as more competent than Turks. To our knowledge, this differentiation in stereotyping between two out-group nationalities has not been reported in the German context yet (cf. Asbrock et al., 2014). Crucially, such differential stereotyping has important implications for research and practice: While previous research mostly focused on identifying stereotypes and stigmatization of one single out-group based on ethnic background (e.g., Lin et al., 2005), the evidence for different degrees or patterns of stereotyping regarding members of different out-group nationalities may enable researchers to articulate more nuanced predictions regarding intergroup perceptions and behavior toward different out-group nationalities and their members.

According to SIT (Tajfel and Turner, 1979), encountering highly competent out-group members might be perceived as threat to the in-group's high status. Dovidio and Gaertner (1981) found empirical support for this assumption. In their classic investigation on helping behavior in an intergroup setting, they showed that White participants were less helpful toward a Black individual, when the Black person was introduced as supervisor (versus subordinate). The perceived stability of intergroup status hierarchy has consequently been studied as an important factor in providing support for empowerment help toward members of a low-status out-group (Cunningham and Platow, 2007): When in-group members perceive that their group's superiority over an out-group might become unstable, they show less helping behavior toward members of the out-group than when they perceive stability in the hierarchy in favor of their own group. However, it is rather unlikely that encountering one single competent individual from an otherwise stigmatized out-group represents a serious threat to the stability of an entire society's socio-economic hierarchy. According to the present results, the letters addressed to a competent out-group member did not lead to a threatened identity, because the return rates of these letters were higher compared to letters addressed to a generic member of the stigmatized out-group. Still, it seems promising to investigate potential underlying processes of parochial altruism linked to threat perceptions (cf. De Dreu et al., 2010), since previous research has provided substantial evidence for the relation of threat and social discrimination (Branscombe et al., 1999).

There is another process that might have influenced our results: In both experiments, all letters contained recipient addresses located in Germany. Accordingly, it might be possible that the superordinate identity of "people living in Germany" became salient, and previous research has demonstrated that a shared identity can explain helping behavior toward members of an out-group (Levine et al., 2005). Independently of a potential salience of a common identity, the present research showed differential return rates depending on the stigma of the out-group. Thus, the results indicate that despite the potential presence of a shared identity via country of residence, differences in helping behavior can be found in a lost letter paradigm.

Many researchers have reasoned that stereotypes make parts of our lives a lot easier (e.g., Macrae and Bodenhausen, 2000). With the indicator of competence, the mechanism that leads to discrimination against members of an otherwise stigmatized out-group was attenuated. It is important to acknowledge that subtyping processes may have contributed to the differences in helping behavior between the members of the stigmatized out-group with versus without the doctorate degree. A subtyping process becomes probable when group members disconfirm a group stereotype. In order to maintain the stereotypes, such *exceptions to the rule* are clustered together and set aside (Maurer et al., 1995). Thus, adding a doctorate degree to the name of the out-group member could have (mis)lead the finders of the letters to believe that the recipient is a rather atypical member of the out-group that is otherwise stigmatized as incompetent.

We argue that, together with the information that a member of the in-group intended to deliver a message to the outgroup member, the negative stereotype against the particular out-group was disconfirmed and the positive stereotype about highly competent exemplars guided the finders' behavior (also see Sinclair and Kunda, 1999). In other contexts, disconfirming a stereotype about an out-group otherwise stigmatized as cold may also lead to an increase in helping behavior. The dimension of warmth also seems to play an important role in providing help for members of an out-group because in-group members may want to deliver a positive, warm picture of their own group (van Leeuwen and Täuber, 2012).

Limitations

We assumed that the vast majority, if not all, of the dispersed letters were found and posted by members of the German ingroup and not by members of the out-groups. Due to the nature of lost-letter studies, we do not have any data to support this assumption. However, we note that if letters were found and posted to a large extent by members of an out-group, this would have worked *against* our hypotheses and the present data patterns. As Turks constitute the largest ethnic minority in Germany, a potential finder that did not belong to the German in-group would have most likely belonged to this largest out-group. These finders would presumably not have discriminated against a generic sender or recipient of their own in-group.

Future replications of the present studies might consider using larger samples, that is, distribute more letters to increase statistical power. Especially in our second field experiment, a larger statistical power may have, for example, revealed a significant difference in letter return rates for the in-group recipient between the out-group-sender versus the in-groupsender conditions.

We note that the return rates of letters were lower in Experiment 2 than in Experiment 1. However, more than the absolute return rates; the relative rates between the experimental

References

- Allport, G. W. (1954). The Nature of Prejudice. Cambridge, MA: Perseus Books.
- Asbrock, F. (2010). Stereotypes of social groups in Germany in terms of warmth and competence. Soc. Psychol. 41, 76–81. doi: 10.1027/1864-9335/a0 00011
- Asbrock, F., Lemmer, G., Becker, J., Koller, J., and Wagner, U. (2014). "Who are these foreigners anyway?" The content of the term foreigner and its impact on prejudice. Sage Open 4, 1–8. doi: 10.1177/2158244014532819
- Bertrand, M., and Mullainathan, S. (2004). Are Emily and Greg more employable than Lakisha and Jamal? A field experiment on labor market discrimination. *Am. Econ. Rev.* 94, 991–1013. doi: 10.1257/0002828042002561

groups were of interest for the present research. In a recent investigation of differences between culturally diverse districts in the city of Berlin, Germany, Koopmans and Veit (2014) have shown that return rates can vary very strongly even across neighborhoods, namely, between 32 and 88% in their study.

Conclusion

Assumptions about deficient competence in members of stigmatized out-groups can lead to subtle forms of intergroup discrimination. One potential practical implication of the present research is that highly competent exemplars of stigmatized outgroups should not be presented as outstanding, incidental, and atypical instances of this out-group in order to overcome simple subtyping (see Maurer et al., 1995). Instead, interactions between in-group members and competent individuals from stigmatized out-groups should be treated as typical and regular instances. For example, on television programs, members of the in-group could interview particularly competent experts who are members of an otherwise stigmatized out-group. This procedure could be a promising and highly non-reactive avenue in promoting intergroup acceptance by refuting subtle yet socially shared stereotypes against minority out-groups. Future research should explore effects of such media exposure on diminishing intergroup discrimination.

Author Contributions

JH, AB, JR, and DH planned the research. JH, AB, and JR conducted the studies. JH and AB analyzed the data. JH, AB, and JR drafted the manuscript. DH provided comments and revisions. All authors approved the submission of the final version of this manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We are indebted to Christina Hanna for her help in conducting the pilot study, and to Sarah Bebermeier, Hannah Sophie Eich, and Ines Orwaldi for their assistance in letter preparation and distribution. We would also like to thank Laura Fröhlich and Ulrich Wagner for providing invaluable comments on a previous draft.

- Branscombe, N. R., Ellemers, N., Spears, R., and Doosje, B. (1999). "The context and content of social identity threat," in *Social Identity: Context, Commitment, Content*, eds N. Ellemers, R. Spears, and B. Doosje (Oxford: Blackwell), 35–58.
- Cadinu, M. R., and Rothbart, M. (1996). Self-anchoring and differentiation processes in the minimal group setting. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 70, 661–677. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.70.4.661
- Choi, J. K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Cuddy, A. J. C., Fiske, S. T., and Glick, P. (2007). The BIAS map: behaviors from intergroup affect and stereotypes. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 92, 631–648. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.92.4.631

- Cuddy, A. J. C., Fiske, S. T., Kwan, V. S. Y., Glick, P., Demoulin, S., Leyens, J.-P., et al. (2009). Stereotype content model across cultures: universal similarities and some differences. *Br. J. Soc. Psychol.* 48, 1–33. doi: 10.1348/014466608X3 14935
- Cunningham, E., and Platow, M. J. (2007). On helping lower status outgroups: the nature of the help and the stability of the intergroup status hierarchy. Asian J. Soc. Psychol. 10, 258–264. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-839X.2007.0 0234.x
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Balliet, D., and Halevy, N. (2014). Parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup conflict. *Adv. Motiv. Sci.* 1, 1–47. doi: 10.1016/bs.adms.2014.08.001
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J., Shalvi, S., Van Kleef, G. A., Baas, M., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408–1411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- Dorrough, A. R., Glöckner, A., Hellmann, D. M., and Ebert, I. (2015). The development of ingroup favoritism in repeated social dilemmas. *Front. Psychol.* 6:476. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00476
- Dovidio, J. F., and Gaertner, S. L. (1981). The effects of race, status, and ability on helping behavior. *Soc. Psychol. Q.* 44, 192–203. doi: 10.2307/30 33833
- Everett, J. A. C., Faber, N. S., Crockett, M. J., and De Dreu, C. K. W. (2015). Economic games and social neuroscience methods can help elucidate the psychology of parochial altruism. *Front. Psychol.* 6:861. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00861
- Fiske, S. T., Cuddy, A. J. C., Glick, P., and Xu, J. (2002). A model of (often mixed) stereotype content: competence and warmth respectively follow from perceived status and competition. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 82, 878–902. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.82.6.878
- Flippen, A. R., Hornstein, H. A., Siegal, W. E., and Weitzman, E. A. (1996). A comparison of similarity and interdependence as triggers for in-group formation. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 22, 882–893. doi: 10.1177/01461672962 29003
- García, J., and van den Bergh, J. C. J. M. (2011). Evolution of parochial altruism by multilevel selection. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 32, 277–287. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010.07.007
- Gregory, M. (1995). Implications of the introduction of the Doctor of Education degree in British universities: can the EdD reach parts the PhD cannot? *Vocat. Asp. Educ.* 47, 177–188. doi: 10.1080/0305787950470206
- Hofstede, G., and Bond, M. H. (1984). Hofstede's culture dimensions: an independent validation using Rokeach's value survey. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 15, 417–433. doi: 10.1177/0022002184015004003
- Kaas, L., and Manger, C. (2012). Ethnic discrimination in Germany's labour market: a field experiment. *Germ. Econ. Rev.* 13, 1–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-0475.2011.00538.x
- Kaslow, N. J., Rubin, N. J., Forrest, L., Elman, N. S., Van Horne, B. A., Jacobs, S. C., et al. (2007). Recognizing, assessing, and intervening with problems of professional competence. *Prof. Psychol. Res. Pr.* 38, 479–492. doi: 10.1037/0735-7028.38.5.479
- Klink, A., and Wagner, U. (1999). Discrimination against ethnic minorities in Germany: going back to the field. J. Appl. Soc. Psychol. 29, 402–423. doi: 10.1111/j.1559-1816.1999.tb01394.x
- Koopmans, R., and Veit, S. (2014). Cooperation in ethnically diverse neighborhoods: a lost-letter experiment. *Polit. Psychol.* 35, 379–400. doi: 10.1111/pops.12037
- Levine, M., Prosser, A., Evans, D., and Reicher, S. (2005). Identity and emergency intervention: how social group membership and inclusiveness of group

boundaries shape helping behavior. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 31, 443-453. doi: 10.1177/0146167204271651

- Lin, M. H., Kwan, V. S., Cheung, A., and Fiske, S. T. (2005). Stereotype content model explains prejudice for an envied outgroup: scale of anti-Asian American stereotypes. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 31, 34–47. doi: 10.1177/01461672042 71320
- Macrae, C. N., and Bodenhausen, G. V. (2000). Social cognition: thinking categorically about others. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 51, 93–120. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.93
- Maurer, K. L., Park, B., and Rothbart, M. (1995). Subtyping versus subgrouping processes in stereotype representation. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 69, 812–824. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.812
- Milgram, S., Mann, L., and Harter, S. (1965). The lost-letter technique: a tool of social research. *Public Opin. Q.* 29, 437–438. doi: 10.1086/267344
- Mullen, B., Brown, R., and Smith, C. (1992). Ingroup bias as a function of salience, relevance, and status: an integration. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 22, 103–122. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420220202
- Penner, L. A., Dovidio, J. F., Piliavin, J. A., and Schroeder, D. A. (2005). Prosocial behavior: multilevel perspectives. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 56, 365–392. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.56.091103.070141
- Phelan, J. C., Link, B. G., and Dovidio, J. F. (2008). Stigma and prejudice: one animal or two? Soc. Sci. Med. 67, 358–367. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.022
- Preacher, K. J. (2001). Calculation for the Chi-Square Test: An Interactive Calculation Tool for Chi-Square Tests of Goodness of Fit and Independence [Computer Software]. Available at: http://quantpsy.org
- Reimers, L., and Diekhof, E. K. (2015). Testosterone is associated with cooperation during intergroup competition by enhancing parochial altruism. *Front. Neurosci.* 9:183. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2015.00183
- Rusch, H. (2014). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. Biol. Sci.* 281, 20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1539
- Sherif, M., Harvey, O. J., White, B. J., Hood, W. R., and Sherif, C. W. (1961). Intergroup Conflict and Cooperation: The Robber's Cave Experiment. Norman, OK: University Book Exchange.
- Sinclair, S., and Kunda, Z. (1999). Reactions to a black professional: motivated inhibition and activation of conflicting stereotypes. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 77, 885–904. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.77.5.885
- Tajfel, H., Billig, M. G., Bundy, R. P., and Flament, C. (1971). Social categorization and intergroup behaviour. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 1, 149–178. doi: 10.1002/ejsp.2420010202
- Tajfel, H., and Turner, J. C. (1979). "An integrative theory of intergroup conflict," in *The Social Psychology of Intergroup Relations*, eds S. Worchel and W. G. Austin (Monterey, CA: Brooks-Cole), 33–47.
- van Leeuwen, E., and Täuber, S. (2012). Outgroup helping as a tool to communicate ingroup warmth. Pers. Soc. Psychol. Bull. 38, 772–783. doi: 10.1177/0146167211436253

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Hellmann, Berthold, Rees and Hellmann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



An experiment on individual 'parochial altruism' revealing no connection between individual 'altruism' and individual 'parochialism'

Philip J. Corr¹, Shaun P. Hargreaves Heap^{2*}, Charles R. Seger³ and Kei Tsutsui⁴

¹ Department of Psychology, City University London, London, UK, ² Department of Political Economy, King's College London, London, UK, ³ School of Psychology, University of East Anglia, Nowich, UK, ⁴ Department of Economics, University of Bath, Bath, UK

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Robert Böhm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

Reviewed by:

Jan Philipp Wilhelm, RWTH Aachen University, Germany Hillie Aaldering, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Shaun P. Hargreaves Heap, Department of Political Economy, King's College London, Strand, London WC2R 2LS, UK s.hargreavesheap@kcl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 29 May 2015 Accepted: 06 August 2015 Published: 20 August 2015

Citation:

Corr PJ, Hargreaves Heap SP, Seger CR and Tsutsui K (2015) An experiment on individual 'parochial altruism' revealing no connection between individual 'altruism' and individual 'parochialism'. Front. Psychol. 6:1261. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01261 Is parochial altruism an attribute of <u>individual</u> behavior? This is the question we address with an experiment. We examine whether the individual pro-sociality that is revealed in the public goods and trust games when interacting with fellow group members helps predict individual parochialism, as measured by the in-group bias (i.e., the difference in these games in pro-sociality when interacting with own group members as compared with members of another group). We find that it is not. An examination of the Big-5 personality predictors of each behavior reinforces this result: they are different. In short, knowing how pro-social individuals are with respect to fellow group members does <u>not</u> help predict their parochialism.

Keywords: parochial altruism, in-group bias, pro-sociality, personality

Introduction

Is parochial altruism an attribute of <u>individual</u> behavior? It is well known from experiments that there is an in-group bias in pro-sociality at a population level. That is, populations reveal that they are nicer to members of their own group than to those of the out-group (e.g., see surveys in Balliet et al., 2014 and Lane, 2015). This is true even for "minimal groups" in which bias is created from the assignment of arbitrary group-memberships (Tajfel, 1970). What is not known is whether the <u>individual variation</u> in the level of pro-sociality (the 'altruism') is connected to the <u>individual variation</u> of the in-group bias (the 'parochialism'). Are those individuals who are most pro-social to insiders also the individuals who are most 'parochial' in their pro-sociality? This is the question we address with an experiment¹.

The question is important because both the social identity and the evolutionary accounts of the emergence of 'altruism' would seem to predict such an individual association with 'parochialism'.

¹'Altruism' is sometimes used to capture a very specific attention to the interests of others: the individual's utility function representation of his or her preferences is a weighted sum of own and the other person's pay-offs. It is also often used more loosely to describe the motive for behavior that is generally 'nice' toward others (that is attends to the interests of the other in one way or another). This could arise from many specific forms of motivation and not just 'altruism' in the narrow specific sense of the weighted sum utility function. For example, in many settings behaving 'nicely' could arise from a concern with efficiency or equality. We assume here that 'altruism' is used in the general rather than specific sense and so stands generally for other regarding behavior (whatever its precise motivation). Hence, we will hereafter typically refer to individual prosociality rather than individual 'altruism' to avoid any possible confusion.

For example, the more you identify with your group under social identity and self categorization theory (i.e., the more parochial you are; Turner et al., 1987), the greater should be your anticipated within-group pro-sociality (because this is how you identify your self). Likewise, the Choi and Bowles (2007) agent based simulations predict (under some conditions) the evolutionary emergence of 'altruism' but only when combined at the individual level with parochialism.

We address the question in two ways. First, we adopt a revealed preference approach. We examine whether the individual pro-sociality that is revealed in two person public goods (PG) and trust (T) games when interacting with fellow group members helps predict individual parochialism. For this purpose, we measure pro-sociality by the level of 'contributing' in the PG and the level of 'giving' and 'returning' in T; and we measure parochialism by the extent to which individuals' pro-sociality toward fellow group members does not extend to members of another group (that is, the in-group bias).

The 'contribution' rate in PG and the 'return' rate in T are commonly taken as an indices of pro-sociality because the selfishly rational individual contributes zero and because a variety of specific non-selfish motivations (like altruism, inequality aversion and a concern for efficiency) predict increasing 'contribution' with the strength of these motivations (e.g., see Elster, 2007, on theoretical justifications for this and Camerer, 2003, for a summary of the experimental evidence). The 'giving' rate in T is not so easily interpreted because a non-zero gift is consistent with selfishness, when a selfish first mover expects (for whatever reason) that the second mover will 'return' a more than compensating amount, as well as with a variety of pro-social motivations like altruism, etc. With this in mind, 'giving' in T, is often treated as index, but a noisy one, of pro-sociality. Three possible group contingent measures of pro-sociality follow.

- (1) General pro-sociality (i.e., when there are no groups)
- (2) In-group pro-sociality (i.e., when both individuals belong to same group)
- (3) Out-group pro-sociality (i.e., when the two individuals belong to different groups).

We now define the following for each individual.

- In-group bias = in-group pro-sociality minus out-group prosociality.
- In-group 'love' = in-group pro-sociality minus general prosociality.
- Out-group 'hate' = general pro-sociality minus out-group prosociality.

The in-group bias is a natural indicator of parochialism because it captures the extent to which insiders are treated differently to outsiders: it is a measure of the extent to which prosocialitry is restricted to fellow group members. Furthermore, it can conveniently be decomposed with these definitions into in-group 'love' plus out-group 'hate.' With the background expectation from social identity theory and the Choi and Bowles (2007) evolutionary account, our first approach to the question can now be summarized through H1.

H1: Greater/lesser individual in-group pro-sociality revealed in PG and T is associated, respectively, with greater/lesser individual in-group bias in PG and T.

Second, we complement the revealed preference approach of H1 by considering whether there is a psychological link between altruism and parochialism in the sense that the same personality variables help predict both pro-sociality and the in-group bias. For this purpose, we use the Big-5 personality traits (McCrae and Costa, 1999) as possible predictors. They are 'Openness,' 'Extraversion,' 'Agreeablenes,' 'Conscientiousness,' and 'Neuroticism.' The five factor personality model is widely used and has been found to help predict pro-sociality in PG (e.g., see Koole et al., 2001; Pothos et al., 2011, and Volk et al., 2012), in T (see Dohmen et al., 2008) and in other games (e.g., Ben-Ner et al., 2004, for the Dictator game). Typically 'Agreeableness' is associated with pro-sociality and other traits, less systematically so. We know of no experimental study that has examined whether these traits are associated with in-group bias revealed by individuals.

With the same background expectation, this leads to H2.

H2: The Big 5 personality traits predicting individual prosociality in PG and T also predict the individual in-group bias in PG and T.

To our knowledge neither approach to the question of the link between individual 'altruism' and individual 'parochialism' has been examined experimentally before. There are experiments that have addressed a <u>related but different</u> version of H1. In these experiments, individuals are often first identified as either pro-social or pro-self, then they consider whether the group of pro-social individuals are more likely to engage in acts of actual belligerence than the pro-self group. This evidence, we shall suggest, is mixed and not always easy to interpret in part because the definition of parochialism is slippery. It also does not address the connection at the level of individuals.

For example, Abbink et al. (2012) first classify individuals through their play in a prisoners' dilemma game as pro-social or (selfish) egoists. The individuals are formed into two groups of four players and then play a Tulloch group conflict game: that is, each individual makes a contribution to a group fund, the size of which relative to the other group fund, influences the likelihood of winning the prize in the group competition. All members of a group have an equal share if their group wins the prize. They find that those who are classified as pro-social in the prisoners' dilemma game contribute, on average, more in the group competition game than those classified as egoists. In this way, altruism of acting pro-socially in a prisoners' dilemma game and the parochialism of investing in conflict seem to go together. There is a difficulty, however, with this interpretation of the evidence for parochialism (as potentially distinct from altruism). The group contest game has a free rider dimension.

The prize is like a risky PG. Individual contributions have a small effect on the probability of winning the prize and individuals free ride on the contribution of others in this contest. In this context, it is hardly surprising that the pro-socials contribute more to the group contest fund than do the egoists. That is what pro-socials do: they make contributions to PGs when egoists do not².

De Dreu (2010) similarly first classifies individuals via a social value test (that turns on choosing allocations between one's self and another) into either pro-socials or pro-selves. Once classified, the subjects choose how much to allocate to a within-group fund and a between-group fund. The contributions to both funds generate a PG for the players' own group. The difference is that a contribution to the between-group fund also lowers the value of the PG for the out-group. Since the latter actually harms the out-group, De Dreu interprets contributions to the withingroup and between-group fund as, respectively, in-group love and out-group hate³. There is no difference between types in their contributions to the between-group fund but pro-socials as a group contribute more to the within-group fund than pro-selves. Thus, it seems that social value orientation affects in-group love but not out-group hate (in De Dreu's sense of these terms).

If parochialism is associated with out-group hate because it harms another group (in the same way that Abbink et al., 2012, associate parochialism with investments in contests that harm the interests of the other group), then this means (and contrary to the suggestion in Abbink et al., 2012) parochialism is not connected to social value orientation and in-group love⁴. This, however, is not the interpretation of parochialism that De Dreu et al. (2010) offer in a related experiment, where the term 'parochialism' is explicitly used. In this experiment, they associate parochial altruism with in-group love alone. The difficulty with this interpretation is that in-group love in their definition is just what is revealed by contributing to an own group PG and there is no way of judging whether such behavior is parochial because there is no contrasting behavior for what individuals do in the same decision problem when interacting with members of another group. We cannot tell whether their pro-sociality stops at the boundary of their group

or not in this experiment: that is, whether it is parochial⁵. It seems that their justification for this interpretation in-group love as parochial turns on an early observation that 'As ingroup love furthers the power and effectiveness of one's own group vis- à-vis the competing out-group, in-group love is an indirect way of competing with the out-group (De Dreu et al., 2010, p.1408).' This is perfectly reasonable when groups are indeed in competition with each other. The problem is that in this experiment the groups are not in a competition where this is the case when making contributions to their own group PG.

There are several nested social dilemma experiments where parochialism in our sense of a weakening of pro-sociality when interacting with members of another group and its connection with pro-sociality toward own group members might be examined. In these experiments individuals belong to one of two sub-groups and they have the opportunity to contribute to an own sub-group PG or a collective PG (one that benefits own and the other sub-group members). The contrast between own sub-group PG contributions and contributions to the collective PG could therefore potentially reveal whether prosociality weakens beyond the boundary of the own sub-group. The difficulty with interpreting the results of these experiments is that they were not designed for this purpose. Individuals in these experiments have to choose how to allocate their fixed endowment between the two PG accounts and a private one (e.g., see Wit and Kerr, 2002; Polzer, 2004; Halevy et al., 2012). As a result, for any given level of contribution to the private account, there must be a negative association between the contributions to the two PGs accounts. What the relation is between contributions to the two kinds of PGs is not therefore something that is revealed by behavior in these experiments because a negative association is built in by the design of the experiment.

There are four important differences in our experiment. First, by measuring individual pro-sociality by the extent of contributing, giving and returning, we allow for greater granularity in individual pro-sociality than the binary division in these experiments between two types (the pro-social and proself). Second, this in turn means that we have individual measures which enable us to examine whether parochialism is associated with pro-sociality at the level of the individual and not just at the level of groups of individuals. Third, we use a natural definition of parochialism (the extent of the in-group bias) that would admit, in principle, Abbink et al.'s (2012) association of parochialism with actual aggression as an extreme case (that is, where pro-sociality has become so weakened as to become negative). It also has the further advantage of being formally connected to our definitions of in-group love and out-group hate: in particular, parochialism can be decomposed into in-group love and out-group hate. Finally, our experiment does not build in any necessary relation between in-group pro-sociality (i.e., 'altruism') and the in-group bias (i.e., 'parochialism').

²The clean test to avoid this problem would have had individuals deciding whether to enter an individual contest with a member of the other group.

³This, of course, is related to but is not the same as the definition of in-group love and out-group hate that we will be using. The virtue of our definition is twofold. First, the in-groupness (and out-groupness) of behavior is judged <u>relative</u> to what individuals do when there are no groups, whereas in De Dreu's (2010) in-group love is simply contributing to an own group PG and there is no way of knowing whether this is special due to a shared group membership because there is no comparison with altruism when there are no groups (see later comments about the difficulties in interpretation that this lack of a comparison can create). Second, the particular point of comparison that we use in our definition has the further benefit of connecting to discussions of social capital in relatively homogenous (where different group ties are weak) as compared with plural societies (where different group ties are strong).

⁴This 'disconnection' result is also consistent with the closest experiment that we know that considers something like H2. Halevy et al. (2012) where in a similar set up to De Dreu (2010), they find that those who contribute to the within group fund gain 'prestige' while those who contribute to the between group fund are regarded as 'dominant.' In other words, in-group love and out-group hate involve different psychological currents.

⁵This is a natural definition of 'parochial' and it admits the Abbink et al. (2012) definition as an extreme version where the weakening is so extreme that hostility actually emerges in relation to other groups.

Materials and Methods

Our subjects engage in two counterbalanced tasks. The first task consists of two decision making experiments where pro-sociality has typically been revealed in varying degrees across individuals: the PG and Trust (T) games. The second task is the DeYoung et al. (2007) version of the Big 5 personality survey test. These tasks are counterbalanced to enable control for any possible priming effect of one task upon the other. There are two treatments for the PG and T decisions: one with no group affiliations and the other with minimum, artificial group affiliations where subjects belong to either the red or the blue group. We chose the PG and T games and we used a minimal, artificial group affiliation mechanism because they have revealed the in-group bias in prosociality in previous experiments (see Chen and Li, 2009 and Hargreaves Heap and Zizzo, 2009).

In both treatments, subjects anonymously make the PG and T decisions (in a random order) eight times in two separate stages. The decisions are always made with a randomly drawn co-player but in the group treatments the randomness is constrained to ensure equal numbers of interactions with own-group and outgroup members. In the T decision, a player occupies the first and second mover roles four times each (i.e., twice in each stage). In the group treatments, subjects know their own color group and that of their co-player; and the random matching is constrained to produce two interactions with co-players from the same group and two from the other group in each of the two stages. At the end of stage 1, a table is shown with the mean contribution rate in the PG and the mean giving and return rates in T. In the group treatment, these values are reported for the following four cases: in-group matching of Blue to Blue and Red to Red, and outgroup matching of Blue to Red and Red to Blue. The interactions are split into two stages to allow for possible learning and the introduction of information.

The pay-off details for the PG and T decisions are as follows.

PG: Each player is endowed with 50 experimental points and each must decide how much individual investment to make in the common fund. Individual payoff = 50 – Individual Investment + 0.7 (Total Investment in Common Fund).

T: The first mover is endowed with 50 experimental points and must decide how much (=`x') "to give" to the second mover. This sum (*x*) is multiplied by three and so the second mover receives 3*x*. The second mover decides how much (=`y') of 3*x* to return to the first mover. Hence

First mover payoff = 50 - x + y; Second mover payoff = 3x - y.

Our index of individual pro-sociality (for all three group contingent settings) is the amount of 'contributing' in PG and 'giving' and 'returning' in T (with a suitable qualification regarding the possible noisiness in relation to 'giving'). We express these in terms of % of endowment for 'contributing' and 'giving' and as % of what becomes the second movers endowment in T (i.e., three times what has been 'given' by the first mover).

Our measure of individual parochialism is the in-group bias: the difference in individual pro-sociality when interacting with an insider and outsider. That leaves open the question of whether this should be measured as an absolute number or normalized, say by the level of insider pro-sociality. We normalize because using the absolute value of the gap necessarily builds in a relation between this and individual pro-sociality. To see this, let the mean individual in-group and out-group contributing/giving/returning rate of subject *i*, who participated in the two-group treatment, be X_i and Y_i , respectively. Now suppose that everybody simply treated all outsiders a constant fraction ('b') less nicely than insiders (i.e., $Y_i = bX_i$, b < 1), then the absolute value of the in-group bias $(X_i - Y_i)$ would grow with X_i . But this would not reflect any difference in treatment of outsiders relative to insiders (since they are always treated less well by the same fraction 'b'). Normalizing the absolute value of the in-group bias by the level of in-group pro-sociality avoids this false association with in-group pro-sociality.

The model we use in testing H1 is therefore given by

$$\frac{X_i - Y_i}{X_i} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_i + Z_i \beta + \varepsilon_i \dots \dots \dots \qquad (1)$$

where Z_i is the vector of dummy variables. For returning rate, Z_i includes the mean points given by out-group coparticipant for the 'returning' decision.

Since X_i appears on both sides of the above equation, we obtain the reduced form:

$$Y_i = (1 - \beta_0 - Z_i \beta) X_i - \beta_1 X_i^2 - \varepsilon_i X_i \dots \dots$$
(2)

If there was an association between the in-group bias and prosociality, then β_1 should be <u>positive</u> (i.e., X_i^2 the coefficient on in equation (2) should be negative).

The experiment was conducted at the University of East Anglia⁶. Subjects were recruited through postings on an online participant pool and message board. A total of 110 subjects were involved in eight sessions. Five sessions with 62 subjects in total had no groups to serve as a control group, and the other three sessions with 48 subjects were our experimental group, which had two groups⁷. The instructions, the control questionnaire and the experiment were computerized with zTree (Fischbacher, 2007). There was a show-up fee for the personality survey test and subjects were paid on the basis of a randomly chosen round from each stage in the PG and T games. For this purpose, experimental points were converted at a rate of 4 p per point⁸.

⁶The experiment received approval from the Ethics Committee of the School of Social Work and Psychology at UEA. This committee reports to and acts on behalf of the Social Science Faculty Ethics Committee at UEA. All subjects gave written informed consent at the beginning of the experiment.

⁷Two no-group sessions were conducted with eight subjects. One two-group session was conducted with 14 subjects. Other five sessions had 16 subjects.

⁸The experiment reported here was part of a larger set of experiments examining discriminatory behavior. The instructions for the full set are contained in the electronic Appendix. Subjects earned on average £16.21 in the experiment that lasted around 90 min and they received a £15 show-up fee for a set of survey questions that lasted between 70 and 90 min.

Results

Table 1 provides a summary of the results on the average rates of 'contributing,' 'giving,' and 'returning' under different conditions. They reveal typical levels of pro-sociality in the first column when there are no groups (see Camerer, 2003). The ingroup bias is apparent in the comparison of the second and third columns where the 'contributing,' 'giving,' and 'returning' between insiders and outsiders, respectively, is set out for the group treatments. The no-group treatment provides the baseline from which to judge the effect of group membership and the respective contributions of in-group love and out-group hate to the in-group bias. **Table 1**, therefore, suggests that the in-group bias in PG arises from in-group love; whereas in T it arises from a mixture of in-group love and out-group hate.

A non-parametric analysis reports only mild significance of the in-group bias in PG due to few independent observations. The small number of independent observations at this aggregate level arises because the analysis requires two levels of clustering: subjects nested within sessions and the session (as subjects interact with each other as games are repeated). Hence we now test for the significance of these insights by running an individual regression on 'contributing,' 'giving,' and 'returning' rates using three-level models. There are two dummies: one for the group sessions, which is labeled as 'In-group Matching + Out-group Matching,' and the other for when the interaction in groups is with outsiders, 'Out-group Matching' An in-group bias is picked up by the latter, because controlling with the first dummy for groups sessions, it reveals any difference in behavior toward outsiders. This is Specification A in **Table 2**, where we also

TABLE 1 Summary of results.				
		No groups	Insiders	Outsiders
Contributing rate (PG)	Mean	0.256	0.400	0.258
. ,	Somers' d-value		0.328	-0.004
	(p-value)		(0.071)	(0.986)
Giving rate (T)	Mean	0.399	0.486	0.337
	Somers' d-value		0.167	-0.137
	(p-value)		(0.455)	(0.538)
Returning rate (T)	Mean	0.218	0.224	0.176
	Somers' d-value		0.017	-0.210
	(p-value)		(0.909)	(0.313)
Number of subjects		62		48

Contributing [giving] rate = the ratio of the contributed [given] points to the endowment of 50 points. Returning rate = the ratio of the returned points to the points the second mover has received. We apply a non-parametric method to test if contributing, giving, and returning rates when matched with insiders or outsiders are larger than these values in the no-group treatment. Each observation is the mean value at the subject level, thus the sample size is 110. Since subjects interact each other as games are repeated, the independent observation is at the session level. Therefore Somers'd is employed to use clustering, instead of a Wilcoxon rank-sum test. The d-value can be interpreted as follows: the contribution rate to insiders is 32.8% more likely to be higher than the contribution rate in the no-group treatment than vice versa. The significance of the d-value is reported inside parentheses.

control for possible order effects, stage, and round effects and possible reciprocation effects in the 'return' equation by including the amount 'given.' The regressions reveal an in-group bias: the out-group matching dummy is significant and negative in all equations.

We also test for whether there is a <u>distinct</u> in-group love/outgroup hate origin for this bias. The fact that outsider dummy in Specification A is significantly negative shows that there is a significant difference between the behavior toward insiders and outsiders, but it cannot easily test for whether this comes from either in-group love/out-group hate or some combination of the two. We do this through the regressions in Specification B where we have separate dummies for insider and outsider matching in the group sessions. The only significant coefficient at 95% level is on the insider matching dummy in the 'contributing' equation. Hence, there is clear in-group love in PG which could account for the bias. The insider dummy is only weakly significant in the 'giving' equation and so it is more likely that some combination of in-group love and out-group hate generates the bias in T.

Result 1: There is evidence of individual parochialism in the form of in-group bias in PG and T. In-group love could alone account for this in PG but it is more likely to be a combination of in-group love and out-group hate that explains the in-group bias in T.

Thus we have an experiment where subjects display 'altruism' and 'parochialism,' we now turn to a test of our two hypotheses concerning the relation between them. Is individual altruism associated with individual parochialism?

Figure 1 provides a preliminary view on H1. We plot individual in-group 'contributing,' 'giving,' and 'returning' against the individual in-group bias in each decision when, respectively, normalized by the level of in-group 'contributing,' 'giving,' and 'returning.' The visual evidence is not strong.

We test statistically for this association by estimating equation (2). Due to the potential problem of the heteroskedasticity of the error term, we use the GLS. Recall if there is an association between the normalized in-group bias and pro-sociality, then β_1 should be <u>positive</u> (i.e., the coefficient on X_i^2 should be negative). This, however, is <u>not</u> what is revealed in **Table 3**. The coefficient on squared insider pro-sociality (X_i^2) is insignificant in all regressions. The coefficient on X_i is significant and positive, suggesting that our subjects simply contributed/gave/returned to outsiders a fraction of what they do to insiders.

Result 2 (against H1): There is no association between normalized individual pro-sociality and individual parochialism in PG and T. There is evidence that individual pro-sociality toward outsiders is a constant fraction of individual pro-sociality toward insiders.

H2 takes up our second approach to the question of whether individual altruism is connected to individual parochialism. **Table 4** reports on the signs of the significant coefficients when we introduce the Big-5 personality predictors into the regression equations like those in **Table 2** on 'contributing,' 'giving,' and

TABLE 2 | Individual pro-sociality regressions.

Variable (Game)		Contributing (PG)	Giving (T)	Returning (T)
Personality survey before PG&T		0.174 (0.291)	0.0880 (0.326)	-0.110 (0.317)
PG Game before trust game		0.343 (0.319)	-0.131 (0.364)	0.387 (0.353)
Session of eight (vs. $14 \le$) Subjects		1.040*** (0.385)	0.852** (0.401)	0.955** (0.418)
Second stage		-0.184*** (0.0179)	-0.142*** (0.0213)	-0.239*** (0.0279)
Round		-0.0699*** (0.00820)	-0.0247** (0.0104)	-0.153*** (0.0135)
Specification A	In-group matching +	0.771** (0.315)	0.679* (0.361)	0.133 (0.348)
	Out-group matching			
	Out-group matching	-0.382*** (0.0267)	-0.374*** (0.0325)	-0.219*** (0.0424)
Specification B	In-group matching	0.771** (0.315)	0.679* (0.361)	0.133 (0.348)
	Out-group matching	0.388 (0.315)	0.305 (0.361)	-0.0858 (0.348)
Given by first Mover				0.0523*** (0.00123)
Constant		1.771*** (0.256)	2.421*** (0.291)	0.875*** (0.282)
Observations		880	440	360

Regressions are three-level mixed-effects poisson model. Since the range of the dependent variables is non-negative integers, we assume poisson distribution instead of t-distribution. These are with random intercepts at both the session and the subject-within-session levels since subjects interact each other as games are repeated. For each regression, we tried two models: specifications A and B. The dummy variable In-group Matching is one if the session has two groups and the subject is matched with a member of the same group, otherwise zero. Out-group Matching is one if the session has two groups and the subject is matched with a member of the other group, otherwise zero. In-Group Matching + Out-Group Matching is equal to one in the two-group treatment and zero in the no-group treatment. Significance levels: *p < 0.10, **p < 0.05, and ***p < 0.01.



'returning.' Each personality trait is introduced by itself to capture its general possible influence and in interaction with the two dummies for group sessions and inter-group matching. It is the latter, recall, that captures any influence on the in-group bias. Hence, when the interaction dummy coefficient is negative, this trait contributes to the bias, while a positive coefficient means that the trait counters the bias by promoting pro-sociality toward outsiders. The full regression results are contained in the Appendix, we focus in **Table 4** only on the sign of the personality variables that are significant in predicting pro-sociality in general and the in-group bias.

'Agreeableness' is the only personality trait that (positively) predicts general pro-sociality, i.e., in 'contributing' and 'giving.' 'Agreeableness' also predicts positively pro-sociality with respect to outsiders in 'contributing' and 'returning.' Thus the one personality predictor of pro-sociality in general works against the in-group bias because it also helps predict pro-sociality with outsiders. There are several traits that have a negative effect in

TABLE 3 | Insider and outsider pro-sociality.

Variable	Mean out-group contributing rate	Mean out-group giving rate	Mean out-group returning rate
Personality survey before PG&T $\times X_i$	0.195*** (0.00635)	0.0970*** (0.00207)	0.293*** (0.0516)
PG game before trust game $\times X_i$	0.0191 (0.0534)	0.231*** (0.00450)	0.350*** (0.0933)
Xi	0.659*** (0.0551)	0.458*** (0.0809)	0.859*** (0.258)
Xi ²	-0.227 (0.140)	-0.0315 (0.109)	-0.599 (0.391)
Mean out-group given rate $\times X_i$			-0.590 (0.607)
Observations	48	48	47

Each observation is the mean value at the subject level. Regressions are GLS with clustering at the session level. Significance levels: *p < 0.10, **p < 0.05, and ***p < 0.01.

TABLE 4 | Big 5 Predictors of general pro-sociality and in-group bias.

	General		Out-group matching	
	Contributing	Giving	Contributing	Returning
Big 5				
Openness			+	
Extraversion			+	-
Conscientiousness			+	_
Agreeableness	+	+	+	
Neuroticism			_	-

out-group matching (i.e., contribute to the in-group bias) but none helps predict pro-sociality in general.

Result 3 (against H2): There is no personality trait that helps predict both individual pro-sociality and individual in-group bias in either PG or T.

Discussion and Conclusion

The central role of 'agreeableness' in predicting pro-sociality is a common finding in the literature where the Big-5 has been used to predict behavior in the PG, T (and Dictator) games (see Koole et al., 2001; Ben-Ner et al., 2004; Dohmen et al., 2008; Pothos et al., 2011; Volk et al., 2012). In this respect, along with the general levels of pro-sociality, our results are consistent with those in the experimental literature. Furthermore, our results tend to support the suggestion in the literature that the in-group bias comes predominantly from in-group love rather than out-group hate (see Balliet et al., 2014). There have been earlier examinations of whether 'altruism' is associated at the individual level with 'parochialism.' The evidence is not always easy to interpret and is mixed. We are the first, to our knowledge, to examine whether individual pro-sociality is linked to individual parochialism (as captured by the in-group bias) in such detail. This association is important because it is an implication of both social identity and evolutionary accounts of the origins of altruism.

Our measure of pro-sociality is 'contributing and 'giving' and 'returning' in the PG and T games, respectively. Our measure of parochialism is the in-group bias in these decisions: the extent to which subjects are less pro-social with outsiders than insiders. We find there is no association. There is an in-group bias, but this does not vary with the level of pro-sociality toward insiders. This result is reinforced by the analysis on the personality predictors of pro-sociality and the in-group bias. 'Agreeableness' is the only predictor of pro-sociality and it does not predict its diminution with outsiders (which is what would be expected if altruism was to be linked with parochialism at the individual level). Instead, 'agreeableness' positively predicts pro-sociality with both insiders and outsiders. This personality variable, therefore, would lead one to expect that pro-sociality toward insiders moves in tandem with that toward outsider. This is, indeed, what we find. In a complementary result, we find that there are a range of personality predictors of the in-group bias, but none helps predict pro-sociality in general.

Of course, these results are preliminary and need further investigation. One problem is that there are no operational, agreed definitions of the term 'parochial altruism.' We have used what we regard as natural definitions, but with different definitions, there may be different results. This suggests the need for further work to clarify how best to define the term. Another problem that future research should address is that our results apply to only two decision settings. It would be good to examine whether the same results hold across further decision problems (e.g., the dictator game, contest games, etc). Nevertheless, if pro-sociality is not tied to parochialism at an individual level, in the way that we have found, then it carries an encouraging implication. An increase in individual 'altruism' need not be accompanied by the growth of individual 'parochialism.'

Acknowledgment

We would like to thank CBESS and Economic and Social Research Council through the Network for Integrated Behavioral Science (Grant reference ES/K002201/1).

Supplementary Material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg.2015. 01261

References

- Abbink, K., Brandts, J., Herrmann, B., and Orzen, H. (2012). Parochial altruism in inter-group conflicts. *Econ. Lett.* 117, 45–48. doi: 10.1016/j.econlet.2012.04.083
- Balliet, D., Wu, J., and De Dreu, C. K. W. (2014). In-group favoritism in cooperative decision making: a meta-analysis. *Psychol. Bull.* 140, 1556–1581. doi: 10.1037/a0037737
- Ben-Ner, A., Kong, F., and Putterman, L. (2004). Share and share alike? Genderpairing, personality and cognitive ability as determinants of giving. J. Econ. Psychol. 25, 581–589. doi: 10.1016/S0167-4870(03)00065-5
- Camerer, C. (2003). *Behavioral Game Theory*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Chen, Y., and Li, S. (2009). Group identity and social preferences. *Am. Econ. Rev.* 99, 431–457. doi: 10.1257/aer.99.1.431
- Choi, J.-K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- De Dreu, C. K. W. (2010). Social value orientation moderates in-group love but not out-group hate in competitive intergroup conflict. *Group Process. Intergroup Relat.* 13, 701–713. doi: 10.1177/1368430210377332
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J. J., Shalvi, S., Van Kleef, G. A., Baas, M., Ten Velden, F. S., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408–1411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- DeYoung, C. G., Quilty, L. C., and Peterson, J. B. (2007). Between facets and domains: 10 aspects of the Big Five. J. Persnal. Soc. Psychol. 93, 880–896. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.93.5.880
- Dohmen, T., Falk, A., Huffman, D., and Sunde, U. (2008). Representative trust and reciprocity: prevalence and determinants. *Econ. Inq.* 46, 84–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1465-7295.2007.00082.x
- Elster, J. (2007). *Explaining Social Behaviour*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511806421
- Fischbacher, U. (2007). z-Tree: Zurich toolbox for ready-made economic experiments. *Exp. Econ.* 10, 171–178. doi: 10.1007/s10683-006-9159-4
- Halevy, N., Cohen, T., Chou, E., and Livingston, W. (2012). Status conferral in intergroup social dilemmas: behavioral antecedents and consequences of prestige and dominance. J. Persnal. Soc. Psychol. 102, 351–366. doi: 10.1037/a0025515
- Hargreaves Heap, S. P., and Zizzo, D. J. (2009). The value of groups. *Am. Econ. Rev.* 99, 295–323. doi: 10.1257/aer.99.1.295

- Koole, S., Jager, W., van den Berg, A., Vlek, C., and Hofstee, W. (2001). On the social nature of personality: effects of extraversion, agreeableness, and feedback about collective resource use on cooperation in a resource dilemma. *Persnal. Soc. Psychol. Bull.* 27, 289–301. doi: 10.1177/0146167201 273003
- Lane, T. (2015). Discrimination in the laboratory: a meta analysis of economics experiments. CEDEX Discuss. Paper 2015–2013.
- McCrae, R. R., and Costa P. T. Jr. (1999). "A five-factor theory of personality," in *Handbook of Personality: Theory and Research*, 2nd Edn, Vol. 2, eds L. A. Pervin and O. P. John (New York, NY: Guilford), 139–153.
- Polzer, J. (2004). How subgroup interests and reputations moderate the effect of organizational identification on cooperation. J. Manage. 30, 71–96. doi: 10.1016/j.jm.2002.12.003
- Pothos, E. M., Perry, G., Corr, P. J., Matthew, M. R., and Busemeyer, J. R. (2011). Understanding cooperation in the Prisoner's Dilemma game. *Persnal. Individ. Diff.* 51, 210–215. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.05.002
- Tajfel, H. (1970). Experiments in intergroup discrimination. Scientific Am. 223, 96–102. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican1170-96
- Turner, J. S., Hogg, M. A., Oakes, P. J., Reicher, S. D., and Wetherell, M. S. (1987). Rediscovering the Social Group: A Self-categorization Theory. Cambridge, MA: Basil Blackwell.
- Volk, S., Thon, C., and Ruigrok, W. (2012). Temporal stability and psychological foundations of cooperation preferences. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 81, 664–667. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2011.10.006
- Wit, A., and Kerr, N. (2002). Me versus just us versus us all categorization and cooperation in nested social dilemmas. J. Persnal. Soc. Psychol. 83, 616–637. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.83.3.616

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Corr, Hargreaves Heap, Seger and Tsutsui. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Inter-Group Conflict and Cooperation: Field Experiments Before, During and After Sectarian Riots in Northern Ireland

Antonio S. Silva * and Ruth Mace

Department of Anthropology, University College London, London, UK

The idea that cooperative groups out-compete less cooperative groups has been proposed as a theoretical possibility for the evolution of cooperation through cultural group selection. Previous studies have found an association between increased cooperation and exposure to inter-group violence, but most have not been able to identify the specific target of cooperation and are based on correlational data making it difficult to establish causality. In this study we test the hypothesis that inter-group conflict promotes parochial altruism (i.e., in-group altruism and out-group hostility) by using longitudinal data of a real-world measure of cooperation—charity and school donations—sampled before, during and after violent sectarian riots between Catholics and Protestants in Belfast, Northern Ireland. We find that conflict is associated with reductions in all types of cooperation, with reduced donations to a neutral charity, and both in-group and out-group primary schools. After the conflict, both in-group and out-group conflict promotes parochial altruism.

Keywords: parochial altruism, real world behavior, donations, in-group favoritism, cooperation and conflict, evolution of cooperation

INTRODUCTION

Inter-group competition is often put forward as a prominent factor in the evolution of cooperation (Boorman and Levitt, 1973; Choi and Bowles, 2007; Bowles, 2009). Specifically, models of cultural group selection depend on competition between groups for traits that favor the group to evolve, in which groups compete over access to resources such as food, mates or territory (Bowles et al., 2003; Choi and Bowles, 2007; García and van den Bergh, 2011). Cultural group traits that provide an advantage to groups in conflict, such as altruism, will proliferate at the expense of other cultural traits that do not, eventually leading to group extinction through conquest and assimilation (Henrich, 2004). In these theoretical models of the evolution of cooperation through inter-group conflict, biased altruism toward the in-group co-evolves alongside out-group hostility—in what is termed parochial altruism—as a way of groups maximizing their payoffs (Bowles et al., 2003; Choi and Bowles, 2007; García and van den Bergh, 2011). In these models, inter-group conflict promotes the co-evolution of in-group altruism and out-group hostility, which leads to the logical inference that in situations of conflict levels of in-group altruism should be negatively associated with levels of out-group altruism (Arrow, 2007; Choi and Bowles, 2007).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Benedikt Herrmann, University of Nottingham, UK

Reviewed by:

Matt Joseph Rossano, Southeastern Louisiana University, USA Birte Siem, FernUniversität in Hagen, Germany

*Correspondence:

Antonio S. Silva antonio.silva.09@ucl.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 28 May 2015 Accepted: 06 November 2015 Published: 27 November 2015

Citation:

Silva AS and Mace R (2015) Inter-Group Conflict and Cooperation: Field Experiments Before, During and After Sectarian Riots in Northern Ireland. Front. Psychol. 6:1790. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.01790

The findings from the models pointing to an association between parochial altruism and inter-group conflict are also supported by empirical data in both the lab and field. Several studies have shown increased in-group altruism and social cohesion in response to violent conflict, in which individuals who had experienced violence were found to be more cooperative in experimental scenarios than individuals without exposure to violence (Bellows and Miguel, 2009; Gilligan et al., 2011; Gneezy and Fessler, 2011; Voors et al., 2012; Bauer et al., 2014). While it should be noted that this type of cooperative behavior is not necessarily associated with altruism sensu stricto (i.e., lifetime fitness costs to the actor) as described in the models of parochial altruism (Bowles et al., 2003; Choi and Bowles, 2007; García and van den Bergh, 2011), the findings from these studies are normally put forward as supporting empirical evidence for the theoretical models of parochial altruism (Bernhard et al., 2006; Puurtinen and Mappes, 2009; Gneezy and Fessler, 2011; Voors et al., 2012; Bauer et al., 2014). In contrast to these findings, our previous study using naturalistic measures of cooperation in Northern Ireland found that exposure to intergroup conflict between Catholics and Protestants was associated with reduced donations to out-group schools and the return of out-group lost letters, but there was no evidence that it influenced in-group cooperation. Rather, socio-economic status was the major determinant of cooperative behavior (Silva and Mace, 2014).

One possibility for the conflicting results is that studies finding increased levels of cooperation associated with intergroup conflict are based on economic games and do not use real life groups with a history of conflict in their experimental setup. Instead they employ abstract concepts of in-group and outgroup, such as children from the same classroom as in-group and children from a different school as out-group (Bauer et al., 2014) or anonymous neighbors who may or may not have shared group membership (Voors et al., 2012). Furthermore, these studies do not use a control group and are not able to distinguish between different types of cooperative behavior by conflating in-group cooperative behavior with unbiased cooperation andwith the exception of Bauer et al. (2014)-also fail to measure out-group altruism. The accurate identification of the specific type of cooperation is crucial, as the hypotheses for the evolution of cooperation through inter-group conflict require cooperation to be biased toward the in-group, not to be indiscriminately applied (Arrow, 2007; Bauer et al., 2014).

Our previous study in Belfast addressed some of these issues by determining the role of conflict on cooperation toward ingroup, out-group, and neutral institutions using naturalistic measures of cooperation, donations and lost letters (Silva and Mace, 2014). However, Silva and Mace (2014) was still reliant on cross-sectional data and therefore limited in being able to establish a causal link between inter-group conflict and parochial altruism. To our knowledge, Gneezy and Fessler (2011) is the only study that has looked into this relationship using longitudinal data. They conducted ultimatum (UGs) and trust games (TGs) between Israeli senior citizens before, during and after the 2006 Israel–Hezbollah war and found that during the war participants were more likely to reject low offers in the UGs, and transfer back more money if the initial offer was high in TGs. There were no significant differences for the initial amounts offered in either game. These results were interpreted as evidence that in wartime people are more likely to incur a cost to reward cooperative behavior and punish within-group uncooperative behavior.

The study in Israel provides an interesting, if partial, insight into how cooperation is affected by inter-group conflict. First, the lack of significant differences in the initial amounts offered over time suggest that cooperative tendencies may have remained unchanged through the conflict; although the interpretation of these behaviors is complicated as selfish strategic considerations in UGs and TGs can also result in increased offers (Dawes et al., 2007; Brañas-Garza et al., 2014). Second, the games were conducted at the same time as the Lebanon and Israel war, but only between Israeli senior citizens of the same ethnic group living in a housing facility in Tel Aviv. No salient group affiliation was used, so it is not possible to establish how conflict affects cooperation differently toward the in-group or out-group.

In this study, we use a naturalistic donation experiment to assess how a temporary sharp increase in violence between Catholics and Protestants in Northern Ireland affects cooperation toward the in-group, out-group and an unbiased institution, which is used as a control group. The context of Northern Ireland provides a valuable case study on the dynamics of inter-group interactions. These two groups have an on-going history of violence that has resulted in over 3500 people being killed (Sutton, 2012) and tens of thousands injured (Breen-Smyth, 2012) in the past decades, alongside marked levels of residential and education segregation, with the majority of the population today living in areas made up of over 80% of their own religious group (Byrne et al., 2006) and 94% of all children attending predominantly Catholic (run by the Catholic Church) or Protestant (run by the state or Protestant Churches) schools. The use of donations to primary schools in the experiments intends to reflect actual inter-group grievances between Catholics and Protestants in Northern Ireland associated with school funding (BBC News, 2001). The individuals in the study are not aware that the donations are part of an experiment, minimizing the artificiality typical of most lab and field based economic games.

In this study, we make use of an eruption of sectarian violence that started in December 2012 over a dispute related to the flying of Union flag in public buildings.

On the 3rd December 2012, the Belfast City Council passed a motion to restrict the flying of the Union flag to 18 designated days in the Belfast City Hall (Belfast City Council, 2012). The flag had previously been flown all year round and this change sparked protests from the Protestant community (who mostly feels an affinity with the United Kingdom), leading to an escalation of violence throughout the region, which resulted in violent riots over the next few months. The riots spread through the city with buses being set alight, cars being hijacked and skirmishes between Protestants, Catholics and the police involving water cannons, rocks, and petrol bombs (BBC News, 2013b). During this period, numerous violent clashes led to 560 people being charged and arrested (BBC News, 2013a), 157 police men and women injured and an estimated £70 million costs in material damages, reduced business revenues and increased policing (BBC News, 2013c, 2014).

The violent clashes in Belfast continued through January and at this time we went back to Belfast to repeat the survey and donations experiment previously conducted in May 2012 during a more peaceful time. We then went back again in May and June 2013 to investigate the aftermath of the riots. This allowed us to have a longitudinal dataset of cooperative behavior and attitudes at the neighborhood level that now enables us to assess the role of inter-group conflict on cooperation in a quasi-experimental framework.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We conducted an impromptu natural experiment when sectarian riots erupted in Belfast in January 2013 by conducting the survey and donation experiments at the time of the riots in two previously sampled neighborhoods, Ballymacarrett 1 and Bellevue 2. The neighborhoods represent the UK Census lower super output areas, a UK standard geographic unit generated taking into account "population size, mutual proximity and social homogeneity" (ONS, 2005, 2) (Figure 1). We also conducted the surveys and donations experiments in the aftermath of the riots in the same two neighborhoods in May and June 2013. We conducted a total of 228 donations experiments, including 49 donations experiments in the pre-riot period, 77 during the riots and 102 after the riots (4 donations data points were not included in the final analysis due to missing covariate data).

The survey was completed in person by 6 trained assistants at the houses of the respondents between 10.00 and 20.00. Each assistant was allocated a set of streets in the neighborhood and then knocked on doors asking residents if they would like to take part in the survey. The total number of attempts and responses were only recorded during 14 days in May and June 2013 in Ballymacarrett 1 and Bellevue 2 and from this sample out of a total of 1267 attempts, there was no answer on 69% of the houses, 23% refused to take part and 8% filled in the questionnaire, which matched our subjective personal experience from the previous sampling periods (see Table S1 for the sample representativeness).

The questionnaire consisted of 50 questions, required about 10 minutes to complete and was structured with multiplechoice responses that the researcher read out and for which the



experiments before, during and after the sectarian riots. Catholic primary schools (green markers) and Protestant primary schools (red markers).

respondent chose the most appropriate choice. The questionnaire addressed a range of issues with a focus on questions about the respondents' socio-economic characteristics status (S.E.S.) and experiences of the conflict, specifically questions on whether the individual had been attacked or felt threatened by the other group. We used these variables to create a sectarian threat index from a factor analysis of variables related to the individual exposure to sectarian attacks and threat, which we used as a measure of inter-group conflict (see Table S3 for more detail on this factor variable) in addition to the time of the riots.

The donations experiment was conducted immediately after the completion of the questionnaire. The participants were informed in the beginning that they would receive a £5 financial incentive at the end for completing the questionnaire and could choose to donate or keep the money. After the completion of the questionnaire, the researcher handed the participant the financial incentive in the form of 5 pound coins and presented in view of the participant a charity box with the name of the local school or charity (Figure S1), where the participant can drop some or all of the coins (see SI for protocol). There were three treatments-one for each of the local schools and one for the charity-and participants were only given the choice to donate to one of the three options, which was randomly allocated, making it a between-subject experimental design. The amount donated to the local school treatments measures ingroup (if participant is of the same religion as the school) and out-group cooperation (if participant is of a different religion as the school), and the charity treatment measures unbiased cooperation (see Table S2 for raw data). The school donation is a natural experiment that has essentially the same payoff structure as a dictator game (Kahneman et al., 1986), albeit one that is administered surreptitiously and involves real life cooperative behavior involving donating to an institution rather than an individual. The selection of the primary schools was conducted by choosing the nearest Catholic and Protestant school to the centroid of the neighborhood using Google Maps. This study was approved by the UCL Research Ethics Committee (ID: 2390/002) and all participants provided written informed consent to take part in the research.

ANALYSIS

The main hypothesis is derived from the theoretical models of inter-group conflict and parochial altruism (Bowles et al., 2003; Choi and Bowles, 2007; García and van den Bergh, 2011), which predict that conflict promotes increased in-group cooperation and reduced out-group cooperation (i.e. parochial altruism). Specifically, we predict that parochial altruism will increase during the riots in comparison to before and after the riots.

We ran four linear regressions to predict the (i) overall and the specific amount donated over time to (ii) the unbiased charity (*Save the Children*), (iii) the in-group, and (iv) the outgroup primary schools. The continuous outcome variable was the amount donated in British pounds. The main explanatory variable was the time of the sampling (dummy coded as preriot, mid-riot and post-riot). We also control for household income, highest educational level achieved, age, gender, religious background, and neighborhood. We also ran a model with the individual sectarian threat as an alternative explanatory variable to determine how sectarian threat affects donations overall.

We performed a manipulation check to determine if the riots caused a different shift in people's perception of sectarian threat using a linear regression with the factor sectarian threat as the outcome variable.

RESULTS

There was a significant reduction in overall donations during the riots compared to before the riots ($\beta = -1.03$ [-1.83; -0.24], p < 0.05; Table S4 and **Figure 2**). When looking at the different types of donations, we find that in-group donations suffered the most during the riots, with £1.23 less being given to in-group primary schools during the riots compared to before the riots ($\beta = -1.23$ [-2.58; 0.11], p < 0.1; Table S4 and **Figure 2**). After the riots, donations to the in-group and to the out-group increased again ($\beta = 1.04$ [0.02; 2.06], p < 0.05; $\beta = 0.44$ [-0.69; 1.58], p > 0.1), but only the increase of in-group donations was significant at conventional levels (Table S4 and **Figure 2**). Household income significantly predicted increased levels of cooperation, with high-income individuals donating 84 p more than low-income individuals ($\beta = 0.84$ [0.09; 1.59], p < 0.05; Table S4 and **Figure 2**)

People experienced a marginally significant increase in the feelings of sectarian threat during the riots, compared to before and after the riots ($\beta = 0.25$ [-0.03, 0.52], p < 0.1; Table S5). Sectarian threat is felt most by young people ($\beta = -0.01$ [-0.02, -0.00], p < 0.01; Table S5) and Protestants feel marginally



FIGURE 2 | Predicted donations by type over time. Predicted value (£) of an individual donating to the neutral charity *Save the Children*, an in-group primary school, an out-group primary school and all combined donations over time (before, during, and after the riots). These predicted values are controlled for individual household income, educational level, age, gender and religion. Error bars represent the standard errors.

less threatened than Catholics ($\beta = -0.18$ [-0.38, 0.03], p < 0.01; Table S5). Overall, individuals with higher levels of sectarian threat were significantly less likely to donate to out-group primary schools ($\beta = -0.97$ [-1.73, -0.20], p < 0.05), but sectarian threat had no impact on in-group or neutral donations (Table S6).

DISCUSSION

Overall, there was a significant trend toward a reduction in cooperative behavior during the riots, which suggests that in the context of Northern Ireland inter-group conflict does not promote cooperation. There is a marked decline in all types of cooperation in both neighborhoods during increased intergroup conflict. Specifically, the decline in in-group cooperation is most substantial during the riots with an average of £1.23 less donations to an in-group primary school than before the riots. The overall levels of cooperation remained lower in the aftermath of the riots compared to before, but the levels of in-group and out-group donations appear to be returning back toward the original levels. This suggests that the impact of this conflict may not be long lasting and cooperation can return to normal levels after a few months. This may be especially true in the context of Northern Ireland where people might be somewhat desensitized to sectarian violence with inter-group tension always present and low-level conflict between the two groups being a frequent occurrence.

In contrast with previous studies, the results from this study do not support the hypothesis that conflict promotes cooperation. In relation to Gneezy's and Fessler's (2011) results, the differences may be related to the fact that they use ultimatum and trust games to measure punishment and trusting behavior, while this study focuses on cooperative behavior. The behavior in ultimatum and trust games is difficult to interpret as it can stem from various psychological mechanisms other than altruistic preferences, such as status seeking, spite, or fairness (Dawes et al., 2007; Brañas-Garza et al., 2014). The concepts of cooperation and punishment are often assumed to be linked (Boyd et al., 2003; Bernhard et al., 2006; Hauert et al., 2007), but recent evidence points to a lack of association between propensity of cooperation and punishment within individuals (Yamagishi et al., 2012; Brañas-Garza et al., 2014; Peysakhovich et al., 2014). It is possible that conflict increases the propensity to punish, although it is not clear whether this would be directed toward the ingroup or the out-group (Bernhard et al., 2006; Mathew and Boyd, 2011) and no out-group members were included in the Israel study.

Our study is the first to test the longitudinal effect of conflict on cooperation using real-world measures and groups, so it is also possible that previous results are artifacts from the use of crosssectional economic games. The validity of traditional economic games as measures of human cooperative behavior has started to be questioned with multiple studies failing to find correlations between behavior in experimental games and in real life measures in the field (Laury and Taylor, 2006; Levitt and List, 2007; Benz and Meier, 2008). These games may cue the subjects to play according to specific real life cooperative social norms that are not particularly relevant to the hypothesis being tested (Laury and Taylor, 2006; Binmore, 2010). Furthermore, participants in games may not understand the cost and benefits inherent to the games' processes making it difficult to interpret their behavior (Burton-Chellew and West, 2013). This study highlights the importance of capturing real life cooperative behavior using natural experiments in the field to understand the effects of inter-group conflict on cooperation.

Current theoretical models of parochial altruism build on the assumption that increased pro-sociality or in-group altruism results in a group advantage in a situation of inter-group conflict by setting the cost accrued by the in-group altruist to always be lower than the benefit accrued to the group (or another individual in the group) (Bowles et al., 2003; Choi and Bowles, 2007; García and van den Bergh, 2011). Lab based empirical results supporting these models are also based on a game payoff structure in which altruistic groups always out-compete selfish groups in a situation of group conflict (Bornstein, 2003; Puurtinen and Mappes, 2009). Here, we question whether these assumptions are realistic and argue that it is not generalizable to all situations where groups are in competition or conflict. In the case of Catholics and Protestants in Northern Ireland, recent conflict between the two groups has mostly been over issues related to schools, housing and symbolic displays (Nolan, 2012); it is possible that in these situations increased group cohesion does not provide a group advantage, or that the individual cost of helping the group out-weighs the potential group advantage. Conflict appears to have a negative impact on cooperation, arguably in a similar way to other adverse environments that affect levels of inter-personal trust-such as income deprivation and low levels of social capital-and that also lead to a reduction in cooperative behavior (Putnam, 2000; Holland et al., 2012).

The results from this study show that the effects of conflict may be multi-faceted. The levels of sectarian threat as measured by the survey questions appear to mostly affect cooperation toward the out-group, corroborating the results from the crosssectional data in Silva and Mace (2014). However, the effects of conflict may not be entirely captured by these survey measures as the riots lead to a reduction of all types of cooperation and not just toward the out-group. It is also important to note that the sample sizes used are small (although comparable to Gneezy and Fessler, 2011) and as result the findings from this study alone are not conclusive. These results do, however, strengthen the findings from the cross-sectional data (Silva and Mace, 2014) and together do not support the models of inter-group conflict and parochial altruism, putting into question the theoretical idea that cooperation could have evolved through increased group pay-offs via inter-group conflict (Bowles et al., 2003; Choi and Bowles, 2007; García and van den Bergh, 2011).

In situations of conflict, individuals may not necessarily behave altruistically and there are perhaps more evolutionarily parsimonious explanations for the behavior of individuals during conflict, such as reputation concerns (Nowak and Sigmund, 1998), enforcement mechanisms (Mathew and Boyd, 2011) or hierarchical dominance structures (Guala, 2012). It may also be that only behaviors directly related to the threat in question (such as joining the army in the face of military invasion) are influenced by external threat, rather than more generalized cooperation. A recent review of inter-group warfare in small scale societies found that individual benefits—mostly related to reputation and status—better explain the intensity of conflict than group-level benefits (Glowacki and Wrangham, 2013). Our findings also suggest that altruism may not be an important motivation in inter-group conflict and demonstrate how conflict can have a pernicious effect on all types of cooperative behavior.

REFERENCES

- Arrow, H. (2007). The sharp end of altruism. Science 318, 581–582. doi: 10.1126/science.1150316
- Bauer, M., Cassar, A., Chytilova, J., and Henrich, J. (2014). War's enduring effects on the development of egalitarian motivations and in-group biases. *Psychol. Sci.* 21, 47–57. doi: 10.1177/0956797613493444
- BBC News (2001). Dispute School Extra Cash Criticised. BBC News. Available online at: http://news.bbc.co.uk/1/hi/northern_ireland/1601116.stm
- BBC News (2013a). BBC News PSNI say 560 Charged or Reported Over Flag Protests. BBC News. Available online at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uknorthern-ireland-24986841
- BBC News (2013b). BBC News Union flag Protests: Police Attacked And Traffic Disrupted. BBC News. Available online at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uknorthern-ireland-20985521
- BBC News (2013c). Union Flag Protests: PSNI Says Policing Cost is £20m. BBC News. Available online at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-21706714
- BBC News (2014). BBC News Q&A: Northern Ireland Flag Protests. BBC News. Available online at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-northern-ireland-20651163
- Bellows, J., and Miguel, E. (2009). War and local collective action in Sierra Leone. *J. Public Econ.* 93, 1144–1157. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2009.07.012
- Benz, M., and Meier, S. (2008). Do people behave in experiments as in the field? evidence from donations. *Exp. Econ.* 11, 268–281. doi: 10.1007/s10683-007-9192-y
- Bernhard, H., Fischbacher, U., and Fehr, E. (2006). Parochial altruism in humans. Nature 442, 912–915. doi: 10.1038/nature04981
- Binmore, K. (2010). Social norms or social preferences? *Mind Soc.* 9, 139–157. doi: 10.1007/s11299-010-0073-2
- Boorman, S. A., and Levitt, P. R. (1973). Group selection on the boundary of a stable population. *Theor. Popul. Biol.* 4, 85–128.
- Bornstein, G. (2003). Intergroup conflict: individual, group, and collective interests. *Personal. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 7, 129–145. doi: 10.1207/S15327957PSPR0702_129-145
- Bowles, S. (2009). Did warfare among ancestral hunter-gatherers affect the evolution of human social behaviors? *Science* 324, 1293–1298. doi: 10.1126/science.1168112
- Bowles, S., Choi, J.-K., and Hopfensitz, A. (2003). The co-evolution of individual behaviors and social institutions. J. Theor. Biol. 223, 135–147. doi: 10.1016/S0022-5193(03)00060-2
- Boyd, R., Gintis, H., Bowles, S., and Richerson, P. J. (2003). The evolution of altruistic punishment. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100, 3531–3535. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0630443100
- Brañas-Garza, P., Espín, A., Exadaktylos, F., and Herrmann, B. (2014). Fair and unfair punishers coexist in the Ultimatum Game. Sci. Rep. 4, 1–4. doi: 10.1038/srep06025
- Breen-Smyth, M. (2012). *Injured in the Troubles: The Needs of Individuals and their Families.* WAVE Trauma Centre.
- Burton-Chellew, M. N., and West, S. A. (2013). Prosocial preferences do not explain human cooperation in public-goods games. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 216–221. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1210960110

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was supported by the Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: http://journal.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fpsyg. 2015.01790

- Byrne, J., Hansson, U., and Bell, J. (2006). *Shared Living: Mixed Residential Communities in Northern Ireland.* Belfast: Institute for Conflict Research.
- Choi, J.-K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Belfast City Council (2012). Agenda for Council on Monday, 3rd December, 2012, 6.00 pm. Belfast: Belfast City Council.
- Dawes, C. T., Fowler, J. H., Johnson, T., McElreath, R., and Smirnov, O. (2007). Egalitarian motives in humans. *Nature* 446, 794–796. doi: 10.1038/nature05651
- García, J., and van den Bergh, J. C. J. M. (2011). Evolution of parochial altruism by multilevel selection. *Evol. Hum. Behav.* 32, 277–287. doi: 10.1016/j.evolhumbehav.2010.07.007
- Gilligan, M., Pasquale, B., and Samii, C. (2011). Civil War and Social Capital: Behavioral-Game Evidence from Nepal. Available online at: http://papers.ssrn. com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1911969
- Glowacki, L., and Wrangham, R. W. (2013). The role of rewards in motivating participation in simple warfare. *Hum. Nat.* 24, 444–460. doi: 10.1007/s12110-013-9178-8
- Gneezy, A., and Fessler, D. M. T. (2011). Conflict, sticks and carrots: war increases prosocial punishments and rewards. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 279, 219–223. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2011.0805
- Guala, F. (2012). Reciprocity: weak or strong? What punishment experiments do (and do not) demonstrate. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 35, 1–15. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X11000069
- Hauert, C., Traulsen, A., Brandt, H., Nowak, M., A, and Sigmund, K. (2007). Via freedom to coercion: the emergence of costly punishment. *Science* 316, 1905–1907. doi: 10.1126/science.1141588
- Henrich, J. (2004). Cultural group selection, coevolutionary processes and largescale cooperation. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 53, 3–35. doi: 10.1016/S0167-2681(03)00094-5
- Holland, J., Silva, A. S., and Mace, R. (2012). Lost Letter Measure of Variation in Altruistic Behaviour in 20 Neighbourhoods. *PLoS ONE* 7:e43294. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0043294
- Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J., and Thaler, R. H. (1986). Fairness and the assumptions of economics. J. Bus. 59, S285–S300. doi: 10.1086/296367
- Laury, S. K., and Taylor, L. O. (2006). Altruism spillovers: are behaviors in contextfree experiments predictive of altruism toward a naturally occurring public good? J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 65, 9–29. doi: 10.1016/j.jebo.2005.05.011
- Levitt, S. D., and List, J. A. (2007). What do laboratory experiments measuring social preferences reveal about the real world? *J. Econ. Perspect.* 21, 153–174. doi: 10.1257/jep.21.2.153
- Mathew, S., and Boyd, R. (2011). Punishment sustains large-scale cooperation in prestate warfare. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108, 11375–11380. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1105604108
- Nolan, P. (2012). Northern Ireland Peace Monitoring Report. Belfast: Community Relations Council.
- Nowak, M. A., and Sigmund, K. (1998). The dynamics of indirect reciprocity. *J. Theor. Biol.* 194, 561–574. doi: 10.1006/jtbi.1998.0775
- ONS (2005). Super Output Areas (SOAs). Newport: ONS.
- Peysakhovich, A., Nowak, M., A, and Rand, D. G. (2014). Humans display a "cooperative phenotype" that is domain general and temporally stable. *Nat. Commun.* 5, 4939. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5939

- Putnam, R. (2000). Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. London: Simon and Schuster.
- Puurtinen, M., and Mappes, T. (2009). Between-group competition and human cooperation. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 276, 355–360. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2008.1060
- Silva, A., and Mace, R. (2014). Cooperation and conflict: field experiments in Northern Ireland. Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci. 281, 20141435. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1435
- Sutton, M. (2012). Sutton Index of Deaths. Sutt. Index Deaths. Available online at: http://cain.ulst.ac.uk/sutton/ [Accessed November 28, 2012].
- Voors, M., Nillesen, E., Verwimp, P., Bulte, E., Lensink, R., and van Soest, D. (2012). Violent conflict and behavior: a field experiment in Burundi. *Am. Econ. Rev.* 102, 941–964. doi: 10.1257/aer.102.2.941
- Yamagishi, T., Horita, Y., Mifune, N., Hashimoto, H., Li, Y., Shinada, M., et al. (2012). Rejection of unfair offers in the ultimatum game is no evidence

of strong reciprocity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 109, 20364-20368. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1212126109

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Silva and Mace. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Economic games and social neuroscience methods can help elucidate the psychology of parochial altruism

Jim A. C. Everett^{1*}, Nadira S. Faber^{1,2}, Molly J. Crockett¹ and Carsten K. W. De Dreu^{3,4}

¹ Department of Experimental Psychology, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK, ² Oxford Martin School, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK, ³ Department of Psychology, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ⁴ Center for Research in Experimental Economics and Political Decision Making, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Keywords: parochial altruism, ingroup favouritism, preferences, beliefs, economic games, oxytocin, testosterone

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hannes Rusch, University of Cologne, Germany

Reviewed by:

Pascal Molenberghs, The University of Queensland, Australia Mikael Puurtinen, University of Jyvaskyla, Finland

> *Correspondence: Jim A. C. Everett, jim.ac.everett@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Evolutionary Psychology and Neuroscience, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

> **Received:** 11 May 2015 **Accepted:** 11 June 2015 **Published:** 07 July 2015

Citation:

Everett JAC, Faber NS, Crockett MJ and De Dreu CKW (2015) Economic games and social neuroscience methods can help elucidate the psychology of parochial altruism. Front. Psychol. 6:861. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00861 The success of *Homo sapiens* can in large part be attributed to their highly social nature, and particularly their ability to live and work together in extended social groups. Throughout history, humans have undergone sacrifices to both advance and defend the interests of fellow group members against non-group members. Intrigued by this, researchers from multiple disciplines have attempted to explain the psychological origins and processes of *parochial altruism*: the well-documented tendency for increased cooperation and prosocial behavior within the boundaries of a group (akin to ingroup love, and ingroup favoritism), and second, the propensity to reject, derogate, and even harm outgroup members (akin to "outgroup hate," e.g., Tajfel and Turner, 1979; Brewer, 1999; Hewstone et al., 2002; Choi and Bowles, 2007; De Dreu et al., 2014; Rusch, 2014). Befitting its centrality to a wide range of human social endeavors, parochial altruism is manifested in a large variety of contexts that may differ psychologically. Sometimes, group members help others to achieve a positive outcome (e.g., gain money); and sometimes group members help others avoid a negative outcome (e.g., avoid being robbed). Sometimes, group members conflict over a new resource (e.g., status; money; land) that is currently "unclaimed"; and sometimes they conflict over a resource that is already held by one group.

In this paper, we take stock of exciting new directions and methods in the psychological study of parochial altruism. We argue that to enrich our understanding of the psychological processes underlying parochial altruism, researchers could (continue to) incorporate methods and insights developed and popularized in adjacent disciplines, such as behavioral economics and social neuroscience. First, we highlight how the discipline of behavioral economics and its associated methodology of economic games can enrich our psychological understanding of parochial altruism through exploring the manifestation of, and psychological mechanisms driving, parochial altruism in both gains and losses contexts. Second, we consider the social neuroscientific approach, highlighting how research into neuromodulators has advanced our understanding of parochial altruism by outlining differential influences of the neuromodulators testosterone and oxytocin on ingroup cooperation and outgroup discrimination. Given that parochial altruism is at root an interdisciplinary phenomenon, it would be a pity if each discipline that studies it does so from and within its own silo. With greater incorporation of these new directions in parochial altruism, scientists can enrich their understanding as to when, why, and how people help members of their own group more than other groups, and even harm members of other groups.

Economic Games: Structuring Conflict and Cooperation

In recent years, the study of parochial altruism-in evolutionary biology, behavioral economics, and social psychology-has increasingly drawn on the methodology of economic games, inspired by both psychological research (e.g., Tajfel, 1970; Pruitt and Kimmel, 1977; Komorita and Parks, 1995) and behavioral game theory (e.g., Camerer, 2003). In a conscious tradeoff, researchers using economic games sacrifice the real-world validity of field-based studies in social psychology and opt instead for tightly controlled experiments that test how people make incentive-compatible choices concerning resource distribution. The core feature of economic games is their simplicity, where one player usually has a strictly dominant strategy if they are self-interested, and where this selfish strategy is salient and easy to understand in all cases. If and when a player does not choose this selfish strategy we can infer that they did not do so because they had some other motive (e.g., Deutsch, 1949; Messick and McClintock, 1968; Fehr et al., 2006). This possibility to being able to draw strong inferences about the extent to which individual sacrifice immediate self-interest is a clear advantage offered by economic games, relative to some other paradigms used to study intergroup discrimination and parochial altruism.

Within this approach, the conceptual apparatus of preferences and beliefs is particularly useful for explaining intergroup prosocial behavior (Everett et al., 2015). Preferences refer to a person's tendency toward certain behaviors and outcomes in a given context based on the expected utility to be derived from them, while beliefs refer to the expectations that people have about uncertain outcomes in a game (Camerer, 2003). In any given context, preferences and beliefs can either promote or hinder prosocial behavior. Economic games differ in the extent to which they measure both general and specific preferences and/or beliefs. In some games, behavior can be explained primarily by social preferences-for example, preferences involving fairness (e.g., the Dictator Game: Kahneman et al., 1986), or preferences to either help ingroup members or to also (or even exclusively) harm outgroup members (e.g., Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma-Maximizing Difference: Halevy et al., 2012; Buttelmann and Böhm, 2014). In other games, behavior seems driven primarily (but often not exclusively) by beliefs-for example beliefs regarding trustworthiness (e.g., the Trust Game: Berg et al., 1995), reciprocity (e.g., Public Good Games: e.g., De Cremer and Van Vugt, 1999; Fischbacher et al., 2001), or expectations of norm enforcement (e.g., the Ultimatum Game: Güth et al., 1982). But to what extent is parochial altruism driven by preferences and beliefs? Economic games allow researchers to address this question not only by teasing apart dominant processes in explaining parochial altruism, but also by elucidating moderating conditions (e.g., whether a decision is public or private; or whether the behavior is costly or cheap). A central advantage of economic games is that their simple structure allows small modifications that change some psychologically relevant feature while preserving the incentive and payment structure. For example, researchers can manipulate whether games are played publicly or anonymously (e.g., Yamagishi and Mifune, 2008), whether games are repeated or played just once (e.g., Gächter et al., 2010), or whether the games are played with artificial or real groups (e.g., Jackson, 2008).

One example of how using economic games has the potential to elucidate basic psychological mechanisms operating in parochial altruism comes from the consideration of loss aversion. For example, most experimental research on parochial altruism has looked at situations in which a participant helps an ingroup (vs. outgroup) member gain something positive. Yet one of the most established findings in cognitive psychology-loss aversion—is that people are more sensitive to losses than gains such that people strongly prefer avoiding losses than achieving gains (Kahneman and Tversky, 1979). Research suggests that because inflicting a loss is seen as more harmful and fairnessviolating than withholding a gain, individuals are more likely to help another avoid experiencing a harmful outcome than they are to help provide a positive outcome (De Dreu and Kret, 2015). Moreover, in an intergroup context, outgroup hate is typically manifested as the absence of helping, rather than inflicting harm (Mummendey and Otten, 1998; Weisel and Böhm, 2015). But how might specifically ingroup-favoring prosocial behavior be differentially manifested in losses vs. gains context? This remains an open question, for almost no research has examined the effects of gains and losses in specifically intergroup contexts, nor the extent to which ingroup favoring prosocial behavior is driven by the same preference or belief-based psychological processes in gains and losses contexts. Given the centrality of parochial altruism to any psychological or evolutionary discussion of prosocial behavior and morality, this constitutes an exciting opportunity for future research. For example, it might be predicted that because fairness concerns are more salient in interactions with ingroup members than with outgroup members, and because fairness concerns are more prominent in loss contexts than in gain contexts, that people might show greater ingroup favoritism in loss contexts.

Neuromodulation of Parochial Altruism

Social neuroscience has already made substantial advances in our understanding of parochial altruism, particularly in elucidating whether and how different brain regions, such as the amygdala and the prefrontal cortex are associated with group-related behavior (for recent reviews see Molenberghs, 2013; Amodio, 2014; Baumgartner et al., 2014; Cikara and Van Bavel, 2014). Comparatively little work has focused on how specific neuromodulators underlie parochial altruism, even though this could be a promising new direction to understand parochial altruism. If parochial altruism has fitness functionality that explains its evolution (Rusch, 2014) such that humans are biologically prepared for parochial altruism, then humans may have neuromodulatory systems that regulate this behavior. Consequently, understanding these neuromodulatory systems can contribute to the understanding of intergroup prosocial behavior. Here, we discuss the role of two neuromodulators in parochial altruism, oxytocin and testosterone.

Oxytocin

Recent work has implicated the neuropeptide *oxytocin* in parochial altruism (De Dreu et al., 2014; De Dreu and Kret, 2015). Oxytocin has a range of effects on the brain, body, and behavior, but here we focus on two of its psychological effects: reducing anxiety and fear of betrayal, and up-regulating positive regard for others (De Dreu and Kret, 2015).

To the extent that oxytocin is a neurohormonal system involved in parochial altruism, pharmacological studies involving administration of oxytocin to participants playing economic games should give insight into the biological and psychological processes underlying parochial altruism. Directly testing whether oxytocin influences ingroup love or outgroup hate, De Dreu et al. (2010) looked at behavior in economic games (the Intergroup Prisoner's Dilemma-Maximizing Difference and between-group Prisoners Dilemmas) under conditions of intranasal oxytocin administration vs. placebo. They found that across three experiments, individuals administered oxytocin displayed more ingroup trust and ingroup love, but did not display more outgroup hate and outgroup distrust, relative to the placebo condition. In a follow-up, De Dreu et al. (2012) took advantage of advantages of the possibility offered by economic games to make simple changes to the structure of the intergroup conflict game so as to elucidate whether oxytocin-modulated outgroup competition was motivated by a desire to protect oneself and/or fellow group-members against high threat outgroups. Results again showed that oxytocin-modulated parochial altruism was driven by a "tend-and-defend" functionality-under oxytocin individuals display more ingroup love and stronger tendency to aggressively protect oneself and fellow group members against threatening outsiders. In addition, and of key relevance here, is that this work, and the specific methodological approach of combining advantages of economic games and social neuroscience methods, can provide new and exciting insights into both psychological and biological mechanisms underlying parochial altruism.

Testosterone

A second neuromodulator that has been implicated in parochial altruism is testosterone. Testosterone is a steroid hormone that is secreted in mammals in the male testes and, to a lesser extent, the female ovaries. Testosterone has been shown to be associated with reduced trust (Bos et al., 2012), vicarious experiences of group success (Bernhardt et al., 1998), status seeking (Eisenegger et al., 2011), dominance (Mehta and Josephs, 2010), and aggression (see Montoya et al., 2012 for a review).

Comparatively little research has explored the role that testosterone plays in parochial altruism specifically, yet it seems likely that testosterone—like oxytocin—plays an important role. Consider, for example, a recent study by Diekhof et al. (2014), who had fifty male soccer fans with a strong group identity respond to Ultimatum Game (UG) offers that were either fair or unfair, and proposed either from an ingroup member or by fans of one of three other teams (two soccer teams and one

cricket team). In the UG, one player makes a proposal to the other player (the responder) for how to divide a pool of money between them. If the responder accepts the proposed split, both players receive the allocated money. However, if the responder rejects the proposed split, both players receive nothing. Behavior in the UG is typically seen as reflecting norm enforcement of "fair" allocations. Results showed that unfair offers were rejected more frequently than fair offers, and that overall rejection rates increased with social distance to the outgroups (ingroup < neutral outgroup < unknown outgroup < antagonist outgroup). Furthermore, endogenous testosterone was associated with lower rejection of ingroup offers and with increased rejection of outgroup offers-especially in the context of explicit intergroup competition. High endogenous testosterone, then, underlies parochial altruism through increased prosocial tendencies during interactions with the ingroup, as well as through an escalation of costly outgroup hostility in intergroup competition. Apart from advancing our knowledge of how testosterone underlies parochial altruism, such work highlights the way in which ingroup love and outgroup hate are distinct but complementary psychological processes explaining parochial altruism. Moreover, such work highlights the importance of the context in which the intergroup prosocial behavior takes place: oftentimes it is not merely the presence of group members that leads to parochial altruism, but rather the existence of intergroup competition. As with oxytocin, it would be fruitful for future research to explore further this relationship by examining the way in which administration of testosterone influences ingroup love and outgroup hate in economic games.

Conclusion

Parochial altruism is a complex and interdisciplinary phenomenon, and so it stands to reason that to understand parochial altruism we should turn to a range of different techniques from a range of disciplines. Economic games are especially useful due to their isolation of distinct preference and belief-based psychological processes (e.g., Everett et al., 2015) and the way in which they can be easily accommodated with other methods, such as pharmacological manipulations, that highlight how humans are biologically prepared for parochial altruism and have neuromodulatory systems that regulate this behavior (e.g., De Dreu and Kret, 2015). Through greater incorporation of different methodologies and perspectives-such as the use of economic games-, researchers can come to a more complete understanding of the psychological processes that explain how, when, and why people help members of their own group more than others.

Author Note

JE drafted the paper and NF, MC, and CD provided comments and suggested revisions.

References

- Amodio, D. M. (2014). The neuroscience of prejudice and stereotyping. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 15, 670–682. doi: 10.1038/nrn3800
- Baumgartner, T., Schiller, B., Rieskamp, J., Gianotti, L. R., and Knoch, D. (2014). Diminishing parochialism in intergroup conflict by disrupting the right temporo-parietal junction. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 9, 653–660. doi: 10.1093/scan/nst023
- Berg, J., Dickhaut, J., and McCabe, K. (1995). Trust, reciprocity, and social history. Games Econ. Behav. 10, 122–142. doi: 10.1006/game.1995.1027
- Bernhardt, P. C., Dabbs J. M. Jr., Fielden, J. A., and Lutter, C. D. (1998). Testosterone changes during vicarious experiences of winning and losing among fans at sporting events. *Physiol. Behav.* 65, 59–62. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(98)00147-4
- Bos, P. A., Hermans, E. J., Ramsey, N. F., and Van Honk, J. (2012). The neural mechanisms by which testosterone acts on interpersonal trust. *Neuroimage* 61, 730–737. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2012.04.002
- Brewer, M. B. (1999). The psychology of prejudice: ingroup love and outgroup hate? J. Soc. Issues 55, 429-444 doi: 10.1111/0022-4537.00126
- Buttelmann, D., and Böhm, R. (2014). The ontogeny of the motivation that underlies in-group bias. *Psychol. Sci.* 25, 921–927. doi: 10.1177/0956797613516802
- Camerer, C. (2003). Behavioral Game Theory: Experiments in Strategic Interaction. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Choi, J. K., and Bowles, S. (2007). The coevolution of parochial altruism and war. *Science* 318, 636–640. doi: 10.1126/science.1144237
- Cikara, M., and Van Bavel, J. J. (2014). The neuroscience of intergroup relations an integrative review. *Perspect. Psychol. Sci.* 9, 245–274. doi: 10.1177/1745691614527464
- De Cremer, D., and Van Vugt, M. (1999). Social identification effects in social dilemmas. *Eur. J. Soc. Psychol.* 29, 871–893.
- De Dreu, C. K., Shalvi, S., Greer, L. L., Van Kleef, G. A., and Handgraaf, M. J. (2012). Oxytocin motivates non-cooperation in intergroup conflict to protect vulnerable in-group members. *PLoS ONE* 7:e46751. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046751
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Balliet, D., and Halevy, N. (2014). Parochial cooperation in humans: forms and functions of self-sacrifice in intergroup conflict. Advan. Motiv. Sci. 1, 1–47. doi: 10.1016/bs.adms.2014.08.001
- De Dreu, C. K. W., Greer, L. L., Handgraaf, M. J., Shalvi, S., Van Kleef, G. A., Baas, M., et al. (2010). The neuropeptide oxytocin regulates parochial altruism in intergroup conflict among humans. *Science* 328, 1408–1411. doi: 10.1126/science.1189047
- De Dreu, C. K. W., and Kret, M. E. (2015). Oxytocin conditions intergroup relations through upregulated in-group empathy, cooperation, conformity, and defense. *Biol. Psychiatry*. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.03.020. [Epub ahead of print].
- Deutsch, M. (1949). An experimental study of the effects of cooperation and competition upon group process. *Hum. Relat.* 2, 199–231. doi: 10.1177/001872674900200301
- Diekhof, E. K., Wittmer, S., and Reimers, L. (2014). Does competition really bring out the worst? Testosterone, social distance and inter-male competition shape parochial altruism in human males. *PLoS ONE* 9:e98977. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098977
- Eisenegger, C., Haushofer, J., and Fehr, E. (2011). The role of testosterone in social interaction. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 15, 263–271. doi: 10.1016/j.tics.2011.04.008
- Everett, J. A. C., Faber, N. S., and Crockett, M. (2015). Preferences and beliefs in ingroup favouritism. *Front. Behav. Neurosci.* 9:15. doi: 10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00015
- Fehr, E., Naef, M., and Schmidt, K. (2006). Inequality aversion, efficiency, and maximin preferences in simple distribution experiments: comment. Am. Econ. Rev. 96, 1912–1917. doi: 10.1257/aer.96.5.1912
- Fischbacher, U., Gächter, S., and Fehr, E. (2001). Are people conditionally cooperative? Evidence from a public goods experiment. *Econ. Lett.* 71, 397–404. doi: 10.1016/S0165-1765(01)00394-9

- Gächter, S., Nosenzo, D., Renner, E., and Sefton, M. (2010). Sequential vs. simultaneous contributions to public goods: experimental evidence. J. Public Econ. 94, 515–522. doi: 10.1016/j.jpubeco.2010.03.002
- Güth, W., Schmittberger, R., and Schwarze, B. (1982). An experimental analysis of ultimatum bargaining. J. Econ. Behav. Organ. 3, 367–388. doi: 10.1016/0167-2681(82)90011-7
- Halevy, N., Weisel, O., and Bornstein, G. (2012). "In-Group Love" and 'Out-Group Hate' in repeated interaction between groups. J. Behav. Decis. Mak. 25, 188–195. doi:10.1002/bdm.726 doi: 10.1002/bdm.726
- Hewstone, M., Rubin, M., and Willis, H. (2002). Intergroup bias. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 53, 575–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100901.135109
- Jackson, J. W. (2008). Reactions to social dilemmas as a function of group identity, rational calculations, and social context. *Small Group Res.* 39, 673–705. doi: 10.1177/1046496408322761
- Kahneman, D., Knetsch, J. L., and Thaler, R. H. (1986). Fairness and the assumptions of economics. J. Bus. 59, S285. doi: 10.1086/296367
- Kahneman, D., and Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect theory: an analysis of decision under risk. *Econometrica* 47, 263–291. doi: 10.2307/1914185
- Komorita, S. S., and Parks, C. D. (1995). Interpersonal relations: mixed-motive interaction. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 46, 183–207. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.46.020195.001151
- Mehta, P. H., and Josephs, R. A. (2010). Testosterone and cortisol jointly regulate dominance: evidence for a dual-hormone hypothesis. *Horm. Behav.* 58, 898–906. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2010.08.020
- Messick, D. M., and McClintock, C. G. (1968). Motivational bases of choice in experimental games. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 4, 1–25. doi: 10.1016/0022-1031(68)90046-2
- Molenberghs, P. (2013). The neuroscience of in-group bias. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37, 1530–1536. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.06.002
- Montoya, E. R., Terburg, D., Bos, P. A., and Van Honk, J. (2012). Testosterone, cortisol, and serotonin as key regulators of social aggression: a review and theoretical perspective. *Motiv. Emot.* 36, 65–73. doi: 10.1007/s11031-011-9264-3
- Mummendey, A., and Otten, S. (1998). Positive–negative asymmetry in social discrimination. *Eur. Rev. Soc. Psychol.* 9, 107–143. doi: 10.1080/14792779843000063
- Pruitt, D. G., and Kimmel, M. J. (1977). Twenty years of experimental gaming: critique, synthesis, and suggestions for the future. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 28, 363–392. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.28.020177.002051
- Rusch, H. (2014). The evolutionary interplay of intergroup conflict and altruism in humans: a review of parochial altruism theory and prospects for its extension. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* 281:20141539. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2014.1539
- Tajfel, H. (1970). Experiments in intergroup discrimination. Sci. Am. 223, 96–102. doi: 10.1038/scientificamerican1170-96
- Tajfel, H., and Turner, J. C. (1979). "An integrative theory of intergroup conflict," in *The Social Psychology of Intergroup Relations*, eds W. G. Austin and S. Worchel (Monterey, CA: Brooks-Cole), 33–48.
- Weisel, O., and Böhm, R. (2015). "Ingroup love" and "outgroup hate" in intergroup conflict between natural groups. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 60, 110–120. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2015.04.008
- Yamagishi, T., and Mifune, N. (2008). Does shared group membership promote altruism? Fear, greed, and reputation. *Rational. Soci.* 20, 5–30. doi: 10.1177/1043463107085442

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2015 Everett, Faber, Crockett and De Dreu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

